U. S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE. OFFICE OF EXPERIMENT STATIONS-BULLETIN NO. 105

A10.3:106

445

A. C. TRUE, Director.

# RESULTS OF INVESTIGATIONS ON THE ROTHAMSTED SOLLS

#### BEING THE LECTURES DELIVERED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF



Before the Association of American Agricultural Colleges and Experiment Stations at New Haven and Middletown, Coun., in November, 1900.



WASHINGTON: GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE. 1902.



445

## U. S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE.

OFFICE OF EXPERIMENT STATIONS-BULLETIN NO. 106.

A. C. TRUE, Director.

## **RESULTS OF INVESTIGATIONS ON THE ROTHAMSTED SOILS,**

BEING THE LECTURES DELIVERED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF

## THE LAWES AGRICULTURAL TRUST,

BY

#### BERNARD DYER, D. Sc. (Lond.), F. I. C., F. C. S., F. L. S.

Before the Association of American Agricultural Colleges and Experiment Stations at New Haven and Middletown, Conn., in November, 1300.



WASHINGTON: GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE. 1902.

#### OFFICE OF EXPERIMENT STATIONS.

A. C. TRUE, Ph. D.—Director.

E. W. ALLEN, Ph. D.—Assistant Director.

W. H. BEAL-Editor of Experiment Station Work and Miscellaneous Bulletins.

EDITORIAL DEPARTMENTS.

E. W. ALLEN, Ph. D., and H. W. LAWSON-Chemistry, Dairy Farming, and Dairying.

W. H. BEAL—Meteorology, Fertilizers and Soils (including methods of analysis) and Agricultural Engineering.

WALTER H. EVANS, Ph. D.-Botany and Diseases of Plants.

C. F. LANGWORTHY, Ph. D.-Foods and Animal Production.

J. I. SCHULTE—Field Crops.

E. V. WILCOX, Ph. D.-Entomology and Veterinary Science.

C. B. SMITH—Horticulture.

D. J. CROSBY—Agricultural Institutions.

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

## LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL.

#### U. S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, OFFICE OF EXPERIMENT STATIONS, Washington, D. C., January 8, 1902.

SIR: I have the honor to transmit herewith for publication as Bulletin No. 106 of this Office a series of lectures on soil investigations at Rothamsted, England, delivered under the provisions of the Lawes Agricultural Trust, by Bernard Dyer, D. Sc., before the convention of the Association of American Agricultural Colleges and Experiment Stations at New Haven and Middletown, Conn., November, 1901. These lectures are recommended for publication in full, not only on account of their intrinsic value, but in conformity with the wish of the late Sir John Lawes, frequently expressed during the later years of his life, "that all statistical matter relating to observations and experiments on the Rothamsted soils should be brought together (as he expressed it) 'between one pair of covers.'" These observations and experiments have extended over a number of years and have been partly published elsewhere, but by far the greater portion of the matter contained in these lectures, including the results of the author's recent exhaustive studies on the phosphoric acid and potash contents of Rothamsted soils, is new. It is fitting that ackowledgment should here be made of the munificence and splendid devotion to agricultural science which prompted Sir John Lawes not only to found and maintain for many years, but to endow in perpetuity, the great experiment station at Rothamsted, and of the kindly interest in American agriculture which led him at the same time to provide for a series of biennial lectures in the United States on the work of that station, in order, as he stated, that Americans might feel that they had a share in any of the benefits which might arise from the Rothamsted endowment.

Since these lectures were prepared for publication, Sir J. Henry Gilbert, who for over fifty-five years was the associate of Sir John Lawes at Rothamsted, has also passed away from the scene of his lifelong labors. He died on December 23, 1901, at the age of nearly 85 years.

The lectures transmitted herewith are the fourth of the courses so provided for and the third to be published as bulletins of this Department. The first course, delivered at Washington, D. C., August, 1891, by Robert Warington, F. R. S., gave a brief account of the Rothamsted Experiment Station, but dealt mainly with the work of that station on the changes (nitrification and denitrification) which nitrogenous compounds undergo in the soil, and on drainage and well waters. These lectures were published in an edition of 5,000 copies as Bulletin No. 8 of this Office, but the bulletin is now out of print. The second, which was a carefully prepared review of the field and feeding experiments at Rothamsted during half a century, by Sir Joseph Henry Gilbert, M. A., LL. D., F. R. S., was published in an edition of 6,000 copies as Bulletin No. 22 of this Office, and is also out of print.

Respectfully,

A. C. TRUE, Director.

Hon. JAMES WILSON, Secretary of Agriculture.

## CONTENTS.

	Page.
INTRODUCTION	7
SECTION ISOIL SAMPLING	10
SECTION II.—THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS	12
Summarized history	12
Mechanical composition (stones, fine soil, etc.)	14
Samples taken in 1893	25
Total nitrogen and organic carbon (general discussion and full state-	
ment of analytical results)	25
Total nitrogen in unmanured and in continuously dunged plats	38
The two dunged plats (2a and 2b)	39
Rape-cake plat	40
The chemically manured plats	41
Plat 5 (mineral manures only)	41
General comparison of all chemically manured plats	42
Plats 5 to 8 (all fully supplied with mineral manures, but receiving	
different dressings of ammonium salts)	46
Plats 10a, 11, 13, 7 (all receiving like dressings of ammonium salts,	
but differing in mineral treatment)	47
Nitrogen accumulations as crop residue	48
Loss of nitrogen	49
Nitrogen and carbon in subsoils	50
Carbon and ratio of carbon to nitrogen	51
Nitrogen contents of various other Rothamsted soils.	53
Nitrogen and carbon in other clays and deep deposits	59
Nitrogen as nitrates ("nitric" nitrogen)	61
General discussion and full statement of analytical results on the	
Broadbalk soils	61
Does nitrification occur in the lower subsoils?	65
Nitric nitrogen in the unmanured and the dunged plats and the	
rape-cake plat	67
The chemically manured plats	69
Comparison of plats receiving ammonium salts and sodium nitrate,	
respectively	72
Comparison of plats receiving like dressings of ammonium salts,	
but with varying mineral treatment	74
How far do the nitrates found account for nitrogen lost?	76
	78
General discussion and full statement of analytical results	78
Uniorin in crops	84
Action of ammonium salts on the lime of the soil	86

#### CONTENTS.

SECTION II.—THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS—Continued.	Page.
General comparison of the quantity of total nitrogen per acre in the	2 4800
Rothamsted soils and subsoils with the quantity annually available or	
utilized when none is supplied in manure	89
Broadbalk field	89
Grass land	91
Root-crop soils	92
Rotation land	92
Rain and drainage (Barn field)	92
Continuous wheat growing in relation to economy of nitrogen	94
Mineral elements of fertility	96
Phosphoric acid	98
General discussion and statement of analytical results on	
Broadbalk soils and subsoils of 1893	98
Probable limit denoting phosphoric-acid deficiency in soils	102
Brief examination of the results obtained for individual plats	104
Phosphoric acid in drainage waters	110
General conclusions as to phosphoric acid	111
Potash	112
General discussion and statement of analytical results on	
Broadbalk soils and subsoils of 1893	112
Brief examination of the results obtained in the case of individual	
plats	117
Potash in drainage waters	122
General conclusions as to potash	123
SECTION III.—THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS (continued)	125
Comparison of the results of analyses of the various samples drawn,	
respectively, in 1865, 1881, and 1893	125
Total nitrogen and organic carbon	125
Nitrogen as nitrates ("nitric" nitrogen)	130
Chlorin	133
Phosphoric acid	135
Potash	138
SECTION IV.—THE HOOS FIELD BARLEY SOILS	141
Brief history	141
Total nitrogen.	142
Carbon, and ratio of carbon to nitrogen	148
Nitrogen as nitrates ("nitric" nitrogen)	149
Chlorin	151
Phosphoric acid and potash	152
Phosphoric acid	152
Potash	153
SECTION VHOOS FIELD LEGUMINOUS AND WHEAT-FALLOW SOILS	155
Investigations showing the effect of various leguminous crops on the	
nitrogen contents of the soil	155
SECTION VI.—BARN FIELD ROOT-CROP SOILS	164
SECTION VII.—AGDELL FIELD EXPERIMENTAL ROTATION SOILS	169
SECTION VIIIHUMUS AND ITS NITROGEN CONTENTS.	177
CONCLUSION	180

 $\mathbf{6}$ 

# RESULTS OF INVESTIGATIONS ON THE ROTHAMSTED SOILS.

#### INTRODUCTION.

It is my privilege to appear before you as the delegate of the Lawes Agricultural Trust Committee, to offer once again, for your acceptance, a digest of the results of some of the work carried out at Rothamsted. When the late Sir John Bennett Lawes permanently endowed and dedicated to the public his famous experimental station, he recognized, as you will recollect, the interest which you in America had long shown in Rothamsted, by making provision in the trust deeds for the periodical delivery here of what have now come to be known as the Rothamsted lectures.

The first to fulfill the mission was Professor Warington, in 1891; the next was Sir John's veteran colleague, Sir J. Henry Gilbert, who visited you in 1893; while the last, in 1897, was Professor Armstrong, who acts on the Lawes Agricultural Trust Committee as the representative of the Chemical Society.

This, therefore, is the fourth occasion on which official greeting passes personally and by word of mouth from the time-honored institution in England to the representatives of the many younger but already vigorous and flourishing kindred institutions which have grown up on your side.

My visit to you occurs at a time which is one of mourning for all who care for Rothamsted and its work. Sir John Lawes passed away from us on the last day of August this year, at what would usually be called the ripe old age of nearly 86. But the use of this conventional phrase would not be applicable to his case. Ripe his life was in one sense, in so far as ripeness is an emblem of maturity, of service, of usefulness, of the potentiality to feed, enrich, and adorn. All this his life did for the mental life of all who intelligently study agriculture; and much also has it done directly and indirectly, in a physical sense, to mitigate the troubles and advance the well-being of thousands of his fellow-agriculturists at home and abroad. But in the sense of being ripe for the harvest, his life was not ripe. Though full of years he was of such a fine and vigorous constitution, and still mentally so young and fresh, that his friends confidently foretold for him many years yet of active work. There was no fading

into the mental repose that gradually creeps into the life that is lived. An unfortunate seizure of a zymotic type, purely adventitious and indiscriminate in its choice of victims between youth and age, terminated his labors at a few days' notice.

The life and career of Sir John Lawes up to ten years since were ably sketched to you by Professor Warington at the opening of the first series of these lectures,<sup>1</sup> and I will therefore now not do more than thus briefly record the temporal death of one who will live perennially in scientific history as one of the most remarkable figures of the century that is just drawing to its close. I would like, however, to add that during the last three years he had looked forward with much interest to the delivery to you of the lectures which, at his own request, have been intrusted to my unworthy hands, that he has often personally discussed with me their scope and material, and that, within a very few days of his death, his last act of work was to discuss with Sir Henry Gilbert the selection of some of the matter which he and his colleague desired to be brought before you on this occasion.

You are well aware of the scope and nature of the long-continued and multifarious work carried on at Rothamsted, not merely from the bulletins or "memoranda" which are annually transmitted to many of you individually, but also through the comprehensive lectures in which Sir Henry Gilbert, on the occasion of his last visit to your country, summed up a large part of the work of no less than fifty years of research.<sup>2</sup> Among the matters which he brought to your notice was much of the chemical work which had been done in the examination from time to time of certain of the experimental soils, some of which had, indeed, been brought to your notice by my earlier predecessor, Professor Warington. With the exception, however, of some special work of my own on the barley soils, the latest systematic series of analyses which had then been made was that of the samples of the Broadbalk wheat field collected in 1881. During the year of Sir Henry Gilbert's visit to you, however, viz, in 1893, a complete set of new samples was taken from this field on the completion of the fiftieth consecutive wheat crop; and these samples have since been submitted to examination in various ways in the Rothamsted laboratory, and also with regard to certain special points, by the kind permission of the committee, in my own laboratory. The result has naturally been to add much to the already valuable knowledge arrived at by the analyses of the earlier samples, many of which early samples, it may be added, have been reexamined since by myself in the light of later work in certain directions not contemplated when the samples were originally taken. We have thus, with the old results and the new, a large mass of information relating to the chemistry of the wheat soils, which it has been the desire of both Sir John Lawes and Sir Henry Gilbert to have presented now in a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>U. S. Dept. Agr., Office of Experiment Stations Bul. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> U. S. Dept. Agr., Office of Experiment Stations Bul. 22.

collected and comprehensive form, not merely that its general outcome may be seen, but also that the detailed figures of the great number of determinations (of which a large proportion are new and hitherto unpublished, while others are scattered over the pages of various separate memoirs and lectures) may be embodied and preserved in a collected form for the future reference of those who may from time to time wish to restudy the results. It has, at the same time, been their desire to collate with these, in certain directions, the results obtained from the examination of other of the experimental soils. The task of completing and presenting to you this collation has been intrusted to my hands. The wealth of material has made anything like an adequate discharge of the task, within the necessarily confined limits of these lectures, a matter of impossibility, for the work might more easily be expanded to a series of volumes. The material itself, however, will be transcribed for the leisurely detailed examination of those among you who find especial interest in it from one or other of the many points from which it may be approached; while for its discussion I must be content to place before you such of the more interesting and striking features of the results as may be included within such space as I may reasonably venture to wander over, keeping before me the fact that even liberal governmental printing grants have their necessary limitations. While I freely accept all blame that may be accorded to these lectures for errors of judgment in the selection of points for discussion, or for inadequacy or obscurity of treatment, I would at the same time at once ask that, for whatever interest and satisfaction may be derived from their perusal, a very large share of the credit should go to Sir Henry Gilbert, who has spent infinite pains in aiding and advising me in this work.

#### SECTION I.

#### SOIL SAMPLING.

The methods of soil sampling adopted at Rothamsted have been previously described to you, but it seems desirable, in a memoir which embodies such complete statistical results as will here be recorded, that the details relating to sampling should for purposes of reference be included. Indeed, it is desirable that this should be done, if only to again emphasize the general necessity of minute precautions and regular procedure in sampling any soils which either possess or may be likely to acquire an experimental history. Those who have the charge of experimental stations, and who may not have brought their minds to bear fully on the capital scientific importance of correct soil sampling, may derive useful hints from the description, while those who are already alive to the difficulties that may follow upon disregard of certain precautions will, from that very sense, bear with me. For, although attention has been directed very frequently to this matter, there is too much reason to suppose that not a little otherwise good soil work has been vitiated by reason of insufficient attention to the drawing of representative samples.

The first determinations of nitrogen in the Rothamsted soils were made by soda-line combustion by the old platinum method, in the surface soil of the Broadbalk wheat field, as long ago as 1846; but it was soon recognized that results obtained on samples collected without careful attention to area and depth were of little value, and were, indeed, misleading. In 1856 the method of collection then and subsequently adopted was devised, and I perhaps can not do better than quote directly from Professor Warington's lecture.<sup>1</sup> Professor Warington says:

A frame made of stout sheet iron, in shape a rectangular prism, open at top and bottom, is driven into the soil by repeated blows of a wooden rammer, till the soil has the same level inside and outside the frame. The soil inside the frame is then cut out, and constitutes the sample of the first depth or surface soil. That the frame is accurately emptied is ascertained by trials with a wooden gauge of the same depth as the iron frame. If a sample of the next depth is to be taken, the soil is cleared away around the outside of the frame till the level is reduced to that of the bottom of the frame, the frame is then driven down again, and the former operations are repeated.

Soil sampling at Rothamsted is usually carried down to three depths, but in a good many cases it has been carried down to twelve depths. The area of the sam-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>U. S. Dept. Agr., Office of Experiment Stations Bul. 8, p. 39.

pling frame used for the first depth is usually 144 square inches (12 by 12 inches), a smaller frame (6 by 6 inches) being used for the succeeding depths. \* \* \*

The iron frame has a stout rim along its upper edge to increase its strength. The best sampling frame is made of cast steel: this form of frame needs no rim. (Models of both the larger and smaller steel frames used at Rothamsted were on this occasion presented to the United States Department of Agriculture.)

When the soil sampling is carried below the first depth, care must be taken when digging around the frame that each depth of soil removed is placed by itself, so that when the pit is filled in the soil may be returned to its proper position. A record is kept of the place where the sampling was conducted, as a soil can not be accurately sampled twice in the same place.

Each sample of soil is weighed as soon as it is removed from the frame and is put into a bag by itself. When the soil reaches the laboratory it is at once broken up by hand into small pieces and laid on paper trays, which are placed on the shelves of a storeroom kept at a temperature of about 55 C. till thoroughly dry; each sample is then returned to its bag. This immediate drying of the soil at a low temperature is essential if changes in the organic matter, and especially nitrification, are to be stopped. This practice dates at Rothamsted from 1877. After drying the soil it may be stored till leisure is found for further work. Each bag is then weighe 1. The soil is crushed and passed through a one-fourth inch sieve; the stones that do not pass through this sieve are weighed (and subsemently described) as stones. All that passes through the sieve is thoroughly mixed and a sufficient quantity is finely powdered for analysis. Mixed samples ' are prepared after the soil has passed through the one-fourth inch sieve or after it has reached the stage of fine powder.

This method of taking soil samples, with the exception of the adoption of the definite temperature above mentioned for drying, has been (as has already been said) in use at Rothamsted since 1856, and it is interesting here to record that between 4,000 and 5,000 individual samples of the Rothamsted soils have been collected in the fashion above described.

The depth of 9 inches fixed for sampling the surface soil is somewhat greater than would now be adopted in the light of the experience that has been gained; although it would now be obviously inexpedient to make any change at Rothamsted, since in that case future samples would not be comparable with earlier ones. But in new soil work begun elsewhere, both Sir John Lawes and Sir Henry Gilbert eame to the conclusion that about 8 inches would be a fairer depth at which to mark off the surface soil from the subsoil. And, since the metric system is so widely used in scientific work, the recommendation made by them to those initiating experimental work in soil is to take the nearest round number metric approximation, and adopt a cube with the linear dimension of 0.2 meter as the unit for soil sampling. This would give to each layer of soil a depth of 7.874 inches, or practically 8 inches.

<sup>1</sup>Representing each plat and each depth.

#### SECTION II.

#### THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

#### SUMMARIZED HISTORY.

These plats have been under experimental cultivation since 1843, and have continuously grown wheat, the lately harvested crop of 1900 having been their fifty-seventh. The continuously unmanured plats are still giving their 12 to 13 bushels a year, while the well-manured plats are giving from 30 to 40 bushels.

The general history of the field and the practical results of the influence of the various modes of manuring upon the crops produced were very fully described and discussed by Sir Henry Gilbert in the lectures which he delivered here in 1893. This makes it unnecessary that I should take up your attention by dwelling on what may be called the above-ground or vegetative or economical effects of the various manures. It is rather on the underground results of this continuous corn growing, under so many different circumstances, that I have to discourse to you. It is necessary, however, for a discussion of the soils themselves that we should have before us a summary of the history of each plat, and as the soil analyses end for the present with the samples taken in 1893, it seems convenient to adopt, with some minor modifications, the summary given in the annual "Memoranda" issued from Rothamsted recording the results up to the end of 1893. Table 1 shows the number or special mark of each plat, a summarized history of its mode of manuring for fifty years, the average product of grain and straw for the twenty-one years, 1852-1872; for the twenty-one years, 1873-1893; for the forty-two years, 1852-1893, and also for the six years, 1889-1894.

		Average yield per acre.										
Dist	Annual manuring per acre (over	21 yc (1852-	ears 1872).	21 y (1873-	ears 1893).	42 y (1852-	ears 1893).	6 ye (1889-	ears 1894).			
t fat.	50 years).	Wheat.	Straw.	Wheat.	Straw.	Wheat.	per acre. 2 years 6 ye 52-1893). (1889- (1889- 1889- 1889- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 199- 1	Straw.				
A	14 tons farmyard manure, com- mencing in 1884-1885	Bush.	Cwt.	Bush.	Cu:t.	Bush.	Cwt.	Bush. 304	Cwt. 284			
<sup>2</sup> B 3 4	14 tons farmyard manure (1843-44 and every year since). Unmanured continuously Unmanured continuously since	35§ 14§	331 121	$     33_{\frac{1}{4}}     11_{\frac{1}{4}} $	30§ 8§	344 124	$\frac{324}{108}$	405 123	38ª 95			
19	and ammonium salts)	154	135	114	81	134	103	131	9t			

 TABLE 1.—Broadbalk wheat plats—Historical summary of manurings and croppings to 1894.

TABLE 1	Broadbalk	wheat plat.	s, etcCo	ntinued.
			/	

-

.

				Avera	ige yie	eld per	acre.		
Plat.	Annual manuring per acre (over	21 y (1852-	ears -1872).	21 y (1873-	ears 1893).	42 y (1852-	ears (1893).	6 ye (1889-	ears 1894).
	oUyears).	Wheat.	Straw.	Wheat.	Straw.	Wheat.	Straw.	Wheat.	Straw.
5(A and B).	Potassium sulphate (20) pounds), sodium sulphate (10) pounds), magnesium sulphate (10) pounds), superphosphate (392	Bush.	Curt.	Bush.	Cırt.	Bush.	Cwt.	Bush.	Cwt.
6 (Aand B).	pounds): some dressings of ammonium salts prior to 1852 Potassium sulphate (200 pounds), sodium sulphate (100 pounds), magnesium sulphate (100 pounds), superphosphate (282	161	14;	121	94	149	121	141	104
7 (A and B).	Potnas, annionum sates (20) potnas. Potassium sulphate (20) pounds), sodium sulphate (10) pounds), magnesium sulphate (10) pounds), superphosphate (322	264	211	211	184	24	21)	261	21‡
8 (A and B).	pounds), ammonium saits (400 pounds) Potassium sulphate (200 pounds), sodium sulphate (100 pounds), magnesium sulphate (100 pounds), superphosphate (302	35	35‡	30]	301	323	324	341	334
A	pounds), animonium salts (600 pounds). Potassium sulphate (200 pounds), sodium sulphate (100 pounds), magnesium sulphate (100 pounds), superphosphate (322	3¥4	414	341	38	36‡	391	37	40 <del>1</del>
9 B	pounds), sodium nitrate, for- merly 550 pounds, latterly (since 1884) 275 pounds Sodium nitrate, formerly 550	37	421	324	34	344	351	30	294
[A	pounds, latterly (since 1884) 275 pounds Ammonium salts alone, 400 pounds	253	254	181	174	-20-1	222	19‡	17‡
10 B	yearly since 1844; mineral ma- nure in 1844 only Ammonium saltsalone, 400 pounds yearly since 1844 (except in 1846	22;	213	17	134	194	171	161	13}
	and 1850; mineralmanure in 1844, 1848, and 1850)	251	244	181	15	214	20	18	151
11 (A and B). 12 (A and B).	Ammonium salts (400 pounds), superphosphate (322 pounds). Ammonium salts (400 pounds), superphosphate (392 pounds), sodium sulphate (3951 pounds);	28	264	21	194	244	23	21	204
12 (A and D)	years	334	321	264	24 2	304	284	294	251
14 (A and B).	Ammonium saits (400 pounds), superphosphate (302 pounds), potassium sulphate (200 pounds). Ammonium saits (400 pounds),	334	333	29	28	314	314	321	31#
15(A and B)	superphosphate (32 pounds), magnesium sulphate (280 pounds); some potassium salts in earlier years	334	324	271	26	30§	29§	291	- 27 <del>1</del>
IO (A ami D)-	applied in autumn; superphos- phate and potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts as on plat 5. (Half this plat received rape cake in partial substitution for	993		430.1	0.0*	201	904	201	201
16 (A and B).	ammonium salts up to 1872) 1852-1864 (13 years), potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts, superphosphate, and 800 pounds ammonium salts (average prod- uce for these 13 years, 394 bushels grain, 464 cwt. straw); 1865-1883 (19 years) unmanured (average produce for these 19 years, 144 bushels grain, 121 cwt. straw); 1884 and since, potas- sium sodium and	338	331	281	26§	303	294	321	30‡
	salts and superphosphate as on plat 5, and sodium nitrate, 550 pounds	314	35	221	224	271	281	341	38 <del>1</del>

				Avera	ige yie	eld per	r acre		
Plat.	Annual manuring per acre (over	21 y (1852-	21 years (1852–1872).		ears 1893).	42 y (1852-	ears 1893).	6 ye (1889-	ears 1894).
1 140.	50 years).	Wheat.	Straw.	Wheat.	Straw.	Wheat.	Straw.	Wheat.	Straw.
17 (A and B) and 18 (A and B).	These plats in alter- nate years receive the one mineral manures as on plat 5, the other ammo-	Bush. $17\frac{1}{2}$	<i>Cwt</i> . 16	Bush. 12‡	Cwt. 9 <sub>i</sub>	Bush. 15 <del>1</del>	Cwt. 12‡	Bush. 16	Cwt. 12§
	nium salts (400 pounds), the treat- ment being year by year transposed. Average of Thus, one year plat 17 receives the min- eral manures and plat 18 the ammo nium salts, while in	31 è	$31_{\frac{1}{8}}$	29	27 8	301	291	29ş	278
19	the following year plat 17 receives the ammonium salts and plat 18 the min- eral manures	241	23 <u>1</u>	20 <del>ş</del>	18 <del>ş</del>	225	21	997 2005	195
	(1,700 pounds): 1883 and since, rape cake (1,889 pounds) applied in autumn	30 <del>§</del>	291	$25\frac{1}{2}$	$22_{4}^{1}$	28	254	26 <u>ş</u>	251

TABLE 1.—Broadbalk wheat plats, etc.—Continued.

#### MECHANICAL COMPOSITION (STONES, FINE SOIL, ETC.).

Having thus given a brief tabular history of the plats and their produce, we may return to the subject of soil sampling, giving an account of the results of the various systematic samplings that have been made of the Broadbalk soils. For the mere purpose of generalization or calculation it would no doubt suffice to give merely summarized or average results of the weights of the samples and their mechanical or physical composition; but, seeing that a vast quantity of detailed analytical work has been done the chief interest of which ultimately rests in its representation of quantities per acre, it seems desirable in a general record and discussion of such analytical data to give also an account of the detailed facts and figures which are taken by Sir Henry Gilbert as the basis of the weights of fine dry soil per acre adopted in acreage calculations of the soil constituents.

Furthermore, the various columns of figures are interesting as showing the general nature of the variations in the distribution of the stones, fine soil, moisture, etc., in the various parts of this historic field, both as regards surface soil and as regards any given layer of subsoil, and also the differences shown to exist between one layer or stratum of subsoil and another. To some of these variations, as well as to the general indications of the results, attention may be specifically directed. The tables about to be given show the percentages of stones, fine dry soil, stubble and roots, and moisture in the sets of samples taken in the three years 1865, 1881, and 1893, while a further table is added giving a general summary of those preceding it.

 
 TABLE 2.—Broadbalk wheat soils (sampled in October, 1865)—Percentages of stones, fine dry soil, stubble and roots, etc., and moisture in soils as sampled.

	F	rirst 9	inches		Se	econd 9	inche	8.	Third 9 inches.			
	Total stones, a	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.	Total stones. a	Pine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.	Total stones, a	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.
Plat 2	P. ct. 15. 04	P. ct. 74.57	$\begin{array}{c} P. \ ct. \\ 0. \ 01 \end{array}$	P. ct. 10.38	P. ct. 11.38	P. ct. 76.38	P. ct. 0.01	P. ct. 12.23	P. ct. 7.49	P. ct. 74. 17	P. ct.	P. ct. 18,04
Plat 3. Plat 5a. Plat 7a. Plat 9a. Plat 10a. Plat 11a. Plat 12a. Plat 13a. Plat 13a. Plat 14a. Plat 16a.	$\begin{array}{c} 15.46\\ 14.65\\ 17.54\\ 18.51\\ 18.06\\ 18.00\\ 19.29\\ 16.82\\ 15.84\\ 17.48 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 74.27\\ 76.33\\ 73.74\\ 72.36\\ 73.67\\ 73.49\\ 72.61\\ 73.64\\ 74.58\\ 73.06\end{array}$	.06 .08 .05 .05 .05 .08	$\begin{array}{c} 10.27\\ 9.02\\ 8.66\\ 9.05\\ 8.21\\ 8.47\\ 8.07\\ 9.49\\ 9.50\\ 9.40\\ 9.40\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 9.71\\ 11.07\\ 8.37\\ 10.11\\ 10.87\\ 12.84\\ 12.42\\ 13.56\\ 8.37\\ 12.98\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 74.39\\ 75.31\\ 76.02\\ 72.88\\ 74.15\\ 70.52\\ 71.37\\ 70.83\\ 70.13\\ 71.17\end{array}$	.01	$\begin{array}{c} 15,90\\ 13,61\\ 15,61\\ 17,01\\ 14,98\\ 16,64\\ 16,21\\ 15,61\\ 21,49\\ 15,85 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.51\\ 7.20\\ 4.04\\ 1.78\\ 10.03\\ 9.60\\ 6.02\\ 8.12\\ 7.36\\ 4.70\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 77.19\\ 75.17\\ 79.40\\ 79.62\\ 74.11\\ 72.56\\ 75.01\\ 74.70\\ 73.46\\ 74.49\\ \end{array}$	0.01	$\begin{array}{c} 18,30\\ 17,66\\ 16,56\\ 18,60\\ 15,86\\ 17,84\\ 18,97\\ 17,18\\ 19,17\\ 20,81\\ \end{array}$
Average, ex- cluding plat 2	16.16	73.78	. 05	9.01	11.03	72.68		16.29	6.34	75.57		18.09

a Stones retained by i-inch sieve. The fine dry soil includes stones passing through a i-inch sieve.

In 1865 eleven plats only were sampled to the depth of 27 inches. From the laboratory records it appears that in that year (1865) the samples were preserved for some time before the determinations of moisture were made, so that the percentages of moisture shown do not represent the amounts and condition of the samples as collected, a fact which of course affects the proportions of the other matters. It is nevertheless seen that the percentage of stones is highest in the surface soil, considerably lower in the second depth, and very much lower in the third. We see, moreover, considerable variation in the percentages of stones in the samples taken at the same depth from the different plats, this being especially the case in the subsoils. This irregularity in the proportion of stones and fine soil is, indeed, characteristic of the Rothamsted subsoils, and unfortunately the variations, even in different parts of the same plat, make it impossible to strike for the mineral constituents of the subsoil-such, for example, as phosphoric acid—a capital debtor and creditor account that can be analytically checked, although it is sometimes possible to do this with some degree of success in the case of the surface soil. This difficulty is, of course, much greater in the case of the "fixed" constituents of the soil-like organic nitrogen and phosphoric acid-and of the partially "fixed "constituents, like potash, than of the soluble or "migratory" constituents, like nitrates or chlorids.

-	F	First 9 i	inches		Se	econd 9	inche	s.	T	hird 9 i	nches	
	Total stones. $a$	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.	Total stones. $a$	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.	Total stones. $\alpha$	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.
Plat 2	P. ct. 12.05	P. ct. 68.68	P. ct. 0.08	P. ct. 19. 19	P. ct. 12.44	P. ct. 69. 91	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	P. ct. 17. 64	P. ct. 9. 21	<i>P.ct.</i> 70.16	P. ct. 0.01	P. ct. 20. 62
Plat 3         Plat 4         Plat 5a         Plat 6a         Plat 6a         Plat 7a         Plat 8a         Plat 9a         Plat 10a         Plat 10b         Plat 10b         Plat 12a         Plat 12a         Plat 12a         Plat 12a         Plat 14a         Plat 15a         Plat 16a         Plat 17a         Plat 18a         Plat 18a         Plat 19	$\begin{array}{c} 13.17\\ 12.38\\ 13.10\\ 13.09\\ 13.90\\ 15.33\\ 16.08\\ 13.90\\ 14.39\\ 14.69\\ 14.39\\ 14.63\\ 16.45\\ 15.33\\ 14.40\\ 17.41\\ 14.63\\ 16.19\\ 14.52\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 71.08\\72.19\\70.61\\69.09\\69.61\\68.25\\67.50\\69.73\\69.58\\67.45\\69.05\\67.78\\68.45\\68.41\\68.15\\68.34\\67.26\\68.34\\67.26\\68.79\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .03\\ .02\\ .02\\ .03\\ .03\\ .03\\ .04\\ .05\\ .03\\ .03\\ .03\\ .03\\ .03\\ .05\\ .06\\ .01\\ .02\\ .05\\ .02\\ .02\\ .02\\ .02\\ .02\\ .02\\ .02\\ .02$	$\begin{array}{c} 15.72\\ 15.41\\ 16.27\\ 17.79\\ 16.48\\ 16.38\\ 16.37\\ 16.38\\ 16.37\\ 16.34\\ 16.00\\ 15.84\\ 16.29\\ 15.69\\ 15.69\\ 15.69\\ 15.69\\ 17.01\\ 16.50\\ 16.67\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.45\\ 3.93\\ 13.09\\ 4.13\\ 9.33\\ 6.47\\ 4.38\\ 10.60\\ 10.49\\ 9.33\\ 7.91\\ 14.61\\ 8.40\\ 9.21\\ 6.08\\ 14.04\\ 13.58\\ 8.37\\ 10.15\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 73,32\\76,48\\68,81\\75,10\\72,35\\74,33\\75,44\\72,39\\70,38\\71,02\\71,70\\66,89\\71,08\\71,03\\72,28\\68,73\\72,28\\68,71,24\\71,08\end{array}$	.01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01           .01	$\begin{array}{c} 20,22\\ 19,58\\ 18,09\\ 20,76\\ 18,31\\ 19,20\\ 20,17\\ 17,01\\ 19,18\\ 19,64\\ 20,39\\ 18,50\\ 20,31\\ 19,75\\ 21,63\\ 17,22\\ 20,83\\ 20,38\\ 18,76\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.83\\ .85\\ .85\\ .6.45\\ 3.14\\ 2.15\\ 1.62\\ 1.25\\ 3.68\\ 8.38\\ 5.51\\ 18.93\\ 4.24\\ 4.90\\ 3.42\\ 11.94\\ 4.90\\ 3.42\\ 11.94\\ 5.10\\ 7.04\\ 7.27\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 75.85\\ 77.18\\ 72.57\\ 74.82\\ 77.86\\ 76.37\\ 75.96\\ 76.06\\ 75.20\\ 69.80\\ 72.58\\ 61.00\\ 73.32\\ 70.27\\ 71.83\\ 67.53\\ 71.74\\ 72.10\\ 70.69\\ \end{array}$	.01 .01 .01 .01 .01 .01 .01 .02 .02 .01 .01 .01	$\begin{array}{c} 22.31\\ 21.96\\ 20.97\\ 22.06\\ 19.98\\ 22.01\\ 22.78\\ 20.26\\ 22.92\\ 21.85\\ 20.07\\ 22.45\\ 24.85\\ 20.07\\ 22.45\\ 24.85\\ 20.05\\ 23.16\\ 20.85\\ 23.16\\ 20.85\\ 22.04\\ \end{array}$
Average, ex- cluding plat 2.	14.77	68.89	. 03	16.31	8,98	71.54	. 01	19.47	5.24	72.77	. 01	21.98

TABLE 3.—Broadbalk wheat soils (sampled in October, 1881)—Percentages of stones, fine dry soil, etc.

a Stones retained by  $\ddagger$  inch sieve. The fine dry soil includes stones passing through  $\ddagger$  inch sieve.

Table 3 gives like results for the samples taken in 1881, though in that year as many as twenty plats were sampled. As in the case of the 1865 samples, the stones are highest in the surface soil, and decrease as we descend; again with a very great range of variation in the second and a still greater range in the third 9 inches, the fine soil, of course, varying conversely. It will be seen that the moisture is at its lowest in the surface soil, higher in the second 9 inches, and still higher in the third 9 inches. This is usually found to be the case. The differences annually vary with the preceding rainfall and other recent climatic conditions, and also according to the recent growth of vegetation, the quantity of which of course regulates the loss of water by leaf transpiration. The variations in the mode of manuring also necessarily affect the hygroscopic character of the soil; for instance, the dunged plats are far more retentive of moisture than the plats receiving chemical manures only. Thus it is usually the case that the drainpipes from the dunged plats yield no drainage water, even when the pipes from the other plats are running freely. Probably the pipes from the undunged plats run six times for once that those of the dunged plats run. Several inches of rain are required to cause the latter to run, owing to the great absorptive capacity acquired by the soil through the accumulation of organic matter from the dung.

16

	F	First 9 i	inches		Se	Second 9 inches.			Т	Third 9 inches.			
	Total stones. a	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.	Total stones. a	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.	Total stones. a	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.	
Plat 2a Plat 2b	$P. ct. 11.97 \\ 11.61$	P. ct. 70, 96 68, 90	P. ct. 0.02 .03	P. ct. 17. 05 19. 46	P. ct. 5, 90 9, 85	P. ct. 74. 22 72. 64	P. ct.	P. ct. 19.88 17.51	P. ct. 2, 99 3, 52	P. ct. 74.62 77.53	P. ct.	P. ct. 22.39 18.95	
Plat 3.         Plat 4.         Plat 5ab         Plat 6ab         Plat 7ab         Plat 7ab         Plat 8ab         Plat 9a         Plat 9b         Plat 10a         Plat 10b         Plat 10b         Plat 10b         Plat 10b         Plat 11ab         Plat 12ab         Plat 14ab         Plat 16ab         Plat 16ab         Plat 16ab         Plat 16ab         Plat 17ab         Plat 18ab	$\begin{array}{c} 10,76\\ 10,54\\ 13,15\\ 12,31\\ 12,11\\ 12,87\\ 11,287\\ 11,287\\ 13,86\\ 12,14\\ 14,40\\ 14,397\\ 13,32\\ 14,31\\ 13,52\\ 14,26\\ 14,01\\ 14,07\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 73.54\\ 73.86\\ 70.86\\ 71.68\\ 71.24\\ 70.83\\ 71.25\\ 72.44\\ 70.27\\ 71.60\\ 69.52\\ 70.36\\ 69.52\\ 70.36\\ 70.36\\ 70.36\\ 70.42\\ 70.42\\ 70.40\end{array}$	.01 .01 .01 .01 .01 .01 .01 .01 .01 .01	$\begin{array}{c} 15.69\\ 15.60\\ 15.98\\ 16.02\\ 16.64\\ 16.29\\ 16.48\\ 16.26\\ 16.36\\ 16.01\\ 16.50\\ 16.32\\ 16.16\\ 15.56\\ 15.56\\ 15.56\\ 15.53\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 8,02\\ 7,35\\ 6,427\\ 2,57\\ 5,33\\ 15,314\\ 11,13\\ 12,25\\ 8,27\\ 17,78\\ 8,29\\ 9,12\\ 11,88\\ 7,964\\ 8,10\\ 5,64\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 74.46\\ 73.00\\ 75.02\\ 78.07\\ 76.49\\ 88.09\\ 763.77\\ 64.9\\ 86.09\\ 773.77\\ 64.99\\ 66.74\\ 89.90\\ 66.69\\ 90\\ 74.28\\ \end{array}$	0.01	$\begin{array}{c} 17 \ 52\\ 19, 63\\ 18, 25\\ 19, 318\\ 18, 18\\ 16, 60\\ 17, 81\\ 15, 10\\ 19, 79\\ 19, 22\\ 21, 56\\ 18, 44\\ 21, 94\\ 21, 94\\ 21, 18\\ 19, 42\\ 22, 10\\ 20, 08\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .56\\ 1.06\\ 5.74\\ 4.12\\ 13.12\\ 13.12\\ 14.61\\ 8.559\\ 2.46\\ 9.520\\ 9.71\\ 3.114\\ 9.620\\ 9.71\\ 10.4.69\\ 4.35\\ 4.91\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 77.74\\ 776.27\\ 786.78\\ 88555\\ 88555\\ 777.29\\ 68555\\ 774.99\\ 774.99\\ 774.78\\ 19\\ 8872\\ 773.19\\ 8872\\ 6771\\ 17\\ 25\\ 14\\ 722\\ 54\\ 70.14\\ \end{array}$		$\begin{array}{c} 21,70\\ 222,67\\ 19,21\\ 19,210\\ 18,97\\ 18,33\\ 21,90\\ 18,53\\ 22,88\\ 20,26\\ 22,20\\ 60\\ 21,85\\ 20,60\\ 21,85\\ 22,060\\ 21,83\\ 24,95\\ 21,14\\ 23,09\\ 24,95\\ \end{array}$	
Average, ex- cluding plats 2a and 2b	13. 02	70, 92	. 01	16.05	9,66	71.05	. 01	19.28	5, 18	73.33		21.49	
	F	ourth	) inche	98.	1	Fifth 9	inches		S	ixth 9	inches		
	Total stones, $a$	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.	Total stones. a	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.	Total stones. a	Fine dry soil.	Stubble. roots, etc.	Moisture.	
Plat 5ab Plat 5ab Plat 7ab Plat 7ab Plat 1ab Plat 1lab Plat 12ab Plat 12ab Plat 14ab Plat 15ab Plat 16ab Plat 16ab Plat 16ab Plat 18ab Plat 18ab	$\begin{array}{c} P.ct.\\ 0.15\\ 1.38\\ 4.77\\ 6.56\\ 7.28\\ 2.11\\ 4.13\\ 5.74\\ 3.96\\ 19.86\\ 6.29\\ 10.41 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 77. 67 \\ 80. 72 \\ 77. 11 \\ 73. 91 \\ 71. 39 \\ 76. 06 \\ 74. 06 \\ 75. 78 \\ 73. 89 \\ 59. 49 \\ 71. 89 \\ 59. 49 \\ 71. 85 \\ 68. 55 \end{array}$	P. ct.	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct.\\ 22,18\\ 17,900\\ 18,12\\ 21,333\\ 21,83\\ 21,83\\ 21,83\\ 21,84\\ 82,15\\ 20,64\\ 21,84\\ 21,84\\ 21,04\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P.ct\\ 0.95\\35\\ 13.46\\76\\ 5.75\\ 3.26\\ 1.41\\27\\ 1.22\\ 6.17\\ 22.89\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct.\\ 78.33\\ 80.80\\ 69.59\\ 79.94\\ 72.87\\ 75.69\\ 78.64\\ 75.49\\ 72.18\\ 69.51\\ 59.61 \end{array}$	P. ct.	$\begin{array}{c} P.ct.\\ 20,72\\ 18,85\\ 16,95\\ 21,38\\ 21,05\\ 19,95\\ 22,24\\ 25,60\\ 24,32\\ 17,50\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P.ct.\\ 3.00\\ -44\\ 17.00\\ 14.98\\ 12.16\\ 10.09\\ -2.98\\ 1.00\\ -47\\ 3.24\\ 8.01\\ -41\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 75, 28\\ 80, 93\\ 66, 92\\ 69, 84\\ 70, 66\\ 74, 82\\ 75, 53\\ 72, 13\\ 67, 845 \end{array}$	P. ct.	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct.\\ 21, 72\\ 18, 63\\ 16, 08\\ 15, 18\\ 19, 05\\ 19, 24\\ 22, 20\\ 23, 78\\ 20, 00\\ 24, 63\\ 24, 15\\ 23, 14\\ \end{array}$	
Average	6,05	73.38		20.57	4.76	74.26		20.98	6.15	73.20		20.65	

TABLE 4.-Broadbalk wheat soils (sampled in October, 1893)-Percentages of stones, fine dry soil, stubble and roots, etc., and moisture in soils as sampled.

9385—No. 106—02—2

				1				
	Se	venth	9 inche	es.	E	ighth 9	inche	S.
	Total stones. $a$	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.	Total stones. $a$	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.
Plat 5ab Plat 6ab Plat 6ab Plat 7ab Plat 8ab Plat 11ab Plat 11ab Plat 12ab Plat 14ab Plat 15ab Plat 15ab Plat 16ab Plat 17ab Plat 18ab Plat 18ab Plat 18ab Plat 18ab Plat 18ab	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 1. 44 \\ 13. 75 \\ .55 \\ 5. 19 \\ 12. 92 \\ 15. 62 \\ 3. 43 \\ 3. 64 \\ 10. 63 \\ 1. 97 \\ 19. 77 \\ 4. 93 \\ \hline 7. 82 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 74.18 \\ 70.28 \\ 82.07 \\ 77.78 \\ 70.31 \\ 66.17 \\ 70.75 \\ 73.51 \\ 72.39 \\ 74.17 \\ 59.35 \\ 76.11 \\ \hline 72.26 \end{array}$	P. ct.	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct.\\ 24.38\\ 15.97\\ 17.38\\ 17.03\\ 16.77\\ 18.21\\ 25.82\\ 22.85\\ 16.98\\ 23.86\\ 20.88\\ 18.96\\ 19.92\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct.\\ 2.72\\ 13.59\\ 1.79\\ 4.15\\ 8.31\\ 21.95\\ 1.99\\ 3.47\\ 7.43\\ 2.32\\ 4.91\\ .87\\ \hline 6.12\\ \end{array}$	P. ct. 74.40 75.36 78.73 78.37 73.84 56.63 73.82 72.95 75.66 72.50 74.81 80.81	P. ct.	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct.\\ 22.88\\ 11.06\\ 19.48\\ 17.48\\ 17.85\\ 21.42\\ 24.19\\ 23.58\\ 16.91\\ 25.18\\ 20.28\\ 18.32\\ \hline \end{array}$
	2	Vinth 9	inches	3.	Г	enth 9	inches	з.
	Total stones. $a$	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.	Total stones. $a$	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Moisture.
Plat 5ab Plat 6ab Plat 7ab Plat 8ab	P. ct. 3. 98 3. 17 3. 05 . 77	$\begin{array}{c} P.  ct. \\ 72.  81 \\ 82.  26 \\ 77.  73 \\ 82.  51 \end{array}$	P. ct.	$\begin{array}{c} P.  ct. \\ 23.  21 \\ 14.  57 \\ 19.  22 \\ 16.  72 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 12.34 \\ 3.19 \\ 4.47 \\ .10 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 67.33 \\ 79.68 \\ 77.44 \\ 84.79 \end{array}$	P. ct.	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 20.32 \\ 17.13 \\ 18 09 \\ 15.11 \end{array}$
Average	2.74	78.83		18.43	5.03	77.31		17.66

#### TABLE 4.—Broadbalk wheat soils, etc.—Continued.

a Stones retained by ‡-inch sieve. The fine dry soil includes stones passing through ‡-inch sieve.

Table 4 gives like results for the much more complete set of samples drawn in 1893. In that year the sampling was not confined to 27 inches, but was carried down in a great many cases—in successive depths of 9 inches—to 72 inches or 6 feet, while in the case of 4 plats a depth of 90 inches or  $7\frac{1}{2}$  feet was reached. And here I must make a public confession. During the sampling of 1893, Sir Henry Gilbert was here in America lecturing, and Sir John Lawes was superintending the work of sampling at Rothamsted. I happened to go to see him while the pits excavated for sampling the wheat plats were open, the full depth of 90 inches having been reached only in four cases. I was much interested in the sampling, as a set of the samples was promised to me for investigation in regard to the phosphoric acid and potash constituents, by a process which I had then recently applied, with very interesting results, to the examination of the barley soils in Hoos field. I was much struck with the great variations shown by the subsoils of the wheat plats in their lowermost depths. The lower subsoils, at corresponding depths, were in some cases mere chalk, in others mixtures of clay and chalk, and in others of chalk, clay, and gravel; and this lack of any kind of apparent uniformity so low down made it obvious that the lower samples were likely to be of very little value for the purpose of comparison of their fixed mineral contents or of their organic nitrogen. My mind was probably mainly concentrated upon the phosphoric acid and pot-ash problems which I was myself about to be allowed to investigate, and it appeared to me that from that point of view there was not much interest in the samples below the second or third depth. Sir John Lawes pointed out that this would not apply in anything like the same degree to diffusible constituents, e.g., nitrates. It appeared to me, however, to be very unlikely that even the migratory constituents would present much interest at a depth of 71 feet, for at that depth, or even considerably short of it, it seemed natural to suppose that the subsoil contents washed down from the surface would have not merely descended, but would have also diffused laterally to such an increasing extent that the subsoils would surely have their proper soluble contents merged into one another; for the wheat plats, although something like half an acre in area, are arranged in long strips parallel to one another, and not in squares. This view I was rash enough to express pretty confidently, with the result that Sir John Lawes-who, I believe, inwardly felt a like conviction-decided not to spend further time and labor in completing the sampling of the deeper subsoils, especially as the season was getting late and he was anxions to get the wheat sown. Now it happens that my view as to the lateral diffusibility of the nitrates, even at so great a depth as  $7\frac{1}{2}$ feet, was incorrect, their downward settlement being much more vertical than I had anticipated; and the results of subsequent analyses of even the deepest subsoils by Sir Henry Gilbert were such as to make it a matter of regret that the original plan of sampling to 90 inches throughout the whole series of plats was not carried out. But for my unlucky visit, Sir John-even, perhaps, a little in the face of his own inclination-would have completed the sampling plan that he had prearranged with Sir Henry Gilbert, who, I am afraid, does not to this day quite forgive me. I now publicly express my sorrow for the gaps which, through my fault, will be found in certain interesting tables which we shall have to deal with by-and-by.

TABLE 5.—Broadbalk wheat	soils sampled	in October, 1865;	October, 1881	and
October, 1893—Percentages	of stones, fine	dry soil, stubble	and roots, etc.	, and
moisture in soils as sampled	<i>d</i> .	- · ·	-	

Depth.	Number of plats.	${ m Total} \\ { m stones.} a$	Fine dry soil.	Stubble, roots, etc.	Mois- ture.
Commissional Antohon 2.0. 1965;		Pom cont	Den and	D	Day and
Samples confected October 2-9, 1009.	10	16 16	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.
FIrst 9 Inches	10	11 02	10.10	0.05	10 90
Second 9 inches	10	11.00	12.08		10.49
Third 9 inches	10	0.0±	10.01		10.09
Samples collected October 10-16, 1661:	10	11 ~~~	00 00	02	10.91
First 9 inches	19	14.11	00.09	.03	10.01
Second 9 inches	19	0.90	(1.04	.01	19.44
Third 9 inches	19	0.24	12.11	10.01	21.98
Samples collected October 13-21, 1893:	10	10.00	PO 00	01	10.05
First 9 inches	1 19	13.02	10.92	10.	10.00
Second 9 inches	1 19	9.66	71.05	.01	19.28
Third 9 inches	1 19	5.18	73.33		21.49
Fourth 9 inches	12	6.05	73.38		20.57
Fifth 9 inches	12	4.76	74.26		20.98
Sixth 9 inches	12	6.15	73.20		20.65
Seventh 9 inches	12	7.82	72.26		19.92
Eighth 9 inches	1 12	6.12	73.99		19.89
Ninth 9 inches	4	2.74	78.83		18.43
Tenth 9 inches	4	5.03	77.31		17.66
					1

#### SUMMARY, EXCLUDING DUNGED PLATS.

a Stones retained by  $\ddagger\mbox{-inch}$  sieve. The fine dry soil includes stones passing through  $\mbox{\ddagger\mbox{-inch}}$  sieve.

The short summary given in Table 5, especially in the 1893 division, shows at a glance the average composition of all the plats, excluding the dunged plats, at the various depths. There is a general though not uniform decline in the proportion of stones as we go deeper, and, of course, a corresponding increase in fine soil, together with a general increase downward in the moisture retained by the soil, though in the last depths there is a decrease. The variations are, for a considerable depth, due, no doubt, mainly to the causes of weather, vegetation, etc., already alluded to, but in the lower depths the varying proximity of the underlying chalk must to some extent afford a varying facilitation for the passage away of drainage water. Thus far for the mere percentage mechanical composition of the soil, based upon the arbitrary division into stones retained by a one-fourthinch sieve and fine soil.

We have now to go into the very important question of the weights per acre represented by the samples taken in various years from the various plats and at various depths. The whole of the figures relating to the great number of samples taken need not be given, nor would their record serve any useful purpose, but it appears important to give a résumé of the hitherto unpublished data on which are based the acreage weights now adopted at Rothamsted, and Sir Henry Gilbert has very kindly furnished me with such a résumé.

The methods of sampling and weighing and of sifting and dividing the samples into stones and fine soil have already been described. In comparing the results obtained in the 1865 and 1881 samples it was noticed many years ago that the 1865 samples representing the first 9 inches were approximately one-tenth lighter in weight than those of 1881. After a careful study at the time it was considered by Sir John Lawes and Sir Henry Gilbert that the lighter weights of 1865 were more probably correctly representative of the first 9 inches, and that the 1881 samples had included, in the actual 9 inches taken, more than the first 9 normal inches of soil; in fact, that the quantity taken on the original weight represented more nearly 10 inches of real depth than 9 inches, or that it included about 1 inch too much of subsoil. Accordingly, after analysis of the soils, the estimates per acre of the nitrogen, for example, in the 1881 samples, were calculated on the assumption that the weights should have been approximately onetenth less, a deduction of one-tenth being made from the originally indicated acreage weight of the soil. But more recently, when the weights of the 1893 samples were available for comparison, it was found that the average weights of the 1881 and 1893 samples of the first 9 inches agreed, both being very sensibly above those of 1865. A careful study of the climatic features of the three individual seasons, both before and after the removal of their respective crops, and of the probable condition of the land as affected thereby, together with the notes that had been kept relating to the mechanical operations to which the land had been subjected, led to the conclusion that in 1865 the surface soil was in a lighter condition than in either 1881 or 1893, and that probably the weights were more normal in the two later years. After much tabulation and much thought and calculation as to the effects of assimilating the weights of 1865 with those of 1881 and 1893, it was found that no inconsistency was introduced and that the truth was more probably arrived at by correcting, on this assumption, the estimates derived from the weights of 1865 than by altering, as had previously been done, the estimates for 1881. As regarded the subsoils, there seemed to be little reason for supposing that the weights would materially alter from period to period, and, after careful correlation of all the details, it was decided to take a fixed weight of fine, dry soil for each depth at each of the three periods, this being found by taking the mean of all the determinations in the three or the two years, as the case might be.

There were considerable variations in the weights of fine, dry soil in the samples from the different plats in one and the same year, which were largely attributable to the varying amounts of stones; but comparing the averages for all the plats of one year with those of the others the differences were comparatively immaterial.

Except, therefore, in the case of the plats receiving large quantities of organic matter, such as farmyard manure or rape cake, there has now been adopted, for the three years, a uniform average weight of fine dry soil for the first 9 inches, and also a uniform weight per acre of fine dry soil for each depth below the first 9 inches, including, in the case of the subsoils, those of the dung and rape-cake plats. As the estimates of weight of soil per acre now adopted will continue to be used at Rothamsted until any further experience indicates the propriety of any modifications, it is desirable that the data from which these estimates are derived should be published for future reference, and they are therefore embodied in the following table:

**TABLE 6.**—Broadbalk wheat soils—Résumé of data and weights of fine dry soil per acre adopted for all plats sampled, and for all depths taken in 1865, 1881, and 1893 (excepting for the first 9 inches of plats 2a, 2b, and 19, for which see separate table).

[It will be seen that in the case of the first depth the results for plat 2 and 19 are not brought in in taking the average for the other plats, but that for each depth below the first the results for plats 2 and 19 are brought in, and that a uniform weight is adopted for each depth for each of the three years, 1865, 1881, and 1893.]

			es.	by	Ave	erage weigh	t per acre	э.
	Year.	Number of plats.	Number of sampl	Stones retained 4-inch sieve.	Fine soil (dry) passing 4-inch sieve.	Total fine dry soiland stones.	Moisture.	Total soil as sampled in the field.
First 9 inches: All plats sampled, exclud- ing plat 2- Actual Adopted	<b>}</b> 1865	10	${80 \\ 174}$	<i>Pounds.</i> 534, 971 523, 549	Pounds. 2,297,896 2,592,621	Pounds. 2,832,867 3,116,170	Pounds. 280,924 601,564	Pounds. 3, 115, 221 3, 718, 565
/ 11 plats sampled, excluding 2 and 19	$\overline{\{\!\!\begin{array}{c} 1881 \\ 1893 \\ \end{array}\!\!}$	}18	$\overline{\begin{smallmatrix} 108 \\ 66 \end{smallmatrix}}$	$\frac{547,749}{483,950}$	$\frac{2,557,170}{2,650,631}$	3,104,919 3,134,581	$\begin{array}{r} 602,073 \\ 600,731 \end{array}$	3,708,177 3,735,563
Average, 1881 and 1893 .			174	523, 549	2, 592, 621	3, 116, 170	601, 564	3, 718, 565
Second 9 inches: All plats sampled, exclud- ing 2 and 19	${ {1881 \\ 1893 } }$	18 18	$\begin{array}{c}108\\66\end{array}$	$338,252 \\ 357,278$	2,708,505 2,567,100	3,046.757 2,924,378	737,601 695,430	3,784,632 3,619,879
Average, 1881 and 1893			174	345, 469	2,654,869	3,000,338	721,605	3, 722, 139
All plats sampled, including 2 and 19	${}^{\{1881}_{\{1893}$	$\begin{array}{c} 20\\21 \end{array}$	$\frac{120}{77}$	$347,510 \\ 343,067$	2,706,473 2,579,859	3,053,983 2,922,926	$\begin{array}{c} 733,232 \\ 691,659 \end{array}$	3,787,500 3,617,652
Average, 1881 and 1893			197	345,773	2,656,984	3,002.757	718, 155	3, 721, 113
All plats, including 2 All plats, including 2 and 19 Do	$     \begin{array}{r}       1865 \\       1881 \\       1893     \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c}11\\20\\21\end{array}$		$\begin{array}{r} 410,015\\ 347,510\\ 343,067\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 2,703,417\\ 2,706,473\\ 2,579,859\end{array}$	3, 113, 432 3, 053, 983 2, 922, 926	$\begin{array}{c} 590,189\\ 733,232\\ 694,659\end{array}$	3,703,714 3,787,500 3,617,652
Average, 1865, 1881, and 1893			285	365, 609	2,671,321	3,036,930	678, 643	3, 715, 740
Third 9 inches: All plats sampled, exclud- ing 2 and 19	${ {1881 \\ {1893} } }$	18 18	$\begin{array}{c} \cdot\\108\\66\end{array}$	$194,415\\196,121$	2,763,164 2,777,540	2,957,579 2,973,661	832,173 803,147	3,790,004 3,776,839
Average, 1881 and 1893.			174	195,062	2, 768, 617	2,963,679	821,163	3, 785, 010
All plats, including 2 and 19	${1881 \\ 1893}$	$\begin{array}{c} 20\\21 \end{array}$	$\frac{120}{77}$	$205,828 \\ 188,555$	2,750,600 2,780,895	2,956,428 2,969,450	$828,831 \\ 807,363$	3,785,506 3,776,842
Average, 1881 and 1893			197	199,077	2, 762, 441	2,961,518	820, 440	3, 782, 120
All plats sampled, including 2. All plats, including 2 and 19 Do	$\frac{1865}{1881}\\1893$	$\begin{array}{c}11\\20\\21\end{array}$		$\begin{array}{r} 243,973\\ 205,828\\ 188,555\end{array}$	2,856,554 2,750,600 2,780,895	$\begin{array}{r} 3,100,527\\ 2,956,428\\ 2,969,450 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 684,955\\ 828,831\\ 807,363 \end{array}$	3,785,513 3,785,506 3,776,842
Average, 1865, 1881, and 1893			285	212, 939	2, 791, 501	3,004,440	778,606	3, 783, 167

TABLE 6.—Broadbalk	wheat soils.	etc.—Conti	nued.
--------------------	--------------	------------	-------

SUMMARY OF ADOPTED WEIGHTS, ETC.

			es.	1ry	Ave	erage weig	ht per aci	е.
	Depth.	Number of plats.	Number of sampl	Stones retained <sup>‡</sup> -inch sieve.	Fine soil (dry) passing 4-inch sieve.	Total fine, dry soil and stones.	Moisture.	Total soil as sampled in the field.
Average of- 108 samples in 1881 and 66 in 1883 88 samples in 1865, 120 in 1884, and 77 in 1893. Do Do Do Do Mean of 6th and 8th depths (adopted) All samples in 1893. Do Do Do Mean of 6th and 8th depths (adopted) All samples in 1893. Do Do	First Second . Third . Fourth Fifth . Sixth . Seventh Eighth Ninth Tenth	122 122 122 122 122 124 4	174 285 285 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 8 8	Pounds. 523, 549 365, 609 212, 939 228, 690 186, 492 237, 765 208, 341 238, 843 239, 920 102, 955 190, 915	Pounds. 2, 592, 621 2, 671, 321 2, 783, 485 2, 885, 549 2, 885, 549 2, 836, 800 2, 746, 319 2, 852, 599 2, 868, 308 3, 003, 479 3, 001, 755	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds,\\ 3,116,170\\ 3,036,930\\ 3,004,440\\ 3,012,175\\ 3,052,041\\ 3,074,655\\ 3,044,660\\ 3,091,442\\ 3,108,228\\ 3,106,434\\ 3,192,670\\ \end{array}$	Pounds. 601, 564 678, 643 778, 606 778, 435 807, 104 797, 535 752, 434 781, 712 765, 889 700, 142 683, 149	Pounds. 3, 718, 565 3, 715, 740 3, 783, 167 3, 790, 628 3, 859, 144 3, 872, 189 3, 797, 094 3, 873, 154 3, 874, 118 3, 874, 118 3, 875, 819

In the case of the plats receiving annually large quantities of organic matter in the form of dung or rape cake the soil necessarily becomes more bulky or porous and absorbent, and therefore lighter as regards the surface soil. Table 6 shows the determined weights of the dunged plats, 2a and 2b, and of the rape-cake plat at different periods, and also their calculated weights based on the assumption of an average yearly decrease in weight corresponding to increment of organic matter. Plat 2a, it will be remembered, has received 14 tons of farmyard manure every year since 1884—that is to say, for only nine years previously to the 1893 sampling—while plat 2b had received 14 tons of farmyard manure every year for fifty years. Plat 19 has for many years received about 16 hundredweight of ground rape cake per annum.

Year of sampling.	Actual weight of fine dry soil per acre.	Assuming 2,592,621 pounds in 1884 for 2a, and in 1843 for 2b, and in 1878 for 19 (as adopted for all plats ex- cept 2 and 19).	Number of years be- tween starting point and each sam- pling.	Reduction of weight, if at same rate per annum.	Calculated weight of fine dry soil per acre at each date (starting- point weight less assumed reduction over succes- sive peri- ods).	Actual (+ or —) calculated weight.
Plat 2a: 1843 1893 Difference in 9 vears	Pounds. (a) 2,510,185	Pounds. 2, 592, 621 2, 510, 185 82, 436	Years.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.
Difference per an-		9 160				
Plat 2b: 1843 1865 1881 1893 Difference in 50 vears	$(a) \\ b 2, 420, 363 \\ 2, 456, 509 \\ 2, 333, 891$	2, 592, 621 2, 333, 891 258, 730	222 38 50	$113,841 \\ 196,635 \\ 258,730$	2,592,621 2,478,780 2,395,986 2,333,891	-58,417 +60,523
Difference per an-		5 174 0				
Plat 19:		5,174.6				******
1878 b 1881 c	(a) 2,462,780	2, 592, 621	3	2,536	2,590,085	
1893 Difference in 15 years	2, 579, 942	2,579,942 12,679	15	12,679	2, 579, 942	
Difference pe <b>r</b> an- num		845.3				

 TABLE 7.—Broadbalk wheat soils, actual and calculated weights per acre of fine

 dry soil, of plats 2a, 2b, and 19, at different depths (first 9 inches).

a Not sampled. b All 1865 first 9 inches assumed to be one-ninth too low; hence actual weight, 2,178,327 pounds, + one-ninth (242,036 pounds) = 2,420,363 pounds, assumed corrected weight. c1878, the commencement of a large increase in the amount of rape cake applied per annum is adopted as the starting point in this case.

The following table (Table 8), abstracted from the foregoing tables, gives at a glance the final adopted weights:

TABLE 8.-Weights per acre of fine dry soil adopted for the Broadbalk wheat plats.

[Extracted from Tables 6 and 7.]	
First 9 inches:	Pounds.
For all plats, excepting 2a, 2b, and 19 for each year,	
1865, 1881, and 1893	2, 592, 621
For plat 2a in 1893.	2, 510, 185
For plat 2b in 1865	2, 478, 780
For plat 2b in 1881	2, 395, 986
For plat 2b in 1893	2, 333, 891
For plat 19 in 1893	2, 579, 942
Second 9 inches:	
For all plats in each year	2,671,321
Third 9 inches:	
For all plats in each year	2, 791, 501
Lower depths, for all plats:	
Fourth 9 inches	2,783,485
Fifth 9 inches	2,865,549
Sixth 9 inches	2,836,890
Seventh 9 inches	2,852,599
Eighth 9 inches	2,868,308
Ninth 9 inches	3,003,479
Tenth 9 inches	3 001 755

#### SAMPLES TAKEN IN 1893.

These samples, you may be reminded, were drawn at the close of the fiftieth experimental year of continuous wheat growing on the same series of plats. As the results of the examination of this series of samples are new, and as they possess, on account of the greater age of the experiments, more interest than the earlier samples, they may be allowed to have the first claim on our attention. They will subsequently be considered in relation to those of the earlier samples.

#### TOTAL NITROGEN AND ORGANIC CARBON (GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FULL STATEMENT OF ANALYTICAL RESULTS).

The most important element in the soil, because the most expensive one to supply, and therefore the one we are most anxious to conserve, is the nitrogen. We will, therefore, consider in the first place the results of the determinations of nitrogen in the samples representing the soils and subsoils of the various plats.

It is here necessary to explain to those who are not practical chemists that there are two methods in general use for the determination of nitrogen in such bodies as soil. Much the older, and formerly the almost universally adopted, method was that known as the soda-lime combustion method. All the earlier determinations at Rothamsted were made by this method of analysis. In the last few years another method, one of "moist combustion" in boiling sulphuric acid, has arisen, known, from the name of its inventor, as the Kjeldahl method. For practical commercial purposes, such as the examination of manures, where accuracy in small decimal percentage places is not sought, both methods give substantially the same results. It is, however, now largely conceded that the Kjeldahl process, properly modified, is the more trustworthy; and, from its cleanliness, convenience, and simplicity, it has in England and in Germany now practically supplanted the soda-lime method, and, I understand, has also to a large extent done so in America, although I believe your chemists still recognize the soda-lime method as an alternative official process.

The 1893 wheat-soil samples have all been examined by both processes, and as there is throughout a slight difference in the results, it is considered important that both should be recorded, for although, as will presently appear, it is desirable to accept the Kjeldahl results as the more satisfactory, it is, on the other hand, important to preserve the soda-lime results for comparison with those of the analyses of the earlier series of samples, which were made by the soda-lime method. It is, moreover, interesting to those who are practical agricultural chemists to see the nature and range of the variations between the two sets of results. These are set out in Table 9. The nitric nitrogen is also added separately.

#### INVESTIGATIONS ON ROTHAMSTED SOILS.

TABLE 9.—Broadbalk wheat soils, sampled in October, 1893—Percentage of NITRO-GEN in fine dry soil, as determined, respectively, by the soda-lime method and by the Kjeldahl method; also the percentage of "nitric" nitrogen (nitrogen existing in the form of nitrates).

		First 9	inches.		Second 9 inches.			
	То	tal nitrog	en.		To	tal nitrog	en.	
	By soda- lime.	By Kjel- dahl.	Kjeldahl (+) or (-) soda- lime.	"Nitric" nitro- gen.	By soda- lime.	By Kjel- dahl.	Kjeldahl (+) or () soda- lime.	"Nitric" nitro- gen.
Plat 2a         Plat 2b         Plat 3         Plat 4         Plat 5         Plat 6         Plat 7         Plat 8         Plat 9b         Plat 9b         Plat 10b         Plat 10b         Plat 11         Plat 12         Plat 13         Plat 15         Plat 16         Plat 18         Plat 18         Plat 19         Average, exclud- ing 2a and 2b         Average lbat bac	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent, \\ 0, 1520 \\ .2132 \\ .0940 \\ .0906 \\ .0971 \\ .1076 \\ .1146 \\ .1167 \\ .1168 \\ .1002 \\ .1029 \\ .119 \\ .1100 \\ .1088 \\ .1204 \\ .1188 \\ .1204 \\ .1309 \\ \hline \end{array}$	Per cent. 0.1628 2207 .0982 .1013 .1107 .1222 .1188 .1189 .1094 .1064 .1131 .1194 .1250 .1234 .1174 .1252 .1234 .1174 .1232 .1348	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent. \\ +0.0108 \\ +.0075 \\ +.0052 \\ +.0052 \\ +.0031 \\ +.0076 \\ +.0073 \\ +.0031 \\ +.0033 \\ +.0033 \\ +.0084 \\ +.0044 \\ +.0044 \\ +.0046 \\ +.0046 \\ +.0046 \\ +.0057 \\ +.0039 \\ \hline \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent.\\ 0.\ 000943\\ .000451\\ .000372\\ .000307\\ .000406\\ .000545\\ .000545\\ .000545\\ .000671\\ .000671\\ .0006428\\ .000428\\ .000483\\ .000364\\ .000364\\ .000356\\ .000524\\ .000516\\ .000524\\ .000450\\ .000524\\ .000450\\ .000450\\ .000450\\ .000450\\ .000524\\ .000450\\ .000524\\ .000450\\ .000524\\ .000450\\ .000524\\ .000526\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .000550\\ .00055$	Per cent. 0.0761 .0712 0.0684 .0670 .0684 .0670 .0696 .0765 .0778 .0789 .0765 .0778 .0789 .0765 .0774 .0791 .0686 .0748 .0748 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .0778 .07788 .07788 .07788 .07788 .07788 .07788 .07788 .07	Per cent. 0.0811 .0767 .0730 .0739 .0739 .0739 .0739 .0720 .0681 .0752 .0849 .0817 .0820 .0812 .0842 .0757 .0804 .0757 .0793 .0794	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent. \\ +0.0051 \\ +0.0051 \\ +.0034 \\ +.0113 \\ +.0035 \\ +.0034 \\ +.0084 \\ +.0084 \\ +.0084 \\ +.0084 \\ +.00056 \\ +.00055 \\ +.00055 \\ +.00056 \\ +.00056 \\ +.00056 \\ +.00046 \\ +.00018 \end{array}$	Per cent. 0.000848 001608 000345 000238 000273 000719 000028 000972 001088 000972 001088 000920 001088 000920 001085 000920 001553 000912
Average, all plats.	. 1167	. 1222	+ .0055	. 000520	.0728	.0784	+ .0056	. 000931
		Third 9	inches.	_		Fourth	9 inches.	
		-						

	То	tal nitrog	en.		To	tal nitrog	en.	
	By soda- lime.	By Kjel- dahl.	Kjeldahl (+) or (-) soda- lime.	"Nitric" nitro- gen.	By soda- lime.	By Kjel- dahl.	Kjeldahl (+) or (-) soda- lime.	"Nitric" nitro- gen.
Plat 2a Plat 2b Plat 3	Per cent. 0.0645 .0628 0594	Per cent. 0.0660 .0656 0651	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent. \\ +0.\ 0015 \\ + \ .0028 \\ + \ 0057 \end{array}$	Per cent. 0.000368 .000439 000098	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.
Plat 4 Plat 5 Plat 6 Plat 7 Plat 8	0573 0560 0558 0527 0587	.0644 .0645 .0628 .0583 .0630	+ .0071 + .0085 + .0070 + .0056 + .0043	000076 000080 000208 000306 000312	$0.0458 \\ .0448 \\ .0501 \\ .0567$	$0 0524 \\ 0469 \\ 0466 \\ 0546$	+0.0066 + .0021 0035 0021	0.000034 .000107 .000191 .000313
Plat 9a Plat 9b Plat 10a Plat 10b Plat 11	.0609 .0649 .0678 .0682 .0682	.0696 .0690 .0706 .0696 .0696	+ .0087 + .0041 + .0028 + .0014 + .0050	$\begin{array}{c} .000240\\ .000558\\ .000403\\ .000501\\ .000533\end{array}$	0138	0585	+ 0147	000419
Plat 12 Plat 13 Plat 14 Plat 15 Plat 16	0676 0566 0635 0578 0506	$     \begin{array}{r}       0733 \\       0650 \\       0650 \\       0693 \\       0655       \end{array} $	+ .0057 + .0057 + .0084 + .0015 + .0015	$\begin{array}{c} .000339 \\ .000435 \\ .000338 \\ .000422 \\ .000377 \\ .000377 \end{array}$	.0569 .0514 .0399 .0390	.0634 .0528 .0441 .0441 .0521	$\begin{array}{r} + .0065 \\ + .0014 \\ + .0042 \\ + .0051 \\ + .0058 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} .000268 \\ .000268 \\ .000168 \\ .000246 \\ .000234 \\ .000234 \end{array}$
Plat 17. Plat 18. Plat 19.	. 0606 . 0606 . 0606 . 0697	.0053 .0671 .0663 .0719	+ .0049 + .0065 + .0057 + .0022	. 000744 . 000306 . 000229 . 000508	. 0463	.0497 .0481	+ .0038 + .0029 + .0014	.000403 .000103 .000121
Average, all plats	. 0613	. 0666	+ .0053	. 000356	. 0474	. 0511	+ .0037	. 000223

#### THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

.

		Fifth 9	inches.		Sixth 9 inches.			
	To	tal nitrog	en.		То			
	By soda- lime.	By Kjel- dahl.	Kjeldahl (+) or (-) soda- lime.	"Nitric" nitro- gen.	By soda lime.	By Kjel- dahl.	Kjeldahl (+) or (-) soda- lime.	"Nitric" nitro- gen.
Plat 5 Plat 6 Plat 7 Plat 8 Plat 11. Plat 12. Plat 13 Plat 14 Plat 15. Plat 15. Plat 15. Plat 16 Plat 18. Average, all plats	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent. \\ 0, 0406 \\ .0462 \\ .0425 \\ .0489 \\ .0470 \\ .0479 \\ .0453 \\ .0380 \\ .0407 \\ .0484 \\ .0441 \\ .0346 \\ \hline \\ .0437 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} Per \ cent. \\ 0.0442 \\ .0497 \\ .0468 \\ .0497 \\ .0403 \\ .0517 \\ .0444 \\ .0458 \\ .0543 \\ .0458 \\ .0543 \\ .0449 \\ .0360 \\ \hline .0472 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent. \\ +0,0036 \\ +.0035 \\ +.0045 \\ +.0021 \\ +.0014 \\ +.0054 \\ +.0051 \\ +.0059 \\ +.0059 \\ +.0008 \\ +.0014 \\ \hline +.0035 \end{array}$	Per cent. 0.000355 000121 0001297 000590 000590 000297 000123 000123 000123 000123 00014 000102 000174	Per cont. 0.0497 0456 0341 0409 0404 0403 0403 0413 0417 0409 0297 0413 0334 0334 03317	Per cent. 0,0569 .0463 .0348 .0409 .0404 .0407 .0467 .0467 .0458 .0458 .0458 .0432 .0433 .0430	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent. \\ +0.0072 \\ +.0007 \\0000 \\ .0000 \\ +.0005 \\ +.0050 \\ +.0050 \\ +.0029 \\ +.0036 \\ +.0029 \\ +.0059 \\ +.0089 \\ +.0089 \\ \hline +.0089 \end{array}$	Per cent. 0.00025 000131 000155 000263 000177 000178 000134 000192 000152 000210 000058
		Seventh	9 inches.		Eighth 9 inches.			

TABLE 9.—Broadbalk wheat soils, etc.—Continued.

	То	tal nitrog	gen.		То			
-	By soda- lime.	By Kjel- dahl.	Kjeldahl (+)or (-)soda- lime.	" Nitric" nitro- gen.	By soda- lime.	By Kjel- dahl.	Kjeldahl (+) or (-) soda- lime.	" Nitric" nitro- gen.
Plat 5 Plat 6. Plat 7 Plat 7 Plat 11 Plat 12 Plat 12 Plat 13 Plat 13 Plat 14 Plat 15 Plat 16 Plat 16 Plat 17 Plat 18  Plat 18	Per cent. 0.0584 .0401 .0415 .0428 .0310 .0428 .0397 .0397 .0397 .0396 .0297 .0282	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent.\\ 0, 0591\\ ,0400\\ ,0416\\ ,0442\\ ,0366\\ ,6423\\ ,0471\\ ,0454\\ ,0454\\ ,0353\\ ,0454\\ ,0348\\ ,0324\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent. \\ +0.0007 \\ -0.0001 \\ .0000 \\ .0014 \\ +.0056 \\ -0.043 \\ +.0043 \\ +.0037 \\ +.0037 \\ +.0057 \\ +.0058 \\ +.0051 \\ +.0051 \\ +.0042 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent.\\ 0,\ 000116\\ 000114\\ 000158\\ 000280\\ 000157\\ 000188\\ 000195\\ 000195\\ 000195\\ 000178\\ 000191\\ 0000178\\ 000191\\ 000048\\ 000050\\ \end{array}$	Per cent. 0,0561 .0315 .0348 .0378 .0422 .0295 .0453 .0453 .0470 .0295 .0455 .0455 .0455 .0455 .0357	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cont.\\ 0, 0568\\ .0377\\ .0384\\ .0371\\ .0384\\ .0371\\ .0493\\ .0493\\ .0493\\ .0493\\ .0493\\ .0493\\ .0493\\ .0493\\ .0493\\ .0493\\ .0301\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cont \\ +0,0007 \\ +.0007 \\ +.0020 \\ +.0020 \\ +.0030 \\ +.0030 \\ +.0023 \\ +.0003 \\ +.0003 \\ +.0004 \\ +.0014 \\0006 \end{array}$	Per cent. 0,000032 ,000066 ,000140 ,000213 ,000185 ,000124 ,000237 ,000124 ,000237 ,000135 ,000219 ,000060 ,000050
Average, all plats	. 0386	. 0420	+ .0034	. 000050	. 0375	. 0396	. 0021	. 000144

		Ninth 9	inches.		Tenth 9 inches.			
	To	tal nitrog	en.		To			
	By soda- lime.	By Kjel- dahl	Kjeldahl (+) or (-) soda lime.	"Nitric" nitro- gen.	By soda- lime.	By Kjel- dahl.	Kjeldahl (+) or (-) soda- lime.	"Nitric' nitro- gen.
Plat 5 Plat 6 Plat 7 Plat 8	Per cent. 0.0487 .0325 .0302 .0318	Per cent. 0,0566 .0325 .0355 .0318	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent. \\ +0.\ 0079 \\ .\ 0000 \\ + \ .\ 0053 \\ .\ 0000 \end{array}$	Per cent. 0.000029 .000082 .000143 .000204	Per cent. 0.0525 .0311 .0332 .0265	Per cent. 0,0571 .0332 .0332 .0265	Per cent. +0.0046 + .0021 .0000 .0000	Per cent. 0.000019 .000072 .000146 .000188
Average, all plats	. 0358	. 0391	+ .0033	. 000115	. 0358	. 0375	+ .0017	.000106

**TABLE 10.**—Broadbalk wheat soils, sampled in October, 1893—Percentages of NITRO-GEN in fine dry soil, as determined, respectively, by the soda-lime method and by the Kjeldahl method: also the percentages of "nitric" nitrogen (nitrogen existing in the form of nitrates).

[Summary of preceding results in Table 9-averages of all plats sampled at each depth.]

		Total n	itrogen,	Kjeldahl	"Nitrie"	
Depth.	ber of plats.	By soda- lime.	By Kjel- dahl.	(+) or (—) soda-lime.	nitrogen.	
First 9 inches (excluding 2a and 2b) First 9 inches(all plats) Second 9 inches Third 9 inches Fourth 9 inches. Fifth 9 inches. Sixth 9 inches Eighth 9 inches Eighth 9 inches Thirth 9 inches Tenth 9 inches.	$     \begin{array}{r}       19 \\       21 \\       21 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       4 \\       4 \\       4   \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent.\\ 0, 1098\\ .1167\\ .0728\\ .0613\\ .0474\\ .0437\\ .0392\\ .0386\\ .0375\\ .0358\\ .0358\\ .0358\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent.\\ 0, 1149\\ 1222\\ .0784\\ .0666\\ .0511\\ .0472\\ .0430\\ .0420\\ .0396\\ .0391\\ .0375\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent. \\ +0.0051 \\ + .0055 \\ + .0056 \\ + .0037 \\ + .0037 \\ + .0038 \\ + .0038 \\ + .0038 \\ + .0031 \\ + .0021 \\ + .0033 \\ + .0017 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent.\\ 0,\ 000520\\ .\ 000931\\ .\ 000326\\ .\ 000223\\ .\ 000174\\ .\ 000144\\ .\ 000144\\ .\ 000144\\ .\ 000145\\ .\ 000115\\ .\ 000106\end{array}$	
	1					

It will be seen that in almost every individual instance, and always in the case of the average results for each depth of soil, the Kjeldahl method gives a higher percentage of nitrogen than the soda-lime method. The actual difference is greater in the case of the higher than of the lower depths. Reckoned, however, in percentage on the total nitrogen obtained, the deficiency by the soda-lime method is on the average considerably less in the case of the samples of the first depth (which, as will be seen hereafter, contain not only more nitrogen, but also more carbon, and a higher ratio of carbon to nitrogen) than in the lower or subsoil depths. But, with some marked exceptions, the relative deficiency of the soda-lime method, though higher in the subsoils than in the surface soils, is on the average fairly uniform from depth to depth, and averages between 7 and 8 per cent of the total nitrogen. A comparison of the column of the summary table (Table 10), showing the greater amount of nitrogen found by the Kjeldahl method, with the column showing the nitrogen existing as nitrates, will show that the higher results can not be accounted for by more complete determination of the nitric nitrogen by the Kjeldahl method; nor do the figures showing the relation of carbon to nitrogen (to be hereafter given) indicate any deficiency of carbon for the decomposition of the organic nitrogenous compounds by the soda-lime. The conclusion is rather that the action of the liquid acid in breaking up the organic nitrogenous compounds, in order to convert the nitrogen into ammonia, in the Kieldahl process, is more complete than is the action of dry heat on the mixture of soda-lime and soil.

On the whole it appears that the Kjeldahl results should be adopted as most correctly indicating the actual nitrogen in the 1893 samples though the soda-lime results will be more properly taken in any comparison which it is desired to draw between these and the 1865 or 1881 samples. For the present, therefore, we will direct our attention to the nitrogen figures as obtained by the Kjeldahl method. The following tables (Tables 11 and 12) show, both in percentages (parts per million in the case of the nitrogen in nitrates) and as pounds per acre, for each plat and for every depth of soil examined, the total nitrogen, the nitrogen as nitrates, and the organic carbon, together with the ratio of carbon to 1 nitrogen and of nitrogen to 100 carbon. For many purposes it is convenient to have all of these expressed side by side. For the consideration and comparison, however, of the quantities of each single constituent, it is more convenient to have the nitrogen and carbon results tabulated separately, in such a way as to show in one line the quantities present in each successive depth of each plat. Tables 13, 14, 15, and 16 exhibit the total nitrogen and organic carbon contents of the soils and subsoils in this separate form:

TABLE	11Broadbalk	wheat soils,	sampled i	n October,	1893-NITRO	DGEN and	CAR-
BON	in fine dry soil	, expressed	as percen	tages and	as pounds	per acre,	also
ratio	of carbon to ni	trogen and o	f nitrogen	to carbon.			

		Nitro-		Nitro-		I	Per acre		Rati	0 of
Plat.	Annual manuring.	gon per acre in ma- nure.	Total nitro- gen.	gen as ni- trates per mil- lion.	Car- bon.	Total nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen as ni- trates.	Car- bon.	Car- bon to 1 nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen to 100 car- bon.
90	Funnyand manuna	Lbs.	Per ct.	Parts.	Per ct.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.		
art	since 1884	200	0.1628	9, 43	1.582	4,087	23.67	39,711	9.7	10.3
20	Farmyard manure, 50 years	200	. 2207	4.51	2.230	5,151	10.53	52,046	10.1	9.9
3	Unmanured	0	. 0992	3.72	. 888	2, 572	9.64	23, 022	9.0	11.2
-1	1852	0	. 0952	3.07	. 909	2,546	7.96	23, 567	9.3	10.8
5	Full minerals	θ	. 1013	4.06	. 931	2,626	10.53	24, 137	9.2	10.9
~	ammonium salts	43	.1107	5.45	1.019	2,870	14.13	26,419	9.2	10, 9
4	ammonium salts	86	. 1000	5.77	1.101	3, 168	14.96	28,545	9.0	11.1
8	Full minerals and	190	1188	6 71	1.128	3 (150)	17.40	90 504	9.6	10 ±
911	Full minerals and								0.0	10. 2
95	Sodium nitrate only	43	. 1094	6.41	1.162 1.008	2,836	16.62	30, 126 26, 134	9.8	$10.2 \\ 10.9$
10a	Ammonium salts (no	SR	1000	1.92	1.0.0	.) """.)	10.50		0.9	10.9
10b	Ammonium salts (no		. 1000	7.09	1.010	~. ! ! ~	Lov. On	~1,101	0.0	10. ~
11	minerals since '50). Phosphates and am-	86	. 1064	3,64	. 969	2,759	9.44	25, 122	9.1	11.0
1.0	monium salts	86	. 1131	4.50	1.107	2,932	11.67	28,700	9,8	10.2
1~	and ammonium									
13	salts	86	. 1194	5,46	1.123	3, 096	14.16	29,115	9.4	10.6
	um, and ammo-		11(0)	× 07	1 1.1.1	0.010	10.00	00.004	10.0	10.0
14	Phosphates, magne-	. 80	. 1102	0.31	1.105	3,013	1.5.92	30, 204	10.0	10.0
	sium, and ammo-	86	1250	5 16	1 137	3 241	13.38	99 178	9.1	11.0
15	Full minerals and		. 1200	0.10	1. 101	0,011	10.00	"", IIO	0.1	11.0
	(autumn)	86	. 1234	3.86	1.170	3,199	10.01	30, 334	9.5	10.5
16	Full minerals and									
	since 1884	86	. 1177	5.24	1.065	3,052	13.59	27,611	9.0	11.1
17	ammonium salts	00	1.1174	4.70	1.094	3,044	12.19	28, 363	9.3	10.7
18	transposed in al-	80	1.1232	4.49	1.146	3, 194	11.64	29,711	9.3	10.8
19	Rape cake	. 93	. 1348	8.55	1.257	3,478	22.06	32, 430	9.3	10.7
	Average (exclud-									
	Average (all plats)		. 1149	5.01	1.076	2,977	13.00	27,880	9.4	10.7 10.6
	in the source of			0.00	11100		10.00	20,001	0.0	

#### FIRST 9 INCHES.

		Nitro		Nitro-	1		Per acre		Rati	o of—
Plat.	Annual manuring.	gen per acre in ma- nure.	Total nitro- gen.	gen as ni- trates per mil- lion.	Car- bon.	Total nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen as ni- trates.	Car- bon.	Car- bon to 1 nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen to 100 car- bon.
2a 3 45 67 9ba 10b 11 12 13 145 167 178 19	Average (all plats)	Lbs. 200 200 0 0 0 0 43 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86	Per ct. 0.0811 .0767 .0730 .0783 .0780 .0720 .0681 .0720 .0849 .0799 .0810 .0810 .0810 .0810 .0810 .0757 .0842 .0783 .0794 .0794 .0794	$\begin{array}{c} Parts.\\ 8.48\\ 16.98\\ 3.45\\ 2.63\\ 2.38\\ 4.77\\ 7.19\\ 9.10.92\\ 7.20\\ 13.05\\ 9.52\\ 10.88\\ 9.20\\ 9.52\\ 10.88\\ 9.20\\ 9.52\\ 10.88\\ 9.20\\ 9.52\\ 10.68\\ 9.12\\ 9.31\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \hat{F}rrct.\\ Perct.\\ 0.645\\ .748\\ .565\\ .600\\ .587\\ .583\\ .558\\ .558\\ .558\\ .631\\ .640\\ .668\\ .643\\ .643\\ .643\\ .630\\ .629\\ .727\\ .682\\ .630\\ .630\\ .630\\ .630\\ .630\\ .630\\ .630\\ .640\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs,\\ 2,166\\ 2,049\\ 1,950\\ 2,092\\ 1,974\\ 1,923\\ 1,819\\ 2,268\\ 2,184\\ 2,184\\ 2,268\\ 2,184\\ 2,249\\ 2,022\\ 2,244\\ 2,048\\ 2,249\\ 2,076\\ 2,118\\ 2,121\\ \hline 2,095\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs,\\ 22,65\\ 45,36\\ 9,222\\ 7,03\\ 6,36\\ 12,74\\ 19,21\\ 29,17\\ 19,23\\ 34,86\\ 25,43\\ 29,06\\ 24,58\\ 25,43\\ 29,06\\ 24,58\\ 25,43\\ 25,43\\ 29,06\\ 14,58\\ 25,43\\ 24,58\\ 25,43\\ 24,58\\ 25,43\\ 24,58\\ 24,58\\ 27,70\\ 41,49\\ 24,36\\ 24,87\\ 24,87\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs, \\ 17,230\\ 19,981\\ 15,093\\ 16,028\\ 15,661\\ 15,574\\ 14,158\\ 16,242\\ 17,390\\ 17,096\\ 17,390\\ 17,096\\ 17,844\\ 17,524\\ 17,177\\ 16,829\\ 16,803\\ 19,421\\ 18,218\\ 17,364\\ 16,829\\ 19,307\\ 17,093\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 7.97\\ 9.77\\ 7.77\\ 7.77\\ 8.1\\ 7.8\\ 8.2\\ 8.09\\ 7.6\\ 8.3\\ 8.6\\ 8.4\\ 7.9\\ 9.1\\ \hline 8.2\\ \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{array}{c} 12.6\\ 10.2\\ 12.9\\ 12.8\\ 12.6\\ 12.3\\ 12.8\\ 12.4\\ 13.0\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.6\\ 13.1\\ 12.0\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.6\\ 13.1\\ 1.2.0\\ 12.2\\ 12.5\\ 11.9\\ 12.6\\ 11.0\\ 12.2\\ 22.2\\ 12.5\\ 11.0\\ 12.2\\ 12.2\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5\\ 12.5$

### TABLE 11.—Broadbalk wheat soils, etc.—Continued. SECOND 9 INCHES.

#### THIRD 9 INCHES.

$\begin{array}{c} 2a\\ 2b\\ 3\\ 4\\ 5\\ 6\\ 7\\ 8\\ 9b\\ 10a\\ 10b\\ 11\\ 12\\ 13\\ 14\\ 15\\ 16\\ 17\\ 18\\ 19 \end{array}$		200 200 0 43 43 43 43 43 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86	$ \begin{array}{c} 0.0660\\ 0.0656\\ 0.0651\\ 0.0645\\ 0.0628\\ 0.0628\\ 0.0628\\ 0.0690\\ 0.0696\\ 0.0696\\ 0.0696\\ 0.0696\\ 0.0696\\ 0.0696\\ 0.0696\\ 0.0655\\ 0.0650\\ 0.0653\\ 0.0653\\ 0.0653\\ 0.0653\\ 0.0653\\ 0.0653\\ 0.06711\\ 0.0663\\ 0.0719\\ \hline \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 3.68\\ 4.39\\ -9.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\ -8.6\\$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.515\\ +492\\ +483\\ +463\\ +426\\ +426\\ +426\\ +426\\ +525\\ +524\\ +526\\ +524\\ +492\\ +526\\ +522\\ +492\\ +585\\ +524\\ +492\\ +478\\ +492\\ +478\\ +492\\ +478\\ +492\\ +478\\ +492\\ +488\\ +492\\ +488\\ +492\\ +488\\ +492\\ +488\\ +492\\ +488\\ +492\\ +488\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +492\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +498\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488\\ +488$	$\begin{array}{c} 1,842\\ 1,831\\ 1,798\\ 1,798\\ 1,753\\ 1,627\\ 1,754\\ 1,926\\ 1,974\\ 1,948\\ 1,926\\ 1,974\\ 1,948\\ 1,926\\ 1,974\\ 1,948\\ 1,876\\ 2,048\\ 1,814\\ 1,814\\ 1,814\\ 1,814\\ 1,828\\ 1,828\\ 1,873\\ 1,851\\ 1,828\\ 1,873\\ 1,851\\ 1,856\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,860\\ 1,$	$\begin{array}{c} 10.27\\ 12.25\\ 2.712\\ 2.23\\ 5.81\\ 6.700\\ 15.58\\ 11.25\\ 13.990\\ 14.88\\ 12.14\\ 8.488\\ 12.14\\ 8.90\\ 14.88\\ 10.52\\ 20.77\\ 8.549\\ 10.52\\ 20.77\\ 8.549\\ 14.18\\ 9.94\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{matrix} 14,376\\ 18,774\\ 12,925\\ 12,450\\ 11,976\\ 14,935\\ 14,627\\ 14,627\\ 14,627\\ 14,627\\ 14,623\\ 14,627\\ 13,734\\ 14,623\\ 13,315\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 12,227\\ 13,734\\ 13,343\\ 16,386\\ \hline 13,735\\ \end{matrix}$	8.5.429.8307.64532877778822           7.777777777777673222           7.77777777767777822           7.4	12. 13. 13. 14. 14. 14. 13. 13. 13. 13. 13. 13. 13. 13
	arrouge (an place).		, 0000	0.00	. 1014	1,000	0.01	10,100		101

FOU	URT	H 9	IN	CHES.
-----	-----	-----	----	-------

5678 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18	}	$\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ 43 \\ 86 \\ 129 \\ 86 \\ 86 \\ 86 \\ 86 \\ 86 \\ 86 \\ 86 \\ 8$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.\ 0524\\ .\ 0469\\ .\ 0546\\ .\ 0585\\ .\ 0634\\ .\ 0528\\ .\ 0441\\ .\ 0441\\ .\ 0521\\ \left\{\begin{array}{c} .\ 0497\\ .\ 0481\end{array}\right.$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.34\\ 1.07\\ 1.91\\ 3.13\\ 4.19\\ 2.68\\ 2.68\\ 2.46\\ 2.34\\ 4.68\\ 1.03\\ 1.21 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.\ 310\\ .\ 263\\ .\ 343\\ .\ 409\\ .\ 371\\ .\ 413\\ .\ 414\\ .\ 329\\ .\ 269\\ .\ 329\\ .\ 307\\ .\ 315 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1,459\\ 1,305\\ 1,297\\ 1,520\\ 1,628\\ 1,765\\ 1,470\\ 1,228\\ 1,228\\ 1,228\\ 1,450\\ 1,383\\ 1,339\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.95\\ 2.98\\ 5.32\\ 8.71\\ 11.66\\ 7.46\\ 4.68\\ 6.85\\ 6.51\\ 13.03\\ 2.87\\ 3.37\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 8,629\\ 7,321\\ 9,547\\ 11,384\\ 10,327\\ 11,496\\ 11,524\\ 9,158\\ 7,488\\ 9,158\\ 8,545\\ 8,768\end{array}$	$5.9 \\ 5.6 \\ 7.4 \\ 7.5 \\ 6.3 \\ 6.5 \\ 7.8 \\ 7.5 \\ 6.1 \\ 6.3 \\ 6.2 \\ 6.5 \\ 6.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 $	$\begin{array}{c} 16.9\\ 17.8\\ 13.6\\ 13.3\\ 15.8\\ 15.3\\ 12.7\\ 13.4\\ 16.4\\ 15.8\\ 16.2\\ 15.3\end{array}$
	Average (all plats)	•••••	. 0511	2.23	. 339	1,423	6.40	9,445	6.6	15.1

.

#### TABLE 11.—Broadbalk wheat soils, etc.—Continued.

#### FIFTH 9 INCHES.

		Nitro-		Nitro-			Pe <b>r a</b> cre		Rati	0 of
Plat.	Annual manuring.	gen per acre in ma- nure.	Total nitro- gen.	ni- trates per mil- lion.	Car- bon.	Total nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen as ni- trates.	Car- bon.	Car- bon to 1 nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen to 100 car- bon.
5678 811 1213 144 1566 178		Lbs. 0 43 86 129 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86	Per ct. 0.0442 .0497 .0468 .0497 .0493 .0493 .0517 .0517 .0444 .0458 .0543 {.0449 {.0449 {.0450	$\begin{array}{c} Parts,\\ 0.35\\ 1.21\\ 1.62\\ 2.97\\ 3.00\\ 2.04\\ 1.23\\ 2.13\\ 1.89\\ 2.73\\ .64\\ 1.02 \end{array}$	Per ct. 0,229 -250 -271 -312 -304 -305 -322 -255 -255	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs.\\ 1,267\\ 1,424\\ 1,341\\ 1,424\\ 1,407\\ 1,413\\ 1,481\\ 1,272\\ 1,312\\ 1,556\\ 1,287\\ 1,032\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs.\\ 1.00\\ 3.47\\ 4.64\\ 8.51\\ 8.60\\ 5.85\\ 3.52\\ 6.10\\ 5.42\\ 7.82\\ 1.83\\ 2.92\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs.\\ 6,562\\ 7,164\\ 7,766\\ 8,941\\ 8,711\\ 8,740\\ 9,514\\ 7,966\\ 6,791\\ 8,654\\ 8,081\\ 7,307\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 5.2\\ 5.0\\ 5.8\\ 6.32\\ 6.22\\ 6.4\\ 5.26\\ 6.3\\ 5.6\\ 6.3\\ 7.1 \end{array}$	$19.3 \\ 19.9 \\ 17.3 \\ 15.9 \\ 16.1 \\ 16.2 \\ 15.6 \\ 16.0 \\ 19.3 \\ 18.0 \\ 15.9 \\ 14.1 $
	Average (all plats)		. 0472	1.74	. 279	1,351	4-97	8,106	5.9	16.9
			SIXT	H 9 IN	CHES.					
$5 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ 8 \\ 11 \\ 12 \\ 13 \\ 14 \\ 15 \\ 16 \\ 17 \\ 18 $	}	0 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 5 3 2 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	$\begin{array}{c} 0,0569\\ .0463\\ .0463\\ .0409\\ .0404\\ .0477\\ .0467\\ .0438\\ .0353\\ .0438\\ .0438\\ .0438\\ .0442\\ \left\{ .0413\\ \left\{ .0397 \right. \right\} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.25\\ 1.31\\ 1.55\\ 2.63\\ 1.77\\ 1.78\\ 1.34\\ 1.90\\ 1.52\\ 2.10\\ .61\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.267 \\ .244 \\ .203 \\ .240 \\ .278 \\ .258 \\ .258 \\ .197 \\ .254 \\ .254 \\ .254 \\ .254 \\ .254 \\ .240 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1, 614\\ 1.313\\ 987\\ 1, 160\\ 1, 146\\ 1.353\\ 1.325\\ 1,243\\ 945\\ 1,254\\ 1,172\\ 1,126\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.711\\ 3.722\\ 4.40\\ 7.46\\ 5.02\\ 5.05\\ 3.80\\ 5.33\\ 4.31\\ 5.96\\ 1.73\\ 1.65\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 7.574\\ 6.922\\ 5.759\\ 6.887\\ 8.854\\ 8.5499\\ 5.589\\ 5.540\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289\\ 8.9289$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.7\\ 5.89\\ 5.9922\\ 6.922\\ 5.99\\ 5.49\\ 5.96\\ 6.8\\ 6.0\\ 6.8\\ 6.0\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 21.3\\ 19.0\\ 17.1\\ 17.0\\ 14.5\\ 16.0\\ 18.6\\ 16.2\\ 18.6\\ 16.9\\ 15.0\\ 14.6\\ 16.5\end{array}$
	Average (all plats)		. 0430	1.44	. 256	1,2.0	4.10	7,255	5,9	16.8
			SEVEN	TH 9 L	NCHES					
5678 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18	A voraça (all plats)	0 43 86 129 86 86 86 86 86 86 86	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0591\\ .0400\\ .0416\\ .0442\\ .0366\\ .0423\\ .0471\\ .0454\\ .0353\\ .0454\\ \left\{ .0348\\ .0324\\ \end{array} \right.$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.36\\ 1.14\\ 1.58\\ 2.80\\ 1.57\\ 1.88\\ 1.24\\ 1.97\\ 1.78\\ 1.91\\ .50\\ \hline 1.43\\ \end{array}$	0.269 207 264 249 246 279 297 297 297 297 297 297 297 297 297	$\begin{array}{c} 1,686\\ 1,141\\ 1,187\\ 1,261\\ 1,044\\ 1,207\\ 1,344\\ 1,295\\ 1,007\\ 1,295\\ 993\\ 924\\ \hline \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.03\\ 3.25\\ 4.51\\ 7.99\\ 4.48\\ 5.36\\ 5.62\\ 5.62\\ 5.45\\ 1.37\\ 1.43\\ 4.09\end{array}$	7,673 5,905 7,531 7,103 7,017 7,959 8,472 6,647 6,105 7,702 6,276 6,361 7,063	$\begin{array}{c} 4.5\\ 5.22\\ 6.3\\ 5.6\\ 6.7\\ 6.6\\ 3.5\\ 1\\ 5.9\\ 6.9\\ \hline 5.9\\ 5.9\\ 5.9\\ 5.9\\ 5.9\\ 5.9\\ 5.9\\ 5.9\\$	$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} $
	Average (an plats).	••••	. 09.00	1. +)	. 1940	1.1.7.7	*. 00	1, (40)		10. 9
			EIGH'	FH 9 IN	CHES.				1	
5678 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18	Average (all plats)	0 43 86 129 86 86 86 86 86 86 86	$\begin{array}{c} 0.\ 0568\\ .\ 0622\\ .\ 0377\\ .\ 0384\\ .\ 0371\\ .\ 0330\\ .\ 0493\\ .\ 0493\\ .\ 0303\\ .\ 0479\\ \left\{ \begin{array}{c} .\ 0303\\ .\ 0301\\ \hline \end{array} \right. \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.32\\ .66\\ 1.40\\ 2.65\\ 2.13\\ 1.85\\ 1.24\\ 2.37\\ 1.33\\ 2.19\\ .60\\ .50\\ \end{array}$	0.238 .192 .176 .228 .257 .255 .257 .255 .254 .186 .244 .160 .171	$1,629 \\924 \\1,081 \\1,101 \\1,064 \\947 \\1,414 \\1,414 \\869 \\1,374 \\955 \\863 \\1,134$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.92\\ 1.89\\ 4.02\\ 7.60\\ 6.11\\ 5.31\\ 3.56\\ 6.80\\ 3.81\\ 6.28\\ 1.72\\ 1.43\\ 4.12\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6,827\\ 5,507\\ 5,048\\ 6,540\\ 6,540\\ 7,372\\ 7,314\\ 6,999\\ 4,999\\ 4,589\\ 4,905\\ 6,145\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.20\\ 4.79\\ 5.91\\ 7.82\\ 4.1\\ 5.29\\ 6.1\\ 5.1\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 4.8\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 5.$	$\begin{array}{c} 23.9\\ 16.8\\ 21.4\\ 16.8\\ 16.3\\ 12.8\\ 19.3\\ 20.2\\ 16.3\\ 19.6\\ 20.8\\ 17.6\\ \end{array}$
	Average (an plats).		.0000	1. 11	1910	T, T(X)	1.1.	0, 100	0.4	10.4

#### TABLE 11.—Broadbalk wheat soils, etc.—Continued.

	l.	Nitro-		Nitro-		1	Per acre		Ratio	o of—
Plat.	Annual manuring.	gen per acre in ma- nure.	Total nitro- gen.	gen as ni- trates per mil- lion.	Car- bon.	Total nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen as ni- trates.	Car- bon.	Car- bon to 1 nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen to 100 car- bon.
56 7 8	Average (all plats).	Lbs. 0 43 86 129	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ ct. \\ 0.\ 0566 \\ .\ 0325 \\ .\ 0355 \\ .\ 0318 \end{array}$	Parts. 0.29 .82 1.43 2.04 1.15	$\begin{array}{r} Per \ ct. \\ 0.225 \\ .189 \\ .167 \\ .174 \\ \hline \\ .189 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs. \\ 1,700 \\ 976 \\ 1,066 \\ 955 \\ \hline 1,174 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs. \\ 0.87 \\ 2.46 \\ 4.29 \\ 6.13 \\ \hline 3.44 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs, \\ 6,758 \\ 5,677 \\ 5,016 \\ 5,226 \\ \hline 5,669 \end{array}$	$   \begin{array}{r}     4.0 \\     5.8 \\     4.7 \\     5.5 \\     \hline     4.8   \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 25.1 \\ 17.2 \\ 21.3 \\ 18.3 \\ \hline 20.7 \\ \end{array} $

#### NINTH 9 INCHES.

#### TENTH 9 INCHES.

5 6 7 8		$0\\ 43\\ 86\\ 129$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0571 \\ .0332 \\ .0332 \\ .0265 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.19 \\ .72 \\ 1.46 \\ 1.88 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.258 \\ .183 \\ .175 \\ .135 \end{array}$	$1,714 \\ 997 \\ 997 \\ 997 \\ 795$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.57 \\ 2.16 \\ 4.38 \\ 5.64 \end{array}$	7,745 5,493 5.253 4,052	$\begin{array}{c} 4.5 \\ 5.5 \\ 5.3 \\ 5.1 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 22.1 \\ 18.1 \\ 19.0 \\ 19.6 \end{array}$
	Average (all plats).		. 0375	1.06	. 188	1,126	3.19	5,636	5.0	20.0

TABLE 12.—Broadbalk wheat soils sampled in October, 1893—NITROGEN and CAR-BON in fine, dry soil as pounds per acre (results condensed and summarized from the extended Table 11).

#### FIRST, SECOND, AND THIRD DEPTHS (27 INCHES).

			Pera	acre.	
Plat.	Annual manuring.	Nitro- gen an- nually in manure.	Total nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen as nitrates.	Carbon.
2a 2b 3 4 5 6 7 8 9a 9b 10a 10a 101 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19	Farmyard manure since 1884 Farmyard manure 50 years Unmanured Unmanured since 1852 Full minerals Full minerals and annonium salts do Full minerals and sodium nitrate Sodium nitrate only Ammonium salts (no minerals since 1844) Ammonium salts (no minerals since 1844) Ammonium salts (no minerals since 1844) Ammonium salts (no minerals since 1850) Phosphates and ammonium salts Phosphates, sodium, and ammonium salts Phosphates, potasium, and ammonium salts Phosphates, magnesium, and ammonium salts Full minerals and ammonium salts (autumn) Full minerals and sodium nitrate If ull minerals and sodium nitrate Rape cake	$\left.\begin{array}{c} Pounds,\\ 200\\ 200\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 43\\ 86\\ 129\\ 43\\ 43\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 8,095\\ 9,031\\ 6,330\\ 6,436\\ 6,644\\ 6,644\\ 6,648\\ 6,925\\ 6,892\\ 6,977\\ 7,386\\ 6,849\\ 7,208\\ 7,386\\ 6,892\\ 2,123\\ 7,386\\ 6,892\\ 2,123\\ 7,686\\ 7,606\\ 7,606\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 56.59\\ 68.14\\ 21.60\\ 17.11\\ 19.12\\ 32.68\\ 42.71\\ 55.28\\ 42.55\\ 61.54\\ 49.20\\ 52.49\\ 51.13\\ 51.78\\ 49.51\\ 39.23\\ 76.94\\ 48.43\\ 59.52\\ 60.60\\ \end{array}$	Pounds. 71,317 85,761 51,508 52,520 53,968 54,505 58,112 56,2451 57,877 59,724 57,273 59,714 59,724 57,273 59,60,284 60,294 64,600 58,055 59,461 59,843 59,853

#### TABLE 12.—Broadbalk wheat soils, etc.—Continued.

FIRST TO EIGHTH DEPTHS (72 INCHES).

			Per	acre.	
Plat.	Annwal manuring.	Nitro- gen an- nually in manure.	Total nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen as nitrates.	Carbon.
$5 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ 8 \\ 11 \\ 12 \\ 13 \\ 14 \\ 15 \\ 16 \\ 17 \\ 18 \\ 17 \\ 18 \\ 10 \\ 17 \\ 18 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10$		Pounds. 0 43 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 14,056\\ 12,653\\ 12,507\\ 13,314\\ 13,256\\ 14,071\\ 13,883\\ 13,655\\ 12,744\\ 13,901\\ \left\{\begin{array}{c} 12,783\\ 12,744\\ 12,744\end{array}\right.\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 23,73\\ 47,99\\ 65,60\\ 95,55\\ 87,00\\ 80,81\\ 68,61\\ 68,61\\ 86,91\\ 64,36\\ 115,48\\ 57,95\\ 70,32 \end{array}$	Pounds. 89,533 86,788 90,246 98,889 100,093 101,996 105,371 97,759 95,998 98,909 94,980 94,033

FIRST TO TENTH DEPTHS (90 INCHES).

5 6 7 8		0 43 86 129	$17,470 \\ 14,626 \\ 14,570 \\ 15,064$	$\begin{array}{c} 25.17\\ 52.61\\ 74.27\\ 107.32 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 104,036\\97,958\\100,515\\108,167\end{array}$
------------------	--	----------------------	----------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------	-----------------------------------------------------------------

9385—No. 106—02—3

.

ed by
termine
il (det
dry so
ı fine
i N
NITROGE
TOTAL
of
entages
erc
3-F hod)
89 vet
7 2
21, 1 11 m
to 21, 1 dahl m
13 to 21, 1 Vjeldahl m
er 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
stober 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
28 collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
uples collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
samples collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
soils, samples collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
at soils, samples collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
alk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to $\mathcal{I}_1$ , 1 mark wheat soils, samples collected October $K_1$ is a spectral mark mark mark mark mark mark mark mark
adbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
sroadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
-Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
13.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
LE 13.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m
ABLE 13.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to 21, 1 Kjeldahl m

				-								
Plat.	Manuro per acre per annum.	Nitrogen in nna- nure per acre per annum.	First depth.	Second depth.	Third depth.	Fourth depth.	Fifth depth.	Sixth áepth.	Seventh depth.	Eighth depth.	Ninth depth.	Tenth depth.
4 33 29 29	Farmyard manure since 1884. Farmyard manure 90 years Unmanured Unmanured since 1852.	Pounds. 200 300 0 0	Per cent. 0.1628 .2207 .0992 .0982	Per cent. 0.0811 .0767 .0730 .0783	Per cent. 0.0660 .0656 .0651 .0644	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.
10 10 1+ 30	Full minerals Full minerals and amnonium salts do do	0 43 86 129	$\begin{array}{c} 1013 \\ .1107 \\ .1222 \\ .1188 \\ .1188 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.739\\ 0.720\\ 0.0681\\ 0.052\end{array}$	.0645 .0628 .0583 .0630	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0524 \\ 0.0524 \\ 0.0469 \\ 0.0466 \\ 0.0546 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0442\\ .0497\\ .0468\\ .0497\\ .0497\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0569\\ .0463\\ .0348\\ .0348\\ .0409\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0591 \\ .0400 \\ .0416 \\ .0442 \end{array}$	0.0568 0322 0377 0384	0.0506 .0325 .0355 .0318	0.571 .332 .332 .332 .332 .332 .332 .365
98 910 102 105	Full minerals and sodium nitrate Sodium nitrate only	43 86 86 86	.1189 .1094 .1069 .1064	$\begin{array}{c} .0849 \\ .0709 \\ .0817 \\ .0820 \end{array}$	.0696 .0696 .0706 .0693							
133131	Phosphates and ammonium salts. Phosphates, sodium, and ammonium salts. Phosphates, potassium, and ammonium salts. Phosphates, magnesium, and ammonium salts	86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86	1131 1194 1162 1162 1250	$\begin{array}{c} 0.812 \\ 0.0840 \\ 0.757 \\ 0.0804 \end{array}$	.0672 .0650 .0650	.0585 .0634 .0528 .0441	0491 0493 0517 0444	.0404 .0477 .0467 .0438	.0366 .0423 .0471 .0451	0.371 0.330 0.493 0.493		
15	Full minerals and ammonium salts (autumn) Full minerals and sodium nitrate since 1884	86 86	.11234	.0842	. 0693 . 0655	.0441 .0521	.0458 .0543	.0333 .0442	.0353 .0454	.0303		
17 18	[Full minerals and ammonium salts transposed in alternate years	- } a86	$\left\{\begin{array}{c} .1174 \\ .1232 \\ .1232 \end{array}\right.$	0777.	.0671	.0497	.0449.0360	.0413 .0397	.0348 .0324	. 0333 . 0301		
19	Rape cake	93	. 1348	+670.	.0719				* 4 1 4 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8			
	a Alternata veare. Dist 18 revei	ived the 86	n abunou	itroan in	the form	of amino	nimu salt	a for the c	Prop. of 186			
5												
---------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------											
~												
2												
17												
2												
~~												
32												
2												
3												
CI												
3												
~												
0												
~												
3												
+												
20												
22												
2												
3												
U.												
~												
e.												
0												
3												
2												
0												
2												
~												
2												
32												
3												
à												
-												
22												
·~												
1												
[-]												
ŏ	•											
~	2											
2	X											
1	2											
2	-											
	2											
1	11											
2	~											
5	~											
2	3											
F.	B											
	0											
5	:0											
33-	K											
533-	e ki											
1893-	he Ki											
r, 1S93-	the Ki											
er, 1893-	m the Ki											
ober, 1893-	bu the Ki											
tober, 1893-	le bu the Ki											
october, 1893-	ide bu the Ki											
October, 1893-	uade bu the Ki											
a October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
l in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
ed in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
ted in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
seted in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
lected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
ollected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
s collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
'es collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
ples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
uples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
mples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
amples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
s, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
ils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
oils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
it soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
sat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
heat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
We wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
ilk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
bulk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
dbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
adbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
oudbulk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
Proadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
-Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
14Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
14Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
E 14Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
ILE 14.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
ABLE 14.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											
TABLE 14Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-	made bu the Ki											

	irst to centh 9 nches.	L/bs.	17,470 14,626 14,570 15,064				-								
ary.	Ninth F and t enth 9 i nches.	Lbs.	3, 414 1, 973 2, 063 1, 750					8 8 9 1 1 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9						1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
Summe	Tirst to Eighth 9 to nches. 1	Lbs.	14, 056 12, 653 12, 607 13, 314				13, 266	14,071	13, 883	13, 655	12, 744	13, 901	12, 783		
	First to I third 9 I third 9 I third 9	Lbs. 8,095 9,031 6,339 6,436	6,401 6,546 6,614 6,848	7, 294 -	6, 925	6, 892	6,977	7, 356	6,849	7, 203	7,383	6, 972	6, 993 7, 163	7,606	
	Tenth 9 inches.	Lbs.	1, 714 997 795 795												593.
	Ninth 9 inclies.	Lbs.	1,700 976 1,066						* * * *						rop of 18
	Eighth 9 inches.	Labs.	1.629				1, 064	116	1, 414	1,414	869	1,374	9555 8653		or the c
	Sev- enth 9 inches.	Lbs.	${\begin{array}{c} 1,686\\ 1,141\\ 1,187\\ 1,261\\ 1,261 \end{array}}$				1,044	1,207	1,341	1, 295	1, (x) <sup>7</sup>	[.**., I	126 1263		n salts f
	Sixth 9 inches.	Lbs.	$1,611\\1,313\\1,313\\987\\1,160$				1, 146	1,353	1, 325	1.243	945	1,254	$1, 172 \\ 1, 126 \\ 1, 126$		moniun
	Fifth 9 inches.	Lbs.	1, 267 1, 424 1, 424 1, 424				1, 407	1,41:3	1, 4.41	1,272	1,312	1,356	1,287		in of am
	Fourth 9 inches.	Libs.	$1,450 \\ 1,205 \\ 1,207 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,520 \\ 1,52$				1,628	1,705	1, 470	1,	1,0008	1,450	1,383 1,339		the for
	Third 9 Inches.	Lbs. 1, 842 1, 842 1, 831 1, 817 1, 708	1, 259	1,943	1,971	1.943	1,876	2,046	1,814	1,814	1,935	1, 525	1,873	2,007	ogen in
	Second 9 inches.	Lbs. 2,166 2,049 1,950 2,092	1,974 1,923 1,819 2,009	2, 268	2, 182	2, 190	2, 169	5,244	2, () <u>*</u>	2, 148	2,249	2,082	2,076	2, 121	inds niti
	First 9 inchos	Lbs. 5, 151 2, 572 2, 546	2, 626 2, 870 3, 168 3, 080	3, 0953	2, T	2,759	2,932	3, 0995	3,013	3,241	3, 199	3, 052	{ 3, 194 3, 194	3, 478	te sti pou
Nitro-	gen 1n manure per acre per an num.	Lbs. 200 200 0	0 \$ <del>3</del> \$3	<del>3</del> 3	86	86	86	86	86	86	86	803	} a 86	93	sceived th
	Manuro per acro per annum.	Farmyard manure since 1884. Farmyard manure 50 years Unmanured Unmanured since 1552.	Full minerals Full minerals and ammonium saits. do	Full minerals and sodium nitrate Sodium nitrate only	Ammonium salts (no minerals since 1844)	Annonum saits (no minerals since 1850)	Phosphates and annonium salts	Phosphates, sourant, and animontum salts	Phosphates, potassium, and ammo- nium salts	Phosphates, magnesium, and ammo- nium salts	Full minerals and ammonium salts (autumn)	Full minerals and sodium mitrate since 1884	(Full minerals and ammonium salts transposed in alternate years	Rape cake	a Plat 18 re
	Jat.	22b 22b	00-100	9a 9b	101	CINT	11	21	a :	ŧ T	15	9	17 18	19	

# THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

35

.0
0
S
~
ి
0
0
~
5
5
~~
. 0
10
4
Q.
P
22
77
$\circ$
0
4
75
~
H
0
5
0.
3
č
3
0
2
3
Se
2
0
~
Z
1
00
0
00
N
-
2
67
25
0
4
s to
13 to
13 to
r 13 to
er 13 to
ber 13 to
ober 13 to
tober 13 to
ctober 13 to
October 13 to
October 13 to
d October 13 to
ed October 13 to
ted October 13 to
cted October 13 to
ected October 13 to
llected October 13 to
ollected October 13 to
collected October 13 to
collected October 13 to
s collected October 13 to
les collected October 13 to
oles collected October 13 to
iples collected October 13 to
mples collected October 13 to
umples collected October 13 to
samples collected October 13 to
samples collected October 13 to
8, samples collected October 13 to
ls, samples collected October 13 to
ils, samples collected October 13 to
oils, samples collected October 13 to
soils, samples collected October 13 to
t soils, samples collected October 13 to
it soils, samples collected October 13 to
at soils, samples collected October 13 to
reat soils, samples collected October 13 to
theat soils, samples collected October 13 to
wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
verteat soils, samples collected October 13 to
k wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
ilk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
alk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
balk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
dbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
udbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
padbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
roadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 t
sroadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 t
Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
-Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
-Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
,-Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
5Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 t
15Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
15Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 t
E 15Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
LE 15.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 t
3LE 15.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to
(BLE 15,—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 t
ABLE 15.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13 to

Plat.	Manure per acre per annum.	Nitrogen in ma- nure per acre per annum.	First depth.	Second depth.	Third depth.	Fourth depth.	Fifth depth.	Sixth depth.	Seventh depth.	Eighth depth.	Ninth depth.	Tenth depth.
0.00 <del>4</del>	Farmyard manure since 1884. Farmyard manure 50 years Unmanured Unmanured since 1852.	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 200\\ 200\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ \end{array}$	Per cent. 1.582 2.230 . 888 . 909	Per cent. 0.645 .748 .565 .600	Per cent. 0.515 .483 .463	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.
10 00 20 00	Full minerals Full minerals and anmonium safts. dodo	43 86 129	$\begin{array}{c} .931\\ 1.019\\ 1.101\\ 1.138\\ 1.138\end{array}$	.587 .583 .583 .608	. 446 . 429 . 426 . 443	$\begin{array}{c} 0.310\\ 263\\ 343\\ .409\\ .409\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.229\\ 250\\ 271\\ 312\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.267\\ 2241\\ 203\\ 203\\ 240\end{array}$	0.269 .207 .264 .249	$\begin{array}{c} 0.238 \\ 1192 \\ 176 \\ 228 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.225\\ .189\\ .167\\ .174\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.258 \\ .183 \\ .175 \\ .135 \end{array}$
9a 9b 10a 10b	Full minerals and sodium nitrate	86 86 86 86	$\begin{array}{c} 1.162\\ 1.008\\ 1.049\\969\end{array}$	.651 .640 .668 .656	.535 .524 .526 .526							
113311	Phosphates and ammonium salts. Phosphates, sodium, and ammonium salts. Phosphates, potassium, and ammonium salts Phosphates, magnesium, and ammonium salts	86 86 86 86 86	$1.107 \\ 1.123 \\ 1.165 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.137 \\ 1.13$	.643 .643 .630 .629	. 492 . 526 . 477 . 502	$\begin{array}{c} .371 \\ .413 \\ .414 \\ .329 \end{array}$	.301 .305 .332 .278	.278 .298 .236	. 246 . 279 . 233	. 228 . 257 . 244		
15 16	Full minerals and ammonium salts (autumn) Full minerals and sodium nitrate since 1884	86 86	$1.170 \\ 1.065$	. 727 . 682	. 535	. 269	.302	.197	.214270	.186 .244		
17	[Full minerals and ammonium salts transposed in alternate years	- } a 86	$\left\{\begin{array}{c} 1.094 \\ 1.146 \end{array}\right.$	. 630	. 492	.307 .315	. 255	.283	.220	.160		
19	Rape cake	- 93	1.257	.719	.587							
	a Plat 18 received the 86	n spunoa 9	itroven i	n the form	of ammo	ninm sal	ts for the	cron of 15	303.			

36

# INVESTIGATIONS ON ROTHAMSTED SOILS.

	First to tenth inches	Lbs.	104, 03 97, 95 100, 51 108, 16												
nary.	Ninth and tenth 9 inches.	Lhs.	${}^{14,505}_{11,170}_{10,269}_{9,278}$		1 0 0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1					8 8 9 8 9 8	- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -			
Sum	First to to eighth 9 incues.	Lbs.	89, 513 86, 788 90, 246 98, 889				100,093	104, 996	105, 371	97.759	95, 998	98, 909	94, 980 94, 033		
	First to third 9 inches.	Lbs. 71, 317 85, 761 51, 598 52, 520	52, 268 53, 969 54, 595 58, 112	62, 451 57, 857	59, 724	57,273	59, 611	60,975	60,348	60, 294	64,690	58,050	59, 461 59, 883	68, 023	
	'renth 9 inches.	Lbs.	7.745 5.493 5.253 4.052												
	Ninth 9 inches.	Lbs.	6, 758 5, 677 5, 016 5, 226						0						
	Eighth 9 inches.	Lbs.	6, 827 5, 507 5, 048 6, 540		8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8		6,540	7,372	7,314	6, 999	5, 3355	6,999	4,589		
	Sev- enth 9 inches.	Lbs.	7. 673 5. 905 7. 531 7. 103				7,017	7,959	8,472	6.647	6,105	7.702	6,276 6,361		
	Sixth 9 inches.	Lbs.	7, 574 6, 922 5, 759 6, 809		• • • •		7,887	8, 454	8,199	6,695	5, 589	8,340	×, (15)× 6, ¥,15)		
	Fifth 9 inches,	I.bs.	6, 562 7, 164 7, 766 8, 941		0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		8, 711	8,740	9,514	7, 9665	6, 791	8.654	8,081		
	Fourth 9 inches.	Lbs.	8, 629 7, 321 9, 547 11, 354				10, 327	11,496	11,524	9,158	7,488	9, 158	8, 545	1 1 1 0 0 0 0	
	Third 9 inches.	Lbs. 14, 376 13, 734 13, 483 12, 925	12,450 11,976 11,892 12,366	14,935	14,683	14,627	13, 734	14, 683	13, 315	14.013	14,935	12, 227	13, 734	16,386	
	Second 9 inches.	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs.\\ 17,230\\ 19,981\\ 15,093\\ 16,028\end{array}$	15, 681 15, 574 14, 158 16, 242	17, 390	17,844	17,524	17,177	17, 177	16,829	16, 803	19,421	18,218	17,364 16,829	19, 207	
	First 9 inches.	Lbs. 39,711 52,046 23,025 23,025	24, 137 26, 419 28, 545 29, 504	30, 126 36, 134	27, 197	25, 122	28, 700	29,115	30, 204	29, 478	30, 334	27,611	(28, 303	32, 430	
Nitro-	gen in manure per acre per annu'n.	Lbs. 200 200 0 0	0 43 86 139	44	86	98	86	86	98	86	R	86	} a 86	93	
	Manure per acre per annum.	Farmyard manure since 1884 Farmyard manure 50 years Ummanured Ummanured since 1852.	Full minerals	Full minerals and sodium nitrate Sodium nitrate only	Autorium series (no introtate strong) 1844)	1850)	Phosphates and ammonium salts	Phosphates, southin, and animonium salts	rhosphates, potassium, and annu- nium salts.	ruosphates, magnesium, and ammo- nium salts	Full minerals and ammonium salts	Full minerals and sodium murate since 1884	Full minerals and ammonium salts transposed in alternate years	Rape cake	
	Plat.	2a 2b	x ~1 € €1	9a 9b 10e	101		11	21 0	10	-	15	16	12	19	

a Plat 18 received the 86 pounds nitrogen in the form of ammonium salts for the crop of 1893.

THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

TABLE 16.-Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893-ORMANIC CARBON in pounds per acre.

# TOTAL NITROGEN IN UNMANURED AND IN CONTINUOUSLY DUNGED PLATS.

The two plats which seem naturally to claim our first attention are the plats which for fifty years have been the most diverse in their treatment, namely, the continuously cropped but wholly unmanured plat (No. 3), with its almost unmanured companion (No. 4) on the one hand, and on the other hand plat 2b, which in the course of the fifty years ended in 1893 had received no less than 700 tons of dung, estimated to have supplied 200 pounds per annum, or in all 10,000 pounds, of nitrogen, the greater part of which would originally exist in an organic condition, and we naturally look at once to see how their nitrogen contents compare. Glancing down the columns of Table 13 we find, as we should expect, that, as regards nitrogen, they are respectively the poorest and the richest of the plats.

We find as follows:

TABLE 17.-Broadbalk wheat soils (1893), plats 3, 4. and 2b.

	Nitr	ogen.
	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.
Plat 3, continuously unmanured (first 9 inches only) Plat 4, unmanured since 1852 (first 9 inches only) Plat 2b, 14 tons farmyard manure per annum (first 9 inches only)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0992 \\ .0982 \\ .2207 \end{array}$	2,572 2,546 5,151

Plats 3 and 4, then, have less than 0.1 per cent of organic nitrogen, while plat 2b has over 0.22 per cent.

Allowing for the differences of lightness in the soils (see previous discussion), the permanently dunged surface soil contains as nearly as possible twice as much organic nitrogen as the unmanured soil, the excess in round numbers being about 2,500 pounds per acre.

The manured plat has yielded in its crops in fifty years something like 1,600 pounds more of nitrogen per acre than the unmanured plat. Of the total 10,000 pounds of nitrogen estimated to have been supplied, then, we find (in rough, round numbers) that 1,600 pounds have been recovered in the increased crops, and that about 2,500 pounds are found in the surface soil, leaving 5,900 (or, in round numbers, 6,000) pounds to be accounted for otherwise.

In the second 9 inches we find:

TABLE 18.—Broadbalk wheat soils (1893), plats 3, 4, and 2b (second 9 inches).

	Nitr	ogen.
· · ·	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.
Plat 3, continuously unmanured (second 9 inches). Plat 4, unmanured since 1852 (second 9 inches) Plat 2b, 14 tons farmyard manure per annum (second 9 inches)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0730 \\ .0783 \\ .0767 \end{array}$	$1,950 \\ 2,092 \\ 2,049$

Obviously there is no such difference here as to account satisfactorily for the disappearance; indeed, the subsoil of one of the unmanured plats is actually richer than that of the manured plat, and if we travel into the third depth we find that all three are practically alike.

Although formidable difficulties are placed in the way of quantitative acreage deductions from the subsoil analyses, owing to the natural irregularities of the subsoil to which I have already alluded, we are nevertheless able at once to draw from the figures a rough deduction that the organic matter supplied to the land in the form of farmyard dung, even if some of it becomes bodily transferred to the subsoil by the agency of worms or insects or by any other means, does not materially affect the permanent nitrogen contents of the subsoil. There seems, from the earbon results, to be some evidence of increase of organic matter in the upper subsoil beyond what is probably attributable to root residue; but, if this is so, it is organic matter so far decomposed that its nitrogen does not seem to have been conserved.

#### THE TWO DUNGED PLATS (2a AND 2b).

As a further illustration of this we may compare the soils and subsoils of plats 2a and 2b, the former of which had been dunged for only nine years and the latter for fifty years, the nitrogen supply in the former case being estimated at 1,800 pounds only and in the latter case at 10,000 pounds.

	Nitr	ogen.	Car	bon.
	Per cont.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.
Plat 2a, dunged n no years: First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third 9 inches Plat 2b, dunged fifty years: First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third 9 inches	0. 1628 .0811 .0660 .2207 .0767 .0656	4,087 2,166 1,842 5,151 2,049 1,831	$1.582 \\ .645 \\ .515 \\ 2.230 \\ .748 \\ .492$	39, 711 17, 230 14, 376 52, 046 19, 981 13, 734

TABLE 19.—Broadbalk wheat soils (1893), plats 2a and 2b.

It is clear, therefore, that, in spite of the notable surface accumulation, but little of the large quantities of nitrogen supplied in dung and not returned in crops is to be found in the subsoil. The greater part of it has disappeared, either as nitrates in the drainage, or perhaps, and probably largely, by fermentative processes yielding free nitrogen. The question of drainage will have to be discussed hereafter; for the moment we are only concerned with the converse question of accumulation.

#### RAPE-CAKE PLAT.

Next in order to the dunged plats in point of richness in total nitrogen is the only other plat of the series which has been persistently treated with organic nitrogenous manure, viz, plat 19, which constantly receives rape cake, the quantity since 1883 being from 16 to 17 hundredweight per annum, estimated to contain 93 pounds of nitrogen per annum. The crops yielded by this plat have been inferior to those of most of the chemically manured plats receiving inorganic nitrogen (ammonium salts or sodium nitrate) with a liberal supply of minerals. But there has been accumulated a distinctly larger quantity of organic nitrogen; that is to say, there is in the surface soil an accumulation of nitrogen clearly due to the organic matter of the manure, apart from that due to crop residues. We may compare this plat with plat 3 (wholly unmanured), and with the average of plats 7, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 16, all receiving annually nearly as much nitrogen as the rape-cake plat, but in the form of ammonium salts or sodium nitrate, and also receiving phosphates with or without various alkaline salts.

 

 TABLE 20.—Broadbalk wheat soils, 1893—Comparison of chemically manured plats and Rape-cake plat.

 NITROGEN.

	Averag for for yea	e yield ty-two rs.	]	Per cent		Pour	nds per	acre.
Plat.	Wheat.	Straw.	First 9 inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.	First 9 inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.
Plat 3, unmanured. Average of plats 7, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 16. Minerals with ammo- nium salts (or sodium nitrate)	Bushels. 12‡	Cwt. 10§	0. 0992	0.0730	0.0651	2, 572	1,950	1,817
containing 86 pounds nitrogen per annum Plat 19, rape cake, containing 93 pounds bitrogen per annum	29 <u>1</u> 28	29 254	. 1196 . 1348	. 0788 . 0794	. 066:2 . 0719	3, 100 3, 478	2, 106 2, 121	1, 848 2, 007
		CARB	ON.					
Plat 3, unmanured. Average of plats 7, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 16. Minerals with ammo- nium salts (or sodium nitrate)	121	10§	0.888	0.565	0, 483	23, 022	15, 093	13, 483
Plat 19, rape cake, containing 93 pounds nitrogen per annum	29 <u>1</u> 28	29 25 s	1.124 1.257	. 641 . 719	.485 .587	29, 141 32, 430	17,112 19,307	13, 685 16, 385

As more organic matter has been formed above ground, as grain and straw, in the average of the plats receiving ammonium salts, we may suppose that more stubble and root residue has on the average been left by each crop than on the rape-cake plat. The much larger nitrogen accumulation, therefore, in the surface soil of the rape-cake plat must be attributed to the direct accumulation of nitrogenous organic matter from the rape cake itself. Not only does the surface soil con-

**4**0

tain 900 pounds per acre of nitrogen more than the unmanured plat 3, but it contains nearly 380 pounds more than the average surface soil of the seven plats cited. In the second 9 inches, although plat 19 contains more than the unmanured plat, there is, however, practically no difference between it and the average second 9 inches of the seven plats. In the third depth there is a very decided difference, the rapecake plat containing more than the others. In both the second and third depths of plat 19 there is a much larger quantity of carbon than in the average corresponding depth of the seven plats, and one is inclined to draw the conclusion that the organic matter of the rape cake, including some of its nitrogenous compounds or organic bodies derived from them, has found its way more deeply down than has the organic matter of the dung. But not too much stress must be laid upon this, for averages are apt sometimes to lead to delusive conclusions, and a study of the subsoil results seems to show a gradation, though not a uniform one, in the subsoils in the nature of an increase of nitrogen as we go across the field, the subsoils of plats 2a to 8 showing less nitrogen than those of plats 9a to 18; and the increase of nitrogen in the third depth of plat 19, as compared with even its neighbor, plat 18, may possibly be at least partly due to natural increase in this roughly graduated irregularity. This natural irregularity in the subsoils is no doubt mainly due to differences in the proportion of nitrogen-bearing clay and of fine gravel or sand with which it is mixed.

## THE CHEMICALLY MANURED PLATS.

#### PLAT 5 (MINERAL MANURES ONLY).

We may now turn to the various chemically manured plats. One of them, plat 5, has received for fifty years a full supply of minerals without nitrogen in any form whatever. As compared with the unmanured plat 3, it has produced a uniformly larger crop of corn and straw, showing an average increase over the unmanured plat, over forty-two years, of 2 bushels of wheat and 1 hundredweight of straw. We might expect it, therefore, to be poorer in nitrogen than the wholly unmanured plat, but this is not the case. Indeed, we find a slight increase, and with it a distinct increase in organic carbon, asshown in Table 21.

TABLE	21.—Broadbalk	wheat soils	, 1893-	Plat 3	(unmanured)	and pla	11 5	(mineral
		7	nanures	only).				

	Nitr	ogen.	Car	bon.
Depth.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.
Plat 3, unmanured: First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third 9 inches Plat 5, minerals only: First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third 9 inches	$\begin{array}{c} 0.\ 0992\\ .\ 0730\\ .\ 0651\\ .\ 1013\\ .\ 0739\\ .\ 0645 \end{array}$	2,572 1,950 1,817 2,626 1,974 1,801	0.888 .565 .483 .931 .5%7 .446	$23,022 \\ 15,093 \\ 13,483 \\ 24,137 \\ 15,681 \\ 12,450 \\$

Notwithstanding the annual removal in crops of something like 3 pounds more of nitrogen per acre per annum for the last forty years (or probably nearly 5 pounds per annum, if we include in the average the earlier years of the experiments), the surface soil of plat 5 now contains distinctly more nitrogen, and no diminution is indicated in the second and third depths. The organic carbon is also greater in the surface soil of plat 5 to the extent of over 1,100 pounds per acre, and in the second depth to the extent of nearly 600 pounds per acre. The difference is clearly to be attributed to crop residue, and the fact that plat 5 is now richer in nitrogen than plat 3 is due to the storing up in stubble and root residue of a portion of the natural soil nitrogen that without mineral manure to aid in its assimilation would have been lost, as on plat 3, in drainage.

It must not, even for a moment, however, be supposed that plat 5 has gained nitrogen. We shall see hereafter, on comparison of the nitrogen results obtained by the examination of samples collected in 1865 and 1881, that the soils of both plats are steadily losing nitrogen; but the loss on plat 5, owing to the influence of the mineral manure, has been less than on the wholly unmanured plat.

## GENERAL COMPARISON OF ALL CHEMICALLY MANURED PLATS.

We may next pass to the perhaps more practically interesting series of plats which, although they receive no dung or other form of organic nitrogen, have nevertheless received nitrogen in the form of ammonium salts or, in some cases, of sodium nitrate, with and without various additions of minerals.

It will be most instructive to concentrate our attention on the surface soil; that is to say, on the first 9 inches. The results of the subsoil analyses are all to be found in the collective tables, where they can at leisure be consulted in detail; but the natural irregularities already several times referred to must be taken into account, and this renders a detailed examination of the subsoil results for each of the many plats, as regards organic nitrogen and carbon, too large a task to be entered upon now.

It will be convenient to give here, for the plats now under consideration, an abstract showing briefly the mode of manuring, the average yield of crops for forty-two years, and the quantities of nitrogen and carbon in the surface soil depths.

The average annual crops are expressed in pounds and are the sum of the average annual weight of grain and straw, the weight of grain being calculated with reference to the average weight per bushel for each separate plat, as recorded in the official "Memoranda."

For a reason that will presently be seen, the plats are here arranged in the order of the annual total yield of grain and straw, plats 3 and 4 (unmanured) and plat 5, already referred to, being included for purposes of comparison.

			Total	Nitr	ogen.	
Plat.	Annual manurin <sub>b</sub>	Nitro- gen sup- plied an- nually in manure.	annual weight of wheat and straw (42 years av- erage).	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Organic carbon.
		Pounds	Pounds			Per cent
3	Unmanured	0	1,934	0.0992	2, 572	0.888
4	Unmanured since 1852	0	2,008	. 0982	2,546	. 909
0	Ammonium salts only (40) pounds) (no	0	2.242	. 1013	2,020	. 901
10.4	minerals since 1844)	56	3,104	. 1069	2, 112	1.049
10b	Ammonium salts only (400) pounds) (no					
01.	minerals since 1850)	86	3,501	. 10854	2, 7.9	. 969
aD	Formerly 50 pounds, containing	86	3.789	. 1094	2.836	1.008
45	Latterly 255 pounds, containing	4:5	1			
0	pounds)	43	3,842	. 1107	2.870	1.019
11	Phosphates and ammonium salts (400)		13 (1111)	1101	0.0253	1.10*
145	Full minorals and sodium nitrate (55)	20	1 3, 1955	. 11.51	2, 94, 22	1.104
10	pounds) since 1884 (previously unma-					
	nured for 19 years)	86	4,824	. 1177	3,052	1.065
12	Phosphates, sodium and ammonium salts	we.	1.0~2	1104	2.008	1 192
14	Phosphates, magnesium and animonium	00	2, 343	. 11:14	0,000	1.1.00)
	salts (400 pounds)	86	5,112	. 1250	3, 241	1.137
15	Full minerals and ammonium salts (400)	00	= 150	1.224	2 100	1 170
13	Phosphates potassion and ammonium	60	0, 105	. 1	0,199	1.110
T.)	salts) (400 pounds)	86	5,365	. 1162	3,013	1.165
ĩ	Full minerals and ammonium salts (400)		- (1.14)	1000	0.100	1 101
00	Full minerals and sodium nitrate:	05	0,009	. 1.6.66	0,105	1.101
1.69	Formerly 50 pounds, containing	86	1 1 200	11:0	2 (182	1 169
	Latterly 275 pounds, containing	4:3	5 0,000	. 1150	0,000	1.10.
8	pounds)	129	6,613	. 1188	3,080	1.138

TABLE 22.—Broadbalk wheat soils, 1893—NITROGEN and CARBON in surface soils of various plats, arranged in order of their average total yields of wheat and straw.

Here, then, the plats are arranged in the order of their annual produce in wheat and straw. With but few exceptions, it will be seen that the percentage of nitrogen and-over a large part of the tableof carbon, also, in the surface soil, increases as the produce has been greater. Thus, in round numbers, the unmanured plats, giving about 2,000 pounds of annual produce, contain, in their surface soil, under 0.10 per cent of nitrogen (with carbon 0.9 per cent); the plat with minerals only giving 2,242 pounds of produce, just over 0.10 per cent of nitrogen (with carbon only slightly over 0.9 per cent); and the plats with ammonium salts but without minerals (save for some early dressings prior to 1851), averaging 3,300 pounds of produce, contain 0.106 per cent of nitrogen (with nearly 1 per cent of carbon). The plat with sodium nitrate without minerals has given more produce than that receiving ammonium salts, although latterly the nitrogen supplied has been only half as much. Probably the sodium nitrate has been a better solvent for the minerals of the soil than ammonium salts; at any rate the produce has been nearly 3,800 pounds, and the nitrogen is over 0.109 per cent (with about 1.01 per cent of carbon).

Then we come to the plats getting minerals as well as ammonium salts. Plat 6 gets full minerals (i. e., superphosphate and potassium,

sodium and magnesium salts), with only 43 pounds of nitrogen as ammonium salts. This crop has given more produce than that receiving twice the quantity of ammonium salts without minerals, viz, 3,842 pounds. Its nitrogen is over 0.11 per cent (with carbon about 1.02 per cent).

Then follows a series of plats all getting 86 pounds of nitrogen as ammonium salts (or sodium nitrate), and all well supplied with phosphates, with or without additions of alkaline salts. Plat 11 gets, with 86 pounds of nitrogen as ammonium salts, phosphates only. It shows 146 pounds more of annual produce per acre than plat 6, the next above it, and the nitrogen is increased to 0.113 per cent (with carbon nearly 1.11 per cent). Plat 16 now receives 86 pounds only of nitrogen as sodium nitrate, with full minerals. Its average yield, however, is low, because this average includes nineteen years in which the plat was not manured. Previously to this period it was heavily dressed with ammonium salts, and in 1865 was the richest in nitrogen among the chemically manured plats; but during the long interval between 1865 and the next sampling in 1881, its nitrogen became again reduced nearly to the level of that of plat 3. Since 1884, however, it has received nearly 5 hundredweight of nitrate of soda, containing 86 pounds of nitrogen, per annum; and, after ten years of this treatment, we find that, in 1893, although it does not take quite the leading place, it resumes its rank among the plats comparatively rich in nitrogen, for the nitrogen has risen to nearly 0.118 per cent (the carbon being 1.06 per cent). Notwithstanding the period of starvation, the average annual produce all through has been 4,824 pounds, or 836 pounds higher than that of plat 11, which has been continuously supplied with ammonium salts and phosphates. This difference has, no doubt, been due largely to the full supply of minerals, for it has received a full supply of alkaline salts as well as of phosphates.

Next comes a series of seven plats averaging about 5,600 pounds of annual produce, and averaging rather more than 0.12 per cent of nitrogen (with carbon over 1.14 per cent). In this series the percentages of nitrogen are not all in the order of the crop produce. But, in the whole of the sixteen plats in our list, only four break the sequence to which I have already alluded, viz, that the greater the annual yield of crops, the greater is the percentage of nitrogen found in the surface soil. The plats which individually break this rule or sequence are plats 13, 7, 9a, and 8. These plats have all given large yields, mainly owing to the influence of potassium salts. They have yielded in their crops a considerably larger quantity of nitrogen than any of the others; but they do not show more nitrogen in the surface soil.

One is tempted to ask whether the crops well supplied with phosphates and nitrogen have, under the influence of potassium salts (with, in many cases, sodium and magnesium salts as well), had less difficulty in feeding themselves than those of the plats from which potassium salts have been withheld; and whether in consequence their root development has been, in proportion to above-ground growth, less than in the case of the plats less completely manured. Less annual root development would mean less root residue. Or, again, has the increased assimilative power conferred upon the plant by potash caused the above-ground growth to abstract from the roots, before maturity and death, more of the nitrogen taken up by the roots preparatory to utilization for the ultimate plant processes? On the other hand, we must not forget that we are for the moment speaking as though the first 9 inches comprised the whole of the soil ranged over by the roots. The roots of wheat go very deeply down into the subsoil, and under different treatments the depth of root range no doubt varies, and the luxuriance of rootlet development in different lavers of the subsoil probably also varies. And unfortunately the irregularities of the subsoil render it difficult to trace and compare quantitatively the accumulations of organic nitrogen in the subsoil. Some of the subsoils show accumulations in the direction in which we should expect to find them, while others do not. Or again, may it be that the denser and more vigorous growth of the wheat has allowed less growth of weeds on the more richly yielding plats-weeds being, however evil their habits, at least conservators of the nitrogen that they steal? There is yet another view of the matter which is not new, but which should be taken into account, and which has been referred to in earlier communications from Rothamsted. It is that the accumulation of nitrogen under varying circumstances has its varying but necessary limitations-points of increase at which an equilibrium tends to establish itself. Such equilibrium is reached when the annual decomposition of root residue and the final resolution of its nitrogen into the form of nitrates, and consequent annual drainage loss, equals the annual accumulation in root residues. It has, indeed, been previously pointed out to you by Professor Warington that as these decompositions are the work of armies of living organisms, which must increase as their pabulum increases, the very accumulation of root residue furnishes an indirect means for its own increased destruction. It is therefore possible that the somewhat decreased percentage of nitrogen on the most productive plats as compared with those of plats somewhat less productive may be due to some such reaction of natural agencies working toward the establishment of the final equilibrium which we must expect to be inevitably reached under any constant form of treatment.

Perhaps, however, one is led to refine too much, and it may be that the general harmony that otherwise prevails in this table of results leads one to exaggerate the extent or significance of the, after all, slight deviations of these plats from the rule to which, in a broad sense, they may still be said to conform, viz, that the greater the annual erop, and therefore the greater the quantity of nitrogen removed in it from the soil, the greater is the quantity of nitrogen stored in the soil by accumulated crop residues, and so saved from loss in drainage.

# PLATS 5 TO 8 (ALL FULLY SUPPLIED WITH MINERAL MANURES, BUT RECEIVING DIFFERENT DRESSINGS OF AMMONIUM SALTS).

This becomes still clearer if, instead of regarding the whole series of chemically manured plats, differing so much both in mineral and in nitrogenous treatment, we select for consideration certain of them which, owing to their comparative treatment, are very strictly comparable. Let us, for instance, tabulate plats 5 to 8, all of which receive annually the same full dressing of minerals (superphosphate, with potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts), but are very differently treated nitrogenously.

TABLE 23.—Broadbalk wheat soils, 1893—Plats 5, 6, 7, and 8, all annually manured with a liberal supply of superphosphate and of potassium, sodium. and magnesium salts. [First 9 inches only.]

	Nitrogen per acre added an- nually in ammoni- um salts.	Annual to- tal weight of grain and straw (42 years' average).	Nitro- gen.	Carbon.	Excess of crop per acre as com- pared with plat 5.	Excess of nitrogen per acre in first 9 inches as compared with plat 5.	Excess of carbon per acre in first 9 inches as compared with plat 5.
Plat 5 Plat 6 Plat 7 Plat 8	Pounds. 43 86 129	Pounds. 2,242 3,842 5,629 6,613	Per cent. 0.1013 .1107 .1222 .1188	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ cent. \\ 0.931 \\ 1.019 \\ 1.101 \\ 1.138 \end{array}$	Pounds. 1,600 3,387 4,371	Pounds. 244 542 454	Pounds. 2,282 4,408 5,367

In the presence of a full supply of minerals it will be seen that there was a progressive increase in crop with a gradual increase of the ammonium salts. The annual application of 86 pounds of nitrogen in the form of ammonium salts gives about double the increase obtained by the use of 43 pounds. A further increase of ammonium salts produces a still greater crop, but the gain is no longer proportional. In fact, speaking generally, season by season it is noticed at Rothamsted that in the presence of a full supply of minerals the first 43 pounds of nitrogen (as ammonium salts) produces 9 bushels of wheat; the second 43 pounds produces 9 bushels more, making 18 bushels of wheat for 86 pounds of nitrogen; but the third 43 pounds, making a supply of 129 pounds, produces a further increase of only 3 bushels of wheat, and the erop, it may be observed, is usually overgrown and "laid."

It will be seen that the increase in accumulation of nitrogen in the surface soil in plats 6 and 7 (receiving respectively 43 pounds and 86 pounds of nitrogen per acre per annum) as compared with plat 5 (without nitrogen) is respectively 244 pounds and 542 pounds, corresponding very nearly to the doubling of the annual increase in the erop.

On plat 8, where a still larger quantity of ammonium salts is used, and where the increase of erop is much less, there does not appear to be any further accumulation of nitrogen as far as the first 9 inches are concerned.

If, however, we take the second and third depths into account, we certainly find considerably larger accumulations in plat 8 than in plat 7. Indeed, the proportion between the excess of crop and the excess of nitrogen accumulated in the case of plat 8 agrees more nearly with that of plat 5 than does the proportion in the case of plat 7. The following further table shows the results found in 27 inches of soil:

TABLE	24.—Broadbalk wheat	soils,	1893—Plats 6,	7,	and	81	urther	compared.	•
		Firs	st 27 inches.]						

	Nitrogen per acre added annually in am- monium salts.	Excess of crop per acre as compared with plat 5.	Excess of nitogen per acre in first 27 inches as compared with plat 5.	Excess of carbon per acre in first 27 inches as compared with plat5.
Plat 6 Plat 7 Plat 8	Pounds. 43 86 129	Pounds. 1,600 3,387 4,371	Pounds. 145 213 445	Pounds. 1,701 2,327 5,844

Whether we take the first 9 inches only or the first 27 inches, the increase in organic carbon is greater as the supply of nitrogen and the growth of crops have been greater, though not in direct proportion, the low percentage of carbon in the samples representing the second and third depths of plat 7 disturbing an otherwise reasonably close concordance in the proportion of crop increase and of increase in residual carbon. But once again it must be remembered that the subsoil irregularities prevent a too close reasoning upon the figures vielded by their analyses for total nitrogen and total carbon.

In fact, the irregularities of the subsoils leave us unable, from direct evidence, to decide whether or not the natural subsoil nitrogen either diminishes by contributing to plant food on the one hand, or is augmented by crop residue on the other, so far as the continuously cropped wheat land is concerned.

# PLATS 10a, 11, 13, AND 7 (ALL RECEIVING LIKE DRESSINGS OF AMMONIUM SALTS, BUT DIFFERING IN MINERAL TREATMENT).

Before passing on, I must, at the risk of being tedious, direct specific attention to yet another combination of plats, viz, 10a, 11, 13, and 7. The members of the series we have just been discussing were all alike in being fully manured with phosphates and potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts, differing only in their nitrogenous treatment. Now, the following plats are alike in that they have all for fifty years received ammonium salts containing the same quantity of nitrogen, viz, 86 pounds per acre, but their mineral treatment has varied.

TABLE 25.—Broadbalk wheat soils, 1893—Plats 10a, 11, 13, and 7, all annually manured with ammonium salts containing 86 pounds nitrogen per acre.

	Mineral manure:	Total annual weight of wheat and straw (42 years' aver- age).	First 9 on Nitro- gen.	inches ly. Car- bon.	Annual excess of crop per acre, as com- pared with plat 10a.	Excess of nitrogen per acre in first 9 inches, as com- pared with plat 10a.	Excess of carbon per acre in first 9 inches, as com- pared with plat 10a.
Plat 10a . Plat 11 Plat 13 Plat 7	None. Superphosphate Superphosphate and potassium salts. Superphosphate and potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts.	Pounds. 3, 104 3, 988 5, 365 5, 629	Per ct. 0, 1069 .1131 .1162 .1222	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ ct. \\ 1. \ 049 \\ 1. \ 107 \\ 1. \ 165 \\ 1. \ 101 \end{array}$	Pounds. 884 2,261 2,525	Pounds. 160 241 396	Pounds. 1,503 3,007 1,348

Here again we see that, as the crop has increased on the minerally manured plats, under the influence of more complete feeding, so has the excess of nitrogen in the surface soil increased again in proper sequence, though not in direct proportion.

#### NITROGEN ACCUMULATIONS AS CROP RESIDUE.

Now a study of the previous series (5, 6, 7, and 8) led clearly to the conclusion that the increase in soil nitrogen followed increased crop, increased crop following an increase of nitrogen applied as ammonium salts, provided that plenty of minerals were also applied. But from those plats alone—save perhaps from the carbon results—we could not draw any valid conclusion as to whether the excess was really rescued nitrogen existing as crop residue or whether it was actually an accumulation of manure: The series 10a, 11, 13, and 7, however, now considered, forms a complement to the other series, showing that even when the application of nitrogen is constant, the smaller the crop the less of it is retained in the soil. The more completely, by the supply of minerals, the crops have been enabled to utilize the nitrogen supplied, the more have they accumulated in the soil; and conversely, the less that is utilized the less is retained.

That whatever storage of manurial nitrogen from inorganic sources (such as ammonium salts or sodium nitrate) takes place in the soil, occurs in the form of crop residues—that is to say, as the remains of roots, stubble, and the débris of weeds—broken down and modified by the influence of the worms, insects, fungi, and bacteria that feed upon them, is not a new conclusion. It was arrived at long since at Rothamsted, and has been largely supported by the study of the composition of the drainage waters from the pipe drains of the wheat plats, as well as by the results of earlier analyses of the soil; and the case

#### THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

is very clearly argued in a Rothamsted paper "On the amount and composition of the rain and drainage waters collected at Rothamsted <sup>3</sup> (Lawes, Gilbert, and Warington), published in 1881 and 1882,<sup>1</sup> more particularly in that part of the article published in 1882. The matter was also discussed with you, and illustrated from earlier analyses by Professor Warington in his lectures in 1891, and again in a different form, but with a like purport, by Sir Henry Gilbert in his lectures to you in 1893. Although the matter has been already so fully discussed, it has been to me, and I hope may be to you, an interesting task to examine some of the further evidence on the subject yielded by these latest and most interesting analyses, viz, those of the 1893 samples to which we have so far been confining our attention.

## LOSS OF NITROGEN.

The following table (Table 26), prepared on the lines of others used in the earlier discussions of the subject, shows at a glance the estimated annual removal of nitrogen in crops in fifty years, and the average annual accumulation of nitrogen in the surface soil, as compared with plat 3, calculated from the present excess found by actual analysis of the 1893 samples. It also shows the nitrogen annually supplied in manure, and the balance annually lost by drainage, or at any rate not found in the surface soil.

Nitrogen.	Plat 3.	Plat 5.	Plat 7.	Plat 10a.	Plat 10b.	Plat 11.	Plat 12.	Plat 13.	Flat 14.
Approximate average annual yield in crops over 50 years a	Lbs. 19	Lbs. 24	Lbs. 49	Lbs. 32	Lbs. 35	<i>Lbs.</i> 39	Lbs. 41	<i>Lbs.</i> 45	Lbs. 44
Average annual yield in excess of plat 3 (nnmannred). Average annual accumulation of nitrogen in the surface (first 9 inches) soil, as com- pared with plat 3 (i. e., one-fiftieth of the excess over plat 3 found by analysis after 50 years).		5	30 12	13	16	20	22 10‡	26 9	25 134
Total annual excess over plat 3 in crops and in first 9 inches of soil Nitrogen supplied annually in manure		6	42 86	17 86	20 86	27 86	32‡ 86	35 86	381 86
Balance annually (on the average) not accounted for incrops or soil- increase in first 9 inches. and for the most part lost by drainage		bв	44	69	66	59	534	51	474

TABLE 26.—Broadbalk wheat soils, sampled in October, 1893—NITROGEN in manure, crops, and soil, and not accounted for, on various chemically manured plats.

a This quantity is based on actual analyses of the produce over forty years, and on an stimate (made from the crop yield of each plat) for the earlier years in which analyses of the grain and straw were not made. The average annual estimates, though rough, are probably correct within about 1 pound per acre.

Actual analyses of the drainage waters running from the pipes show quantities of nitrates which go far toward accounting for the lost

<sup>1</sup>Journal of the Royal Agricultural Society of England, 2. ser., 17 (1881), pp. 241-279; 18 (1882), pp. 1-71.

9385—No. 106—02—4

nitrogen, but the drainpipes only discharge a fraction of the total drainage, and a large quantity of drainage must often find its way downward below the level of the drainpipes when the pipes are not running, and even when they are.

Most, if not all, of the loss on the chemically manured plats may therefore be said to be in the form of nitrates. It is possible that under certain conditions of weather there may be slight loss by evolution of free nitrogen from the crop residues of the surface soil on these plats, but there is no evidence to show that any of the nitrogen added in the form of chemical manures is thus lost. But fermentative decomposition involving evolution of free nitrogen no doubt takes place on the heavily and continuously dunged plats, with their high quantity of organic matter, and in a less degree on the rape-cake plat. It is to be borne in mind, however, that the quantity of dung used in these continuous wheat-growing experiments is, on the yearly average, far less than would be used in practical agriculture on any of the rotation systems.

# NITROGEN AND CARBON IN THE SUBSOILS.

And now I would for a brief space divert your attention to the subsoil nitrogen rather than to the surface nitrogen.

We have seen that it is not clear that even the higher subsoil has either contributed nitrogen to the crops or has accumulated nitrogen from crop residues, i. e., from the indirect effects of manures; nor, indeed, is it clear how far the subsoil has contributed nitrogen to the nitrates found in or passing through the subsoils, though we have, as we shall see hereafter, some evidence that active nitrification, at any rate, does not occur in the lower subsoil. This statement as to the absence of evidence of accumulation from crop residues, however, must be restricted as referring to evidence of accumulation during the experimental period of fifty years during which the soil has been under continuous wheat cultivation. The diminution of nitrogen from the surface as we go downward into the subsoil is, however, for a certain range gradual and clearly points to accumulations in the past.

It is convenient to consult here a summary table that has been prepared from Table 11 so as to show the nitrogen, carbon, etc., in the average of all the Broadbalk soils at each depth.

					1	Per acre		Ratio	o of—
Depth.	Num- ber of plats.	Total nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen as ni- trates.	Car- bon.	Total nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen as ni- trates.	Car- bon.	Carbon to 1 nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen to 100 car- bon.
First 9 inches (excluding 2a and 2b)	19	Per cent. 0.1149	Permil- lion, 5.01	Per cent. 1.076	Lbs. 2,977	<i>Lbs.</i> 13. (t)	Lbs. 27, 880	9.4	10.7
First 9 inches (all plats) Second 9 inches Third 9 inches Fourth 9 inches Fifth 9 inches Sixth 9 inches Seventh 9 inches Eighth 9 inches Nmth 9 inches Tenth 9 inches	21 21 21 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 1	$\begin{array}{c} 1232\\ -0784\\ -0666\\ -0511\\ -0472\\ -0430\\ -0420\\ -0420\\ -0420\\ -0420\\ -0420\\ -0420\\ -0420\\ -0420\\ -0420\\ -0420\\ -0375\\ -0375\\ \end{array}$	$5.20 \\ 9.31 \\ 3.56 \\ 2.23 \\ 1.74 \\ 1.44 \\ 1.43 \\ 1.44 \\ 1.15 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ 1.06 \\ $	$\begin{array}{c} 1.155\\ .640\\ .492\\ .339\\ .279\\ .256\\ .248\\ .215\\ .189\\ .188\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3,133\\ 2,095\\ 1,860\\ 1,423\\ 1,351\\ 1,220\\ 1,199\\ 1,136\\ 1,174\\ 1,126\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 13, 38\\ 24, 87\\ 9, 94\\ 6, 40\\ 4, 97\\ 4, 10\\ 4, 09\\ 4, 12\\ 3, 44\\ 3, 19\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 29,594\\ 17,093\\ 13,735\\ 9,445\\ 8,106\\ 7,255\\ 7,063\\ 6,105\\ 5,669\\ 5,636\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 9.5\\ 9.52\\ 7.6\\ 9.9\\ 5.9\\ 5.9\\ 5.9\\ 5.4\\ 8.0\\ 5.4\\ 5.\\ 5.\\ 4.0\\ 5.\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 10.6\\ 12.2\\ 13.5\\ 15.1\\ 16.9\\ 16.8\\ 16.9\\ 18.4\\ 20.7\\ 20.0\\ \end{array}$
First 27 inches (excluding 2a and 2b) First 27 inches (all plats) First 72 inches First 90 inches.	$     \begin{array}{r}       19 \\       21 \\       12 \\       4     \end{array} $				6,932 7,088 13,273 15,432	$\begin{array}{c} 47,80\\ 48,20\\ 72,02\\ 64,84 \end{array}$	58, 520 60, 420 96, 466 102, 669		

TABLE 27.-Broadbalk wheat soils, sampled in October, 1893-NITROGEN and CARBON in fine dry soil, showing averages for all plats at different depths.

[Extracted from Table 11.]

It will be seen that there is, on the average, a higher percentage of nitrogen in the higher than in the lower layers of the subsoil. This is clear down to the fifth or sixth depth, below which the range is distinctly lower. The individual plats may be studied in detail in Table 11, and it may be said that when in any case the percentage is materially below about 0.04 to 0.045, notes taken at the time of collection of the samples generally show that there was in them a higher proportion of sand or gravel with the clay, or even, at the lower depths, some chalk. The indication seems to be that the higher percentages of nitrogen from the upper soil down to the fifth or sixth depth, i. e., roughly to about 4 feet, may be attributed to gradual distribution downward through centuries of surface supplies or accumulations, in the collection of which leguminous vegetation has no doubt played its part, and when a natural permanent turf also helped to conserve the small annual contributions of nitric nitrogen. from the rain and atmosphere, and to minimize the loss of nitrates by natural drainage.

#### CARBON AND RATIO OF CARBON TO NITROGEN.

It is at this point interesting to consider the results showing the percentage and quantity per acre of carbon in the soils and subsoils. They may be studied in detail in the full statement contained in Table 11, but space may not here be devoted to a full consideration of each plat. Generally speaking, the carbon in the upper subsoil is closely related to the nitrogen, and its fluctuations, like those of the nitrogen, in the upper depths are to be attributed to comparatively recent crop residues. In the surface soil the ratios of carbon to nitrogen vary only from 9:1 to 10:1; but if two plats be excluded (2b and 13) the ratio varies only from 9:1 to 9.8:1, the average being 9.4:1. The actual percentage of carbon varies from 0.888 on plat 3 (unmanured) to 2.230 on plat 2b (permanently dunged). Excluding the dunged plats, it averages 1.076 per cent, or 27,800 pounds of carbon per acre.

In the second depth the variations in carbon on all the plats lie between 0.530 per cent and 0.748 per cent, the latter representing the dunged plat. Excluding this, the range is from 0.530 to 0.727, and the average is 0.640 per cent, or 17,093 pounds per acre. The ratio of carbon to nitrogen ranges from 7.6:1 to 9.7:1, but if two plats (viz, the dunged and rape-cake plats) be excluded, the range is from 7.6:1 to 8.7:1, averaging 8.2:1.

In the third depth the percentage of carbon shows a range of from 0.426 to 0.587 (or from 0.426 to 0.535 if we exclude the rape-cake plat), and averages 0.492 per cent, or 13,735 pounds per acre. The ratio of carbon to nitrogen ranges from 6.7:1 to 8.2:1 (or to 7.8:1 if we exclude the rape-cake plat), the average ratio being 7.4:1.

In the fourth 9 inches we find a range of carbon from 0.263 per cent to 0.414 per cent, with an average of 0.339 per cent, or 9,445 pounds per acre. The ratio of carbon to nitrogen varies from 5.6:1 to 7.8:1, and averages 6.6:1.

In the fifth 9 inches the earbon drops still lower, ranging from 0.229 per cent to 0.332 per cent, and averages only 0.279 per cent, or 8,106 pounds per acre. The ratio of carbon to nitrogen varies from 5.0:1 to 7.1:1, and averages 5.9:1.

In the sixth, seventh, and eighth depths the individual variations are smaller, save from irregularities of sand, etc., such as have been mentioned. The percentages of carbon fall but very gradually, averaging 0.256, 0.248, and 0.215 (from 7,255 to 6,165 pounds per acre). The average carbon to nitrogen ratios are 5.9:1 in both the sixth and seventh depths, and 5.4:1 in the eighth.

In the ninth and tenth depths (4 plats only), the quantities of carbon average only 0.189 per cent and 0.188 per cent, or 5,669 and 5,636 pounds per acre; but one plat shows in these two depths as much as 0.225 per cent and 0.258 per cent (or 6,758 and 7,745 pounds, respectively, per acre).

The table (Table 27) already given shows all the averages at one glance, and shows well the diminution of the ratio of earbon to nitrogen and the converse increase in the ratio of nitrogen to earbon.

The depth at which the carbon ceases to show any marked diminution coincides with the depth at which the nitrogen ceases to diminish much, viz, at the fifth to sixth depth. There also the ratio of carbon to nitrogen, which has been rapidly dwindling from the surface downward, suddenly ceases to diminish. It seems that we at this point come to the depth at which the nitrogen and carbon are little influ-

#### THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

enced by past surface accumulations or crop residues, and get only, or mainly, the nitrogen and carbon naturally indigenous to the clay itself.

## NITROGEN CONTENTS OF VARIOUS OTHER ROTHAMSTED SUBSOILS.

With regard to the question of subsoil as compared with surface nitrogen, it is here relevant to ask how the Broadbalk wheat field compares with other fields and clays from other sources. By the kindness of Sir Henry Gilbert, who has spent much time in their consideration and tabulation, I am able to present here the averages of a very large number of nitrogen determinations in different depths of different fields at Rothamsted. Indeed, the results represent 1,810 different samples taken in various places from the different plats, the nitrogen determinations being for the most part made on a mixture of the samples representing each plat sampled at each depth and at each date of collection. The results, however, are derived from 1,849 separate nitrogen determinations. As the results on all the earlier samples were obtained by the soda-lime method, the soda-lime results for the 1893 wheat soils are in this case taken for comparison.

We have results for the following series of samples:

*Broadbalk wheat field.*—Samples collected in 1865, 1881, 1887, and 1893.

Hoos field.—Samples collected in 1881 from wheat and clover land; in 1882, 1883, and 1885 from leguminous land and wheat fallow, and in 1868 and 1882 from the barley plats.

Agdell field.—Samples collected from rotation plats in 1867, 1874, and 1883-84.

Barn field.-Various samples collected in 1870 from root land.

In a great number of cases the sampling has been carried down to twelve depths or 9 feet. Tables 28 and 29 show not only the percentages of nitrogen in the fine dry soil, but also the quantities of fine dry soil and stones per acre. The various series of samples are recorded separately in the large table (Table 28), while in the smaller table (Table 29) they are condensed so as to give only the averages of the various series for each of the four fields, but showing also the mean results for the whole 17 sets of samples.

53

	•	AVERA	GE WEIG	HTS OF ]	FINE DR	V SOIL PE	SR ACRE.		7			
	First 9 inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.	Fourth 9 inches.	Fifth 9 inches.	Sixth 9 inches.	Seventh 9 inches.	Eighth 9 inches.	Ninth 9 inches.	Tenth 9 inches.	Eleventh 9 inches.	Twelfth 9 inches.
вподлядык ғівіл. Collected October, 1955 (mean of plats	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.
5, 1, 11, 12, 10, 14, and 10) Collected October, 1881 (mean of plats 5, 6, 7, 8, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, and 18)	2, 515, 902	2, 673, 368	2, 713, 300									
21, and 22) 21, and 22) Collected October, 1893 (first to eighth	2,809,016	2, 498, 399	2, 967, 506	2,988,992	2, 969, 812	3,074,196	2,882,905	2,909.270	2,874,256	2, 734, 481	2,804,970	2, 795, 772
mean of plats 5.6.7, 8.11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 11, and 18, ninth and tenth mean of 5.6, 7, and 8)	2, 614, 648	2,517,376	2, 731, 862	2, 783, 685	2, 865, 549	2,836,890	2,746,319	2, 868, 308	3,003,479	3,001,755	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	
Average	2, 558, 942	2, 592, 259	2, 814, 991	2,886,339	2,917,681	2,955,543	2,814,612	2,888,789	2, 938, 868	2,868,118	2,804,970	2, 795, 772
HOOS FIELD.												
Collected March, 1881: Mean of series 1, plats 2 to 6, clover	0 700 012	062 062 6	270 AZE 0									
Plat O, 5 holes, wheat land	2,801,640	2, 915, 473	$\frac{2}{3}, 110, 355$									
cantha SI, plats 5 and 6; Trifolium repeas SI, plat 6)	2, 619, 433	2,609,621	2, 885, 387	3,069,382	3,041,889	2,969,839						
Vicia sutiva SI, plats 4 and 6; Triotium repears SI, plats 4 Fallow wheat, plat 0, 200 Collected July and August, 1885:	2,688,455 2,616,024	2,599,186 2,990,878	2,678,989 3,218,585	2, 866, 835 3, 234, 339	2, 951, 159 3, 277, 147	2, 925, 137 3, 231, 633	2,871,335 3,159,505	2,896,219 3,094,410	2,752,883 3,177,285	$\begin{array}{c} 2,498,988\\ 3,109,062 \end{array}$	2,411,965 2,853,781	2,570,045 2,992,810
Rentorial renconting, neurogo su- menoral Trifolium repens, each SI, plat 5 Fallow wheat, plat 0	2,552,679 2,587,634	2,677,618 2,902,682	2,872,509 3,002,095	2,952,976 3,116,163	$\begin{array}{c} 2,974,503\\ 3,128,116\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2, 761, 845 \\ 3, 173, 038 \end{array}$	2,877,888 3,155,699	2,770,807 3,049,079	$\begin{array}{c} 2,755,481\ 3,011,092 \end{array}$	2,615,174 3,237,936	2.569,536 3.206,539	2,613,262 $3,095,555$
Collected March, 1868 (Darley 40, 4A, 4A, 4A, and 4C)	2, 276, 437	2, 546, 061	2,684,170							8		
(barley; mean of plats 2 and 4, 0, A, AA, AAS, and C)	2,464,490	2, 523, 662	2,684,101				8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8					
Average	2,593,290	2, 720, 656	2,890,627	3,047,939	3,074.563	3,012,298	3,016,107	2,952,629	2,924,185	2,865,290	2,760,455	2,817,918

TABLE 28.—Average weight of fine dry soil and of stones, per acre, in different experimental fields at Rothamsted, and at different depths; also average percentages of nitrogen in the fine dry soils at the respective depths.

[Summary for each date of collection in each field-Broadbalk, Hoos, Agdell, and Barn fields.]

54

# INVESTIGATIONS ON ROTHAMSTED SOILS.

	÷		2,644,314	2.644,314			Pounds.			176, 109		176, 109				274, 065 227, 329
			2,610,067	2,610,067		-	Pounds.		0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	137, 359		137,359				445, 855 293, 350
			2, 478, 854	2, 478, 854		-	Pounds.		0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	176,944	190,915	183,930				470, 358 68, 053
			2, 549, 322	2,589,332			Pounds.	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		2018: " erere:	102, 955	162,629		b b 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	219, 615 160, 628
			2,654,461	2,054,461			Pounds.			181,210	250, 920	210,565				184, 404
			2,517,401	2,517,401		R ACRE.	Pounds.			265, 825	208, 341	282,083				130-499 138, 847
~ ~			2, 587, 276	2,587,276		ONES PE	Pounds.			30, 276	237, 765	144,021			324,410	155, 002 76, 230
			2,405,202	2,465,262		OTAL ST	Pounds.		**** ** ***	218, 348	186, 492	202, 4(H)			217, 807	178, 959 57, 853
		8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	2, 441, 895	2,441,895		HTS OF T	Pounds.			99,044	000,822	163, 867			181,440	206,002 77,129
-	2, 574, 334	2,551,660	2, 472, 116	2,522,703	2, 650, 950	GE WEIG	Pounds.	236,304	231, 683	111,659	547, 974	212,655		141,675 212,879	345, 361	276, 334 67, 382
	2,508,319	2,437,907	2, 398, 971	2, 448, 399	2, 673, 015	AVERA	Pounds.	(MMS "mont	327. 328	613, 851	372, 188	113.322		246, 580 228, 956	408, 489	343, 943 200, 104
-	2, 139, 857	2, 309, 200	2, 503, 585	2.347,580	2, 321, 140		Pounds.	531,082	548,004	409, 174	503, 436	197, 924		439, 816 376, 386	507, 352	430,609 414,501
AGDELL FIELD.	Collected November, 1867 (mean of all 12 plats, after wheat)	Collected Uctober, 1844 (mean of an 12 plats, after clover)	Unected revenues, noo, point of all 12 plats, after 1884 (mean of all 12 plats, after wheat)	Average	BARN FIELD. Collected April, 1870 (mean of plats 4, 5, 6, and 70, N, A, AC, and C, root land)		BROADBALK FLELD.	5, 7, 11, 12, 13, 14, and 16)	Collected October, 1001 (mean of plats 5,6,7,8,11,12,13,14,15,16,17, and 18)	Collected May, 1887 (mean of plats O. 21, and 22)	Contected Octoper, resolution of plats 5, 6, 7, 8, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, mean of plats 5, 6, 7, 8, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, and 18, minth and tenth means of 5, 6, 7, and 8)	Average	HOOS FIELD.	Collected March, 1881: Mean of series 1, plats 2 to 6, clover land. Plat 0, 5 holes, wheat land	Collected July, 1882 (Melilotus leu- contha SI, plats 5 and 6; Trifolium repeas SI, plat 6)	Collected JULY, 1885: <i>Vicial Soliton</i> SI, plats 4 and 6; <i>Trifolium repeats</i> SI, plat 4 Fallow wheat, plat 0

# THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

55

TABLE 28.—Average weight (	of fine dr	y soil and	d of stone	s, per act	e, in diff	erent exp	erimenta	l fields at	Rotham	sted, etc.	-Contin	ıed.
	AVE	TRAGE W	EIGHTS	IF TUT TO	I STONES	PEK AU	KE-Conti	nued.				
	First 9 inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.	Fourth 9 inches.	Fifth 9 inches.	Sixth 9 inches.	Seventh 9 inches.	Eighth 9 inches.	Ninth 9 inches.	Tenth 9 inches.	Eleventh 9 inches.	Twelftb 9 inches.
ROOS FIELD-continued. Collected July and August, 1885: Molifolus Innovation Medicono ac-	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.
First, and Trifolium repeas, each Sl, plat 5. Trifolium repeas, each Fallow wheat, plat O.	391,659 340,656	212, 519 141, 861	115,017 213,190	190, 230 197, 400	$172, 734 \\ 196, 819$	291, 126 104, 653	160,827 26,862	$\frac{106,468}{81,675}$	71,874 265,353	$235, 224 \\ 65, 050$	217, 201 38, 659	200, 612 117, 612
Collected February and March, 1882 (barley; mean of plats 2 and 4, 0, A,	719,337	723, 768	443, 968									
AA. AAS, and U)	480,640	346, 120	238, 244	170,440	164, 834	190, 302	114, 259	141,802	179, 368	209,674	248,766	204,905
AGDELL FIELD.												
Collected November, 1867 (mean of all 12 plats, after wheat)	768,159	447, 934	308, 549		8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8							
Collected October, 16,4 (mean of all 12 plats, after clover) Collected November, 1883, to January.	939, 588	641, 126	458, 129									
1884 (mean of all 12 plats, after wheat)	781, 199	351, 339	322, 435	476, 574	523, 083	289,447	472, 762	404, 655	462, 734	528, 891	397, 621	274, 700
Average	837, 352	480.133	363, 035	476, 574	523,083	289,447	472, 762	404,655	462, 734	528, 891	397,621	274,700
BARN FIELD. Collected April.1870 (mean of plats 4, 5, 6, and 70, N, A, AC, and C, root land)	769,486	530, 003	415,488									
		ΑV	ERAGE 1	UTROGEI	III IN FIN	E DRY S	OIL.		-			
виодрядьк FIELD. Collected October, 1865 (mean of plats 5.7.11 ю 12.10 mm 18.0	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.	Per cent.
Collected October. 1881 (mean of plats 5, 6, 7, 8, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, and 18)	. 1136	2010.	96 <u>9</u> 0.									

56

P

INVESTIGATIONS ON ROTHAMSTED SOILS.

(), (), S65		9520				.0453	1940 . 7050		6110.		- 0402	2010	
0, 0376		. (1376				1640.	.0267		.0431		0417	7140.	
0. (\$558	. (358	. 0358			-	8210 9810	0010		();}(),			.0441	
0.(343	. (13.58	(1623).				1910. 9210.	. (0255		1010.			.0138	-
0.0361	6333	. (365				1210 2810	0136		0423			0414	
0. (\$350)	. 0386	. 0368				16h) (18h)	0411		68540.			.0437	
0. (\$393	2(%3).	. (\$363			9556).	0475	2810 1880		. (1463		0447	200	
0.041s	.(437	8510.			.0451	1640.	0000	-	0110.	-		0465	
0.0501	₹ <u>*</u> ₹()-	. 0458			()††()	.0517 8540	5710. 1610.	-	6910.			.0513	
.0587	.0594	.0598		.0579.	[ejto].	(15%) (15%)	0850	.0656	.0571	6960.	. (646)	4290	
Fe20 .	.0714	£210.		. (N553 (N30).	. (85433	6730°.	9200 . 9200 .	. 0763 (038)	. 0670	. 0706	.0230	7270.	¥100).
. 1119	.1125	.1145		. 1060	1116	.1160	.1210	.1094	. 1098	. 1:555	.1246	1273	. (973
Collected May, 1887 (mean of plats U, 21, and 22) <sup>2</sup> Collected October, 1893 (first to eighth	mean of plats 5.6, 7,8, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, and 18, ninth and tenth mean of 5.6, 7, and 8)	Average.	Collected March, 1881: Moor of control Aleter to 6 aloran	Plat 0, 5 holes, wheat land	connected Jury, 1052 (metaprice car cantha S1, plats 5 and 6; Trifolium repens S1, plat 6)	Tricia satira Si, plats 4 and 6: <i>Prifolium repeats</i> Si, plat4 Fallow wheat, plat0 Collected July and August. 1865:	Metious lenconthu, Metecugo su- tivu, and Trifolium repeas, each S1, plat 5. Fallow wheat, plat 0.	4AA and 4C collected February and March, 1882 (barley: mean of plats 2 and 4, 0, A, AA, AAS, and C	Average	AGDELL, FIELD. Collected November, 1867 (mean of all 12 plats, after wheat).	Undered of October, 18,4 (mean of all US plats, after clover)	Average	RARN FIELD. Collected April 1870 (mean of plats 4, 5, 6, and 70, N. A. AC, and C, root land)

<sup>1</sup> In all cases in this table the nitrogen determinations were made by the soda-line method. <sup>2</sup> These results also include the percentages of nitrogen in a sample taken at each of the 12 depths from land below plat 3 in March, 1863.

# THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

57

# **TABLE 29.**—Average weight of fine dry soil and of stones per acre in different experimental fields at Rothamsted and at different depths; also average percentages of nitrogen in the fine dry soils at the respective depths.

[Summary for each field-Broadbalk, Hoos, Agdell, and Barn fields.]

#### AVERAGE WEIGHTS OF FINE DRY SOIL PER ACRE.

Depth.	Broadbalk field—sam- ples col- lected 1865, 1881, 1887, and 1893.	Hoos field— samples col- lected 1881, 1882, 1883, and 1885 (from legu- minous land); 1881, 1883, and 1885 (from wheat fallow); 1868 and 1882 (from barley land).	Agdell field –sam- ples col- lected 1867, 1874, and 1883–84.	Barn field— samples col- lected April, 1870 (from root land.	Average of all.
First 9 inches	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 2,558,942\\ 2,592,259\\ 2,814,991\\ 2,886,339\\ 2,917,681\\ 2,955,543\\ 2,814,612\\ 2,888,789\\ 2,938,868\\ 2,868,118\\ 2,804,970\\ 2,795,772 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 2,593,290\\ 2,720,656\\ 2,890,627\\ 3,047,959\\ 3,074,563\\ 3,012,298\\ 3,016,107\\ 2,952,629\\ 2,924,185\\ 2,865,290\\ 2,760,455\\ 2,817,918 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 2,347,580\\ 2,448,390\\ 2,532,703\\ 2,441,895\\ 2,562,262\\ 2,587,276\\ 2,517,401\\ 2,654,461\\ 2,589,332\\ 2,478,854\\ 2,610,067\\ 2,644,314 \end{array}$	Pounds. 2, 321, 160 2, 673, 095 2, 650, 950	Pounds. 2,455,243 2,603,602 2,722,318 2,792,058 2,819,169 2,851,706 2,782,707 2,831,960 2,817,462 2,737,21,164 2,725,164 2,752,668

AVERAGE WEIGHTS OF TOTAL STONES PER ACRE.

First 9 inches	497,924	480,640	837, 352	769,486	646,351
Second 9 inches	443, 322	346,120	480, 133	530,003	449,894
Third 9 inches	212,655	238,244	363, 038	415,488	307,356
Fourth 9 inches	163, 867	170, 440	476, 574		270, 294
Fifth 9 inches	202,400	164,834	523,083		296, 772
Sixth 9 inches	144,021	190,302	289,447		207, 923
Seventh 9 inches	282,083	114,259	472, 762		289,701
Eighth 9 inches	=210,565	141,802	404,655		252, 341
Ninth 9 inches.	162, 629	179,368	462,734		268,244
Tenth 9 inches.	183,930	209,674	528,891		307,498
Eleventh 9 inches	137,359	248,766	397,621		261,249
Twelfth 9 inches	176,109	204,905	274,700		218,571

AVERAGE PERCENTAGES OF NITROGEN IN FINE DRY SOIL.

$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

A study of these tables (28 and 29) will show, in the first place, that in the case of the soils of the first 9 inches, or surface depth, the mean percentages of nitrogen in the soils of each of the fields varies

## THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

according to the crop grown and according to other circumstances, but that in the subsoils of the second to the sixth or seventh depths it gradually declines, although the mean percentage is very similar at corresponding depths in the three fields—Broadbalk, Hoos, and Agdell. Below the sixth depth, however, there is less evidence of any regular declension either in Hoos or Agdell field, but in the case of the Broadbalk soils the percentages range distinctly lower than in the other fields. Reference to notes made at the time of collection of the samples, however, shows that these lower percentages are to be correlated with larger proportions of sand or chalk intermixed with the clay subsoils, the mingling of chalk especially affecting the lowest depths. It is to be observed that in the case of the other fields the normal clayey subsoil of the six lower depths contains an average of rather over 0.04 per cent of nitrogen, as determined by soda-lime, with little evidence of gradual decline.

#### NITROGEN AND CARBON IN OTHER CLAYS AND DEEP DEPOSITS.

With reference to this apparently indigenous nitrogen percentage, it should here be recorded that some determinations of nitrogen were made in the Rothamsted laboratory in 1874, in a sample of the Oxford clay obtained in the Sub-Wealden exploration boring at Battle, at a depth of from 500 to 600 feet. This showed, on an average of four closely agreeing analyses, 0.0442 per cent of nitrogen, or very nearly the same proportion as that in the lower clay subsoils at Rothamsted.

Quite recently (June, 1900) Sir Henry Gilbert has obtained from the geological survey office, by the kindness of Sir Archibald Geikie, a number of deposits—some of them clayey, and some highly calcareous—from deep borings, in which he has had determined the nitrogen and organic earbon and the ratios of carbon to nitrogen and of nitrogen to carbon. The results are given in the following table:

 TABLE 30.—Analyses of deep clay deposits compared with arerage results of deep subsoils at Rothamsted.

[Percentages of carbonate of lime, nitrogen, and organic carbon in fine dry soil: also ratios of carbon to 1 nitrogen, and of nitrogen to 100 carbon.]

Carbon- ate of lime.	Nitrogen (mean).	Organic carbon (mean).	Carbon to l nitrogen.	Nitrogen to 100 carbon.
Per cent.	Per cent. 0,0450	Per cent.		
	. 0442			
21.35	. 0483	0.786	16.3	6.1
0	. 0343	. 533	15.6	6.5
l. 30.55	. 0397	. 613	15.5	6.5
7.21	. 0412	. 391	9.5	10, 5
	Carbon- ate of lime. > Per cent. > 21.35 t 0 i. 30.55 - 7.21	Carbon- ate of lime.         Nitrogen (mean).           D         Per cent.         0.0450           C         21.35         0443           t         0         .0343           30.55         .0397           T         7.21         .0412	Carbon- ate of lime.         Nitrogen (mean).         Organic carbon (mean).           p         Per cent.         Per cent.         Per cent.           0	Carbon- ate of lime.         Nitrogen (mean).         Organic carbon (mean).         Carbon to 1 nitrogen.           Per cent.         Per cent.         Per cent.         Per cent.           1

a Deduced from 222 separate samples and 204 nitrogen determinations, made for the most part in duplicate, on a mixture of two or more individual samples from each plat or each depth. It will be seen that, even at these great depths, far removed from surface influences, we find much the same proportion of nitrogen (viz, about 0.04 per cent) as in the Rothamsted deeper clay subsoils, though we find, it is true, more carbon and higher carbon to nitrogen ratios than in the Rothamsted subsoils.

The general inference would seem to be that in these ancient deposits, whether mere clay or calcareous formations differing much in their general characters, there is a small but fairly constant percentage of nitrogen, viz, about 0.04 per cent, due presumably to the last surviving organic residue of the multitude of animal and vegetable remains accumulated in their suboceanic period. This small percentage of nitrogen, which seems to remain unaltered at a depth of 1,000 feet, seems to be equally unaltered within a few feet of the surface, despite thousands of years of surface vegetation, the influence of which on the permanent organic nitrogen contents of the subsoil seems to be scarcely appreciable below about 4 feet from the surface.

Small as it seems in percentage, the quantity of soil and subsoil nitrogen is enormous. In what precise organic form it exists we do not know, but it seems, except near the surface, to be protected, probably by conditions of temperature and aeration, from the microbic influences which promote the decompositions culminating in nitrification. Indeed, for aught that we know, some part of this clay nitrogen may be in a condition in which it is not even susceptible to such influences. Even in the surface soil, where nitrogen is steadily nitrified (and lost, unless the cropping conditions are favorable to its reassimilation), the nitrates are probably mainly yielded by the old crop residues rather than by this original clay nitrogen. In the Broadbalk field, plat 5-the plat persistently manured with full minerals, but starved for want of nitrogen (see Table 14)-is poorer than its ammonia-fed neighbors in the first 27 inches, but below this it happens to be a good deal richer in total nitrogen than the prosperous adjoining plats. Its crops are starving for want of nitrogen in an assimilable form, and yet it contains in the first three depths (27 inches) 6,401 pounds of nitrogen; in the first 6 feet, 14,056 pounds; and in the first  $7\frac{1}{2}$  feet no less than 17,470 pounds of nitrogen per acre. Yet we know from experience that a small top-dressing of sodium nitrate or of ammonium salts would in a single season convert its poor annual yield of  $14\frac{3}{4}$  bushels of grain, with  $10\frac{1}{2}$  hundredweight of stunted straw per acre, into a rich crop of probably 35 bushels of grain per acre, with a luxuriant growth of straw.

Nature is niggardly, then, in her annual dole from this great store. What does she spare us, and how?

We have among the Rothamsted records sufficient data relating to hand unmanured with nitrogen to enable us to answer this question, but before passing on to it we may properly stop to consider the results indicating the "nitric" nitrogen, or nitrogen existing as nitrates, in the different soils and subsoils.

#### THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

## NITROGEN AS NITRATES ("NITRIC" NITROGEN).

# GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FULL STATEMENT OF ANALYTICAL RESULTS ON THE BROADBALK SOILS.

The great classical researches that have been made at Rothamsted on the subject of nitrification-nature's way of providing food for new vegetable life from the débris of preceding life-are already well known to you in substance. The subject was very carefully and thoroughly dealt with in the lectures delivered to you by Professor Warington in 1891, and the chief outcome of its study was again summarized in the course of Sir Henry Gilbert's lectures. Some apology—as indeed also in the case of the preceding pages dealing with organic nitrogen-would be due from me for again traveling over ground that has been already explored and explained, but for the fact that I am in the position of bringing before you in these 1893 samples the latest confirmatory evidence directly yielded by the soil itself of many facts that were already known to us. Sir Henry Gilbert summed up to you the practical results of fifty years' continuons wheat growing under so many different manurial conditions; but he was muable to give you the results of the examination of the soils at the end of the fifty years, for the samples, as I have said, were actually being collected while he was with you. Then, as at the time of Professor Warington's lectures, the 1881 samples formed the most recent complete set of Broadbalk samples that had been examined. The consideration, therefore, of the later, and much more complete results of the analyses of the 1893 samples, taken at the end of the first fifty years of the experiments, may be regarded as a continuation (completion would be far too comprehensive a word) of Sir Henry Gilbert's review of the results of fifty years' work at Rothamsted. The conclusions deduced from the study of the determinations of nitric nitrogen in the 1893 samples are not qualitatively different from those deduced from the samples collected in 1881; but the plats in 1893 were all twelve years older, and the evidence they have to give us is entitled to still more of the respect due to age than that gathered at the earlier period.

It will be convenient to extract from Tables 11 and 12 the figures relating to nitrie nitrogen, so as to have them before us in a more condensed form, and also as we go on to make further selected extracts from them for the purpose of comparing various plats one with another.

$\sim$
3
š
3
-
3
0
~
.5
5
~
.5
(
S
E
E I
~
~
-
5
2
ŝ
3
100
8
3
0
2
2
S
2
F-1
+
0.
~
-
0
~
11
.0
3
~
~
0
2
4
2
2
2
~
1
3
3
23
-
1, 1
-21, 1
3-21, 1
13-21, 1
13-21, 1
r 13-21, 1
er 13-21, 1
ober 13-21, 1
tober 13-21, 1
ctober 13-21, 1
October 13-21, 1
October 13-21, 1
1 October 13-21, 1
ed October 13-21, 1
ted October 13-21, 1
seted October 13-21, 1
lected October 13-21, 1
illected October 13-21, 1
collected October 13-21, 1
collected October 13-21, 1
's collected October 13-21, 1
les collected October 13-21, 1
ples collected October 13-21, 1
uples collected October 13-21, 1
mples collected October 13-21, 1
amples collected October 13-21, 1
samples collected October 13-21, 1
, samples collected October 13-21, 1
s, samples collected October 13-21, 1
78, samples collected October 13-21, 1
oils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
it soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
ut soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
neut soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
theut soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
: wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
Ik wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
ilk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
oalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
Ibalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
adbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
adbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
oudbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
roadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
-Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
-Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
,-Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
1Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
31Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
31,-Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
E 31,-Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
LE 31,-Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
BLE 31,—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
ABLE 31.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1
TABLE 31.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected October 13-21, 1

Manure per acre per annum.	Nitrogen in ma- nure per acre per annum.	First depth.	Second depth.	Third depth.	Fourth depth.	Fifth depth.	Sixth depth.	Seventh depth.	Eighth dopth.	Ninth depth.	Tenth depth.
e since 1884. e 50 years 1852	Pounds. 200 200 0 0	Parts. 9.45 4.51 3.72 3.07	Parts. 8.48 16.98 3.45 2.63	Parts. 3.68 4.39 .98 .98 .76	Parts.	Parts.	Parts.	Parts.	Parts.	Parts.	Parts.
l ammonium salts. l ammonium salts. l ammonium salts.	129 129 129	4.06 57.45 6.71	20.02 10.92 10.92	33.08 33.08 39.08 39.08 39.08 39.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.08 30.080	0.34 1.07 3.13 3.13	0.33 1.23 2.97	0.1.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2	0.36 1.14 1.58 2.80 2.80	0.32 	0.39 8.1 2.43 2.04	0.19
d sodium nitrato mly (no minerals since 1844) (no minerals since 1850).	86 88 43 88 86 88 43 43	6.41 4.28 4.83 3.64	7.20 13.05 9.52 10.89	2,40 5,58 5,01 5,01						2         0         1         0           0         0         1         0           1         1         0         0           1         0         0         0           1         0         0         0           1         0         0         0           1         0         0         0           1         0         0         0           1         0         0         0           1         0         0         0           1         0         0         0           1         0         0         0           1         0         0         0	
ammonium salts	88 8 8 9 86 8 8 86 8	4.50 5.46 5.37 5.16	9.20 9.54 9.79	5.38 2.38 2.38 2.38 2.38	4. 19 2. 68 1. 68 2. 46	85%8 87%5 87%5 87%5 87%5 87%5 87%5 87%5	1.28	1.57 1.88 1.34 1.97	2.13 1.35 1.24 2.37		
d ammonium salts (antumn) d sodium nitrate since 1884	86 86	3.86 5.24	$7.00 \\ 15.94$	3.77 7.44	2.34 4.65	1.80 2.73	2.10	1.78	2.19		
d ammonium salts transposed in	- } 486	$\left\{\begin{array}{cc} 4.70 \\ 4.49 \end{array}\right.$	10.37 15.53	3.06 2.20	$   \frac{1.03}{1.21} $	.64	0.61	0.48	0.60.50		
	- 93	8.55	9.12	5.08							

# INVESTIGATIONS ON ROTHAMSTED SOILS.

~
~
3
5
~
3
~
-0-
3
3
2
~
~
ž
2
2
~~~ `~~`
3.
-
5
-
~
5
-
1
3
~
~
10
11
-
10
č
0
M
5
1
100
4
1.1
m
5
20
25
-
2
21
-
3
-
_
0
0
0
" 0
in O
l in O
d in O
ed in 0
ted in 0
ected in 0
lected in O
dlected in O
ollected in O
collected in O
s collected in O
es collected in O
les collected in O
ples collected in O
uples collected in O
mples collected in O
umples collected in O
sumples collected in O
sumples collected in O
, sumples collected in O
's, sumples collected in O
ils, sumples collected in O
oils, sumples collected in O
soils, sumples collected in O
soils, sumples collected in O
t soils, sumples collected in O
at soils, sumples collected in O
eut soils, sumples collected in O
went soils, sumples collected in O
heat soils, sumples collected in O
wheat soils, sumples collected in O
r wheat soils, sumples collected in O
k wheat soils, sumples collected in O
dk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
alk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
balk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
Ibalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
udbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
adbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
oadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
roadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
-Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
-Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
-Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
.,-Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
2.—Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
32,—Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
32.—Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
E 32.—Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
LE 32.—Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
3LE 32.—Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
BLE 32Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
ABLE 32.—Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O
<b>TABLE 32.</b> —Broadbalk wheat soils, sumples collected in O

$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	N	trogen					192029	the state		Evel +1.	V'inth	Passel.		Imme	Inry.	
0         1         56.2         56.2         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1 </td <td></td> <td>ma- F e per e per in num.</td> <td>9 9 ches. i</td> <td>econd 9 nehes.</td> <td>Third 9 inches.</td> <td>Fourth # inches</td> <td>Futu 9 inches.</td> <td>sixth 9 inches.</td> <td>sev- enth 9 inches.</td> <td>inches.</td> <td>Mutu 9 inches.</td> <td>inches.</td> <td>Pirst to third 9 inches.</td> <td>First to eighth 9 inches.</td> <td>Ninth and tenth 9 inches.</td> <td>First to tenth 9 inches.</td>		ma- F e per e per in num.	9 9 ches. i	econd 9 nehes.	Third 9 inches.	Fourth # inches	Futu 9 inches.	sixth 9 inches.	sev- enth 9 inches.	inches.	Mutu 9 inches.	inches.	Pirst to third 9 inches.	First to eighth 9 inches.	Ninth and tenth 9 inches.	First to tenth 9 inches.
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		00000	1999.95 1999.95	16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.88 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.888 16.8888 16.888 16.888 16.8888 16.8888 16.8888 16.8888	10.01 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00								56, 59 68, 14 51, 60 17, 11			
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		- # 2 <u>3</u>	0.53 14 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15	50 23 19:21 19:21	erie x x 22 x iele	8,2388 8,2388 2,2388 2,2388 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,238 2,	1.00 3.47 4.64 8.51	0.11 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40	18.44	0.98 1.89 1.69	0. S7 20. H5 4. 13 4. 13	0.55 2.16 4.38 5.64	19.15 89.68 11.25 12.25	22.22 22.28 22.29 22.29	13.81	25. 17 52. 61 74. 27 107. 32
80         12.32         35.48         11.35          40.20           80         14.10         29.06         13.89          5.02         4.48         11.06         5.02         4.48         61.11         55.49          57.00           80         11.65         24.48         11.01         5.02         4.48         6.11          51.13         87.00            80         11.66         24.48         11.01         5.02         4.48         5.03         5.03         5.03         8.031         87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          87.00          8		t;	6.62	19.23	6.70 15.58	-01							42.55			
80         9.41         29.06         1.5.89 $3.06$ $3.66$ $3.48$ $11.66$ $24.58$ $11.66$ $24.58$ $11.66$ $24.58$ $11.66$ $3.468$ $11.66$ $3.66$ $3.98$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.81$ $5.8$			22 - 22 22 - 22 22 - 22	25.43	11 25		-			:		-0.01	49.20			
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		12 3	9.41	GH '62 Fe	14.88	11.66	S. 040	5. (2	4	6 11			51.13	S7.00		
		i T	16	St 127	12.14	7.46	5.8	5.05	5.36	5 3I			51.78	80.81		
81 $[3.3.3]$ $[30.16]$ $[11.78]$ $6.33$ $6.10$ $5.43$ $5.62$ $6.80$ $$ $56.15$ $86.19$ $$ $56.15$ $86.91$ $$ $56.15$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$ $56.13$			3.92	26.15	9.44	4.68	3, 52	3.80	3.54	3. 36		100 Dec. 200	49.51	(IS. 61		
86         10.01         15.70         10.52         6.51         5.42         4.31         5.08         3.81         3.81         3.82         64.36           86         13.30         42.58         20.77         13.03         7.82         5.96         5.45         6.58         0.58         0.94         115.48          70.94         115.48          86.25         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         85.95         70.32         <		. S. S.	3.38	30, 99	11.78	6.83	6.10	5.39	5.62	6.80			56.15	86.90		
86         13.50         42.58         30.77         13.63         7.82         5.96         5.16         6.28          70.94         115.48            *86         {12.10         27.70         8.86         2.87         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.33         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34         1.34		S6	0.01	15.70	10.52	6.51	5.6	4.31	5.08	3,81			39.23	64.36		
(36)         [12,19]         27.70         8.54         9.87         1.83         1.73         1.72         1.73         1.74         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75         1.75		86	13. 59	12.58	20.77	13.03	22 1-	5.96	5, 15	6.28			76.94	115.48		Continues
13 22.06 24.36 14.18	3	1 36 1	13.19	27.70	8.54	12 La 20 20	1.02	1.73	1.43	1.12			48,43	57.95		
		60	90.00	24.34	14.18								60.60			

# THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

63

It happens, somewhat unfortunately, that the season preceding the taking of the samples in October, 1893, was far from being a normal season. The rainfall for the harvest year-September, 1892, to August, 1893, inclusive—was only 24 inches, as against an average, for the preceding seventeen years, of nearly 30 inches. The deficiency was chiefly in March, April, May, and June. During the whole of these four months less than 3 inches of rain fell, whereas there is normally from 8 to 9 inches during the same period. As a consequence, the crop of 1893, preceding the taking of the samples, was a miserably small one, averaging all round only about 60 per cent of an average crop of grain and only 40 per cent of the average quantity of straw. From the point of view of analytical investigation, however, it is to some extent a matter of regret that after harvest and before the soil sampling in 1893, there was a somewhat heavy rainfall, viz,  $4\frac{1}{2}$  inches, while a further fall of three-fourths of an inch took place during the period of sampling. Owing to this, much of the nitrogen that would in autumn be ordinarily found in the surface soil was no doubt washed downward into the second depth. The third depth, too, shows more than would probably be ordinarily found, and it will be seen that there is, as a rule, a very distinct break in continuity between the third and fourth depths.

In regarding the results relating to the deeper layers of the subsoil, it must be remembered that the field is artificially drained, and that it is at about the bottom of the third depth, or at 27 inches, that the soil water is tapped by the drainpipes whenever they run. Much of the rainfall must percolate downward into the lower subsoil without emerging from the drainpipes, which in a close soil like this, only run when rain is heavy or continuous. But the sudden decrease that we observe in many cases, in looking down the figures, in passing from the third to the fourth depth, seems to be attributable in a great measure to the position of the drains, though it is also to be remembered that below the drains, we are also well below the depth at which the wheat roots collect the greater part of their food. Nitrification goes on mainly, though probably not exclusively, in the surface soil, or in the upper depths of the subsoil. Such of the nitrates (or, for convenience, let us say such of the nitrie nitrogen) as is not utilized by the growing wheat (which ceases to take up nitrogen actively some time before it is ready to cut) is gradually washed down. Some of this emerges in the pipe drainage should there be heavy rain, and what does not escape in this way must percolate downward into the subsoil together with any such small quantity of nitric nitrogen as may be formed in the subsoil itself.

In the absence of other evidence it might appear possible that the break observed between the third and fourth depths was due to retention by the growing crop of the nitrates present or formed in the upper depths during the growing season, which retention would aturally limit the downward percolation into the subsoil prior to arvest, while the nitrates subsequently formed in the surface soil could hardly have had time to penetrate into the fourth depth.

But the Rothamsted studies of nitrification, as you may remember, ave not been confined to the Broadbalk field, but have been extended to the examination to an even greater depth of the subsoil of land but does not happen to be pipe drained. Some of the results of bees studies are given in Sir Henry Gilbert's lectures, delivered in S93.<sup>1</sup> From those results it will be seen that where there is no pipe rainage there has not been a break in the amount of nitric nitrogen bout or below the third depth of 9 inches. This seems to support the conclusion that the sudden reduction shown in the Broadbalk amples of 1893, between the third and fourth depths, is largely due to the tapping of the drainage water by the drainpipes.

## DOES NITRIFICATION OCCUR IN THE LOWER SUBSOILS?

Looking generally at the tables it will be seen that, as in the deep prices of plats previously examined, as described in Sir Henry Gilert's lectures, nitric nitrogen is found down to the lowest depth ampled. The question arises, how far is this due to percolation, or ow far is its presence due to the nitrification going on in the subsoil self? It has certainly been experimentally ascertained at Rothamed that the nitrogen of the subsoils is at any rate to some extent asceptible of nitrification if the organisms are actually present and nder the other conditions of aëration and temperature necessary for itrification. It has even been proved that the nitrifying organisms to actually exist in the deep subsoils, though they seem to be very ew and very feeble as compared with those found in the upper epths, especially in the surface soil. But even if the actual condions naturally existing in the subsoil allow of any appreciable nitrifiation in the lower depths, it would seem to be very feeble.

If we take, for example, the case of plat 5, which receives no nitrognous manure, and which is liberally supplied with mineral manures, b as to facilitate as fully as possible the utilization of the nitric itrogen produced by nitrification in the surface soil and upper suboil, we find that the nitric nitrogen existing below the drainpipes verages less than 1 pound per acre (actually 0.87 pound) in each epth of 9 inches. Now in the unmanured wheat fallow soil of Hoos eld, sampled in July, 1883 (see Sir Henry Gilbert's lectures, p. 113), he average quantity of nitric nitrogen was nearly  $2\frac{1}{2}$  pounds per cre in each of the nine depths below the first 27 inches. In that case

9385—No. 106—02—-5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>U. S. Dept. Agr., Office of Experiment Stations Bul. 22, Tables 43 and 44, pp. 13-115. Also paper "On some points in the composition of soils, with results lustrating the source of the fertility of Manitoba prairie soils." (Journal of the hemical Society of London, Transactions, 47 (1885), p. 380.)

there were no drainpipes to tap the soil higher up. It is also to be noted that the samples were taken in a fallow year (the plat being wheat cropped and fallowed in alternate years), and that, therefore, there had been no growing crop to assimilate the surface-formed nitrates. On the other hand, the sampling was carried out in July, when summer nitrification was very far from being completed, while the samples from the Broadbalk field now under consideration were taken in October, i. e., nearly three months after the crop would have been actively engaged in taking up nitrogen, though nitrification would have been, during these three months, in active progress.

On the whole it would seem, in the light of the 1893 samples, that the larger quantity of nitrie nitrogen found in the lower depths of Hoos field was partly related to the absence of a recently growing crop, but more particularly to the absence of artificial drainage.

In another series of samples, taken toward the close of 1882 in Agdell rotation field, after wheat following fallow,<sup>1</sup> the average quantity of nitric nitrogen in the nine depths below the first 27 inches was 1.3 pounds per acre. Here again, though there had been a growing crop, there was no artificial drainage, and its absence coincides with the greater quantity of nitric nitrogen than we find in the lower depths of the Broadbalk plat unmanured with nitrogen. The six consecutive depths below the drainpipes on plat 5 of the Broadbalk field in 1893 contained 6.05 pounds of nitric nitrogen per acre; the corresponding depths of Hoos field (wheat fallow, sampled in July, 1893) contained 15.49 pounds per acre.

From the quantity of nitrates actually found in the waters collected from the drainpipes of the Broadbalk field during some years it is estimated that sometimes nearly 17 pounds of nitrogen per acre have passed away in drainage from the wholly unmanured plats, and over 18 pounds per acre from plat 5, which we are at the moment considering. Bearing this in mind, and also the difference of conditions in the other fields, there can be little doubt that the larger quantity of nitric nitrogen found in their lower depths, and the absence of any marked break between the third and fourth depths is due to downward percolation.

Quite apart from other evidence the examination of the lower depths of the ammonia-manured plats, which will be considered presently, shows very clearly that the drainpipes are very far from being able to remove completely the nitrates produced by the oxidation of unused ammonium salts and of crop residues in the soils fed with such salts, for we find largely increased nitric nitrogen, despite the drainpipes, all the way down to 90 inches. It seems, therefore, only reasonable to assume that even on the unmanured plats, as nitrates occur to so large an extent in the actual drainage water collected from the pipes, a considerable quantity must be carried down in the undis-

Journal of the Chemical Society of London, Transactions, 47 (1885), p. 406.

charged drainage water that indubitably finds its way down to the chalk below. Some allowance, then, must be made for this in regarding the 0.87 pound of nitric nitrogen per acre found in each depth of the lower subsoil of plat 5, and such allowance, whatever it be, would reduce to very small dimensions the nitric nitrogen that could be attributed to actual subsoil nitrification.

Furthermore, if we turn to the results obtained from the drain gauges we fail to find practical evidence of any very appreciable subsoil nitrification. The structure of the Rothamsted drain gauges is familiar to many of you. Each of these three gauges incloses an area of natural soil with its natural subsoil, the area of each being one one-thousandth of an acre, and so constructed that all the rainfall which percolates through them can be collected for measurement and analysis. In all three the soil is kept fallow, and they differ only in depth, containing respectively 20, 40, and 60 inches of soil. Now, if nitrification went on appreciably in the subsoil, we should expect to find more nitric nitrogen in the drainage water from the deepest gauge than in that from the shallowest As a matter of fact this is not the case. During the twenty years from 1877–78 to 1896–97 the nitric nitrogen yielded annually by the shallowest and the deepest gauges has been as follows:

TABLE 33.—Rothamsted drain gauges.

	Pounds.
20-inch gauge	. 35.07
60-inch gauge	33. 87

And, as is pointed out in the Rothamsted "Memoranda" for the current year, the conditions of aeration are distinctly more favorable in the drain gauges than in the field.

On the whole, then, we may consider that under natural field conditions the vast stores of subsoil nitrogen within the reach even of the deeply rooting wheat plant are, for all practical or economical purposes, unavailable for appreciable contribution to the nitrogenous sustenance of the erop.

The conclusion is not new, but the subject appears to be one of sufficient magnitude to justify the space that I have been tempted to occupy in examining the latest contributions to the evidence that seems to bear upon it.

# NITRIC NITROGEN IN THE UNMANURED AND THE DUNGED PLATS AND THE RAPE-CAKE PLAT.

When we come to a detailed consideration of the results we are, as in the consideration of the total nitrogen contents, naturally led to compare first the persistently unmanured plats 3 and 4 with the two dunged plats, 2a and 2b. Here we much regret the absence of deeper samples. As it is, we must be content in the case of these, as in the case of four of the other plats, with the results for the first 27 inches. We may also here consider the rape-cake plat. It is convenient to tabulate the results separately.

TABLE 34.—Broadbalk wheat soils, plats 3, 4, 2a, 2b, and 19—NITROGEN as NITRATES ("nitric" nitrogen) in samples collected in October, 1893.

Depth.	Plat 3, un- manured 50 years.	Plat 4, un- manured since 1852.	Plat 2a, 14 tons farm- yard ma- nure, 9 years.	Plat 2b, 14 tons farm- yard ma- nure, 50 years.	Plat 19, rape-cake plat.
First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third 9 inches 1 to 27 inches	Pounds. 9.64 9.22 2.74 21.60	Pounds. 7.96 7.03 2.12 17.11	Pounds. 23.67 22.65 10.27 56.59	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds. \\ 10.53 \\ 45.36 \\ 12.25 \\ 68.14 \end{array}$	Pounds. 22.06 24.36 14.18 60.60

We see that even on the land wholly unmanured for fifty years, notwithstanding the recent removal of the fiftieth continuous wheat crop, the uppermost 27 inches contained 21.60 pounds of nitric nitrogen per acre, equivalent to  $1\frac{1}{4}$  hundredweight per acre of commercial nitrate of soda. Of this the greater part is in the upper 18 inches.

Unfortunately this autumnal store of nitrates is destined for the most part to be washed away before the young wheat plant is old enough to appropriate much of it, and it is mainly on the nitrates formed in the spring and early summer that the crop lives. Of course in a fairly dry winter much of the autumn nitrates may be retained, and when this is the case the crop is benefited by food that in a wet winter would be wasted. It is, however, remarkably interesting to find that on a soil absolutely unmanured and continuously cropped for fifty years there should still be found within 18 inches of the surface, from two to three months after harvest, as much nitrate as would be annually carried off in a year's crop.

It will be seen later that the quantity found in the surface soil is practically the same as at the same time of year in 1881, twelve years earlier, and the quantity found in the first 27 inches is not very different; and if we allow for the fact that the soil had in 1881 been very heavily rained on between harvest and the time of sampling the general similarity of the results is increased.

Plat 4, though unmanured since 1852, was in its earlier years manured with superphosphate and ammonium sulphate. Although so many years have elapsed, plat 4 has (see Table 1) on the average yielded distinctly larger crops than plat 3, its superiority in yield of grain having persisted longer than in that of straw. In 1893, which was a very bad harvest year owing to summer drought, plat 4 had yielded 2 bushels per acre more grain than plat 3, and it is noteworthy that we find in it some  $4\frac{1}{2}$  pounds less of nitric nitrogen in the first 27 inches than we find in plat 3.

One is naturally struck with the fact that, in the first 9 inches, plat 2b—the richer land—should show less than half the nitric nitrogen

shown in its less rich neighbor, plat 2a; but this may be due to mere accident of the distribution of the rainfall during the time of sampling. If we regard the first and second depths conjointly, we find that plat 2b contains nearly 56 pounds of nitrie nitrogen per acre as against 46 pounds in plat 2a. The nitric nitrogen in the first 18 inches of the continuously dunged plat is equal to more than 3 hundredweight per acre of nitrate of soda, while, if the third depth be included, the quantity of nitric nitrogen in the 27 inches is equal to nearly 4 hundredweight of nitrate of soda per acre. But how transient this surface richness is, and how readily and rapidly it escapes downward, is seen by the fact that, under the influence of recent rain, the actual surface soil—the first 9 inches—is already scarcely richer than that of the wholly unmanured plat 3. Only 10.53 pounds out of the 68 pounds contained in the first 27 inches remained at the time of sampling in the surface soil. The bulk of the recently formed nitrates had already sunk into the second 9 inches, and we may take it that a winter sampling would probably have revealed much less nitric nitrogen in the second depth.

The rape-cake plat is rich in surface nitrates, and in all three depths it closely resembled, in 1893, the dunged plats, being intermediate in richness between the continuously dunged plat and the plat dunged for nine years only,

## THE CHEMICALLY MANURED PLATS.

We will now examine the data obtained from the varions chemically manured plats. The first series that it is convenient to consider is the series of plats 5 to 8, all receiving a full dressing of superphosphate, potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts ("full minerals"), but with and without various dressings of ammonium salts applied under similar conditions in the spring. For comparison we will also again include plat 3.

Depth.	Plat 3, un- manured.	Plat 5, full minerals; no nitrogen since 1851.	Plat 6, full mineral ma- nures and ammonium salts con- taining 43 pounds of nitrogen per acre.	Plat 7, full mineral ma- nures and animonium salts con- taining 86 pounds of nitrogen per acre.	Plat 8, full mineral ma- nures and ammonium salts con- taining 129 pounds of nitrogen per acre.
First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third 9 inches Fourth 9 inches Sixth 9 inches Sixth 9 inches Seventh 9 inches Eighth 9 inches Ninth 9 inches Ninth 9 inches 1 to 27 inches 1 to 99 inches 1 to 90 inches	Pounds. 9.64 9.22 2.74 	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds,\\ 10,53\\ 6,36\\ 2,23\\ .95\\ 1,00\\ .71\\ 1,03\\ .92\\ .87\\ .92\\ .87\\ .92\\ .87\\ .92\\ .10\\ .23,73\\ .25,17\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 14.13\\ 12.74\\ 5.81\\ 2.98\\ 3.47\\ 3.72\\ 3.25\\ 1.89\\ 2.46\\ 2.16\\ 32.68\\ 47.99\\ 52.61\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds,\\ 14,96\\ 19,21\\ 8,54\\ 5,3^2\\ 4,64\\ 4,40\\ 4,51\\ 4,02\\ 4,20\\ 4,38\\ 42,71\\ 65,60\\ 74,27\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds. \\ 17, 40 \\ 29, 17 \\ 8, 71 \\ 8, 71 \\ 8, 51 \\ 7, 46 \\ 7, 99 \\ 7, 60 \\ 6, 13 \\ 5, 64 \\ 55, 28 \\ 95, 55 \\ 107, 32 \end{array}$

 TABLE 35.—Broadbalk wheat soils, plats 3, 5, 6, 7, and 8—NITROGEN as NITRATES

 ("nitric" nitrogen) in samples collected in October, 1893.

Plat 5 has already been discussed partially in the present section, and also under the subject of total nitrogen. This plat has had no ammonium salts for forty-two years prior to 1893. It has, however, yielded persistently higher crops than the unmanured plat, the minerals, no doubt, having enabled it to take greater advantage of the moderate quantity of nitrates produced from the soil. In the six years 1889–1894, it averaged  $1\frac{5}{8}$  bushels of grain and  $1\frac{5}{8}$  hundredweight of straw more than plat 3.

We have seen that, in virtue of this greater annual yield, there has been less loss of surface nitrogen than on plat 3, a distinctly larger percentage of total nitrogen being now found in the surface soil of plat 5 than in that of plat 3.

We find in 1893, in the surface soil of plat 5, slightly more nitric nitrogen than in that of plat 3, though in the first 27 inches the quantity is rather less than in plat 3, being intermediate between that in plats 3 and 4.

More interesting is the study of plats 6, 7, and 8 in relation to plat 5, and for all of these we have fortunately full sets of samples down to a depth of  $7\frac{1}{2}$  feet. The figures speak so plainly for themselves as they stand in Table 35 that it seems scarcely necessary to enlarge upon them. The surface soils are all richer than on plat 5. If, however, we take the first and second depths together, containing respectively in plats 5, 6, 7, and 8, 16.89 pounds, 26.87 pounds, 34.17 pounds, and 46.57 pounds of nitric nitrogen per acre; or the first 27 inches, containing respectively 19.12 pounds, 32.68 pounds, 42.71 pounds, and 55.28 pounds per acre; we at once see that there is a difference according remarkably with the sequence of the increasing annual supply of ammonium salts. We see, further, the same constant differences in nitric nitrogen in the lower depths, down to the tenth or lowest depth sampled. And if we take the whole  $7\frac{1}{2}$  feet comprised in the ten depths, we find per acre in plats 5, 6, 7, and 8, 25.17 pounds, 52.61 pounds, 74.27 pounds, and 107.32 pounds of nitric nitrogen.

If we deduct from the three latter plats the nitrogen of plat 5, we find in round numbers as follows, in the three plats receiving respectively 43 pounds, 86 pounds, and 129 pounds of nitrogen per acre per annum as ammonium salts.

	Plat 6.	Plat 7.	Plat 8.
Nitrogen in ammonium salts supplied per acre per annum	Pounds. 43	Pounds. 86	Pounds. 129
Surrentrogen per acre found in soils and subsoils to a depth of 90 inches, in excess of plat5, receiving no ammonium salts	261	49	82

TABLE 36.—Excess of nitric nitrogen in plats 6, 7, and 8, over that in plat 5.

The consistency of these differences is fairly well maintained in each of the successive sectional depths.
The difference between plats 6 and 7 is almost exactly proportional to the annual dressings of ammonium salts applied to the two plats, and also proportional to the increase of crops obtained under their respective influence. But in plat 8, where the still further increase in the annual dressing of ammonium salts, although it produces an increase in crop, does not produce a proportional increase, but is relatively more wasteful, the quantity of unutilized nitrates in the soil is relatively considerably greater. It is also to be noticed that there is a much greater decline below the depth of the pipe drainage in plats 6 and 7 than in the case of plat 8, where the application of ammonium salts is admittedly excessive. As the chalk occurs not very far below the tenth depth, drainage would go on freely below, and it is clear that there would be great loss by natural drainage during the winter months of much rain and in the absence of an actively feeding crop to consume the nitrates at the surface. It is of course this winter drainage that involves the great loss of soil and manurial nitrogen which necessarily occurs in the growth of wheat and similar cereal crops.

The autumn application of ammonium salts, though still experimentally maintained on plat 15, has long been abandoned in practical farming. Its wastefulness is shown by the relative crop records of this plat, as compared with plat 7, similarly manured but receiving its ammonium salts in the spring (see Table 1). Indeed, it is largely the experience gained at Rothamsted that led to the abandonment in modern farming practice of the autumn application of ammonium salts.

The nitric nitrogen found in October is less on the plat that receives its nitrogenous dressing in the antumn; but at the time of sampling the annual dressing of ammonium salts had not been applied, and much nitrification would occur subsequently to the application of the ammonium salts at the end of October if the rest of the autumn were mild, and consequently greater loss of nitrogen would occur during the winter rains than on the spring-dressed plat.

It is observed at Rothamsted, when ammonium salts are applied, say, at the end of October, that if the drainpipes happen to run within a week or two of the sowing, the first collection of the drainage water will show traces of ammonia; but that if there be only a day or two of continuous drainage, even so late in the year, the ammonia often wholly disappears, the whole of the nitrogen in the drainage being already converted into nitrates. Indeed, in the earlier years of the experiments, when the ammonium salts were throughout for the most part applied in autumn, the quantity of nitric nitrogen in the winter drainage of the different plats obviously bore a very direct relation to the quantities of ammonium salts applied.

The application of ammonium salts is, in fact, virtually tantamount to an application of nitrate, and it is only because ammonium salts are capable of such rapid conversion into nitrate that they give in practical farming, under favorable conditions of soil and weather, results closely approaching those obtained by the application of sodium nitrate itself.

# COMPARISON OF PLATS RECEIVING AMMONIUM SALTS AND SODIUM NITRATE, RESPECTIVELY.

It is of interest to compare the plats receiving their nitrogen as ammonium salts with those receiving a corresponding quantity of sodium nitrate. These are plats 6 and 9a, receiving 43 pounds of nitrogen annually per acre; and plats 7 and 16, receiving 86 pounds of nitrogen per acre per annum, full minerals being also supplied in all cases. We have also plat 9b receiving 43 pounds of nitrogen per acre per annum as sodium nitrate, but without any mineral manures.

 TABLE 37.—Broadbalk wheat soils, plats 6, 9a, 9b, 7, and 16—NITROGEN as

 NITRATES ("nitric" nitrogen) in samples collected in October, 1893.

Depth.	Plat 6, full minerals, with 43 pounds ni- trogen per acre as am- monium salts.	Plat <sup>9</sup> a, full minerals, with 43 pounds ni- trogen per acre as so- dium ni- trate.	Plat 9b, no minerals, 43 pounds nitrogen per acre as sodium nitrate.	Plat 7, full minerals, with 86 pounds ni- trogen per acre as ammonium salts.	Plat 16, full minerals, with 86 pounds ni- trogen per acre as sodium nitrate.
Nitric nitrogen, per acre, in 1893 samples:	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.
First 9 inches	$     \begin{array}{r}       14.13 \\       12.74     \end{array} $	$16.62 \\ 19.23$	$11.10 \\ 34.86$	$14.96 \\ 19.21$	13.59 42.58
Third 9 inches.	5.81	6.70	18.58	8.54	20.77 13.03
Fifth 9 inches	3.47			4.64	7.82
Seventh 9 inches	3.72 3.25			$4.40 \\ 4.51$	5. 45
Eighth 9 inches	1.89 32.68	42.55	61.54	$4.02 \\ 42.71$	6.28 76.94
1 to 72 inches	47.94			65.60	115.48
Annual produce per acre, six years, 1889-1894;					
Grain Straw	$1,598 \\ 2,436$	$1,807 \\ 3,362$	$1,126 \\ 1,932$	$2,113 \\ 3,766$	$2,070 \\ 4,270$
Total	4,034	5,169	3,058	5,879	6,340

Comparing plats 6 and 9a, we find that in the first 27 inches of the nitrated plat 9a there are about 10 pounds more of nitrie nitrogen per acre than in the ammonium-salts plat, both plats having received the same dressing of nitrogen, but in different forms. As this excess is found mainly in the two upper depths, it seems scarcely likely that it is wholly or even mainly due to the resting on the surface soil of the actual nitrate sown in the spring. The nitrated plat 9a is a great deal more fertile than the ammonium-salts plat, and it seems just possible that the greater richness of plat 9a in nitrie nitrogen in October may be related to the greater fertility persistently maintained on plat 9a by the use of nitrate and the consequently greater richness of the soil in crop residue, and therefore in organic nitrogen, and to the nitrification or oxidation of this residue. On the other hand, it may well be attributable to the creeping upward, under the influence of hot weather, of nitrates which may have been washed down earlier.

Up to 1884, plats 9a and 9b received twice the quantity of sodium nitrate that they had received for the nine years immediately prior to 1893, so that the greater accumulation of crop residue in plat 9a is no doubt partly attributable to more liberal treatment in the past.

Plat 9b gets the same dressing of sodium nitrate as plat 9a, but without any mineral manures, and gives naturally much poorer crops year by year. Consequently it is poor in organic crop residues. In the first 27 inches it contained, in 1893,  $61\frac{1}{2}$  pounds of nitrie nitrogen per acre, or 19 pounds more than its brother plat 9a. Unlike the case of 9a, most of the nitric nitrogen is found in the second and third depths. It seems that in plat 9a more of the applied nitrate has been used and less washed into the second and third depths. On plat 9b, where there is less utilization, we find much of the residue of the unused nitrate in the subsoil; but in the surface soil, at this late period of the year (October), there is less nitric nitrogen, possibly because there is less crop residue and less oxidation. Doubtless, if we had samples of the lower depths we should find much more nitrate that has been wasted for lack of mineral food to enable the erops to take it up.

As may be seen hereafter, the analyses of the soils of these two plats in 1881 showed very similar results, as was very clearly pointed out to you in Professor Warington's lectures dealing with the subject of nitrification.

When we turn to plats 7 and 16, similarly manured to plats 6 and 9a, but with twice the quantities of ammonium salts and of sodium nitrate, respectively, we find not a great deal of difference in the surface soil. In the subsoil, however, we find in the second 9 inches more than twice as much nitric nitrogen on the nitrated plat 16 as on the ammonia-manured plat7, and about 24 times as much in the third depth. Then we have a great decrease as we pass the level of the drainpipes; still the fourth depth contains about 2<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> times as much on plat 16 as on plat 7, and although the difference becomes then less, there is much more nitric nitrogen in each succeeding depth as far as we go. In the first 27 inches plat 16 contains about 34 pounds more nitric nitrogen per acre than plat 7, and in 72 inches about 50 pounds more, equivalent to about 3 hundredweight of commercial nitrate of soda; a good deal of which nitric nitrogen has sunk too low for there to be much hope of its future recovery, and is as virtually lost as though it had escaped by way of the drainpipes. It should be mentioned that the crop on plat 16 was very poor, having been injured by so heavy an application of manure in a dry season.

It is not remarkable, after an annual spring dressing of 550 pounds per acre of sodium nitrate, to find a large quantity of the necessarily unassimilated nitrate in the subsoils, but as somewhat more nitrogen is usually assimilated on the nitrated plat than on the ammonium salts plat the annual loss of nitrogen must be greater on plat 7 than on plat 16, yet we find less nitrates in the subsoil. It is true that under the unusual influences of the dry summer of 1893 the crop of plat 9a was exceptionally small, being less than that of plat 7. The difference in nitrogen assimilation, however, does not account for the discrepancy. It may be that the complete nitrification of the ammonium salts is not always as rapid as we know it to be sometimes, and that some of the ammonia supplied in the spring is still held in some form of temporary combination in the soil. The drainage waters show that ammonium salts are not removed, as such, in solution. Their nitrification might be thus protracted, and their passage downwards as nitrate be more distributed over the year than is the downward passage of the nitrogen applied as sodium nitrate.

The spring and summer of 1893 were excessively dry, and not favorable to the rapid nitrification of ammonium salts. If the examination of the soils was carried out in another season we might find relatively more nitrate in the subsoils of the ammonia-dressed plats. There is no evidence of permanent accumulation of ammonium salts, as such, in the soils; but there may be temporary accumulation. If the large unused excess is not wholly converted into nitrates we should seem to be driven to suppose that some of it is lost by decomposition into free nitrogen—of which decomposition, however, there is no evidence, except where there is a large excess of organic matter like dung.

## COMPARISON OF PLATS RECEIVING LIKE DRESSINGS OF AMMONIUM SALTS BUT WITH VARYING MINERAL TREATMENT.

We will now turn to the series of plats all receiving the same dressing per acre of ammonium salts, but differing as to mineral treatment. The nitric nitrogen results for these plats are shown in the following table:

		Receivir	ig anually ing 86	400 poun pounds ni	ds ammor trogen pe	ium salts or acre.	s contain
Depth.	Plat 3, unma- nured 50 years.	Plat 10a, with no mineral manure since 1844.	Plat 10b, with no mineral manure since 1850.	Plat 11, with su- perphos- phate.	Plat 12, with su- perphos- phate and sodium salts.	Plat 13, with su- perphos- phate and potas- sium salts.	Plat 14, with su- perphos- phate and mag- nesium salts.
First 9 mches. Second 9 inches. Fourth 9 inches Fourth 9 inches Sixth 9 inches Seventh 9 inches Eighth 9 inches Lighth 9 inches 28 to 72 inches 28 to 72 inches 1 to 22 inches	Pounds. 9.64 9.22 2.74 21.60	Pounds. 12.52 25.43 11.25 49.20	Pounds. 9.44 29.06 13.99 	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 11.67\\ 24.58\\ 14.88\\ 11.66\\ 8.60\\ 5.02\\ 4.48\\ 6.11\\ 51.13\\ 35.87\\ 87.00\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 14.16\\ 25.48\\ 12.14\\ 7.46\\ 5.85\\ 5.05\\ 5.36\\ 5.31\\ 51.78\\ 29.03\\ 80.81 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 13.92\\ 26.15\\ 9.44\\ 4.68\\ 3.52\\ 3.80\\ 3.54\\ 3.56\\ 49.51\\ 19.10\\ 68.61\end{array}$	Pounds. 13.38 30.99 11.78 6.85 6.10 5.30 5.62 6.80 56.15 30.76 86.91

TABLE 38.—Broadbalk wheat soils, plats 3, 10a, 10b, 11, 12, 13, and 14—NITROGEN as NITRATES ("nitric" nitrogen) in samples collected October, 1893. In 1893 there was an underaverage crop and an underaverage rainfall, and therefore less than average utilization of nitrates and probably later and less complete nitrification, and certainly less than average loss by drainage and downward percolation. The crop of the following year was a comparatively large one—far above average—and evidently got the benefit of much nitrogen that would after an ordinary season have been lost.

Most of the unused nitrates are seen to be in the second depth. In the surface depths the poorest plats—excluding, of course, plat 3, which is placed in the table for comparison only—are plats 10a, 10b, and 11. The last-named, which, with ammonium salts, receives only superphosphate without any alkaline salts, gives smaller crops than plats 12, 13, and 14, and therefore contains less crop residue. Plats 12, 13, and 14, though utilizing more nitrogen, have more nitrates near the surface, owing probably to more active nitrification. The most interesting results, however, in this table are those showing the nitric nitrogen contained in the third and subsequent lower depths of plats 11, 12, 13, and 14.

Unfortunately there are no samples of the fourth and lower depths for plats 10a and 10b, but we have samples of eight depths for plats 11, 12, 13, and 14. As we enter the third, and more especially as we descend into the fourth and lower depths of these plats, we are at once struck with the very much larger quantity of nitrates found on plat 11, the most poorly yielding plat of the series, viz, the plat which, though receiving the same nitrogen and phosphates as the others, receives no alkalies. We find, despite the fact that we are below the level of the drainpipes in the fourth depth, 11.66 pounds of nitric nitrogen per acre in plat 11, while the other plats average only about 6 pounds. In the fifth depth plat 11 again shows us 8.60 pounds against an average of about 5 pounds in the others; in the sixth depth, 5.02 pounds, as against an average of about 4.6 pounds in the others; in the seventh depth, 4.48 pounds, as against an average of 4.7 pounds in the others; and in the eighth depth, 6.11 pounds, as against an average of nearly 5 pounds in the others. Altogether below the level of the drainage (27 inches) we have in the five depths 35.87 pounds of nitric nitrogen in plat 11 against an average of 25.44 pounds in the other plats, a difference of 10.43 pounds. This very marked difference concords with the fact that plat 11, though receiving, like the others, abundant dressings of phosphates as well as ammonium salts, receives no potassium, sodium, or magnesium salts and consequently utilizes far less of the applied nitrogen.

In fact, in the ten years from 1882 to 1891 the nitrogen annually removed in the crops of plat 11 was, on the average, 11 pounds per acre per annum less than on plats 12, 13, and 14.

When we regard plats 12, 13, and 14 we see that in their lower depths the least quantity of nitrie nitrogen is in plat 13, which receives potassium salts and on which the erops, in virtue of the potash supplied, are able to assimilate more nitrogen and are consequently more luxuriant. This plat shows for the fourth to the eighth depths 19 pounds of nitric nitrogen per acre, while plats 12 and 14 show in the like depths 29 pounds and 30<sup>3</sup> pounds, respectively. These two latter plats received some potash dressings during the first ten years, prior to 1852, and have ever since shown greater fertility and greater nitrogen-assimilating power than plat 11. This is probably not wholly due to the survival of the effects of the early potash dressings. These two plats have since 1852 been respectively supplied with annual dressings of sodium and magnesium salts, the soil-solvent action of which has probably liberated natural soil potash. But in any case they have grown larger crops than plat 11, assimilating, therefore, more of their nitrogen supply—a fact which accords most interestingly with the smaller quantity of nitrates in their subsoils.

## HOW FAR DO THE NITRATES FOUND ACCOUNT FOR NITROGEN LOST?

In Table 26 we constructed a balance account for the nitrogen supplied to various plats, the nitrogen removed in the crops, found in the surface soil, and not accounted for-the unaccounted for nitrogen being described as mainly nitrogen lost in drainage and the small quantity possibly accumulated in the subsoil. We took as a standard plat 3 (unmanured). If we reconstruct the table, taking plat 5 (minerally manured but receiving no nitrogen) as the standard, we get slightly different but equally comparable figures which are more convenient for our present purpose. The table will then be nearly on the same lines as that of Sir Henry Gilbert, given in his lectures to you (p. 156), in which he estimated the annual additions, removals, accumulations, and losses of nitrogen for the plats over a period of thirty years-1852-1881. The table was based on the results chronicled and discussed in the paper on the rain and drainage waters at Rothamsted, referred to on page 49, and included an estimate of the nitric nitrogen contained in the pipe drainage from the various plats based upon a large number of analyses, but not purporting (owing to the incompleteness of the analyses) to be more than a probably fair estimate. The earlier results were, however, supplemented by the results obtained by the analysis of the 1881 soil samples. I have endeavored, in a corresponding table, to arrive at an estimate for the longer period of fifty years, lasting from the beginning of the experiments to 1893. The figures for the accumulations of total nitrogen are based on the analyses of the 1893 samples, and the crop estimates are based on actual analyses of the produce for forty years, and on an estimate made for the crop yields of each plat for the earlier years in which analyses of the grain and straw were not made. The average annual estimates are probably correct within about 1 pound per acre. - The estimates of loss by drainage, however, are adopted from Sir Henry Gilbert's former estimates.

	Nitroger	n per acre	per annum ir	excess of t	hat for plat 5.
	Added in ma- nure.	Remov- ed in crops.	Annually accumulat- ed in sur- face soil.	Estimated loss from drain pipes.	Unaccount- ed for (sub- soil drainage or accumu- lation and any other losses).
\$52-1881 (30 years): Plat 10 Plat 11 Plat 12 Plat 13 Plat 14 Plat 7 Avergen	Pounds. 86 86 86 86 86 86 86	Pounds. 12.4 17.7 22.2 23.4 24.1 25.9 20.9	Pounds. a 4.8 a 11.6 a 14.6 a 17.8 a 15.5 a 19.3 a 13.9	Pounds. 31.2 28.5 24.5 25.6 27.5 19.0	Pounds. 37.6 28.2 24.7 19.2 18.9 21.8 25.1
Average		20. 9	a 15. 9	÷0. 0	
43-1833 (50 years): 6 Plat 100 Plat 101 Plat 11 Plat 12 Plat 13 Plat 14 Plat 7 Average	5656555 56565555 565555	$8.0 \\ 11.0 \\ 15.0 \\ 17.0 \\ 21.0 \\ 20.0 \\ 25.0 \\ 16.7 \\ 16.7 \\ $	$\begin{array}{c} c3.0\\ c3.0\\ c6.0\\ c9.5\\ c8.0\\ c12.5\\ c11.0\\ \hline c7.6\end{array}$	31 0 31.0 28.5 24.5 25.5 27.5 19.0 26.7	$ \begin{array}{r}     44.0 \\     41.0 \\     36.5 \\     35.0 \\     31.5 \\     26.0 \\     31.0 \\     35.0 \\   \end{array} $

**CABLE 39.**—Broadbalk wheat soils, plats 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, and 7—Supply, estimated removal, accumulation, and loss of nitrogen by drainage, etc.

> a Soil accumulation based on analyses of 1881 samples. b See note "a," Table 26, p. 49. c Soil accumulation based on analyses of 1893 samples.

The estimated annual quantity of nitrogen in excess of plat 5, ielded in crops over the fifty years 1843-1893, as compared with the hirty years 1852–1883, is lower throughout, chiefly owing to the higher verage yield of nitrogen in plat 5-namely, 24 pounds per acre per nnum instead of 20.3 pounds-arrived at by including the earlier ears of the experiments, when plat 5 received dressings of ammoium salts and gave far higher crops than since 1852. Then the nnual soil accumulation—one-fiftieth of the difference found in 1893 n the surface soil in excess of plat 5—is less than was shown over the hirty-year period, there being necessary limits to accumulation, and he differences becoming smaller when they are reduced to average nnual differences over so many years. When the estimated annual nantity unaccounted for is averaged, the fifty-year period shows, as e should expect, a greater annual loss. The chief difference is in lat 11, which has accumulated nothing on the average since 1881, while plat 5, with which it is compared, has only lost about 2 pounds er acre per annum. Indeed all the surface soils but that of plat 14 re, according to the 1893 analyses, somewhat lower in total nitrogen han in 1881, and the annual loss of nitrogen in drainage, in proporion to the nitrogen supplied, would appear to be in later years above he average estimates for the fifty years. Now, in 1881 no subsoil amples were taken below the third depth, and the conclusion that he loss unaccounted for in the pipe-drainage waters was mainly in ubsoil drainage, though a fair deduction, was without means of roof. It is therefore interesting to see how far the examination of

the deeper subsoils sampled in 1893 helps to corroborate the conclusion. This is seen in the following table:

 TABLE 40.—Broadbalk wheat soils, plats 10a, 10b, 11, 12, 13, 14, and 7—Estimated loss of nitrogen compared with the nitrates actually found.

	Estimated annual 1 trogen p excess of accounte pipe dra	average loss of ni- er acre in plat 5 not ed for in inage.	Nitrogen a in excess of plat 5	as nitrates f s of that in o	found per a correspondi	cre in 1893 ng depths
	1881 (30 years).	1893 (50 years).	First, sec- ond, and third depths (1 to 27 inches).	Second and third depths (9 to 27 inches).	Fourth to eighth depths (27 to 72 inches).	First to eighth depths (1 to 72 inches).
Plat 10a Plat 10b	$\left.\begin{array}{c} Pounds, \\ 37.6 \\ 28.2 \end{array}\right.$		Pounds. 30.1 33.4 32.0	Pounds. 28.1 34.5 30.9	Pounds.	Pounds.
Plat 12	24.7	35.0	32.7	29.0	24.4	57.1
Plat 13	19.2	31.5	30.4	27.0	14.5	44.9
Plat 7	21.8	31.0	23.6	19.2	38.3	41.9
Average	25.1	35.0	31.3	29.0	26.9	52.1

Nitrates are shown to exist at a considerably greater depth than 72 inches. For instance, plat 7, in its ninth and tenth depths contains 8.7 pounds per acre more of nitric nitrogen. The other plats were not sampled more deeply. How long a given quantity of nitric nitrogen takes to travel down below this depth we can not say and therefore we do not know how much of the subsoil nitrates was formed within a year. But at all events, viewing the matter broadly, we seem to find existing at one time in the soil and subsoil sufficient nitrates to fairly justify the conclusion that the annual loss of ammonia is well accounted for. However, as has been already said, although ammonium salts nitrify rapidly under favorable circumstances, it is nevertheless possible, and indeed probable, that some of the ammonia of the ammonium salts applied in the very dry season of 1893 had not become nitrified at the time at which these samples were taken.

#### CHLORIN.

## GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FULL STATEMENT OF ANALYTICAL RESULTS.

Before proceeding to further discuss the nitrogen question, we may pause a while here to consider the results of the determinations of chlorids in the various soils and subsoils, as these—being, like nitrates, soluble and migratory constituents—throw some light upon the movements of water in the soil, and are indirectly interesting in connection with the question of soil nitrates and their movements.

78

One point of interest in determining the amount of chlorin was as ome gauge of the migrations of soil constituents in the soil and suboil. The subject is also of interest inasmuch as chlorin, like sulhuric acid and nitric acid, is responsible for the removal of lime from he soil in the form of drainage. The following table shows the chlorin xisting as chlorids found in the 1893 samples of each plat to each epth sampled. The results are stated as parts per million of fine try soil and as pounds per acre.

1)
80
ĥ.
$d\eta$
20
fin
of
11
10
ill
ш
er
de
rts
oa
3
N
RI
LO
H
9
00
89
, т
er
qo
ot
0
in
$\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}$
$ct_{\ell}$
lle
CO
S
$pl_{\ell}$
-u
sa
s,
lic
S(
at
lic
20
Uk
ba
ad
0.1
B
£1.
E
BL
1
-

Plat.	Annual manuring.	Nitrogen in ma- nureper acreper annum.	First depth.	Second depth.	Third depth.	Fourth depth.	Fifth depth.	Sixth depth.	Seventh depth.	Eighth depth.	Ninth depth.	Tenth depth.
A Costa	Farmyard manure since 1884. Farmyard manure 50 years. Unmanured	Pounds. 200 200 0	Parts. 9.77 14.74 3.90 3.28	Parts. 9.80 13.49 6.33 6.83	Parts. 8.01 5.57 5.23 5.23	Parts.	Parts.	Parts.	Parts.	Parts.	Parts.	Parts.
10-01-00	Full minerals ammonium safts	0 43 129 129	$\begin{array}{c} 6.36 \\ 5.75 \\ 5.54 \\ 4.91 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 7.69\\ 10.11\\ 10.05\\ 13.10\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.96\\ 6.20\\ 7.75\\ 9.28\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.92 \\ 6.90 \\ 8.53 \\ 12.42 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.56\\ 7.20\\ 10.35\\ 13.94\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.19\\ 7.43\\ 8.68\\ 12.73\end{array}$	$     \begin{array}{c}       5.66 \\       7.12 \\       8.82 \\       8.82 \\       11.25 \\       12     \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 6.30 \\ 6.25 \\ 8.47 \\ 11.55 \end{array}$	$^{4.76}_{6.20}$	4.96 6.32 8.32 10.91
9a 9b 10a 10b	Full minerals and sodium nitrate	86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 8	$\begin{array}{c} 0.72\\ 2.47\\ 6.69\\ 1.44\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 8.37\\ 7.20\\ 11.98\\ 111.08\end{array}$	5, 88 7, 88 9, 41							
11351	Phosphates and ammonium salts Phosphates, sodium, and ammonium salts Phosphates, potassium, and ammonium salts Phosphates, nagresium, and ammonium salts	86 88 88 88 86 86	3. 49 5. 23 3. 82 3. 82	9.88 10.95 16.60 13.04	$ \begin{array}{c} 8.31\\ 8.89\\ 8.30\\ 10.43 \end{array} $	$10.44 \\ 10.31 \\ 10.97 \\ 8.98 \\ 8.98 \\$	$11.21 \\ 11.71 \\ 9.70 \\ 10.56$	$\begin{array}{c} 10.06\\ 111.03\\ 9.75\\ 9.75\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 11.23\\ 9.98\\ 10.75\\ 10.34\end{array}$	$14.04 \\ 111.28 \\ 9.87 \\ 10.62$		
15 16	Full minerals and ammonium salts (autumn) Full minerals and sodium nitrate since 1884	86 86	2. 88 2. 57 88	$\frac{11.74}{7.18}$	13.34 7.12	$11.84 \\ 4.43$	10.83 5.25	$\frac{11.23}{4.49}$	$\begin{array}{c} 9.81 \\ 6.10 \end{array}$	11.36 5.15		
1.	[Full minerals and ammonium salts transposed in alternate years	} a86	$\left\{\begin{array}{c} 2.46\\ 4.00\end{array}\right.$	$7.75 \\ 13.32$	7.76	$8.81 \\ 6.11$	9.40 7.35		$\begin{array}{c} 7.66 \\ 5.63 \end{array}$	$   \begin{array}{c}     6.31 \\     5.48   \end{array} $		
19	Rape cake	93	4.52	7.46	12.45						* * * * *	
	a Plat 18 received the 8	a spunod 90	itrogen iı	n the form	of amme	nium salt	s for the	crop of 18	93.			

.

# 80 INVESTIGATIONS ON ROTHAMSTED SOILS.

		VY is successive													. 6	
Plat.	Annal manuring.	in ma- in ma- nnreper acre per annun.	First 9 inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.	Fourth 9 inches.	Fifth 9 inches	Sixth 9 inches.	Sev- enth 9 inches.	Eighth 9 inches.	Ninth 9 inches.	Tenth 9 inches.	First to to third 9 inches.	Pirst to eighth 9 inches.	Nmth and tenth 9 mches.	First to tenth 9 inches.
4 330 A	Farmyard manure since 1884. Parmyard manure 50 years. Unmanured Unmanured since 1852.	Lbs. 200 200 0	Lbs. 24.52 34.30 34.30 10.11 8.30	Lbs. 20:18 36:04 16:91 18:25	Lbs. 22, 36 15, 55 14, 60	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs. 73.06 85.90 38.33 41.35	Lbs.	1.bs.	Lbs.
10 10 2- 30	Full minerals and ammonium saits Full minerals and ammonium saits Full minerals and ammonium saits	° 728	16,49 14,91 14,36 12,73	3528 8558	13.85 17.31 21.63 25.91	13.69 19.21 23.71 34.57	13.07 20.63 39.65 30.65	11.25 25.12 26.11 26.11 26.11	18.15 20.31 25.66 25.60	18.07 17.98 33.18 33.18	11.30 18.07 26.07 36.34	14.89 15.07 32.73 32.73	80.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82 10.82	123, 75 158, 39 190, 31 249, 48	29.19 37.59 51.04 69.09	152,94 195,98 241,35 318,57
91 91 10a 10b	Full minerals and sodium nitrate Sodium nitrate only Anmonium salts (no minerals since 1841)	99 99 99 99	1.87 6.40 17.34	98-30 56-61	16.41 22.00 24.31								40.64 47.63 73.65			
	IS50)	86	3.73	29.60	291.27	·							59.60			
12	Phosphates and ammonian salts Phosphates, sodium, and ammonium salts	51 52 52	9.05	26.39	23.20	39.06 37.70	32.12 13.56	28.54 31,29	32°.03	40.27			58.64	220.66 219.64		
13	Phosphates, potassium, and anmo- nium saits. magnesium, and anmo- phosphates. magnesium, and anmo- nium saits.	245 245	13.61 9.90	44.34	23.17	30, 53	27, 80 30, 26	28, (30) 27, 66	30.67 29.50	28.31 30.46			81.12 73.85	227.03 216.73		
15 16	Full minerals and ammonium salts (autium) Fullminerals and sodium nitrate since BBH	865 865	7.47	31.36	37.24	32. 96 12. 33	31.63 15.04	31,845	27.98	32.58			76.07 45.72	232, 48 118, 00		
17	(Full minerals and ammonium salts transposed in alternate years	{ α 86	$\left\{\begin{array}{c} 6.38 \\ 10.37 \end{array}\right\}$	20.70 35.58	21.66 25.49	24 52 17.01	26.94 21 06	23.01 17.31	21.85 16.06	18.10		1	48.74	163, 16 158, 60		
19	Rape cake	86	11.66	19.93	34.75	:					1000		66.34			
	a Plat 18 re	eceived th	o 86 pou	nds niti	ogen in	the for	m of um	moniun	a salts fe	or the er	al lo do:	403.				

9385-No. 106-02-6

## THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

TABLE 42, -- Broaddalk uneat solts, samples collected in October, 1830-- UNLOKIA (pounds per acre in sous and snowcos).

-----

81

You may be reminded that a large quantity of chlorin is supplied to many of these soils in the form of ammonium chlorid, for, in every case in which ammonium salts are used they consist half of ammonium sulphate and half of ammonium chlorid. Of the chemically manured plats, plat 5 alone receives, intentionally, no chlorin, but a small quantity is introduced as impurities in the other commercial saline matters used as mineral dressings. Thus we notice that there is more chlorin in the upper depths of plat 5 than in the corresponding depths of plat 3 or plat 4, which receive nothing but the chlorin which annually finds its way into the land in rain. In the dunged plats, down to the third depth, we find on the average about twice as much chlorin as in the unmanured plats.

The plats manured with ammonium salts are, as we should expect, richer in chlorin than the plats not so manured, though the quantity found in the surface soils is, as a rule, smaller than we might expect, owing, no doubt, to washing down from the surface soils into the lower depths during the rains between harvest and the time of collecting the soil samples.

The quantity of chlorin contained in the lower depths of the plats, the sampling of which has been carried down deeply, especially of plat 5—which receives no chlorids except as impurities in its mineral manures—is far higher than would have been expected. The total quantity of chlorin contained, from the surface to the tenth depth (90 inches), is nearly 153 pounds per acre, or 15.29 pounds per acre, on the average, for each depth of 9 inches. On the whole, too, this quantity is fairly uniformly distributed.

Now, the average quantity of chlorin which falls annually in the rainfall at Rothamsted, as calculated on observations for twenty-two harvest years, 1877-78 to 1898-99, was 14.75 pounds. Observations made on the waters running through the soil drain gauges during the same time have shown that the chlorin in the drainage from the gauge containing 20 inches of soil has averaged 14.20 pounds per annum; that in the water from the gauge containing 40 inches of soil, 15.28 pounds; and that in the water from the gauge containing 60 inches of soil, 13.90 pounds, the average of the three being 14.46 pounds per annum-that is to say, the average annual quantity of chlorin contained in the water flowing from the soil drain gauges is almost exactly equal to the average annual quantity coming down in rain. Yet we see that the soil of plat 5 in the Broadbalk wheat field retains, on the average, within each depth of 9 inches down as far as 90 inches, a quantity of chlorin equivalent to that which falls upon its surface each year in the form of rain. In other words, down to a depth of 90 inches the soil, though continually subjected to the washing influence of the rain, contains a quantity of chlorids equivalent to that which falls upon it during ten years, neglecting the very few pounds annually supplied to it as impurities in the manures.

When we examine the figures for the plats actually receiving chlorids, very interesting differences are found. Where 43 pounds of nitrogen per acre is annually supplied as ammonium salts (half as chlorid), as on plat 6, 56 pounds of chlorin will be included in the dressing. On the various plats receiving 86 pounds of nitrogen per acre as ammonium salts, the annual quantity of chlorin included is 112 pounds, and where 129 pounds of nitrogen per acre is supplied, as on plat 8, 168 pounds of chlorin are included in the dressing.

If we compare the figures relating to plats 5, 6, 7, and 8, we see hat, though there is practically little difference in the first 9 inches, here is, if we take the second and third depths, more chlorin in the soil the more there has been applied in manure, though the difference s not precisely proportional; and in the lower (fourth to tenth) depths here is, in every case but one, more chlorin found in the soil of plat 5 than in that of plat 5, more in that of plat 7 than in that of plat 6, and more in that of plat 8 than in that of plat 7. Taking into account the total depth of 90 inches, the chlorin found in plat 5 amounts to 152.94 pounds per acre; that in plat 6 to 195.98 pounds; that in plat 7 to 241.35 pounds; and that in plat 8 to 318.57 pounds. Plats 6, 7, and 3, therefore contain in their ten depths, in round numbers, respectively, 43 pounds, 88 pounds, and 165 pounds in excess of what we find in plat 5, numbers which bear on the whole a striking resemblance to the juantities of chlorin contained in the ammonium salts supplied to each plat—namely, 56 pounds, 112 pounds, and 168 pounds, respectively. We therefore find, retained in the total ten depths of 9 inches each, the chlorin of ten years' rainfall, and in addition approximately that of one year's application of ammonium salts. The chalk is not far below these ten depths, and there will doubtless be a large annual loss by drainage carrying off bases from the soil combined, among other forms, as chlorids. It is certainly very remarkable to find that a constituent whose salts are so soluble as those of chlorin should be retained to so great an extent in the soil, or that the amount retained should bear such obvious relation to the annual sources of supply. It would seem that the clay enters into some sort of combination with the chlorids from which they are only dislodged by a very free application of water.

The difficulty of removing chlorids from soil by percolation, except when a relatively very large quantity of water was used, was demonstrated in some experiments described in the paper on the rain and drainage waters at Rothamsted, referred to on p. 49.

Referring to the results recorded for plats 11, 12, 13, and 14, where the same quantity of ammonium salts is applied annually with different mineral manures, it is seen that the total retention of chlorin, lown to 8 times 9 inches, varies but very little, though considerable variations are found in the first 3 depths.

Comparing plats 15 and 16, the former of which receives ammonium

salts every year containing 112 pounds of chlorin per acre, the latter having received for ten years the same quantity of nitrogen as plat 15, but in the form of sodium nitrate, we find the quantities of chlorin contained in the eight depths examined to be, respectively, in round numbers, 232 pounds and 118 pounds per acre; the difference of 114 pounds being almost exactly the quantity of chlorin contained in a year's application of ammonium salts. On the sodium nitrate plat the quantity of chlorin is almost the same as on plat 5, without ammonium salts.

It will be noticed throughout that below the first two or three depths there is comparative uniformity in the quantity of chlorin found from depth to depth in each plat, and the differences are probably due to more or less of absorbent clayey matter, with corresponding variations to the quantity of sand or gravel which, when in excess would tend to aid, and when in deficiency to retard, percolation.

#### CHLORIN IN CROPS.

It is interesting here to see the quantities of chlorin contained in the crops produced on the various plats. The following table (Table 43) shows this for some of the plats over a period of forty seasons, namely, from 1852 to 1891. The chlorin, it should be observed, is mainly found in the straw as part of the miscellaneous unassimilated matters of the stems and leaf, the quantity in the grain itself being comparatively triffing.

pro	duce	(grair	ı and s	traw).	 1,01		
	urd	ed.	als	no-	 um	am- am- nd	es. nd lts.

TABLE 43.—Broadbalk wheat plats—CHLORIN per acre removed per annum in total

	Plat 2b, farmyard manure.	Plat 3, unmanured.	Plat 5, minerals only.	Plat 7, full minerals and ammonium salts.	Plat 10a, ammo- nium salts only.	Plat 10b, ammo- nium salts only.	Plat 11, phosphates and ammonium salts.	Plat 12, phosphates, sodium, and am- monium salts.	Plat 13, phosphates, potassium, and ammonium salts.	Plat 14, phosphates. ragnesium, and ammonium salts.
Chlorin in grain and straw per acre: Average of 10 years- 1852-1861 1802-1871 1872-1871 1872-1881 1882-1891	<i>Lbs.</i> 6.78 7.26 3.50 7.75	Lbs. 1.71 1.58 .82 1.15	Lbs. 2,59 2,12 1,17 1,46	Lbs. 8.52 9.33 7.03 12.25	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs. \\ 3.32 \\ 2.79 \\ 1.24 \\ 2.26 \end{array}$	<i>Lbs.</i> 4.10 3.70 1.38 2.64	Lbs. 3, 59 4, 65 1, 83 1, 87	Lbs. 6.05 5.74 3.04 4.19	<i>Lbs.</i> 8.27 9.81 6.58 9.69	Lbs. 7.54 6.00 3.19 4.06
Average. Total produce per acre (grain and straw):	6.32	1.32	1.84	9.28	2.40	2.96	2.99	4.76	8.59	5.20
42 years' average Chlorin per 1,000 pounds of produce (grain and straw), average	5,755 1.09	1,934 0.68	2,242 0.82	5,629 1.65	3, 104 0. 77	3, 501 0. 85	3, 988 0. 75	4,973 0.96	5,365 1.60	5, 112 1. 01

It is evident from the results given in this table that a high proportion of chlorin in the crops is not merely related to an abundant supply of chlorin in manure. For instance, the produce of plat 5, which receives no chlorids, contains, in relation to its weight, no less chlorin

84

than that of plats 10 and 11, receiving ammonium chlorid (and sulphate) with and without phosphates. The quantity of chlorin contained in the produce of plat 12, to which sodium sulphate is applied in addition to the ammonium chlorid, ammonium sulphate, and superphosphate, is, in relation to its weight, a little-but not much-higher, and still a little higher in the case of the dunged plat. But all these plats, with the exception of 7 and 13, show a ratio of chlorin to produce comprised within a range of from 0.68 (unmanured plat) to 1.09 (dunged plat) per 1,000 pounds of grain and straw. But on plats 7 and 13, the plats which, in addition to ammonium salts and superphosphate, receive potassium sulphate, the ratios of chlorin to produce are 1.65 and 1.60, respectively, per 1,000 pounds of produce. These two plats are the healthiest, most flourishing, and most abundantly vielding of all the chemically manured plats, as has been already more than once pointed out; and their prosperous condition is without doubt the direct result of the potash supplied to them. But the dunged plat is also a prosperous plat, and yields heavier crops than these; yet the chlorin contained in a given weight of its produce is much less than in the case of plats 7 and 13. The presence of the increased quantity of chlorin in the crops, therefore, can not be regarded as merely a necessary index of well-being or of vigorous growth.

The high ratio of chlorin to produce on plats 7 and 13 can not be attributed to accident. Not only are the plats far apart on the field, but their altogether exceptional chlorin contents are deduced from analyses of the ashes ranging over forty years, and the high chlorin results in the crops of both plats are persistently shown in each ten years' average.

Chlorin is applied to the soil in the form of ammonium chlorid; but this form we know, of course, it can not retain, for its ammonia is converted into nitrates, and the chlorin must combine with other bases, the most obvious being calcium. It seems possible that the calcium chlorid first formed may to some extent decompose the potassium sulphate present on these plats, forming potassium chlorid, and that potassium chlorid may be more freely taken up by the plants than sodium chlorid. It is true that plat 13 was found, in the 1893' soil sample, to contain in its second depth a much larger quantity of chlorin than its neighbors—plats 11, 12, and 14; but this was not noticed to be the case with plat 7.

We have records of the potash contained in the crops over the same period, and from these it appears that increase in the potash contained in the crops per acre is in every case accompanied by an increase in the chlorin contained in the crops; and if, instead of regarding the quantities per acre, we regard the quantities contained per 1,000 pounds of produce, and take the plats that are strictly comparable (e. g., plats 11, 12, 13, 14, and 7), including also plat 2, we find that increase of potash for a given weight of crop is accompanied by increase of chlorin. This is seen in the following table:

TABLE 44.—Broadbalk wheat soils—Potash and chlorin in crops on various plats.

	Plat 3, unmanured.	Plat 5, minerals only.	Plat 10a, ammonium salts only.	Plat 10b, ammonium salts only.	Plat 11, phosphates and ammonium salts.	Plat 12, phosphates, sodium, and am- monium salts.	Plat 14, phosphates, magnesium, and ammonium salts.	Plat 2, farmyard manure.	Plat 13, phosphates, potassium, and ammonium salts.	Plat 7, full minerals and ammonium salts.
	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.
Potash per acre in produce, annually, over 40 years	14.29	19.91	20.37	23.07	23.35	35.01	36.80	50	51.57	53.06
Chlorin per acre in prod- uce, annually, over 40 years Potash contained in 1,000	1.32	1.84	2.40	2.96	2.99	4.76	5.20	6.30	8.59	9.28
pounds of average prod- uce (grain and straw) annually Chlorin contained in 1,000					5.85	7.04	7.,20	8, 97	9.32	9.40
pounds of average prod- uce (grain and straw) annually					. 75	. 96	1.01	1.09	1.60	1.65

### ACTION OF AMMONIUM SALTS ON THE LIME OF THE SOIL.

A paper "On the composition of waters of land drainage," by the late Dr. Augustus Voelcker, F. R. S.,<sup>1</sup> gives the detailed results of the examination of a large number of samples of drainage water collected from the Broadbalk field and supplied to him for the purpose by Messrs. Lawes and Gilbert in the years 1866, 1867, 1868, and 1869. These results are the only ones in existence giving complete analyses of the mineral constituents of these drainage waters; and the results of Dr. Voelcker's analyses are summarized and expressed as parts per million in the Rothamsted paper "On the amount and composition of the rain and drainage waters collected at Rothamsted," already several times referred to. (See p. 49.) The results of the mean analyses are given as follows:

<sup>1</sup>Journal of the Royal Agricultural Society of England, 2. ser., 10 (1874), pp. 132-165.

**TABLE 45.**—Broadbalk wheat plats—Composition of drainage waters, in parts per million; samples collected in 1866, 1867, 1868, and 1869 (Dr. Augustus Voelcker's analyses).

	Total solid mat- ter.	Lime.	Mag- nesia.	Pot- ash.	Soda.	Nitrog Ammo- nia.	en as Nitric acid.	Chlo- rin.	Sul- phuric acid.	Phos- phoric acid.
Plat 2 Plat 3 and 4 Plat 5 Plat 6 Plat 7 Plat 8 Plat 9 Plat 10 Plat 10 Plat 11 Plat 12 Plat 14 Plat 16 Plat 16 a	$\begin{array}{c} 476.1\\ 246.4\\ 326.0\\ 407.6\\ 492.4\\ 548.4\\ 425.9\\ 496.9\\ 425.9\\ 534.9\\ 534.8\\ 598.6\\ 585.3\\ 286.7\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 147 & 4\\ 98.1 \\ 124.3 \\ 143.9 \\ 181 & 4\\ 197 & 3\\ 118.1 \\ 154 & 1\\ 165.6 \\ 191 & 6\\ 201 & 4\\ 2226.7 \\ 201 & 1\\ 117 & 1\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.9\\ 5.14\\ 5.14\\ 7.93\\ 8.99\\ 5.7\\ 7.6\\ 6.33\\ 9.9\\ 11.9\\ 15.3\end{array}$	$5.4 \\ 1.7 \\ 4.4 \\ 2.9 \\ 4.1 \\ 1.0 \\ 2.3 \\ 1.0 \\ 5.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 1.0 \\ 5.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 1.0 \\ 5.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 5.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 $	$\begin{array}{c} 13.7\\6.0\\11.7\\10.7\\10.9\\10.6\\56.1\\7.1\\6.6\\24.6\\6.1\\5.8\\14.3\\5.1\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.16\\ .12\\ .13\\ .20\\ .07\\ .27\\ .24\\ .08\\ .17\\ .30\\ .16\\ .09\\ .11\\ .09\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 16.1\\ 3.9\\ 5.1\\ 8.5\\ 14.0\\ 16.4\\ 13.9\\ 15.1\\ 17.4\\ 19.2\\ 24.2\\ 7.0\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 20.77\\ 10.77\\ 11.1\\ 20.77\\ 26.1\\ 39.4\\ 122.0\\ 31.6\\ 30.9\\ 36.8\\ 39.4\\ 24.6\\ 24.6\\ 11.4\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.6.1\\ 24.7\\ 66.3\\ 73.3\\ 90.1\\ 89.7\\ 41.0\\ 44.4\\ 54.3\\ 96.7\\ 89.7\\ 123.9\\ 21.9\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0, 63\\ .91\\ 1, 54\\ .91\\ .17\\ 1, 44\\ 1, 66\\ 1, 26\\ 1, 09\\ 1, 01\\ 1, 54\\ .91\\ \end{array}$

[Results of mean analyses.]

a Then unmanured.

A careful study of these results clearly indicates that increase in nitrie acid, increase in sulphuric acid, and increase in chlorin are accompanied by a very marked increase in lime. In most cases the increase in soda or magnesia is comparatively small, while there is, on the whole, less of potash than of any other base, and very little fluctuation in its quantity. The ammonium sulphate and ammonium chlorid, as you have already been reminded, are potentially, as regards the bases of the soil, to be looked upon as though they consisted of hydrochloric, sulphuric, and nitric acid, since their nitrification can be carried out only in the presence of a supply of alkaline bases, which combine with the sulphuric acid and chlorin originally present, and are also contained, in combination with nitric acid, in the nitrates formed from the ammonia. The nitrates are of course to some extent 'aken up by the growing crops; but the nitric nitrogen that passes away in the drainage, like the sulphuric acid and the chlorin, must take away with it an equivalent quantity of base, the principal base present in the drainage waters being lime.

The drainage waters from the plats manured with ammonium salts contain, on the average, about 185 parts of lime per million.<sup>1</sup> In round - numbers, this would equal per acre for 10 inches percolation of drainage water about 400 pounds of lime per annum.

On the plats unmanured, or manured with minerals only (plats 3, 4, 5, and 16), the average is 339 parts of lime per million, equal, on the same basis of calculation, to only about, in round numbers, 250 pounds per acre per annum in 10 inches of drainage percolation.

It is interesting to compare with the ammonia plats plat 9, which at that time received every year 550 pounds of sodium nitrate per acre. The drainage water from this plat contained only 118 parts per million of lime equal, in 10 inches percolation, to 265 pounds per acre per annum, or only about the same quantity as was found in the drainage of the plats receiving no nitrogenous manure.

There was found in the drainage water from the sodium-nitrate plat a much larger quantity of soda than in the drainage from the other plats, the excess being more than sufficient to combine with the nitric acid present. It is often, and apparently without justification, stated that nitrate of soda robs the soil of lime, on the ground that the unused excess which passes away in the drainage water passes away as calcium nitrate. But, on the Rothamsted soils at all events, which are naturally abundantly supplied with lime, such does not appear to be the case. It is, on the contrary, the ammonium salts which behave nefariously as regards the lime of the soil, and therefore it appears inadvisable in practical agriculture to use ammonium salts in place of nitrate of soda, except on soils which contain a fair quantity of lime. If ammonium salts are used persistently on soils poor in lime, care must be taken to restore lime from time to time• to guard against this form of loss.

The impoverishment of the surface soil in lime under the continued application of large quantities of ammonium salts appears to be indicated by the following analyses which, at the suggestion of Sir John Lawes, I recently made of some of the 1893 samples of the Broadbalk soils in my possession:

TABLE 46.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893—Lime in soils and subsoils.

Depth.	Plat 3, ously nured.	continu- unma-	Plat 5, f eral n no am salts.	ull min- nanures; monium	Plat7, fu manur 400 po moniu per aci num.	llmineral es, with unds am- m salts reperan-
	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.
First (1 to 9 inches) Second (10 to 18 inches) Third (19 to 27 inches)	$2.464 \\ .481 \\ .638$	$63,881 \\ 12,849 \\ 17,820$	2.766 .683 .582	$71,711 \\ 18,245 \\ 16,246$	2.060 .739 .694	53, 407 19, 741 19, 373

Both plat 5 and plat 7 receive a considerable yearly supply of sulphate of lime in the form of superphosphate. Plat 5, as we should expect, is much richer in lime in the first and second depths than the unmanured plat; but plat 7, which receives annually ammonium salts as well as superphosphate, is in the surface soil far poorer.

The difference in lime between the surface soils of plats 5 and 7 is no less than 18,304 pounds per acre. The lime supplied to both plats in manure has been the same in quantity; and if the soils originally contained like proportions of lime, the loss of lime to the surface soil owing to the ammonium salts has been about 360 pounds per acre per annum. The foregoing digression followed on the consideration of the chlorin results, which, as dealing with water-soluble constituents, appeared related to the water-soluble nitrates.

## GENERAL COMPARISON OF THE QUANTITY OF TOTAL NITROGEN PER ACRE IN THE ROTHAMSTED SOILS AND SUBSOILS WITH THE QUANTITY ANNUALLY AVAILABLE OR UTILIZED WHEN NONE IS SUPPLIED BY MANURE.

Plat 5 on the Broadbalk wheat field, continuously manured with minerals, but receiving no manurial nitrogen, and at present in a state of starvation for lack of a sufficient supply of nitrogen in an assimilable form, nevertheless contains, in round numbers, in the first 27 inches 6,401 pounds (or nearly 3 tons) of nitrogen per acre. We remarked that, notwithstanding this large quantity of nitrogen, experience teaches that a small top-dressing of sodium nitrate or of ammonium safts would in a single season convert the poor yield of this plat from 143 bushels of wheat, with 104 hundredweight of stunted straw per acre, into a rich crop of probably 35 bushels of wheat with a luxuriant growth of straw. We observed, then, that nature was but niggardly in her annual doles from the great store of total nitrogen naturally contained in her surface soils, and we asked, "What does she spare us, and how?" At that point we turned aside to examine the question of the nitric nitrogen contents of the field as revealed by the latest series of analyses, and we may now return to the former question.

By the consideration of various Rothamsted results an attempt has been made to estimate the quantity of nitrogen annually rendered available by natural means for plant food on soils either unmanured or manured with mineral dressings only. The plats selected for examination have been plats 3 and 5 of the Broadbalk field, examined separately and in different ways in the light of the analyses of the 1881 and 1893 samples; the unmanured plat (plat 3) of the grass land of the park, with its mixed herbage (estimate for forty years); the unmanured continuous root-crop plats in Barn field (estimate for thirty-six years); and the unmanured plats and superphosphate plats, representing seven courses (twenty-eight years) of four-course crop rotations in Agdell field. We have also the results obtained by the constant analyses (over twenty years) of the waters running from the fallow-soil drain gauges.

#### BROADBALK FIELD.

The first results to be referred to relate to the produce of wheat over thirty years in Broadbalk field, firstly, on plat 3 without manure, and, secondly, on plat 5, with mineral manure only.

#### INVESTIGATIONS ON ROTHAMSTED SOILS.

	Plat 3.	Plat 5.
Nitrogen contained in crops 30 years (1851–52 to 1880–81) Estimated loss in drainage (assumed 27 inches)	Pounds. 18.6 10.3	Pounds. 20.3 12.0
Total	$\begin{array}{c} 28.9\\ 5.0\end{array}$	32.3 5.0
Difference	23.9	27.3

TABLE 47.—Broadbalk wheat field, plats 3 and 5—NITROGEN per acre per annum in crops and drainage.

On plat 3, without manure, the average yield of nitrogen per acre in the crops was 18.6 pounds per annum, and the estimated quantity in the drainage water, to a depth of 27 inches, was 10.3 pounds, giving a total of 28.9 pounds in crops and drainage.

On plat 5 the quantity of nitrogen contained in the crops was, on the average, 20.3 pounds, and the estimated quantity in the drainage 12 pounds, giving a total of 32.3 pounds per acre per annum in crops and drainage.

The quantity of nitrogen estimated to be contained in the average annual rainfall, and in minor aqueous deposits, such as dew, at Rothamsted, is 5 pounds per acre. If this be deducted in each case, we have an average net yield of soil nitrogen of 23.9 pounds and 27.3 pounds, respectively, for the two plats.

The next results, shown in the following table, also relate to the Broadbalk wheat field, and indicate the quantity of nitrogen in the form of nitrates (or "nitric" nitrogen) found in the soils of plats 3 and 5 to a depth of 27 inches, and, on plat 5, also the quantity found in a depth of 90 inches.

·	Soil 27 inc	ches deep.	Soil 90
	Plat 3.	Plat 5.	deep. Plat 5.
Nitrogen found in soil as nitrates. Deduct nitrogen derived from rain.dew,etc. (estimated)	Pounds. 21.60 5.00	Pounds. 19.12 5.00	Pounds. 25.17 5.00
Difference	$\frac{16.60}{18.60}$	$\frac{14.12}{20.30}$	20.17 20.30
Total	35.20	34.42	40.47

 TABLE 48.—Broadbalk wheat soils (1893)—NITROGEN as NITRATES ("nitric" nitrogen) in plats 3 and 5.

It will be seen that when the 5 pounds per acre per annum for the nitrogen of the rainfall, etc., are deducted, and the quantity added which is estimated to be contained in the crops (for which in this case the thirty years' estimate to 1881 is adopted), we obtain results differing from the previous ones in so far as we have substituted for the

90

estimate of nitrogen removed in the pipe drainage the actual quantity of nitrogen found unused in the autumn to the depth in two cases of 27 inches and in one case of 90 inches. From these latter estimates we find for plats 3 and 5, 35.20 pounds and 34.42 pounds per acre, respectively, of nitric nitrogen contained in the first 27 inches. But if on plat 5 we include the nitrates found in the lower depths, we get about 6 pounds more, viz, 40.47 pounds per acre per annum.

No allowance is made for the nitrie nitrogen temporarily stored as roots, stubble, and weed residue, which for the moment are regarded as part of the soil.

#### GRASS LAND.

Next we have the results calculated from observations made on the grass land of the park with its mixed herbage, the plat taken for examination being the unmanured plat, plat 3. These results are given in the following short table:

TABLE 49,—The park, Rothamsted—Grass land (mixed herbage),	plat
(anmanurea).	nds
per a	cre.
Nitrogen contained in crops, first twenty years (1856-75), first	
crops only	. 0
Nitrogen derived from rain, dew, etc. (estimated)	. 0
Difference	. 0
Nitrogen contained in crops, second twenty years / 1st crops 26	. 0
(1876-95)	. 2
	_
Total	. 2
Deduct nitrogen derived from rain, dew. etc	. 0
-	
Difference 34	. 2

During the first twenty years, in which the first crops only were removed from the land, the annual removal of nitrogen in hay was 33 pounds per acre; of this 5 pounds annually is estimated to have been supplied by rain, etc., leaving 28 pounds removed in the crops.

During the second twenty years, 1876–1895, both the first and second cuttings were converted into hay and removed, involving a total removal of nitrogen of 39.2 pounds per annum—leaving, after deducting the 5 pounds supplied by rainfall, a removal of 34.2 pounds of soil nitrogen.

It is to be borne in mind that the mixed herbage contains a certain proportion of leguminous vegetation, and that, in virtue of the presence of this, some amount of fixation of free nitrogen would continuously go on, which would reduce to some extent the quantities otherwise assumed as derived from the soil itself.

#### ROOT-CROP SOILS.

The results recorded for the root crops in Barn field are as follows:

TABLE 50.—Root crops (Barn field), with mineral manure.

	Poper	unds acre.
Nitrogen contained in crops, 36 years (1845-1880)		25.2
Nitrogen derived from rain, dew, etc. (estimated)		5.0
Difference		20.2

The root crops with mineral manure, but without nitrogen, gave, on an average of thirty-six years, 25.2 pounds of nitrogen per acre in the crops, or, allowing for the 5 pounds contributed by rain, 20.2 pounds per acre per annum.

## ROTATION LAND.

The quantities of nitrogen contained in the crops on the two plats selected for examination, on an average of the seven courses from 1848 to 1875, are as follows:

TABLE 51.—Rotation land (Agdell field).

	Unma- nured.	Super- phosphate.
Nitrogen contained in crops (7 courses, 1848–1875) Nitrogen derived from rain, dew, etc. (estimated) Difference	Pounds per acre. 36.8 5.0 31.8	Pounds per acre. 45.2 5.0 40.2

The average annual yield of nitrogen per acre in the crops was 36.8 pounds on the unmanured plat, and 45.2 pounds on the plat manured with superphosphate. After deducting from each of these quantities 5 pounds for rainfall nitrogen, we have a soil removal of 31.8 and 40.2 pounds per acre per annum, respectively.

In no case, however, except in the wheat field, is loss by subsoil drainage taken into account; and it is to be noted that, on the rotation land, a certain proportion of the nitrogen yielded would be due to fixation of atmospheric nitrogen by the leguminous crops of the rotation, which would be more in the case of the superphosphate than in that of the unmanured plat. It is to be admitted, of course, that no one of the illustrations given affords exact evidence as to the amount of nitrogen actually available from the resources of the soil. Each illustration that we have given must be judged according to its conditions.

### RAIN AND DRAINAGE (BARN FIELD).

If we examine the results (shown in the table below) yielded by the 60-inch drain gauge, which is kept fallow, we find that, deducting for rainfall, about 29 pounds of nitrogen have been collected annually per acre in the drainage. But it is to be remembered that as there are no crops there is no conservation of nitrogen in root and stubble residue, nor are any weeds allowed to grow on the soil.

<b>IABLE 52.</b> — <i>Barn fleta</i> ( <i>rain and arainage</i> ).	
Po	unds
per-	acre.
Nitrogen contained in drainage from 60-inch gauge (average of	
20 harvest years, 1877-78 to 1896-97).	33.87
Nitrogen derived from rain, dew, etc	5.00
Difference	28 87
Difference	~0.01

The wheat crops, together with the estimated loss in drainage down to 27 inches, show 24 pounds without manure and 27.3 pounds with mineral manure; and the question is, whether there is any further loss by drainage below 27 inches. Taking into account the nitrogen in the crops and that found in the soil as nitrates down to 27 inches, the quantity has been seen to be 35.2 pounds without manure and 34.42 pounds with mineral manure; or, taking the total quantity of nitrogen as nitrates down to 90 inches of depth, the quantity included in the wheat crop with mineral manure is 40.47 pounds per acre per amum. Obviously, as we have already observed elsewhere, the whole of the nitric nitrogen found to any given depth at any one time can not be taken as directly representing the annual accumulation, and so far these results may be too high.

Then the results for the mixed herbage of the grass land, including a small amount of fixation by the leguminous crops, show 28 pounds and 34.2 pounds. The root crops, with mineral manure alone, show only 20.2 pounds. And lastly, the rotation crops—including some Leguminosa—have yielded 31.8 and 40.2 pounds. It is, however, to be again observed that no loss by drainage is brought into account in the case of either the mixed herbage, the root crops, or the rotation and. In the case of the mixed herbage, comprising a great variety of plants with widely varying root habit and root range, and more or less vegetation almost all the year round, there would probably be comparatively little loss by drainage. With land devoted to root crops there would be much more. Land under rotation, on the other hand, would certainly lose less than land under a continuous cereal crop, like that of the Broadbalk field; though it would lose more than permanent grass land.

Taking into consideration, therefore, the conditions under which the various results have been obtained, we are probably fairly justified in drawing the conclusion that, even under the most favorable conditions of mineral manuring, without manurial nitrogenous supply, the quantity of nitrogen naturally available from the enormous stores found in the Rothamsted soil and subsoil is, on the average, only about, or not much more than 30 pounds per acre per annum. Forty pounds would probably be an extravagant estimate.

#### INVESTIGATIONS ON ROTHAMSTED SOILS.

## CONTINUOUS WHEAT GROWING IN RELATION TO ECONOMY OF NITROGEN.

Altogether, the study of the nitrogen results indicates that continuous wheat growing is, from a natural point of view, an extravagant mode of farming, only justifiable, like other extravagances, under the pressure of a more or less artificial environment. For the wheat crop has completed its growth and is harvested long before nitrification has ceased in the soil, and there is no crop to take up either the balance of the nitrates left unused by the wheat or the larger balance formed after the active growth of the wheat is over; and these nitrates must pass away in subsoil drainage during the winter, except where the rainfall is small, or in those latitudes exposed to long winter frosts. This drainage, even on unmanured land, involves a serious loss of nitrogen, and a still greater loss when the yield of the crops is artificially increased by the use of nitrogenous manure. Ordinary rotation farming tends, far more than continuous wheat growing, to conserve the natural nitrogen of the soil, and is the sounder method of farming where local circumstances create and maintain a demand for other produce than grain-as, for instance, in any country that is fairly closely populated. But even rotation farming, with its fallows, involves a waste of nitrogen owing to its fallow intervals, except in intensive farming, where catch crops, like Trifolium or vetches, can be grown—crops which absorb the nitrates of the soil and also add, as we know, to the stock of soil nitrogen. But in continuous wheat growing this can not be done. If winter wheat is sown, there is but a short interval between harvest and seedtime in which to clean the land and prepare a seed bed. It is only where spring wheat is grown that a fallow crop becomes possible without loss of a season; and in wheat culture on a large scale it would often be a question even then between the relative economy of conserving nitrogen or utilizing the fallow time for the destruction of weeds. It is, of course, in any case, only in mild and genial latitudes with a favorable rainfall that autumn catch crops can be satisfactorily raised. If circumstances allow them to grow well and luxuriantly, they will often smother weeds and extirpate them as effectually as will more direct cleansing operations; but a poor, thin catch crop will often only encourage the growth of weeds.

In any case, however, in continuous wheat growing without rotations involving leguminous crops, we must annually lose some nitrogen, and if we are to increase, or even to maintain, the fertility of the land, we must sooner or later buy nitrogen, either directly or indirectly, in the market; and, it may be added, we must waste a good deal of it. But we have seen that the capital of soil nitrogen is very large, and that it is doled out to us so slowly and sparingly that, on originally good and fertile land, it lasts a long time, despite its annual diminu-

#### 94

tion. Under some circumstances the diminution may be hastened, while in other circumstances it may be retarded by the use of mineral fertilizers, which, happily, are cheap as well as abundant. But on almost any land, when the element of rent or the saving of mere land area becomes an object, as well as the saving of labor, the time must come sooner or later when continuous wheat growing can not be conducted on primitive methods. First comes improved cultivation, then the use of mineral fertilizers, and next the use of external supplies of nitrogen. With such aid, however, continuous wheat growing can be carried on probably forever, on any reasonably good and well-conditioned soil, provided that weeds can be kept under. But only a portion of the purchased nitrogen returns to us in the produce, and we must add more than the crop requires or can assimilate, if the land is to give its best and most abundant yield. The balance is lost.

In ultimate economics there must be, therefore, agriculturally, a waste of nitrogen in continuous wheat growing, and the more highly we farm the greater the waste. But there may be in agriculture, as in many other matters, an immediate economical advantage in an ultimate economic waste. The wheat grower, very naturally, does not consider a far remote posterity, but considers the most profitable way of producing his crop for the present and in the reasonably near future. A settler in a new country first plows up a section of prairie with its accumulated nitrogenous fertility, and he grows wheat on it till nature, liberal at first, becomes parsimonious. Then he has to cultivate better and keep his ground cleaner, and after a time he has to invest a small quantity of capital in phosphates, and perhaps in potash salts, and after a further time some nitrogen also must be purchased; and the question becomes, How much and in what form can it best be bought? In crowded countries or States, where a demand is near at hand, not only for wheat, but for meat and milk and hides and horses and wool and vegetables, rotation farming and grazing soon supersede continuous wheat growing and combine to conserve natural fertility. I have been somewhat surprised to learn how largely even the most intensive form of farming, involving the systematic growth of catch crops on what would once have been fallows, has. already become established in some of the Eastern States of America. At the same time the reliance on mere rotation of crops and the incidental farming operations thereby entailed, without help from purchased mannees or (which is a form of the same thing) purchased food, necessarily restricts the work of the farmer and limits the quantity and nature of the material he sells. The difficulty of conserving the fertility of the soil otherwise than by rotation farming before the days of purchased farm foods and purchased fertilizers was such that, as many of you may know, the rotations of crops were laid down for English farmers in their farm leases, and a tenant farmer were allowed to sell neither hay nor straw. Science has, however, changed all this, and a farmer in England can now usually grow whatever he pleases.

In England, however, with its high rents and its local land burdens and its fixed policy of free trade, which throws open our granaries to be filled by your good selves and our other cousins in other quarters of the globe, continuous wheat growing is no longer one of the directions in which our farmers can afford to use the freedom which has succeeded to the old restrictive farming. But for you continuous wheat growing must for a long time remain an economic possibility. The gradual reduction of your soils in nitrogenous fertility is slow, and, as necessity arises, can be amply met, as long as coal and nitrate of soda are abundant. We do not appear to be yet within sight of the end of the great nitrate deposits, and coal yields an increasing quantity of the other great concentrated nitrogenous fertilizer, ammonium sulphate; and there are, especially owing to your extensive animal and other industries, a great variety of other nitrogenous fertilizers, individually less concentrated, but of great aggregate quantity.

Some day, when the nitrate is all gone and the coal is used up, you may perhaps realize the prophecy of Sir William Crookes, and make "electric nitrate" (we already make "electric soda") from the nitrogen and oxygen of the air, using presumably tidal force, if your Niagara be too small, for generating the electricity needed to bring about the combination. But this is a dream of the very distant future.

### MINERAL ELEMENTS OF FERTILITY.

We have been thus far mainly engaged, except for occasional digressions, in discussing questions relating to the supply and removal of nitrogen under various conditions. I would now direct your attention to the results of certain investigations into the quantity and condition of the phosphoric acid and potash contents of the various plats of this historic field.

Throughout the duration of the experiments, numerous ash analyses have been made of the crops, and the supply and removal of both phosphoric acid and potash with regard to most of the plats can be estimated with some reasonable approach to accuracy.

Until lately, however, no systematic series of determinations of phosphoric acid and potash have been made in the soils themselves. In 1894 the present lecturer had the honor to contribute a paper "On the determination of probably available 'mineral' plant food in soils,"<sup>1</sup> in which the use of a 1 per cent solution of citric acid was proposed as a means of approximate differentiation by means of analysis between the total and the probably available phosphoric acid and potash in soils.

<sup>1</sup> Journal of the Chemical Society, London, 65 (1894), pp. 115-167.

#### THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

As the chemists of your country were good enough to take a great deal of interest in this paper, and to subject the eitrie-acid process to further investigation and to make it the point of departure for a number of alternative processes—some of which, no doubt, are better applicable to some kinds of soils and others to other kinds—I need not now say more about the inception of the process than to recall to you that it was the result of an attempt to imitate, in the solvent used, the acidity of the root-sap of flowering plants. This acidity was determined in 100 plants, representing some twenty different natural orders.

In order to test the proposed method it was applied to a large number of samples of soil from the continuous barley plats at Rothamsted, which had been preserved under very various manurial conditions for over forty years. The results of this investigation were referred to by Sir Henry Gilbert in his lectures to you, and he mentioned that I was then engaged in extending the investigation to the examination of the soils of the Broadbalk wheat plats. A number of the most typical plats were selected for this purpose, and the samples representing the first three depths, drawn in 1893, were examined, as well as corresponding samples, where these were available, drawn in 1865 and 1881. In all of these samples the total phosporic acid has been determined, and also the potash dissolved under certain conditions by strong hydrochloric acid. The quantities of phosphoric acid and potash dissolved by a 1 per cent solution of citric acid under the conditions originally laid down in my paper have also been determined. The results are fully discussed in a paper presented to the Royal Society of London.

As in considering the nitrogen results we have thus far confined our attention to the samples drawn in 1893, I will here follow the same procedure and will in like manner record the phosphoric acid and potash results for the 1893 samples, reserving until later a comparison between the newer and the older samples.

The accompanying table shows in a convenient form, for the series of plats submitted to mineral examination, the average yield of the plats as regards both grain and straw for forty-two years, 1852–1893, . and for the six years 1889–1894; and also the quantities of phosphoric acid and potash applied to the soil during fifty years in the form of manure, and the quantities removed in the erops during the same period.

9385-No. 106-02-7

97

			Average yield per acre for 42		Average yield per acre for 6		Phosphoric acid.		Potash.	
		yea 1852-	rs, 1893.	yea 1889-	rs, 1894.	Esti- mated addi-	Esti- mated	Esti- mated addi-	Esti- mated	
Plat.	Manure per acre per annum.	Wheat.	Straw.	Wheat.	Straw.	tion in ma- nures during 50 years.	remov- al in crops during 50 years.a	tion in ma- nures during 50 years.	remov- al in crops during 50 years.a	
3 4	Unmanured continuously Unmanured continuously since 1852 (previously super-	$\begin{array}{c} Bu. \\ 12rac{8}{4} \end{array}$	Cwt. 10§	Bu. 124	$Cwt.$ $9\frac{1}{8}$	Lbs. 0	Lbs. 467	Lbs. 0	Lbs. 761	
	phosphate and ammonium salts)	$13\frac{1}{2}$	103	13 <del>1</del>	$9\frac{1}{8}$	506	528	235	848	
10a	Ammonium salts alone since 1844 (mineral manure in 1844)	$19\frac{1}{2}$	$17_{4}^{s}$	$16\frac{1}{2}$	$13\frac{1}{2}$	82	582	74	1,090	
106	Ammonium salts alone since 1844, except in 1846, 1848, and 1850 (mineral manure in 1844, 1869 and 1850)	017		10	151	010	050	074	1.005	
7	Ammonium salts and super- phosphate, with 200 pounds potassium sulphate (300 pounds up to 1858), 100 pounds sup to 1858), 100 pounds sup to 1858) and 100	215	20	18	194	210	690	374	1,205	
13	pounds magnesium sulphate. Ammonium salts and super- phosphate, with 200 pounds potassium sulphate (300 pounds un to 1858). No so	324	324	344	33§	3, 107	1, 122	5, 037	2,550	
14	dium or magnesium salts Ammonium salts and super- phosphate, with 280 pounds magnesium sulphate (420 pounds up to 1858). No so	314	31‡	32 <u>*</u>	314	3, 181	1,061	5, 287	2,410	
12	Ammonium salts and super- phosphate, with 3664 pounds sodium sulphate (550 pounds	304	29§	294	$27\frac{1}{8}$	3, 216	1,016	<i>b</i> 566	1,833	
11	magnesium salts since 1851. Ammonium salts and super- phosphate only. No potas-	301	28 <u>1</u> -	$29_{\frac{1}{8}}$	25§	3, 189	1,005	<i>b</i> 588	1, 743	
5	sium, sodium, or magnesium salts. Superphosphate, with pctas-	$24\frac{1}{2}$	23	$21_{ m s}^{ m s}$	201	3, 153	861	b 15	1,190	
	sium, sodium, and magne- sium sulphates, as on plat 7, but no nitrogen	148	124	144	101	3,256	674	5,203	1,136	
2b	14 tons farmyard manure(1843– 44, and every year since)	345	321	403	384	3,920	1,301	11,760	2,478	
2a	14 tons farmyard manure, com- mencing in 1884-85			$30^{1}_{4}$	288					

#### TABLE 53.—Broadbalk wheat plats.

a Estimated from analysis of separate samples of grain and straw from each plat. b Applied prior to 1852.

### Phosphoric acid.

## GENERAL DISCUSSION AND STATEMENT OF ANALYTICAL RESULTS ON BROADBALK SOILS AND SUBSOILS OF 1893.

The total phosphoric acid was in each case determined in 10 grams of the dry soil by ignition and extraction with acid, duplicate determinations having in all cases been made, one with nitric acid as a solvent and the other with hydrochloric acid, the chlorin in the latter case being nearly eliminated from the solution after removal of the silica by repeated evaporation with nitric acid before adding the molybdic solution. The citric-acid results were obtained by treating a large quantity of soil, usually 200 grams, with 1 per cent citric-acid solution in the proportions of 1 liter of solvent to 100 grams of soil, the soil being kept in the solution for seven days with frequent shaking. A quantity of solution representing 50 grams of the soil was taken for the determination of phosphoric acid.

The results for all the plats examined are given in the following table:

			Total phosphorie acid.					Phosphoric acid dissolved by a 1 per cent solution of eitric acid.					
			rst Second oth. depth_		Third depth.		First depth.		Second depth.		Third depth.		
Plat.	Annual manuring.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Poundsper acre.	Per cent.	y a 1 rcid. rd th. Jord spunod 84 50 48 45 64
24	Farmyard ma			0.000									
91.	Form yord mo	0, 165	4.142	0, (7:1.)	2.12	0.084	2, 345	0.0531	806	0.0003	1:39	0.0025	18
~()	nure 50 years	215	5.018	111	2 005	053	9 317	0560	1 305	0094	251	0034	95
3	Unmanured _	.114	2,956	. 113	3,019	. 097	2.705	.0078	202	.0041	110	.0021	59
4	Unmanured since												
~	1852	120	3,111	. 106	2,822	. 097	2.705	. 0100	2011	. 0024	64	.0017	48
2	Full minerals and	.219	5,018	. 104	2.22	. 112	6, 120	. 0042	1, 1955	. ( )( );;;	1.559	. (75.90	101
	ammonium salts	. 195	5,056	. 086	2.297	.074	2.066	.0547	1.418	. 0035	102	, 0030	54
1011	Ammonium salts												
	(no minerals		0.4										
101	since 1844)	. 123	3,189	. 111	2,965	. 105	2,931	.0074	192	.00.51	83	.0018	50
IOD	(no minerals												
	since 1850)	. 126	3, 267	.123	3,286	. 111	3,099	.0074	192	.0043	115	.0021	59
11	Phosphates and												
1.0	ammonium salts	. 197	5,107	. 108	2.855	. 091	2,540	. 0405	1,050	. 0028	75	. 0017	48
1.4	um and anumo-												
	nium salts	.261	5.211	.098	2.618	. 082	2.289	.0413	1.071	. 0035	94	.0020	56
13	Phosphates. po-												
	tassium, and	1217	P 113 P	10."	0.000	(1)-1	13 13/17	0.004	1 1.0*	14.42~	~	inite	17
14	Phosphates mag.	. 2(4)	0,610	. 105)	2,5(1)	. 051	2,201	. 04-54	1, 150	. 00.623	12	DOTO	40
	nesium, and am-												
	monium salts	. 204	5,289	. 111	2,965	. 113	3,154	_0042	1,146	. 0023	61	.0023	64

 TABLE 54.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893—PHOSPHORIC

 ACID determinations.

I would first direct attention to the figures representing the contents of the surface soil or first 9 inches, for it is in this depth that the variations in phosphoric acid are mainly found, the greater part of the unused phosphates applied to a soil containing so much clay as the Rothamsted loam being evidently mainly retained in the surface soil, though, as we shall see, some portion does, under some conditions, find its way into the subsoil.

The following table shows the percentages of total and citric-acidsoluble phosphoric acid in each separate plat, and the average yield of grain and straw for six recent years, viz, 1889–1894, the last named being the season following the soil sampling:

	the structure for 70 more (with only minor	Average yield per acre (1889- 1894).			
Plat.	variations during earlier years).	Total.	Dissolved by 1 per cent citric- acid solu- tion.	Wheat.	Straw.
3 4 10 <b>a</b> 10b	Unmanured continuously Unmanured continuously since 1852 Ammonium salts only, since 1844 Ammonium salts only, since 1850	Per cent. 0.114 .120 .123 .126	Per cent. 0.0078 .0100 .0074 .0074	$\begin{array}{c} Bushels. \\ 12 \frac{4}{5} \\ 13 \frac{1}{5} \\ 16 \frac{1}{2} \\ 18 \end{array}$	$Cwt. \\ 9\frac{1}{5} \\ 9\frac{1}{5} \\ 13\frac{1}{5} \\ 15\frac{1}{5} \\$
7 13	Superphosphate and ammonium salts, with potassium, sodium, and magnesium sulphates. Superphosphate and ammonium salts, with potassium sulbate	. 195	. 0547	34§ 328	335
14 19	Superphosphate and ammonium salts, with magnesium sulphate.	. 204	. 0442	- 294	271
11	sodium sulphate	. 201 . 197	. 0413 . 0405	${29_{rac{1}{8}}\over 21_{rac{8}{5}}}$	$\cdot \frac{25 \frac{6}{2}}{20 \frac{1}{2}}$
5	Superphosphate and potassium, sodium, and magnesium sulphates (no nitrogen)	. 219	.0642	244	101
2b 2a	14 tons farmyard manure	. 215	. 0560	403 301	384
	1001-001	. 100	. (Rhat	$00^{4}$	208

TABLE 55.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893.

These results may be condensed by averaging the four soils which have been wholly without phosphatic manure since 1850; and also the five soils continuously receiving superphosphate in conjunction with nitrogen.

TABLE 56.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893.

		Average percent age of phosphoric acid in fine dry soil.			
Plats.	Annual manuring.	Total.	Dissolved by 1 per cent citric- acid solu- tion.	Wheat.	Straw.
3, 4, 10a, and 10b . 7, 13, 14, 12, 11	No phosphates	Per cent. 0.121 .200	Per cent. 0.0082 .0448	$\begin{array}{c} Bushels.\\ 15\frac{1}{8}\\ 29\frac{1}{2} \end{array}$	Cwt 114 27§
5	Superphosphate and alkaline salts,	. 219	.0642	145	104
2b	14 tons farmyard manure for 50	. 215	. 0560	403	38§
2a	years. 14 tons farmyard manure for 9 years only.	. 165	. 0321	301	28 <sup>g</sup>

Of these four groups of plats, the first is suffering from phosphatic starvation, aggravated, in two of the four plats comprising it, by a free supply of ammonium salts. The average yield has dropped to a little over 15 bushels of grain per acre and less than 12 hundredweight of straw.

In the next group, of five plats, superphosphate has been freely and continuously supplied, as well as nitrogen in the form of ammonium salts, while on four out of the five plats of this group "alkaline" salts (potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts, together or separately) have been likewise applied annually. Here the average yield of grain is nearly double that of the former group, while the straw is more than two and one-fourth times as great.

Then we have the plat which has received continuously an abundance of phosphatic and other mineral manure, but no nitrogen. Its yield is now poorer on the average than even the first group, for it is suffering from nitrogen starvation—shown even more strongly in the low straw yield than in the low yield of grain. The yield of both grain and straw, though less than the average yield of the first group, is nevertheless better than that of the unmanured plats 3 and 4 included in it, which are suffering from both nitrogen and mineral starvation. But its yield of grain is only half that of the group of soils supplied annually with nitrogen as well as minerals, and its yield of straw is not much more than one-third. Since it has received practically the same supply of phosphatic manure per acre as this group, we should (apart from the information derived from analyses of the crops) expect to find an additional accumulation of phosphates in this plat over and above that found in group 2.

Then we have the farmyard manure plats, the one dunged liberally for fifty years leading the way with a yield well above that of any of the other groups, both as regards grain and straw, and the other subjected to this liberal treatment for nine years only, but still, in virtue of its comparatively newly acquired fertility, giving a better yield than the average of the chemically treated plats, though not so good a yield as the completely manured plat 13.

The differences in phosphoric-acid contents that one would be led to expect from the aforesaid considerations are qualitatively apparent in the figures for total phosphoric acid. Thus the second group shows greatly more phosphoric acid than the first group. Again, on the other hand, it shows less than plat 5. Intermediate is the longdunged plat, while the plat more recently brought under dung treatment is intermediate between the first and second group.

But these differences in total phosphoric acid, significant as they clearly are, in soils from the same field, would convey, apart from a priori knowledge of their origin and of their circumstances, no such information as to suggest the profound differences really existing in the phosphatic condition of the soils.

To make this more clear, the figures are best reduced to a simple proportion, taking the average quantity of phosphoric acid in the first group as unity. We then have:

Number of plats.	Mode of manuring.	Ratio of total phosphoric acid to that of plats receiv- ing no phos- phates.
Four plats Five plats One plat Do Do	No phosphates. Phosphates and nitrogen, with and without alkaline salts. Phosphates and alkaline salts only Dung 50 years. Dung 9 years.	$\begin{array}{c} 1.00:1\\ 1.65:1\\ 1.81:1\\ 1.78:1\\ 1.78:1\\ 1.36:1 \end{array}$

The four plats in the first group contain, on the average, over 3,000 pounds of phosphoric acid per acre in the first 9 inches of soil, to say nothing of a further 6,000 pounds in the subjacent 18 inches. This is equivalent to nearly 3 tons of phosphate of lime per acre in the top soil, with 6 tons lying below, well within reach of the plant in its later stages of growth. In face of this enormous quantity of total phosphoric acid, the wheat crop, which under the most favorable circumstances does not need more (and usually needs less) than some 30 pounds of phosphoric acid per acre, is unable to do more than eke out a half-starved existence; the only explanation of which is that, of the total phosphates present, only a small proportion are in a form in which they can be utilized. Even in ordinary farming it is a familiar fact that, on soils containing a good deal more phosphoric acid than this, a few hundredweights of superphosphate per acre will often make the difference between a full crop of roots and one that is all but a failure. This being so, it is evident that such ratios as those just given for total phosphoric acid would have little significance if we wished to compare soils from different fields, or to judge of their relative mineral fertility, or forecast the probable advantage of applying phosphatic manure or the economy of withholding it.

If, on the other hand, we take the phosphoric acid dissolved by a 1 per cent solution of citric acid, we find differences of an altogether different character; for, while the ratios for total phosphoric acid between phosphatically manured and phosphatically unmanured plats were all comprised within a ratio of 2:1, we find the citric-acid-soluble ratios, as will be seen from the following table, to show approximately such numbers as 4:1, 5:1, and nearly 8:1.

Number of plats.	Mode of manuring.	Ratio of phos- phoric acid soluble in 1 per cent citric-acid solution to that of plats receiving no phosphates.
Four plats Five plats One plat Do	No phospates Phosphates and nitrogen, with and without alkaline salts. Phosphates and alkaline salts only Dung 50 years Dung 9 years	$\begin{array}{c} 1.00:1\\ 5.46:1\\ 7.83:1\\ 6.83:1\\ 3.91:1 \end{array}$

Clearly the percentage of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid gives us overwhelmingly clearer qualitative information as to the condition of the soils than any that could be arrived at from a study of the mere total percentages, apart, as aforesaid, from a priori topographical and historical knowledge.

PROBABLE LIMIT DENOTING PHOSPHORIC-ACID DEFICIENCY IN SOILS.

It will have been noticed that in only one case, on the phosphatically unmanured plats, does the phosphoric acid soluble in citric acid

reach 0.01 per cent of the surface soil, the average number for these four plats being 0.0082 per cent, corresponding to a little over 200 pounds per acre. This figure corresponds almost exactly with the mean figure obtained for the soils of the eight phosphatically starved barley plats from Hoos field, from the results of which I ventured to draw the tentative conclusion that when a soil is found by analysis to contain as little as about 0.01 per cent of phosphoric acid soluble in a 1 per cent solution of citric acid, used as described, it would be justifiable (as far as cereals are concerned) to assume that it stands in immediate need of phosphatic manure. That conclusion, therefore, appears to be well maintained by the new results obtained from the wheat soils. How far we may go in the other direction, in venturing to fix a limit which shall be indicative of the nonnecessity of phosphatic manure, is a more difficult question to decide. The soils of the various superphosphate-manured wheat plats in Broadbalk field, like those of the corresponding barley plats in Hoos field, have been abundantly or overabundantly supplied, and would probably grow undiminished crops for some years to come, if the annual supply of phosphatic manure ceased, nitrogen (and other minerals) being supplied as usual. Those included in our series average from 0.04 to 0.05 per cent of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid-almost identically the averages found for the various corresponding barley soils. That this is indicative of superabundance of phosphates is evident from the fact that plat 8, receiving the same dressing of mineral manures, but receiving half as much again of nitrogen (600 pounds ammonium salts per acre), has consistently vielded considerably larger crops. We seem thus in a position to say that the limit of phosphatic sufficiency for cereal crops is somewhere below 0.04 per cent of citric-acid-soluble phosphorie acid, while as little as about 0.01 per cent indicates phosphatic starvation.

The plat (2b) continuously dunged for fifty years gives 0.056 per cent, and is probably saturated with mineral fertility. Its yield is inferior to that of the most liberally manured chemical plat of the field (not represented in our table), owing, it may be supposed, to an insufficient annual supply of nitrogen in a rapidly available form.

Plat 2a has been dunged for over nine years. Previously, for nearly thirty-five years, it was unmanured, except for partial dressings of alkaline sulphates. Its yield is about equal to the average of the chemically manured plats included in our table, though inferior to the best of them. It contains 0.03 per cent of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid. From various considerations it appears probable that the lower yield of plat 2a, as compared with the much longer dunged plat 2b, is rather due to a deficiency in the yearly supply of available nitrogen than to deficiency in the present supply of mineral food. If this were the case our limit indicative of phosphatic sufficiency would be reduced from 0.04 to 0.03 per cent of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid. The probable limit, then, denoting phosphatic deficiency for cereals seems to be, as deduced from this investigation, between 0.01 per cent and 0.03 per cent of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid in the surface soil; that is to say, a percentage as low as 0.01 seems to denote an imperative necessity for phosphatic manuring, while as much as 0.03 per cent would seem to indicate that there is no such immediate necessity. For root crops, more especially turnips, the limits would probably be higher.

## BRIEF EXAMINATION OF THE RESULTS OBTAINED FOR INDIVIDUAL PLATS.

In view of the fuller discussion of the detailed results in the paper presented to the Royal Society, it will suffice here to confine our attention to some of the more striking indications obtained by comparison of the analytical results with the estimated removal or accumulation of phosphoric acid during the fifty years.

Plat 3, it will be remembered, is continuously unmanured. Plat 4 received some mineral dressings in its earlier years, but in 1893 it had been for forty-two years unmanured. Assuming the phosphoric acid originally present in the two soils to have been alike, plat 4 should now contain 445 pounds more phosphoric acid per acre than plat 3. We actually find by analysis 155 pounds more of total phosphoric acid in the surface soil, 58 pounds of this being soluble in dilute citricacid solution.

Plats 10a and 10b have both continuously received ammonium salts without phosphates, except that plat 10b had some mineral dressings in its earlier years. Plat 10b should contain 60 pounds per acre more phosphorie acid than plat 10a. We actually find by analysis in the surface soil 78 pounds more. The citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid is the same in the surface soil in both plats, but in the second and third depths plat 10b shows an excess of 41 pounds per acre as compared with plat 10a.

We shall see, hereafter, from the analyses of the earlier samples, that on plats 3, 10a, and 10b, especially the two latter, the surface soils have probably reached the stage at which the quantity of mineral food annually rendered available by natural processes, including the decay of roots and stubble, balances the annual output in the crops.

For the various chemically manured plats receiving phosphoric acid the results are tabulated below:

Plat.	Annual manuring.	Estimated excess of phosphor- ic acid per acre over plat 3, cal- culated from known ad- ditions and removals.	Excess of total phos- phoricacid per acre, found by analysis in first 9 inches of soil.	Excess phosp uble soluti plat 3 First 9 inches.	xcess (+) or deficiency (-) of phosphoricacid (per acre) sol- uble in 1 per cent citricacid solution, as compared with plat 3. irst 9 Second Third 9 1 to 27 ches. 9 inches. inches.			
7 13 14 12 11 5	Full minerals and ammonium salts Phosphates, potassium and ammonium salts Phosphates, magnesium and ammonium salts Phosphates, sodium and am- monium salts Phosphates and ammonium salts only Full minerals without ammo- nium salts	Pounds. 2,452 2,587 2,667 2,651 2,759 3,049	Pounds. 2,110 2,359 2,353 2,255 2,151 2,722	$\begin{array}{r} Pounds. \\ +1.216 \\ + 923 \\ + 944 \\ + 869 \\ + 848 \\ +1.462 \end{array}$	Pounds. - 8 -37 48 16 -35 +29	Pounds. +25 -14 + 6 -11 + 42	$\begin{array}{r} Pounds, \\ +1,233 \\ \div 872 \\ + 902 \\ + 850 \\ + 802 \\ +1,533 \end{array}$	

**TABLE 57.**—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893—Plats 7, 13, 14, 1?, 11. and 5. receiving chemical fertilizers, including phosphates.

It will be seen that the greater part of the calculated excess of phosphoric acid is actually found in the surface soils, namely, from 79 to 91 per cent. It would appear that in the course of years some of the phosphoric acid has descended lower, but it is to be remembered that the accumulations are calculated on the supposition that the soils were all originally alike in phosphoric-acid contents, and, further, that most of the deficit between the calculated accumulations and those actually found in the surface soil are comprised within a difference equal to only 0.01 per cent of phosphoric acid calculated on the surface soil. Nevertheless, as the difference is always in the direction of deficiency, it seems probable that on the whole it is attributable to descent. Unfortunately, the natural variations in the total phosphoric acid of the subsoils are too great to enable us to verify the subsoil accumulation of total phosphoric acid.

Broadly speaking, the results show beyond doubt that the unused phosphates, though applied in a soluble form, are mainly retained near the surface.

Of the total phosphates added to the soil in the fertilizers, probably nine-tenths would be in a condition originally soluble in weak citricacid solution; but the unused portion, even of the originally soluble phosphates, would enter into more or less firm combination with the bases of the soil, as shown by the retention of its main bulk in the surface soil. It is of interest to see how much of the accumulated quantity is still to be found in the condition of ready solubility in weak citric-acid solution. Of the quantity found in this condition, a part will no doubt be due to root and stubble residue, but in these plats the main portion found in the surface soil may be taken as due to unappropriated manure.

The proportion found is at once seen to be large, but variable, and

we shall presently see that this variability bears an interesting relation to the fertilizers which have been applied together with the superphosphate.

In the second and third depths, except in two cases, none of the phosphoric acid which may have descended appears now to exist in the citric-acid-soluble condition. Some of the phosphoric acid which may have descended may well have reverted into a condition insoluble in citric acid; but the deficiency of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid in the lower depths may very possibly be related in some cases to the more vigorous plant growth on these plats, as compared with the unmanured plat. Being manured with both nitrogen and phosphates, the roots of the wheat may have developed more vigorously in the second and third depths of the soil, producing a greater strain on the phosphoric-acid resources of the subsoil, notwithstanding the abundance of phosphatic food above.

It will be seen that two of these plats differ notably from the others in subsoil contents of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid, namely, plats 5 and 7. These two plats alone, in addition to phosphoric acid, have had persistently applied to them potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts, 400 pounds per acre per annum in the aggregate. To three of the other four plats one or other of these salts has been applied, but only to these two plats have all three salts been given.

One of the two, plat 7, has received ammonium salts also, in the same quantities as plats 11 to 14. The other, plat 5, has received the same full phosphatic and saline dressing, but without ammonium salts.

The last-named plat, getting no nitrogen, has yielded a very small average crop, and has naturally accumulated a far larger quantity of phosphoric acid, nearly 500 pounds more per acre being found by analysis in the first 9 inches than in the average of the other plats. As might be expected, there is also a much larger accumulation of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid, and the proportion of citric-acidsoluble to total accumulation is greater than in the average of the other plats. Further, in both the second and third depths we find a tangible excess of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid beyond that in the mmanured plat, showing that the available phosphoric acid in the subsoil has been in excess of the demands of the crops. This appears to be due not merely to the absence of nitrogen and consequent small growth and small assimilation of phosphates, for plat 7, which receives ammonium salts with the same full mineral dressing, has persistently yielded a much targer crop both of grain and straw than any of its companions. Its ontput of phosphates has consequently been greater, and its accumulation less; but instead of being poorer in available or citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid than its companions, it is now richer to the extent of some hundreds of pounds per acre, though, as might be expected, it is not so rich as plat 5.

## 106
It is also, as regards citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid, appreciably richer than the other plats in the second and third depths, though not to the same extent as plat 5.

It would seem that the full supply of soluble salts has either exerted a solvent action on the natural store of otherwise unavailable phosphoric acid in the soil, or, which is more probable, that the manurial phosphates have entered into some sort of combination with the saline bases and have been retained in a less insoluble condition than where these have been absent or less in quantity. This kind of solvent action is greatest where a full supply of saline matters has accompanied that of phosphatic manure, but it is also shown to exist in the case of the smaller separate applications of potassium, magnesium, and sodium salts.

On plat 11, where phosphates and ammonium salts only have been used, although there has been less demand on the phosphoric acid, the quantity of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid is least. This is shown in the following table:

TABLE 58.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October. 1893—Plats 5, 7,13, 14, 12, and 11.

Plat.	Annual manuring.	Ratio of citric-ac phosphoi found p- compare manured calculate total acid, the excess in being ta	excess of id-soluble rie acid er acre (as d with un- l plat) to ad excess of phosphoric calculated r each case ken as 100.
		First 9 inches.	27 inches.
5 7 13 14 12 11	Phosphates, potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts. Ammonium salts, phosphates, and potassium, sodium, and mag- nesium salts Animonium salts, phosphates, and potassium salts Ammonium salts, phosphates, and sodium salts Ammonium salts, and phosphates, and sodium salts. Ammonium salts and phosphates only.	Per cent. 48 50 26 35 33 31	Per cent. 50 50 34 34 32 29

In the case of the dunged plats there is a far larger excess of phos-. phoric acid unaccounted for. It may be remembered that plat 2b has yearly received since 1843 a dressing of 14 tons per acre of farmyard manure. Plat 2a was unmanured from 1849 to 1883, except that a portion of it received alkaline salts. Since 1883 it has received the same treatment as plat 2b, viz, 14 tons of dung per annum. The former plat has yielded on the average, for fifty years, over  $34\frac{5}{3}$  bushels of wheat and  $32\frac{1}{4}$  hundredweight of straw per acre, a better yield than that of any of the other plats already considered, though inferior to that of plat 8, already alluded to, which in addition to a full dressing of mineral manures has received 600 pounds of ammonium salts per annum.

During the last six years of the period of fifty years which we are considering plat 2b yielded  $40\frac{1}{5}$  bushels of grain per annum and  $38\frac{3}{4}$ hundredweight of straw, while plat 7 (400 pounds of ammonium salts, with full minerals) averaged only  $34\frac{3}{4}$  bushels of wheat and  $33\frac{5}{4}$ hundredweight of straw. During the same six years plat 2a averaged  $30\frac{1}{4}$  bushels of wheat and  $28\frac{3}{8}$  hundredweight of straw. Clearly, therefore, plat 2b has reached, as would be expected, a state of high fertility, while plat 2a, though at the time of the last soil sampling it had for nine years received the same treatment as 2b, was nevertheless far behind it in fertility, the previous forty years of dung still telling very markedly on the latter plat. It is much more difficult to estimate the yearly addition of phosphoric acid to the dunged plats than to estimate it in the case of the chemically manured plats, for the phosphatic manures are of fairly definite and uniform composition, while dung is necessarily variable and is very difficult to sample so as to fairly represent an annual application of 14 tons per acre. Any estimate is therefore, at the best, to be regarded as only an approximation. Sir Henry Gilbert estimates that the dung applied contains 0.25 per cent of phosphoric acid, and since this small percentage represents in fifty years 3,920 pounds per acre, it is clear that there is room for considerable error. If the estimate of 0.25 were 0.05 too high or too low as compared with the real average percentage in a material of so indefinite and so fluctuating a composition as farmyard manure, the error of estimate on the fifty years would amount to nearly 800 pounds.

In the following table the estimate of 0.25 per cent is, however, taken.

Plat 3 (continuously unmanured) is again taken as a standard, the sum of the estimated loss of phosporic acid per acre on plat 3 and of the estimated gain on plat 2b representing the estimated excess per acre in the latter plat.

TABLE 59.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893—Plat 2b manured with 14 tons farmyard manure per acre per annum for fifty years.

1	'ounds.
Estimated excess of total phosphoric acid per acre over plat 3,	
at the end of fifty years	3,086
Excess of total phosphoric acid per acre over that in plat 3,	
found by analysis in first 9 inches of soil	2,062
Excess of phosphoric acid per acre (as compared with plat 3)	
soluble in 1 per cent citric-acid solution, found in-	
First 9 inches	1,105
Second 9 inches	141
Third 9 inches	36
	1 000
Total (27 inches)	1,282

It is evident that, if the estimated quantity of phosphoric acid applied in the farmyard manure throughout the period of fifty years

## THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

is correct, a very much larger quantity of phosphoric acid in the form of dung must have descended into the subsoil than has been the case on the plats manured with superphosphate. Even if we allow some considerable margin in the estimate, it still appears that there must have been a considerable descent. Unfortunately the irregularity in the mineral composition of the subsoils, to which reference has already been made, makes it impracticable to trace the descent quantitatively as far as total phosphoric acid is concerned. The descent, nevertheless, is qualitatively seen in the increase of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid in both the second and third depths. Of the excess of total phosphoric acid (as compared with plat 3) actually found arrested in the first 9 inches, considerably more than half exists in the eitric-acid-soluble state, forming a large reserve of phosphoric fertility. This reserve, as we have seen, is far from being confined to the surface soil, though much of the phosphorie acid which must be supposed to have descended into the subsoil has evidently assumed a less available form.

This greater descent of phosphoric acid into the subsoil in the case of the dunged plats, as compared with the artificially fertilized plats, is a point of much interest. The reason for it may be a merely chemical one. We have seen that in the case of plats 5 and 7, where alkatime salts have been liberally applied, these have markedly influenced the condition of the phosphoric acid as compared with that on the plats on which no alkaline salts were used; and the saline matters of the dung may have had some similar effect. It also seems just possible that earthworms may play a part in the distribution of the constituents of the dung, by devouring it and conveying it downward.

In the case of plat 2a, which had been dunged for only nine years at the time at which the last soil samples were taken, the total excess of phosphorie acid over plat 3 actually found by analysis is 1,186 pounds per acre, whereas the estimated excess should only be 592 pounds; but the excess found in a citric-acid-soluble condition is 604 pounds in the first 9 inches, 29 pounds in the second 9 inches, and 19 pounds in the third 9 inches, a total excess of 652 pounds per acre as compared with plat 3.

The calculated excess of course involves not only the supposition that the dung was on the average of uniform composition, but also the supposition that the soils were uniform to begin with, and there is no evidence to show that such was actually the case.

Viewing the figures broadly it is at any rate evident that much less of the dung phosphates applied to this plat during the nine years have reverted to the insoluble condition than in the case of the older dung accumulations on plat 2b. The influence of the dung on the available phosphoric acid of the subsoil is also much less marked than in the case of the plat dunged for fifty years; nevertheless it is apparent.

#### PHOSPHORIC ACID IN DRAINAGE WATERS.

Upward of thirty years ago the late Dr. Augustus Voeleker made analyses of several series of samples of the pipe-drainage waters collected from the Broadbalk wheat plats. The results were published in a paper "On the composition of waters of land drainage," referred to on p. 86, and was subsequently summarized in a Rothamsted paper, "On the amount and composition of the rain and drainage waters collected at Rothamsted." (See p. 49.)

These are the only fairly complete mineral analyses that have been made of the drainage waters, although for many years constant determinations have been made of nitric nitrogen and chlorin. Averaging the various samples from each plat analyzed by Dr. Voelcker, we have the following results:

TABLE 60.—Analyses of Broadbalk field drainage waters made by the late Dr. Augustus Voelcker, F. R. S., 1866–1869.

[Parts per million.]

	Annual manuring.	Average quantity of phos- phoric acid in drain- age water.
Plats 3 and 4 Plat 10 Plat 5 Plat 7 Plat 11 Plat 12 Plat 12 Plat 13 Plat 14	Unmanured Ammonium salts only Full mineral dressing without nitrogen. Ammonium salts and full mineral dressing. Ammonium salts and superphosphate Ammonium salts, superphosphate, and sodium sulphate Ammonium salts, superphosphate, and potassium sulphate Ammonium salts, superphosphate, and magnesium sulphate	$\begin{array}{c} 0.63\\ 1.44\\ .91\\ .91\\ 1.66\\ 1.26\\ 1.09\\ 1.01\\ \end{array}$

If we assume a downward percolation of 10 inches of drainage water per annum, one part per million of water corresponds, in round numbers, to  $2\frac{1}{4}$  pounds per acre per annum. According to this estimate, the average variations in phosphoric acid washed away in the drainage waters, as shown in Dr. Voelcker's analyses, are from  $1\frac{1}{2}$  to  $3\frac{3}{4}$  pounds per acre per annum.

To some extent the differences found bear a relation to the manuring and cropping conditions of the plats, but not altogether, and it is to be remembered that the actual quantities analytically dealt with amounted only to small fractions of a grain of phosphoric acid per gallon of water; and furthermore, that the methods for the quantitative estimation of minute quantities of phosphoric acid thirty years ago were not quite so delicate as they are at the present time. Too much stress, therefore, must not be laid upon the quantitative differences.

Substantially, however, the results seem to show that no very appreciable quantity of manurial phosphoric acid passes away annually in the drainage water from the chemically manured plats, and that there is not a very great difference between the quantity of phosphoric acid in the drainage water from the unmanured plats on the one hand and the very highly phosphated plats on the other, though the descent by drainage may of course have become greater in later years, as phosphates have accumulated.

Unfortunately, Dr. Voeleker made no determinations of the phosphoric acid existing in the drainage water from the dunged plat 2b. As has been mentioned elsewhere, the absorptive character of the soil of this plat is such that it is very retentive of moisture, and the drainpipes very seldom run except in very wet weather, and Dr. Voeleker was unable to obtain samples of the drainage water from this plat when the other samples were collected.

#### GENERAL CONCLUSIONS AS TO PHOSPHORIC ACID.

The general conclusions derived from the phosphoric-acid results, as summed up in the paper recently laid before the Royal Society,<sup>1</sup> are to the effect that by far the greater proportion of the unconsumed phosphoric acid in the manure is accumulated in the surface soil, although for the most part originally soluble in water. In the case of dung there is a considerable descent into the second and third depths of 9 inches, and there is also evidence of considerable descent into the second and even into the third depths in those cases in which superphosphate has been accompanied by constant dressings of potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts. The greater part of the calculated accumulation, however, is found by analysis in the surface soil, and a large proportion of it is found in a condition in which it dissolves in a weak solution of citrie acid.

While the differences between the total percentages of phosphoric acid in the surface soil correspond fairly with the history of the plats, they would not suffice, in the absence of a knowledge of such history, to give any adequate indication of the profound differences in phosphatic condition which we know to exist. But the relative proportions of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid appear to afford a striking index to the relative phosphatic fertility of the soils. In the case of the subsoil samples the irregularities and variations in the natural or original phosphorie acid of the subsoils themselves are such that the total percentages tell us, as a rule, nothing, while the citric-acid results frequently show striking and consistent differences, and are also of considerable interest in connection with the problems of root range and subsoil feeding.

The influence of akaline salts on the retention of phosphoric acid in a less fixed and presumably more available condition is interesting, corresponding as it does with the increase of saline applications.

The superabundance of phosphoric acid estimated to have been supplied in dung over fifty years is less satisfactorily accounted for than is the case with the phosphoric acid in the chemically manured

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society [England], 1901, series B, vol. 194, pp. 235-290.

plats. This may be partly accounted for by the supposition that the phosphoric acid contained in the dung, at any rate over a portion of the time, may have been overestimated, but there appears reason for supposing that there has been a greater descent into the subsoil in the case of the plat dunged for fifty years than in the case of the chemically manured plats. On the plat dunged for nine years only we find the estimated accumulation fairly represented in the upper depths—for the most part in the first 9 inches.

As in the case of nitrogen, the soil possesses naturally a very large reserve of phosphoric acid, but again, as in the case of nitrogen, the quantity annually rendered available for the use of plants by natural soil processes is insufficient to suffice for the needs of anything like an average crop.

#### Potash.

#### GENERAL DISCUSSION AND STATEMENT OF ANALYTICAL RESULTS ON BROAD-BALK SOILS AND SUBSOILS OF 1893.

The total potash has not been determined in the various samples. The Broadbalk soil, like most soils containing much clay, contains a great quantity of potash in the form of silicates decomposable only by fusion or by treatment with hydrofluoric acid. The quantity of potash, including this, is between 1 and 2 per cent in the surface soil and probably more in the subsoil. This means that in the first 9 inches of soil there are probably 15 tons of potash per acre in a dormant form, while the quantity in each succeeding depth is probably greater. Such potash forms a reserve stock for the distant future, and is no doubt very gradually rendered available for plant use by the natural processes going on within the soil. But, even with this great reserve of total potash, the soil is unable to furnish a sufficient annual supply to the wheat crop under a system of continuous cropping.

It is usual in soil analysis to neglect to take into account potash existing in so insoluble a form as to be separable only by means of fusion or treatment with hydrofluoric acid, for such potash is obviously far removed from the range of present utility, and only to take into account such potash as is soluble in hydrochloric acid. It is by this time well recognized, however, that even this solvent extracts, at all events in many cases, far more potash than can be in any sense regarded as of present utility. Unfortunately, this is not the only unsatisfactory aspect of the determination of potash by hydrochloricacid extraction. The quantity of potash extracted varies greatly, not only with the strength and quantity of acid used, but also with the duration of the process and with the temperature.

The potash dissolved by hydrochloric acid was, however, determined in a large number of samples, the quantity of soil taken for the determination being 10 grams, and the extraction being made by

treatment and evaporation to dryness with 50 cubic centimeters of strong hydrochloric acid, the residue being redigested on the water bath for one hour with 25 cubic centimeters of strong hydrochloric acid.

The citric-acid-soluble potash was determined in the solution obtained on treatment of 200 grams of the soil, as already described under the heading of phosphoric acid, the potash being determined in a quantity of solution representing 50 grams of soil.

The results for the 1893 samples were as follows:

## TABLE 61.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893—Potash determinations.

		First	depth.	Secon	d depth.	Third depth.	
Plat.	Annual manuring.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.
2a 2b 3 4 5 7 10a 10b 11 12 13	Farmyard manure since 1884 . Framyard manure 50 years . Ummanured . Unmanured . Full minerals and ammonium salts . Full minerals and ammonium salts . Mannonium salts (no minerals since 1840) . Phosphates and ammonium salts . Phosphates, sodium, and ammo- nium salts . Phosphates, potassium, and ammo- nium salts .	0, 217 255 210 219 259 240 240 240 240 240 241 240 234 240 234 240 234 240 234 240 234 240 234 240 234 240 234 247 247 247 247 247 247 247 247 247 24	$\begin{array}{c} 6,953\\ 6,652\\ 5,704\\ 5,678\\ 7,233\\ 6,723\\ 6,723\\ 6,723\\ 6,723\\ 6,705\\ 5,107\\ 5,782\\ 7,078\\ 7,078\end{array}$	0, 398 318 335 414 440 .361 359 357 .371 379	$\begin{array}{c} 10, 632\\ 8, 495\\ 8, 949\\ 11, 059\\ 10, 952\\ 9, 643\\ 10, 525\\ 9, 530\\ 9, 537\\ 9, 911\\ 10, 124\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.\ 415\\ .\ 409\\ .\ 405\\ .\ 505\\ .\ 472\\ .\ 459\\ .\ 533\\ .\ 507\\ .\ 459\\ .\ 459\\ .\ 459\\ .\ 459\\ .\ 459\\ .\ 458\\ .\ 433\end{array}$	13, 930 11, 585 13, 818 14, 153 13, 176 12, 813 14, 879 14, 153 12, 813 13, 623 12, 087
14	nium salts	.240	6, 2020	+ 404	10, 792	. 408	11, 389

POTASH DISSOLVED BY STRONG HYDROCHLORIC ACID.

POTASH DISSOLVED BY A 1 PER CENT SOLUTION OF CITRIC ACID.

		First	First depth.		d depth.	Third depth.	
Plat.	Appnual manuring.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.
2a 2b 3 4 5 7 10a	Farmyard manure since 1884 Farmyard manure 50 years Ummanured Full minerals Full minerals Animonium salts (no minerals since 1844)	0.0330 .0384 .0032 .0052 .0308 .0232 .0032	828 896 83 135 799 602 83	0.0168 .0276 .0060 .0060 .0224 .0140 .0032	449 737 160 160 598 374 86	0.0096 .0128 .0072 .0044 .0092 .0064 .0048	268 357 201 123 257 179 134
10b 11 12 13 14	Anmonium salts (nominerals since 1850). Phosphates and ammonium salts Phosphates, sodium, and ammo- nium salts Phosphates, potassium, aud ammo- nium salts Phosphates, magnesium, and ammo- nium salts	. 0040 . 0032 . 0040 . 0188 . 0024	104 83 104 487 62	.0052 .0028 .0040 .0136 .0048	139 75 107 863 128	. 0036 . 0036 . 0036 . 0036 . 0084 . 0052	101 101 101 235 145

As far as regards the hydrochloric-acid-soluble potash, attention need only be directed to the surface soils, though in the case of the citric-acid-soluble potash it will be of interest to consider the results for all the three depths examined. The hydrochloric-acid figures, however, for the second and third depths appear to have so little

9385-No. 106-02-8

practical meaning that they may be left out of consideration, for the quantity of potash dissolved by the mineral acid in these lower depths is vastly in excess of the potash which, from any point of view, can be regarded as of nearly prospective utility, and its variations are obviously so independent of the manurial treatment and cropping history of the soils as to deprive them of apparent practical significance.

The more important results may be conveniently studied in the following table:

		P	otash in f				
Plat.	Annual manuring for 50 years (with only minor variations during the earlier years).	Dis- solved by hy- drochlo- ric acid.	Dissolve ric-	d by 1 per acid solut	Average yield per acre, 1889–1894.		
	N	First 9 inches.	First 9 inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.	Wheat.	Straw.
3	Unmanured continuously	Per cent. 0.220	Per cent. 0.0032	Per cent. 0.0060	Per cent. 0.0072	Bushels. $12\frac{3}{4}$	Cwt. 91
10a 10b	Ammonium salts only since 1852. Ammonium salts only since 1844	$.219 \\ .240 \\ .234$	.0052 .0032 .0040	. 0060 . 0032 . 0052	$.0044 \\ .0048 \\ .0036$	$13rac{1}{8}\ 16rac{1}{2}\ 18$	9 <del>1</del> 131 151
11 12	Ammonium salts and superphos- phate	. 197	. 0032	. 0028	. 0036	$21_{s}^{s}$	20 <del>1</del>
14	(some potassium salts prior to 1852) Ammonium salts, superphos-	. 223	. 0040	. 0040	. 0036	29 <sub>1</sub>	254
	(some potassium salts prior to 1852)	. 240	. 0024	. 0048	. 0052	291	271
13 7	Ammonium salts, superphos- phate, and potassium salts Ammonium salts, superphos-	. 273	. 0188	. 0136	. 0084	32§	31
5	phate, and potassium, sodium, and magnesium sulphates Superphosphate and potassium,	. 262	. 0232	. 0140	. 0064	344	33§
	sodium, and magnesium sul- phates (no nitrogen)	. 279	. 0308	. 0224	.0092	145	101
2b 2a	14 tons farmyard manure	. 285	. 0384	. 0276	. 0128	405	38§
No. 6	mencing in 1884–85)	.277	. 0330	. 0168	. 0096	301	288

TABLE 62.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893.

It will be seen that we have a series of plats of which some are wholly unmanured, some manured with ammonium salts only, and several with both ammonium salts and phosphates. Of these last, one plat is without alkalies, one receives sodium salts, another magnesium salts, one potassium salts, and another all of these materials. We see that plat 11 without alkalies, though abundantly supplied with nitrogen and phosphates, has evidently largely exhausted the readily available potash of the soil by comparing its recent yield of wheat and straw (more especially the latter) with that of the potash plat 13. We also see that, either in virtue of certain applications of potassium salts forty years or more ago or in virtue of the solvent action on soil potash of the sodium and magnesium salts applied every year,

plats 12 and 14 are very much more fertile than plat 11, though distinetly less fertile than plat 13, which gets an abundance of potassium salts, and still less so than plat 7, which gets all three salts.

The results of the determinations of hydrochloric-acid-soluble potash in the first depths and of the citric-acid-soluble potash in all three depths of the various plats will be seen to possess great interest and are worthy of consideration in detail.

For the moment, however, we may advantageously condense our table as we did in the case of phosphoric acid and consider the average results given, respectively, by the plats manured and unmanured with potash salts and with dung. These are as follows:

TABLE 63.—Broadbalk wheat soils, samples collected in October, 1893.

		Avera	ge potash						
Plat.	Annual manuring for 50 years (with some vari- ations during the ear- lier years).	Dis- solved by hy- drochlo- ric acid	sted by: hlo- citric acid solution.				Average yield per acre, 1889-1894.		
		First 9 inches.	First 9 inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.	Wheat.	Straw.		
3 4, 10a, 10b, 11, 12, and 14.	No potash salts, except odd dressings in early	Per cent. 0.225	Per cent 0.0036	Per cent 0,0046	Per cent 0,0046	Bushels. 20	Cwt. 171		
13, 7, and 5	years on 10 b, 12 and 14. All manured annually with dressings, includ- ing notash salts	. 271	, () <del>,2</del> 43	0167	0080	274	254		
2b	14 tons farmyard ma	255	.0384	$(f_{rec}^{s})^{\tilde{r}}$ $\tilde{G}$	.0128	401	383		
2a	14 tons farmyard ma- nure, commencing only in 1884-85.	277	. 0330	0168	. 0096	301	288		

The continuous application of potash, whether in the form of potash salts or of dung, had made itself evident in the hydrochloric-acidsoluble potash. But there is no such difference as, apart from knowledge that the samples are from the same field, would suffice to lead to the conclusion that the soils of the first group were, from a practical point of view, deficient in potash. Taking the averages for the first group as unity, we find the following ratios:

-	Number of plats.	Mode of manuring.	Ratio of hy- drochloric- acid-soluble potash to that in 7 non- potash plats.
	plats plats plat plat	Without potash for forty years Potash dressed Dung fifty years Dung nine years	$\begin{array}{c} 1.00:1\\ 1.20:1\\ 1.27:1\\ 1.23:1 \end{array}$

#### INVESTIGATIONS ON ROTHAMSTED SOILS.

A comparison of the citric-acid-soluble potash, however, appears to be much more instructive as to the potash condition of the soils. The ratios are as follows:

Number of plats.	Mode of manuring.	Ratio of a ash to the plats.	citric-acid-s at in the 7	oluble pot- nonpotash			
		First 9 inches.Second 9 inches.Third 9 inches.					
7 plats	Without potash for forty years Potash dressed Dung fifty years Dung nine years	$\begin{array}{c} 1.00:1\\ 6.75:1\\ 10.67:1\\ 9.17:1 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.00:1\\ 3.63:1\\ 6.00:1\\ 3.65:1 \end{array}$	$1.00:1\\1.74:1\\2.78:1\\2.09:1$			

These figures are so striking that but little comment on them appears to be necessary. The chemically manured potash plats show in the first 9 inches nearly seven times as much citric-acid-soluble potash as those left without potash dressings, and in the second 9 inches about three and a half times as much, while even in the third depth there is nearly twice as much, showing that even in these clayey loams potash salts do, to an appreciable extent, find their way downward into the lower subsoil. The greater portion of the accumulation, however, is (in accordance with the generally accepted views of the chemistry of fairly heavy soils) found to be in the upper soil, where the potash appears to enter into more loose combination with the constituents of the clay.

In the continuously dunged soil, where the estimated excess of potash applied has been much greater, we find in the top soil more than ten times as much citric-acid-soluble potash as in the nonpotash plats, in the second 9 inches six times as much, and in the third 9 inches nearly three times as much; while even in the plat dunged for nine years only we find nine times as much in the top soil, three and a half times as much in the second 9 inches, and twice as much in the third. It would seem as though the potash of the dung, possibly in some organic state of combination, descends more easily into the subsoil than do the inorganic potash salts. This point, however, will claim our attention later.

In the paper on the Hoos field barley soils a tentative conclusion was drawn that the percentage of citric-acid-soluble potash in the surface soil indicative of potash hunger would for cereals probably lie below 0.005. On considering the results of the wheat soil analyses and other results obtained in the interim by workers who have applied the method to other soils known from experience to be responsive to the influence of potassium salts, the lecturer would now be inclined to modify this conclusion by suggesting that when a soil contains as much as 0.01 per cent of citric-acid-soluble potash as determined by this process it may be regarded as not demanding any special application of potassium salts.

#### THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

# BRIEF EXAMINATION OF THE RESULTS OBTAINED IN THE CASE OF INDIVIDUAL PLATS.

Plat 3 has been unmanured for fifty years. Plat 4 has been unmanured for forty years, but previously was annually dressed with superphosphate and ammonium salts, and has in consequence ever since given a slightly better yield than plat 3. (See Table 53.) It was never regularly manured with potash, but in its first year, fifty years prior to 1893, it had a dressing of farmyard manure ashes, estimated to have supplied 235 pounds per acre of potash. In fifty years it has yielded in its crops 87 pounds of potash per acre more than plat 3, but owing to the initial supply referred to its actual loss in cropping has been 140 pounds less per acre than that of plat 3. This difference is not indicated in the hydrochloric-acid figures, but it is qualitatively indicated in the surface-soil contents of citric-acidsoluble potash, there being found by analysis in 1893 in the surface soil an excess of 52 pounds per acre in this form as compared with plat 3.

Plats 10a and 10b have, it will be remembered, been continuously dressed with ammonium salts without minerals, except that, while both plats had a dressing of minerals in 1844, plat 10b was also dressed with minerals in 1848 and 1850. The effect of these two extra dressings of minerals on the yield of plat 10b is apparent in the crops down to the present day. The extra minerals applied to plat 10b included 300 pounds of potash per acre, and this plat has yielded in its crops, up to 1893, 115 pounds more potash per acre than plat 10a. Deducting the excess in yield from the excess in supply, plat 10b has lost less potash in its crops by 185 pounds per acre than plat 10a. Here, again, the hydrochloric-acid results indicate no difference, but in the citric-acid results we find that plat 10b shows 21 pounds more in the second depth.

We will now compare the results of the various plats which have all received both phosphate and ammonium salts, but which differed in their treatment as to other saline manures. Table 64 shows at a glance the mineral treatment of each plat, the estimated excess or deficiency of potash per acre as compared with plat 11 (calculated from known manurial additions and erop removals), the excess or deficiency of hydrochloric-acid-soluble potash found by analysis in the first 9 inches as compared with plat 11, and also the excess or deficiency of eitric-acid-soluble potash, again as compared with plat 11, shown respectively in the first, second, and third depths of 9 inches each, and also in the total 27 inches which they comprise.

		Estimated excess or deficiency of potash	Excess of hydro- chloric- acid-solu-	Excess or deficiency of citric-acid- soluble potash per acre found by analysis as compared with plat 11.					
Plat.	Annual manuring.	soil after fifty years as com- pared with plat 11 (cal- culated from known ad- ditions and removals).	ble potash per acre found by analysis in first 9 inches of soil as com- pared with plat 11.	First 9inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.	27 inches.		
		Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.		
11	Phosphates and ammonium								
12	Phosphates, ammonium, and sodium salts (some potas-			. 01		0			
14	Phosphates, ammonium, and	+ 20	+ 019	+ 21	+ 52	0	+ 94		
	magnesium salts (some potas- sium salts in earlier years)	- 92	+1,115	- 21	+ 53	+ 44	+ 70		
13	Phosphates, ammonium, and	+4.052	+1.971	+404	+288	+134	+ 826		
ĩ	Phosphates and ammonium,	, _,	, _,		,				
	nesium salts	+3,662	+1,686	+519	+299	+ 78	+ 896		
9	dium, and magnesium salts (no nitrogen)	+5,242	+2,126	+716	+523	+156	+1,395		

TABLE	64.—Broadbalk	wheat	soils,	samples	collected	in	October,	1893—Plats	11,
			12,1	14, 13, 7, an	ıd 5.				

As far as the hydrochloric-acid results are concerned, we find a considerable increase in the potash dissolved from the surface soils of all the plats which have received alkaline manures, and the increase, as would naturally be expected, is very much greater in the case of the plats which have been constantly manured with potassium salts, and greatest of all on plat 5, in the case of which, owing to the absence of a manurial supply of nitrogen, the least demand has been made on the mineral contents of the soil. We do not, however, find in any case that, in the surface soil, hydrochlorie acid yields as much as even one-half of the calculated acreage accumulation of potash.

We will now pass on to the citric-acid results.

Plat 12 is calculated to contain 20 pounds of potash per acre more than plat 11. The quantity found by citric acid in the surface soil is 21 pounds, with 32 pounds in the second depth, making an excess over plat 11 of 53 pounds per acre. This plat (plat 12) is even now much more fertile than plat 11, although the equivalent of the actual potash added has been nearly used up, and the potash in its produce is still annually far larger than in that of plat 11. There can be little doubt that the action of the sodium sulphate annually supplied keeps up a considerable annual supply of available potash.

Plat 13, with a full supply of potash, has, in fifty years, yielded about 4 per cent more grain and about 9 per cent more straw than plat 12; but its crops have contained 2,410 pounds of potash per acre, as against 1,743 pounds in those of plat 12. The potash-manured crops,

118

therefore, while only from 4 per cent (grain) to 9 per cent (straw) larger, have contained nearly 40 per cent more potash.

One is somewhat tempted to draw the inference that, in the produce of the sodium sulphate plat (12), soda has partially replaced potash. In an elaborate study of the vegetative conditions and of the ash constituents of the mixed herbage of grass land, embodied in a recent paper by the late Sir John Lawes and Sir J. Henry Gilbert,<sup>1</sup> we are, however, warned against the temptation to assume that, even in adverse circumstances, soda can functionally take the place of potash. It is pointed out that, in defect of sufficient potash, more of soda or of lime, or of both, will be taken up-probably as carriers of nitrie acid-and retained by the plant, but that the herbage will be more leafy and immature than where abundant potash is available. The free development of carbohydrates functionally demands the presence of an adequate quantity of potash; and, if the plant is stinted in potash, neither phosphates nor nitrates, even with the assistance of abundant soda and lime, can enable it to develop to its utmost. In the last six years of the fifty years now under review the annual produce of plat 13, with potassium sulphate, has exceeded that of plat 12 (with sodium sulphate) by 34 bushels of grain and 64 hundredweight of straw. Both ripe grain and straw consist mainly of carbohydrates, and the excess virtually indicates the greater carbohydrate elaborative power conferred on the wheat plant by supplying it freely with potassium salts, and the inability of sodium salts to functionally replace them. But the output of potash from plat 12 in quite recent years is so much greater than from plat 11 without either potash or soda that there can be little doubt of the practical action of the sodium salts as a solvent of the soil potash.

Plat 14 is similar in every way in its history to plat 12, except that it has been annually dressed with 280 pounds of magnesium sulphate per acre instead of with 3664 pounds of sodium sulphate. Its yield, though less than that of plat 13, has been, on the average of fifty years, slightly better than that of plat 12, over half a bushel of grain and nearly 1 hundredweight of straw per acre being the annual advantage. In later years the inferiority to plat 13 has become more marked; but the superiority to plat 12 is still distinct, especially in the yield of straw. While receiving slightly less potash in its early dressings than plat 12, plat 14 has given in its crops nearly 100 pounds more potash in fifty years. There should, by calculation, be now a deficit of 92 pounds of potash per acre as compared with plat 11.

The surface soil of plat 14 yields much less citric-acid-soluble potash than was the case in 1881, but the second and third depths still maintain their superiority, leaving, as compared with plat 11, a balance to the good of 76 pounds per acre of easily soluble potash in the 27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society [England], series B, 1901, vol. 192, pp. 139-210.

inches of soil, as against a calculated deficiency, owing to cropping, of 92 pounds. From these facts, as well as from the higher output of potash from this plat, there seems to be little doubt that the magnesium sulphate, like the sodium sulphate, has acted as a potash solvent, but to an appreciably greater extent, especially in the subsoil.

We now pass on to plat 13, which has received, in addition to ammonium salts and superphosphate, a liberal annual dressing of potash far in excess of the demands of the crops. The excess of supply of potash per acre over the output of potash in the crops should leave the plat richer than plat 11 to the extent of 4,052 pounds per acre. We find soluble in dilute citric-acid solution in the 27 inches of soil an excess, as compared with plat 11, of 827 pounds. Of this quantity 404 pounds per acre is in the surface soil, 288 pounds in the second depth, and 134 pounds in the third depth, indicating a descent of the potassium salts. The citric-acid-soluble accumulation, even in the whole 27 inches, however, although so great, is not much more than 20 per cent of the expected accumulation. Either, therefore, much of the potash has been washed down to lower depths still, or it has "reverted" into some form of combination with the bases of the soil in which it fails to be dissolved by weak citric-acid solution.

Plat 7 is manured like plat 14, but has, in addition to potassium salts, received also an annual dressing of sodium and magnesium salts. This plat has on the average yielded  $1\frac{1}{2}$  bushels more grain and  $1\frac{5}{8}$  hundredweight more straw per acre than plat 13, while in the last six years (1889–1894) it gave  $2\frac{3}{8}$  bushels more grain and  $1\frac{4}{5}$  hundredweight more straw per acre. Its larger yield of crops has entailed a distinctly larger output of potash, so that the estimated excess in the soil (3,662 pounds per acre more than plat 11) is 390 pounds less than on plat 13. Citric acid dissolves, however, from this plat 115 pounds more potash per acre than in the case of plat 13 in the surface soil and 11 pounds more in the second 9 inches, but 56 pounds less in the third 9 inches, leaving a balance of 70 pounds per acre in favor of plat 7 in the whole 27 inches. On the whole, and mainly in the surface soil, it would seem that the magnesium and sodium salts have effected the retention of considerably more of the potash in an easily soluble condition.

Plat 5 is a duplicate of plat 7, with, however, the important exception that it has received no nitrogenous manure whatever. It yields but meager crops—better, it is true, than those of the wholly unmanured plat—even now after fifty years. It has given less than half the quantity of grain yielded by plat 7 and about three-eighths of the straw. Its estimated excess of potash as compared with plat 11 is 5,242 pounds per acre, or 1,580 pounds more than plat 7. The surface soil is richer in citric-acid-soluble potash than that of plat 7 by 203 pounds per acre, the second 9 inches by 225 pounds, and the third 9 inches by 78 pounds, making in the 27 inches just over 500 pounds per acre, or nearly one-third of the estimated difference.

We have yet to consider the two farmyard-manured plats 2b and 2a, the former of which has received continuously throughout the experiments 14 tons of dung per acre per annum, while the latter has been similarly treated since 1884 only, having been previously unmanured. An examination of the results yields the following data:

TABLE	65.—Broadbalk	wheat	soils,	samples	collected	in	October,	1893—Plat	s 20
				and 2a.					

Plat 2b (dunged for 50 years).	Plat 2a (dunged for 9 years; un- manured for preceding 41 years).
Pounds, 10,043 948	Pounds. 1,790 1,249
813 577 156 1,546	746 289 67 1, 102
	Plat 2b (dunged for 50 years). Pounds, 10,043 948 813 577 156 1,546

It will be seen that, in the case of the continuously dunged plat, only a very small proportion of the estimated excess of potash is found by analysis, either by hydrochloric-acid extraction or by citric-acid extraction. The proportion of potash in the dung is put by Sir Henry Gilbert at 0.75 per cent. The difficulty of forming an accurate estimate of the average constituents of so variable a substance as dung has already been discussed in relation to phosphoric acid, and I can not help being inclined to think that the average richness of the dung in potash may have been overestimated. An average error of 0.1 per cent in the estimate would amount to 1,570 pounds per acre in fifty years, and an error of 0.25 per cent to no less than 3,920 pounds per acre.

But even after making a liberal allowance for this, there is clearly, a large proportion of potash not accounted for in the citric-acid-soluble contents of the soil, which must either have remained in or reverted into an insoluble condition, or have descended still lower into the subsoil. It seems probable that both suppositions are true, for there is certainly, in 1893, clear evidence of accumulated potash as far down as the third depth.

In the case of plat 2a, which has only been dunged in recent years, the analytical figures accord much better with the estimate, and it is obvious that whatever error there may be in the potash estimate for the dung has only been multiplied ninefold instead of fifty fold; and it is therefore possible that the estimate adopted may be more accurate for the dung recently used than for that of earlier years. There seems to be evidence here again that the potash of the dung travels downward with considerable facility, for, although the dunging has only been continued for nine years, there is a great increase in the citric-acid-soluble potash of the second 9 inches, and a considerable increase in that found in the third 9 inches.

#### POTASH IN DRAINAGE WATERS.

Reference has already been made to the results of analyses of the drainage waters of Broadbalk field made in 1867, 1868, and 1869 by the late Dr. Augustus Voelcker.

Averaging the results of the potash determinations in the various samples analyzed during these years, we obtain the following figures:

 TABLE 66.—From analyses of Broadbalk field drainage waters made by the late

 Dr. Augustus Voelcker, F. R. S., 1866–1869.

Plat.	Annual manuring.	Average quantity of potash in drain- age water.
3 and 4 10 11 12 14 13 7 5 2	Unmanured Ammonium salts only Ammonium salts and superphosphate Ammonium salts, superphosphate, and sodium sulphate Ammonium salts, superphosphate, and magnesium sulphate Ammonium salts, superphosphate, and potassium sulphate Ammonium salts and full mineral dressing Full mineral dressing without nitrogen Farmyard manure	$1.7 \\ 1.9 \\ 1 \\ 2.7 \\ 1 \\ 3.3 \\ 2.9 \\ 5.4 \\ 5.4$

#### [Parts per million.]

These results, although the samples were few, accord very well with what might be expected. – The potash in the drainage water from plat 11 (supplied with phosphates and nitrogen, but no potash) is less than in that from the unmanured plats, 3 and 4, or from plat 10, which received only ammonium salts, the utilization by the crops being, of course, greater on plat 11 in presence of an abundant supply of phosphates and nitrogen.

Plat 12, supplied in its earlier history with potash, and, in virtue of this (and probably also of the solvent action of the sodium salts), showing, in the 1865 soil samples, more citric-acid-soluble potash than plat 11, also yields more potash in its drainage water, and it also yields more than plat 14, to which magnesium salts were applied, which is again in accord with the citric-acid results.

Plat 13, well supplied with potash, shows decidedly more potash in its drainage water than plat 7, which, while also liberally supplied with potash, gets in addition, sodium and magnesium salts, and gives in consequence a greater crop, utilizing somewhat more potash.

Plat 5, getting a fuller supply of minerals than plat 13, but no nitro-

gen, yields much more potash in its drainage—as much as the dunged plat, which receives the greatest quantity of potash.

The average quantities are in no case great, varying from 1 part of potash per million parts of water on plats 11 and 14, to 5.4 parts per million on plats 5 and 2; but the higher quantities are nevertheless significant. Assuming an annual percolation of 10 inches of drainage water into the drainpipes or into the subsoil below 27 inches, the quantities found would probably represent as little as about  $2\frac{1}{2}$  pounds of potash per acre per annum in the case of plats 11 and 14, and as much as  $12\frac{1}{2}$  pounds per acre from plat 5 (full mineral dressing without nitrogen) and from plat 2 (continuously dunged). The difference between these two extremes would amount to 500 pounds per acre in fifty years, but it seems probable that, as the quantity of potassium salts has annually accumulated in the soil, the quantity of potash in the drainage waters will have become greater in later years on the potash-manured plats and on the continuously dunged plats. Dr. Voelcker's analyses, therefore, may be regarded as yielding, even as long ago as 1867-1869, evidence of appreciable descent of potash on the plat on which the application of potassium salts had been excessive, and where its utilization had been least, owing to the absence of nitrogenous manure, and also on the continuously dunged plat. Furthermore, the analytical results of the subsoils of these plats down to a depth of 27 inches show a much larger quantity of citric-acid-soluble potash than do those of any of the other plats, and this seems to accord with the indications of the descent of some potash in the drainage water to even a lower depth.

#### GENERAL CONCLUSIONS AS TO POTASH.

The general conclusions derived from the potash results, as summed up in the paper recently laid before the Royal Society,<sup>1</sup> are to the effect that strong hydrochloric acid, as a solvent for potash in soil analysis, is again shown to be practically useless as a gauge of potash fertility, especially in soils containing an abundance of total potash in mineral combination as silicates, etc. No concordant results are obtainable except by working under the strictest arbitrary conditions, and the results, even when concordant, have little meaning apart from an independent knowledge of the history of the soil. With this knowledge they are interesting, but in its absence they are of little use except in extreme cases.

The results obtained by citric acid, however, are on the whole both instructive and consistent. They show that the largest accumulation of manurial potash, where applied in the form of dung or of potassium salts, is in the surface soil; but that a large proportion is also found

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society [England], 1901, series B, vol. 194, pp. 235-290.

in the second, and even in the third, 9 inches. The accumulation in the subsoil is most evident in the cases of the dunged plats and of the plat which, in addition to potassium salts, has received superphosphate and mixed sodium and magnesium sulphates, without nitrogen. Both sodium and magnesium salts have exercised a distinct influence in increasing the proportion of citric-acid-soluble potash in all depths on the plats to which no potassium salts have been applied for forty years. These plats still maintain a higher yield of potash in their crops than does the plat manured with superphosphate and ammonium salts only, though the equivalent of the potash originally added has been more than exhausted in one case and nearly exhausted in the other. Furthermore, sodium and magnesium salts, used in conjunction with potash salts, have caused a much larger retention of potash in a citric-acid-soluble condition than when potassium sulphate has been used without them, although the potash taken up by the crops has been greater than in the latter case.

It has usually been considered that potash is pretty firmly retained in the surface soil on land containing a fair proportion of clay. That this is the case, as compared with sodium salts, has often been shown, and, apart from earlier investigation, was clearly brought out in the drainage water analyses of the late Dr. Voelcker, just referred to; 'but, as we have seen, even these analyses showed a considerable loss of potash in drainage in certain cases, and it is evident from the results of the analyses of the soils and subsoils that though, relatively to sodium salts, potassium salts readily become fixed in clay soils often, probably, passing into a very stable insoluble form—they are nevertheless far more "migratory" than phosphoric acid.

### SECTION III.

#### THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS (Continued).

#### COMPARISON OF RESULTS OF ANALYSES OF THE VARIOUS SAM-PLES DRAWN, RESPECTIVELY, IN 1865, 1881, AND 1893.

#### TOTAL NITROGEN AND ORGANIC CARBON.

We have complete sets of nitrogen determinations in the samples of 1881 as well as in those of 1893, and also nitrogen determinations in the less complete set taken in 1865.

It will be remembered (see earlier discussion, p. 25) that, in discussing the 1893 samples, we have adopted, as probably the more correct, the results of the nitrogen determinations made by the Kjeldahl method; but, for comparison with the earlier results, we must take for the 1893 samples the determinations made by the soda-lime method, as these alone will be strictly comparable with the figures similarly obtained for the 1865 and 1881 samples. The deficiencies should be fairly constant at all three periods, and should not materially affect the differential results.

We also have organic carbon determinations in two out of the three sets of samples.

Tables 67 and 68 set forth both the nitrogen and carbon results, stated in terms of percentage and as pounds per acre based upon the adopted weights of soil already explained.

**TABLE 67.**—Broadbalk wheat soils—Total NITROGEN (by soda-lime method), stated as percentages of fine dry soil and as pounds per acre, in samples collected October, 1865, October, 1881, and October, 1893.

	180	35.	18	81.	1893.						
Pe	r cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.					
Plat 2a	0.1000	4.040	0.1004	4 200	0.1520	3,815					
Plat 3 Plat 4	. 1050	4,040	0.1856		. 2152 . 0940 . 0906	+, 970 2, 437 2, 349					
Plat 5 Plat 6	. 1073	2,782	.0981 .1106	2,543 2,867	$.0971 \\ .1076$	2,517 2,790					
Plat 7.	. 1170	3,034	.1207 .1260 .1200	3,129 3,267 2,111	$.1146 \\ .1167 \\ .1116$	2,971 3,026					
Plat 9b	. 1065	2,761	.1064 .1034	2,759 2,681	.1058 .1002	2,743 2,598					
Plat 10b	. 1125	2,916	.1037 .1121	2,689 2,906	.1029 .1119	2,668 2,901					
lat 13. Dat 14	.1157 .1151 .1154	2,999 2,984 2,991	.1155 .1191 .1163	2,994 3,088 3,015	.1110 .1088 .1204	2,878 2,821 3,122					
Plat 15	.1210	3,137	.1178 .1066	3,054 2,764	.1188	3,080 2,878					
Plat 17 Plat 18			.1088 .1116	2,821 2,893	.1117 .1204	2,896 3,122					
Plat 19			. 1230	3,186	. 1309	3,377					

FIRST 9 INCHES.

## TABLE 67.—Broadbalk wheat soils—Continued.

#### SECOND 9 INCHES.

			100	51.	1893.		
Р	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	
Plat 2a         Plat 2b         Plat 3         Plat 4         Plat 5         Plat 6         Plat 7         Plat 8         Plat 9a         Plat 9b         Plat 9b         Plat 9b         Plat 10a         Plat 10b         Plat 10b         Plat 12         Plat 12         Plat 14         Plat 15         Plat 16         Plat 16         Plat 17         Plat 18         Plat 19	0.0810 .0738 .0715 .0707 .0757 .0750 .0752 .0758 .0722 .0814 .0786	$\begin{array}{c} 2,164\\ 1,971\\ 1,910\\ \hline 1,889\\ 2,022\\ \hline 1,950\\ 2,036\\ 2,025\\ 1,950\\ 2,174\\ 2,100\\ \hline \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0742\\ 0.0681\\ 0.0641\\ 0.0698\\ 0.0692\\ 0.0718\\ 0.0717\\ 0.0699\\ 0.072\\ 0.0689\\ 0.072\\ 0.0689\\ 0.0729\\ 0.0707\\ 0.0695\\ 0.0707\\ 0.0654\\ 0.0721\\ 0.0743\\ 0.0797\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1,982\\ 1,819\\ 1,720\\ 1,865\\ 1,827\\ 1,849\\ 1,918\\ 1,918\\ 1,918\\ 1,918\\ 1,918\\ 1,841\\ 1,795\\ 1,819\\ 1,966\\ 1,947\\ 1,857\\ 1,857\\ 1,857\\ 1,857\\ 1,985\\ 2,129\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0761\\ .0712\\ .0696\\ .0070\\ .0684\\ .0671\\ .0578\\ .0696\\ .0765\\ .0778\\ .0765\\ .0778\\ .0791\\ .0686\\ .0748\\ .0689\\ .0748\\ .0689\\ .0748\\ .0731\\ .0701\\ .0776\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2,033\\ 1,902\\ 1,853\\ 1,790\\ 1,857\\ 1,792\\ 1,599\\ 2,044\\ 2,078\\ 2,108\\ 2,044\\ 2,078\\ 2,108\\ 1,999\\ 2,103\\ 1,999\\ 2,103\\ 1,993\\ 1,953\\ 1,953\\ 1,953\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 2,073\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,873\\ 1,$	

#### THIRD 9 1NCHES.

	1					1
Plat 2a					0.0645	1,801
Plat 2b	0.0619	1.728	0.0576	1,608	.0628	1,753
Plat 3	. 0561	1.566	0550	1.535	.0594	1.658
Plat 4		1,000	0563	1,572	.0573	1,600
Plat 5	.0612	1.708	0572	1,597	. 0560	1,563
Plat 6	1001N	1,000	0557	1 555	0558	1 558
Plat 7	0613	1 711	0563	1 572	0527	1 171
Plat 8		.,	0606	1 692	0587	1 639
Plat 0a	0620	1 731	0603	1 683	0609	1 700
Plat 0b	: 0000	1,001	0568	1 586	0619	1 812
Plat 10a	0637	1 778	0574	1,602	0678	1 893
Plat 10b		1,000	0620	1 731	0682	1 904
Plat 11	0613	1 711	0617	1 799	6699	1 736
Plot 19	0627	1 750	0618	1 795	0676	1 887
1) 1 a b 1 k	(1581	1,100	0566	1,580	0566	1,580
Dlot 14	. 030±	1,000	. 0300	1,000	. 0500	1 772
Dlof 15	.0001	1,110	.0007	1,004	.0000	1,612
Dlot 10	0690	1 791	.0012	1,700	.0010	1,010
Dlot 1"	. 00.00	1,701	.0004	1,000	.0000	1,00%
Dlat 10			0506	1,700	.0000	1,005
T 1ab 10			. 0390	1,004	.0000	1,09%
Plat 19.			. 0059	1.10±	.0091	1, 940
				-		

		First 9	inches		1	Second 9	inches	s.	Third 9 inches.			
	1881.		1)	1893.		1881.		1893.		1881.		\$93.
	Per cent.	Pounds per acre	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.
Plat 2a. Plat 2b Plat 3. Plat 4. Plat 4. Plat 5. Plat 6. Plat 9a. Plat 9a. Plat 9a. Plat 9a. Plat 10b Plat 10b Plat 110 Plat 112 Plat 12 Plat 15 Plat 15 Plat 15 Plat 15 Plat 15 Plat 17 Plat 18 Plat 19	$\begin{array}{c} 2.132\\ 977\\ 1.010\\ 1.033\\ 1.190\\ 1.267\\ 1.312\\ 1.250\\ 1.455\\ 1.058\\ 1.175\\ 1.255\\ 1.058\\ 1.175\\ 1.257\\ 1.254\\ 1.210\\ 1.200\\ 1.210\\ 1.367\\ \end{array}$	2235525254553235515515525555555555555555	$\begin{array}{c} 1.582\\ 2.230\\ .888\\ .909\\ .931\\ 1.019\\ 1.101\\ 1.138\\ 1.008\\ 1.008\\ 1.049\\ .969\\ 1.107\\ 1.123\\ 1.165\\ 1.137\\ 1.165\\ 1.137\\ 1.165\\ 1.257\end{array}$	39,7116 (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (2022) (	$\begin{array}{c} 0.674\\ 612\\ 567\\ 606\\ 599\\ 646\\ 559\\ 605\\ 608\\ 655\\ 608\\ 648\\ 664\\ 664\\ 664\\ 664\\ 664\\ 664\\ 66$	18,005 16,348 15,1438 16,253 16,253 17,1438 16,510 17,17,23 17,17,23 17,17,23 17,17,23 17,17,23 17,17,23 17,17,23 17,17,23 17,150 17,150 17,150 19,153	0. 645 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550 × 550	$\begin{array}{c} 17,230\\ 17,230\\ 19,981\\ 15,603\\ 16,6281\\ 15,554\\ 14,158\\ 15,554\\ 14,158\\ 15,554\\ 17,300\\ 17,300\\ 17,300\\ 17,300\\ 17,300\\ 17,300\\ 19,218\\ 17,364\\ 16,825\\ 19,218\\ 17,364\\ 16,825\\ 19,218\\ 17,364\\ 16,825\\ 19,218\\ 17,364\\ 16,825\\ 19,218\\ 17,364\\ 16,825\\ 19,218\\ 17,364\\ 16,825\\ 19,218\\ 17,364\\ 16,825\\ 19,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218\\ 10,218$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.519\\ -448\\ -443\\ -443\\ -445\\ -453\\ -453\\ -453\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521\\ -521$	14.489.555.505.505.555.555.555.555.555.555.55	$\begin{array}{c} 0.515\\ 4483\\ 4433\\ 4433\\ 4443\\ 426\\ 4435\\ 524\\ 4435\\ 524\\ 5524\\ 5524\\ 5524\\ 5525\\ 4526\\ 5525\\ 4526\\ 5535\\ 4382\\ 457\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585\\ 4585$	$\begin{array}{c} 14,376\\ 13,744\\ 13,443\\ 12,925\\ 12,440\\ 11,976\\ 11,976\\ 14,935\\ 14,633\\ 14,627\\ 14,633\\ 13,315\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,013\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\ 14,935\\$

**TABLE 68.**—Broadbalk wheat soils—Organic CARBON, stated as percentages of fine dry soil and as pounds per acre, in samples collected October, 1881, and October, 1893.

Attention for the moment may be directed especially to the surface soils, representing the first 9 inches of each plat, in each of the three years.

Having devoted so much time and space to the detailed consideration of the 1893 samples, all we need here do is to see how far the results of the two previous samplings bear out the conclusions generally arrived at from those of later ones. You may be reminded that the three samplings represent the twenty-second, thirty-eighth, and fiftieth years of these continuous experiments. The continuously dunged plat, 2b, shows a steady gain in percentage of nitrogen, which has increased markedly since 1881, the three percentages being 0.1752, 0.1836, and 0.2132. Between 1865 and 1881 the difference, expressed as pounds per acre, is less marked than in percentage, but this is because the surface soil has become lightened and weighs less for a like depth. The organic carbon, between 1881 and 1893, shows an increase of 964 pounds per acre.

The rape-cake plat (No. 19) was not analyzed in 1865. Between 1881 and 1893, however, we see that it has accumulated 0.0079 per cent of nitrogen, or 191 pounds per acre. The farmyard manure and the rape-cake plats, it will be remembered, are the only plats that seem to accumulate actual manurial nitrogenous matter as such.

Next we may consider plats 3 and 4, the unmanured plats. Both show a steady decline in nitrogen and carbon from period to period. Closely behind them, both in nitrogen and carbon diminution, comes plat 5, with mineral dressings only. It has lost rather less nitrogen than plats 3 and 4, but the loss has been progressive, though the diminution seems to have been slower latterly than in earlier years.

Plats 10a and 10b, notwithstanding their 400 pounds per acre per annum of ammonium salts, show, in the absence of mineral manures, a gradual but steady loss of soil nitrogen, and the carbon also decreases.

Plats 6, 7, and 8, all supplied with full minerals, but progressively increasing dressings of ammonium salts (200, 400, and 600 pounds per acre per annum respectively), all show a decrease of nitrogen since 1881, and the carbon also declines.

Plats 11, 12, 13, and 14, the series which all receive the same dressing of ammonium salts (400 pounds per acre per annum) and superphosphate, but differ in other saline applications, show on the whole a decline in both carbon and nitrogen.

Plat 9a, manured with sodium nitrate and full minerals, shows a decrease in both carbon and nitrogen. It is to be noted that its neighbor, plat 9b, which receives only sodium nitrate, without minerals, was in 1881, as well as in 1893, much poorer both in nitrogen and carbon than plat 9a, which receives phosphates and potash, as well as sodium nitrate, and which, in consequence, persistently grows larger crops, necessarily leaving larger root and stubble residues.

Plat 16 shows well the evidences of its checkered history. Liberally manured from 1852 to 1864, with full minerals and as many as 800 pounds of ammonium salts per annum, it was in 1865 the richest of all the chemically manured plats as regards nitrogen contents, showing as much as 0.1210 per cent of nitrogen. Then it was unmanured for nineteen years, and toward the close of these starvation years, in 1881, we find it to have fallen in nitrogen contents to 0.1066 per cent, a decline of 373 pounds per acre in sixteen years, or 23 pounds per annum. Since 1884, however, it has had full minerals and 550 pounds per annum of sodium nitrate, and after these nine years of prosperity it shows, in 1893, a regain of 114 pounds per acre of its lost nitrogen.

Plats 17 and 18, nitrogenously and minerally manured in alternate years, and giving alternately high and low crops, are still gaining nitrogen, not having apparently reached the turning point in accumulation shown much earlier on most of the chemically manured plats.

The following table (Table 69) shows conveniently, together with the surface-soil nitrogen contents of the various plats already given, the gain and loss indicated by the samples during each period, and also the difference at each date between each plat and plat 5, the plat fully supplied with minerals, but without any nitrogenous dressing, and therefore the plat in the best position to utilize soil nitrogen, and on this, and also on other grounds, the best standard of comparison for many of the plats.

		Nitrogen per acre in fine dry soil.											
Plat.	Annual manuring.	1865	1881	1893	1881,	1893,	+ 0	or —, pla	t 5.				
		L	TOOT.	1000	1865.	1881.	1865.	1881.	1893.				
2a	Farmyard manure since	Lbs,	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.				
2D 3 4 5	Farmyard manure, 50 years Unmanured Unmannred since 1852		4,399 2,616 2,383 2,543	3,815 4,976 2,437 2,349 2,517	+56 -106 -239	$+577 \\ -179 \\ -34 \\ -96$	$+1.561 \\ - 60$	+1,856 + 73 - 160	+1,298 +2,459 - 80 - 168				
6 7-8	Full minerals and ammo- nium salts do do	3,034	2,867 3,129 3,207	2,790 2,971 3,026	+ 95	77 -158 -241	+ 252	+ 324 + 586 - 724	+ 273 + 454 + 509				
9a 9b 10a	Full minerals and sodium nitrate Sodium nitrate only Ammonium salts (no min-	3,054	3,111 2,759	2,8963 2,743	+ 57	$-218 \\ -16$	+ 272	+ 568 + 216	$^+$ 376 + 226				
10b	Ammonium salts (no min- erals since 1850)	2,761	2,681	2,598	- 80	- 83	- 21	+ 138 + 146	+ 81				
11	Phosphates and ammo- nium salts	2,016	2,906	2,901	- 10	- 5	+ 134	+ 363	+ 384				
12	Phosphates, sodium, and ammonium salts Phosphates.potassium.and	2,999	2,994	2,878	- 5	116	+ 217	+ 451	+ 361				
14	ammonium salts. Phosphates, magnesium,	2,984	3, 088	2.821	+104	-267	+ 202	+ 545	+ 304				
15	Full minerals and ammo- ( ninm salts (autumn)	3,991	3,015	3,122	+ 21	+ 104.	+ ::09	+ 472	+ 605 + 563				
16	Full minerals and sodium nitrate since 1884 (1865-	0.10*			1.0411								
17 18	[Full minerals and annue- nium salts, transposed in]	o, 137	2,764 2,821 2,893	2, 5, 8	-343	+114 + 75 + 229	+ 3	+ 221 + 278 + 350	+ 361 + 379 + 605				
19	Rape cake		3,186	3,377		$\pm 191$		+ 643	+ 860				

**TABLE 69.**—Broadbalk wheat soils (1865, 1881, and 1893)—First 9 inches only— NITROGEN per acre in fine dry soil, and differences for each period; also the amounts, + or -, plat 5.

Generally we see that on the chemical plats the tendency, even under liberal treatment, has been toward decline rather than increase of accumulated nitrogen in later years, following on an earlier period of gain. In fact, we seem to see in progress the attainment of that equilibrium which Professor Warington pointed out to you in 1891 as naturally tending to establish itself under any manurial conditions in a drained and aerated soil. Up to a certain point the increase of crop and weed residue, induced by liberal manuring, produces accumulation of organic matter; but this increase furnishes increased pabulum for the myriads of soil microbes, fostering their growth and increasing their activity, so that they destroy the excess of organic matter that helped them to multiply. They then become less active, and a balance is struck between the annual supply of organic food furnished to them by crop and root residues and their annual potency to break it down and destroy it. On such an explanation each plat should in time arrive at its own point of average equilibrium as regards nitrogen contents.

On this supposition it may be said that on plat 3 (unmanured for fifty years) the conditions are less favorable for bacterial multiplica-

9385-No. 106-02-9

tion and exercise of function; hence the slowness of soil nitrification which, aided by the absence of mineral manure, keeps the crops on this plat small, but at the same time renders their decline so remarkably slow that even after more than half a century of ceaseless cropping, the land still yields from 12 to 13 bushels of grain and its accompanying straw per acre.

The results for the subsoils are more difficult to consider, owing to the natural irregularities formerly alluded to. It may, however, be said that, in the second depth, from 1865 to 1881 there appears throughout to be a diminution of nitrogen, wherever we have 1865 samples for purposes of comparison. Between 1881 and 1893 the general tendency appears to be toward an increase in nitrogen. In the third 9 inches, from 1865 to 1881 there appears to be more or less decline, with a tendency toward increase between 1881 and 1893. But many of the differences are only such as may, so far from the surface, be due to chance irregularities.

NITROGEN AS NITRATES—" NITRIC" NITROGÉN (1881 AND 1893 RESULTS COMPARED).

The nitric nitrogen was not determined in 1865, but it was determined in the 1881 samples by Professor Warington. The following table shows, side by side, the nitric nitrogen found in the first three depths of each plat in both years, and also a summary giving for each year the total quantity found in the whole 27 inches.

TABLE 70.—Broadbalk whea	t soils, 1881 and .	1893.—Nitrogen	as NITRATES (	"'nitric"
nitrogen) stated as parts	per million of	fine dry soil and	as pounds	per acre,
in samples collected in Oc	tober, 1881, and	October, 1893.		

		First 9	inches.		1	Second	) inche	s.		Third 9 inches.			
	1881.		1893.		18	1881.		1893.		1881.		1893.	
Plat.	Parts per million.	Pounds per acre.	Parts per million.	Pounds per acre.	Parts per million.	Pounds per acre.	Parts per million.	Pounds per acre.	Parts per million.	Pounds per acre.	Parts per million.	Pounds per acre.	
2a 2b 3 4 5 6 7 8 9b 10a 10b 111 12 13 14 15 16 16 17 18 19	$\begin{array}{c} 12,23\\ 3,80\\ 3,62\\ 4,94\\ 6,46\\ 7,94\\ 8,27\\ 7,73\\ 6,38\\ 5,55\\ 5,26\\ 7,09\\ 4,94\\ 6,30\\ 5,26\\ 4,15\\ 4,19\\ 4,46\\ 5,52\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 29,30\\ 9,85\\ 9,39\\ 12,81\\ 16,750\\ 20,510\\ 21,44\\ 20,04\\ 13,64\\ 18,23\\ 13,64\\ 18,23\\ 12,81\\ 16,34\\ 10,76\\ 10,86\\ 11,56\\ 11,56\\ 14,30\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 9.43\\ 4.51\\ 3.72\\ 3.06\\ 5.45\\ 5.771\\ 6.41\\ 4.83\\ 3.64\\ 4.5.316\\ 5.316\\ 5.316\\ 5.316\\ 5.316\\ 5.316\\ 5.324\\ 4.49\\ 8.55\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 23.67\\ 10.53\\ 9.64\\ 17.40\\ 14.196\\ 17.40\\ 11.67\\ 13.92\\ 13.38\\ 10.01\\ 13.92\\ 13.38\\ 10.01\\ 13.59\\ 11.64\\ 12.06\\ 12.19\\ 11.64\\ 12.06\\ 12.19\\ 11.64\\ 12.06\\ 12.19\\ 11.64\\ 12.06\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.19\\ 12.12\\ 12.12\\ 12.12\\ 12.12\\ 12.12\\ 12.12$	$\begin{array}{c} 5.70\\ 1.94\\ 1.48\\ 2.63\\ 2.77\\ 4.17\\ 3.69\\ 7.48\\ 3.32\\ 3.42\\ 3.81\\ 3.32\\ 3.81\\ 3.95\\ 1.86\\ 3.21\\ 3.95\\ 1.86\\ 3.10\\ 4.79\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 15,23\\ 5,18\\ 3,95\\ 7,03\\ 7,40\\ 11,14\\ 13,76\\ 9,86\\ 19,85\\ 11,70\\ 8,87\\ 9,88\\ 11,70\\ 8,87\\ 9,14\\ 10,18\\ 8,82\\ 7,37\\ 8,28\\ 12,89\\ 12,89\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 8.48\\ 16.98\\ 3.45\\ 2.63\\ 2.38\\ 4.77\\ 7.192\\ 7.205\\ 19.52\\ 10.88\\ 9.20\\ 9.54\\ 9.79\\ 10.92\\ 7.90\\ 15.94\\ 10.37\\ 15.53\\ 9.12\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 22.65\\ 9.222\\ -6.36\\ 12.74\\ 19.217\\ 19.23\\ 29.17\\ 19.23\\ 25.43\\ 29.06\\ 24.58\\ 26.15\\ 30.99\\ 18.70\\ 422,580\\ 411,49\\ 24.36\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.45\\ 1.00\\ .67\\ 1.71\\ 2.07\\ 2.83\\ 2.98\\ 6.44\\ 2.65\\ 2.152\\ 1.52\\ 1.58\\ .93\\ 1.50\\ 5.11\\ 1.24\\ 1.90\\ 2.58 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.84\\ 2.79\\ 1.81\\ 4.66\\ 5.78\\ 7.98\\ 7.802\\ 17.98\\ 7.400\\ 8.68\\ 4.41\\ 2.60\\ 3.668\\ 4.19\\ 14.26\\ 3.46\\ 5.30\\ 7.20\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.68\\ 4.39\\760\\ 2.08\\ 3.062\\ 3.062\\ 5.583\\ 4.001\\ 5.533\\ 4.358\\ 4.222\\ 7.406\\ 2.29\\ 5.08\\ 2.29\\ 5.08\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 10.27\\ 12.25\\ 2.74\\ 2.12\\ 2.23\\ 5.81\\ 8.71\\ 6.70\\ 15.58\\ 11.25\\ 13.99\\ 14.88\\ 12.14\\ 9.44\\ 11.78\\ 10.52\\ 20.77\\ 8.54\\ 6.39\\ 14.18\\ \end{array}$	

#### TABLE 70.—Broadbalk wheat soils. etc.—Continued.

SUMMARY-FIRST, SECOND, AND THIRD DEPTHS (27 INCHES).

Plat.	Annual manuring.	Nitro- gen in manure per acre per an- num.	1881.	1893.
		Pounds.	Pounds.	Pounds.
2a	Farmyard manure since 1884	200		56, 59
2b	Farmyard manure 50 years	200	51.37	68.14
3	Unmannred	0	17.82	21.60
4	Unmanured since 1852	0	15.15	17.11
5	Full minerals	()	24.50	19.12
6	Full minerals and ammonium salts	43	28.92	32.68
ĩ	do	86	37.51	42.71
8	do	129	43.10	55.28
9a	Full minerals and sodium nitrate	43	38.22	42.55
9b	Sodium nitrate only	43	54.37	61.54
10a	Ammonium salts (no minerals since 1844)	56	33.49	49.20
101-	Ammonium salts (no minerals since 1850)	86	28.51	52.49
11	Phosphates and ammonium salts.	86	31.05	51.13
12	Phosphates, sodium, and ammonium salts	86	30.12	51.78
13	Phosphates, potassium, and ammonium salts	86	24.23	49.51
14	Phosphates, magnesium, and ammonium salts	86	28.56	56.15
15	Full minerals and ammonium salts (autninn)	86	28.38	39.23
16	Full minerals and sodium nitrate since 1884	245	(1 29, 99	16.91
11	(Full minerals and animonium salts transposed in alternate	86	21 69	48.43
18	years	1 00	20.11	39.32
1:0	паре сако	565	54.30	60,60

a No nitrate in 1881.

The climatic conditions in the two years were by no means alike, except in so far as that in both years they resulted in the crops being exceptionally light. In 1881 there was exceedingly heavy rain immediately after the crop was cut in August, amounting to nearly 6 inches; and this rain must have for the most part washed downward the nitrates already existing in the upper layers of the soil and unutilized by the crop. Indeed (as was pointed out in Professor Warington's lectures to you in 1891), the analyses of drainage waters collected from the plats at the time showed that this was the case. The field was plowed in September, and the moisture, warmth, and aeration of the soil produced exceedingly rapid autumn nitrification before the soils were sampled in October. The progress of this nitrification was most interestingly shown in the successive samples of drainage water examined during the period.<sup>1</sup>

It seems probable, then, that the greater part of the nitrates found in the first and second depths in 1881 was due to nitrification occurring subsequently to harvest.

In 1893 there had been a spring and summer drought, most unfavorable for early nitrification. Between harvest and soil sampling there was, however, as we have seen when discussing the 1893 results,  $4\frac{1}{2}$ inches of rain, and three-fourths inch more during the time of sampling, with the result that much of the nitrates existing unused at harvest must have been washed into the second depth. But the wash-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Professor Warington's Lectures, U.S. Dept. Agr., Office of Experiment Stations Bul. 8, p. 85.

ing downward of the nitrates could not have occurred to anything like so great an extent as in 1881. On the other hand, the moisture after harvest, as in 1881, must have aided autumn nitrification, though not to so great an extent.

The result of the difference between the two seasons is that, on the whole, we find in October, in 1893, a much larger quantity of nitrates than in the same month in 1881. For example, if we take the continuously dunged plat, 2b, we find in the three depths (27 inches) about 68 pounds of nitric nitrogen per acre in 1893, as against about 51 pounds in 1881. So, also, in the rape-cake plat we find over 60 pounds per acre in 1893 and only about 34 pounds in 1881. On the unmanured plats, 3 and 4, and on plat 5, which is manured with minerals only, we find but little difference, the production of nitrates on these plats being, it will be remembered, at a minimum, there being no manurial nitrogen to yield nitrates, but only the natural-soil nitrogen reenforced by meager crop residues. It may be noticed, however, that while plats 3 and 4, under the conditions of the 1893 season, showed in 27 inches only about the same quantity of nitric nitrogen as plat 5, yet the last named plat in 1881 showed considerably more than the two unmanured plats, indicating, in the more favorable nitrifying conditions, the effects of its greater stock of crop residues owing to its greater average fertility.

Plats 9a and 9b receive sodium nitrate yearly—in the case of 9a with full minerals in addition, but in the case of 9b without them. In 1881 the quantity of sodium nitrate applied was 550 pounds per acre per annum, but in 1893 it was only 275 pounds. Nevertheless, in 1881, after the heavy rain, the total quantity of nitric nitrogen found on both plats down to 27 inches was less than in 1893 after the much lighter dressing. In both years, however, we find that in the second and third depths the quantity of nitrate left is much less on plat 9a, which receives mineral dressings and gives larger crops, than on plat 9b, which, getting the same quantity of sodium nitrate but no minerals, gives a smaller annual produce.

Plats 10, 11, 12, 13, and 14, all dressed alike in both years with ammonium salts, with and without various mineral additions, all showed in the total 27 inches much less nitric nitrogen in 1881 than in 1893, again indicating that the washing down of the nitrates formed from the ammonium salts was in 1881 much more complete than in the season of 1893.

A very marked difference will be noticed in the nitrogen found at the two different periods on plat 16. Plat 16, in 27 inches, showed only 30 pounds of nitric nitrogen per acre per annum in 1881, as against 77 pounds in 1893; but in 1881 this plat was, and had been for nineteen years, unmanured, while in 1893 it had for ten years been receiving a full mineral dressing, including 550 pounds per acre per annum of sodium nitrate. The difference is mainly shown in the second and third depths.

#### THE BROADBALK WHEAT SOILS.

#### CHLORIN (1881 AND 1893 RESULTS COMPARED).

The chlorin was not determined in 1865, but was determined by Professor Warington in the samples of the first, second, and third depths collected in 1881, and the results, which have not been previously published, are shown in the following table, side by side with those of the 1893 samples:

 

 TABLE 71.—Broadbalk wheat soils, 1881 and 1893—CHLORIN stated as parts per million of fine dry soil and as pounds per acre, in samples collected in October, 1881, and October, 1893.

									mit i nati i			
		First 9	inches.			Second 9	) inches	5.	Third 9 mches.			
	18	1881.		1893.		1881.		1893.		81.	1893.	
Plat.	Parts per million.	Pounds per acre.	Parts per million.	Pounds per acre.	Parts per million.	Pounds per acre.	Parts per million	Pounds per acre.	Parts per million.	Pounds per acre.	Parts per million.	Pounds per acre.
2a 2b 3 4 5 5 6 7 8 a 9b 10a 10b 10b 10b 10b 11 12 13 14 5 16 17 8 19	$\begin{array}{c} 527\\ 3296\\ 3396\\ 33640\\ 6.648\\ 4.88\\ 2356\\ 5.565\\ 9.585\\ 6.51\\ 397\\ 2.849\\ 9.7586\\ 0.97\\ 2.849\\ 9.7583\\ 6.51\\ 3.43\\ 1.756\\ 0.51\\ 3.43\\ 1.756\\ 0.51\\ 1.75\\ 1.56\\ 0.51\\ 1.75\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1.56\\ 1$	$\begin{array}{c} 12.63\\8.45\\9.05\\8.56\\12.03\\12.03\\12.47\\13.55\\24.79\\20.35\\24.29\\20.30\\19.60\\19.60\\16.88\\8.8\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 9.774\\ 3.90\\ 3.236\\ 5.5541\\ 0.727\\ 4.69\\ 1.449\\ 2.669\\ 1.449\\ 2.252\\ 3.288\\ 5.56\\ 1.449\\ 2.576\\ 2.257\\ 2.240\\ 0.22\\ 2.257\\ 1.400\\ 2.257\\ 1.400\\ 2.257\\ 1.400\\ 2.257\\ 1.400\\ 2.257\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400\\ 1.400$	$\begin{array}{c} 24,52\\ 34,40\\ 10,11\\ 8,500\\ 16,49\\ 14,91\\ 14,36\\ 12,73\\ 1,87\\ 6,40\\ 17,373\\ 9,05\\ 11,20\\ 13,61\\ 9,900\\ 7,47\\ 6,66\\ 6,387\\ 11,66\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 9.43\\ 5.29\\ 5.11\\ 9.26\\ 12.36\\ 18.11\\ 10.90\\ 22.43\\ 21.55\\ 13.243\\ 15.55\\ 13.243\\ 12.222\\ 15.82\\ 11.27\\ 5.775\\ 19.75\\ 5.35\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 25,19\\ 11,13\\ 13,15\\ 24,74\\ 33,28\\ 81,45\\ 29,12\\ 50,57\\ 55,37\\ 43,26\\ 42,261\\ 32,64\\ 42,261\\ 32,64\\ 42,261\\ 15,41\\ 15,43\\ 18,65\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\ 14,29\\$	$\begin{array}{c} 9,80\\ 9,80\\ 6,33\\ 6,69\\ 10,11\\ 10,00\\ 8,37\\ 7,98\\ 11,08\\ 8,37\\ 11,98\\ 11,08\\ 9,95\\ 16,604\\ 11,74\\ 7,175\\ 13,32\\ 7,46\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 26.18\\ 36.04\\ 16.91\\ 18.25\\ 20.54\\ 27.015\\ 34.23\\ 20.00\\ 26.39\\ 20.00\\ 26.39\\ 20.00\\ 26.39\\ 24.34\\ 34.36\\ 19.18\\ 20.75\\ 8\\ 19.03\\ 19.18\\ 20.75\\ 8\\ 19.93\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 7 & 17 \\ 6 & 92 \\ 3 & 95 \\ 10 & 82 \\ 13 & 27 \\ 15 & 72 \\ 33 & 06 \\ 12 & 96 \\ 10 & 48 \\ 20 & 93 \\ 19 & 66 \\ 13 & 36 \\ 13 & 36 \\ 18 & 32 \\ 18 & 32 \\ 18 & 32 \\ 18 & 39 \\ 5 & 44 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 20, 62\\ 19, 32\\ 11, 08\\ 30, 20\\ 35, 08\\ 43, 88\\ 92, 29\\ 36, 18\\ 29, 25\\ 58, 43\\ 54, 88\\ 37, 29\\ 63, 06\\ 51, 14\\ 50, 50\\ 29, 00\\ 29, 00\\ 21, 34\\ 15, 19\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 8.01\\ 5.57\\ 4.05\\ 3.4.90\\ 6.20\\ 5.88\\ 8.30\\ 4.12\\ 8.39\\ 8.343\\ 1.126\\ 9.13\\ 3.44\\ 7.126\\ 9.13\\ 12.45\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 22,36\\ 15,55\\ 11,31\\ 14,69\\ 13,85\\ 17,31\\ 21,691\\ 16,41\\ 22,91\\ 24,31\\ 24,82\\ 23,17\\ 23,12\\ 37,24\\ 19,88\\ 21,69\\ 14,75\\ 25,49\\ 34,75\\ \end{array}$

SUMMARY FIRST, SECOND, AND THIRD DEPTHS (27 INCHES).

				the second se
Plat.	Annual manuring.	Nitrogen in ma- nure per acre per annum.	1881.	1893.
2a 2b 3 4 5 6 7 8 90 10a 112 13 14 5 16 117 18 19	Farmyard manure since 1884. Farmyard manure 50 years Unmanured Unmanured Since 1852 Full minerals Full minerals and ammonium salts. 	$\left.\begin{array}{c} Pounds,\\ 200\\ 200\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 43\\ 86\\ 129\\ 43\\ 43\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86\\ 86$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ \hline 57,84\\ 41,90\\ 33,78\\ 63,50\\ 107,827\\ 185,77\\ 78,51\\ 70,84\\ 131,91\\ 137,24\\ 93,01\\ 130,99\\ 95,97\\ 117,99\\ 79,41\\ \hline \{ \ 61,86\\ 120,98\\ 38,36\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds,\\ & 73.06\\ & 85.99\\ & 38.33\\ & 41.35\\ & 50.83\\ & 50.23\\ & 62.84\\ & 77.65\\ & 77.65\\ & 77.365\\ & 77.365\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 59.60\\ & 5$

It will be remembered that, of the ammonium salts used at Rothamsted, one-half of each application consists of ammonium chlorid; and that, on the plats so dressed, the quantity of chlorin found, in excess of that on the unmanured plats, was in 1893 very fairly proportional to the quantity added in the ammonium salts.

It will also be remembered that, when the 1893 chlorin results were discussed, the curious fact was pointed out that when the soils and subsoils were examined to as far down as ten successive depths of 9 inches each it was found that each plat contained a quantity of chlorin equivalent to that applied in one year's manurial dressing, plus the average chlorin of ten years' rainfall—an average year's rainfall at Rothamsted containing 14.75 pounds of chlorin per acre. Notwithstanding the constant percolation of rainfall, each 9 inches of subsoil is still found to contain, even when no chlorin is applied in manure, about 15 pounds of chlorin per acre, according to the results obtained in the analyses of the 1893 samples.

In comparing the 1881 and 1893 results, taking in the aggregate the three depths down to 27 inches, we find very little difference on the unmanured plats, 3 and 4. Plat 5 in 1881, as in 1893, was found to contain more chlorin than the unmanured plats, although not more than a few pounds per acre per annum are applied to it as impurities in the mineral fertilizers used.

On plats 6, 7, and 8 we find in 1881, as in 1893, a successive increase in chlorin as the quantity of ammonium salts grows successively larger; and the other results are for the most part fairly consistent. It is noticeable, however, throughout the ammonium-dressed plats, that notwithstanding the very much greater rainfall in the summer and autumn of 1881, the quantity of chlorids in these plats was found in October to be uniformly greater in 1881 than in 1893. As we have already seen, it is highly improbable that any tangible quantity of actual ammonium salts was left in the soil in the autumn of 1881, and the chlorin added in the form of ammonium salts must by that time have existed in mineral combination with calcium, magnesium, or other bases in the soil. The quantity of chlorin present in 1881 as compared with that found in 1893 was not only greater when the 27 inches were considered, but was even much greater in the surface soil than in the corresponding soils of 1893, as well as being, as a rule, much higher in the second and third depths. In fact, if we deduct the yield of the unmanured plats, we find that as a rule the quantity of what may be called manurial chlorin found in the first 27 inches of soil and subsoil in 1881 was two or three times as great as in 1893. It would seem that in 1881 chlorids which must have been initially washed farther down had, by a process of upward diffusion, readjusted themselves in the soil water under the influence of the evaporation produced by early autumnal heat.

## PHOSPHORIC ACID (1865, 1881, AND 1893 RESULTS COMPARED).

The results of the phosphoric acid determinations made in the 1893 samples have been already discussed (see p. 98). It now only remains to examine, for the purpose of comparison, the results obtained in the analyses of the two earlier sets of samples. The complete results are shown in the following table:

## TABLE 72.—Broadbalk wheat soils—Samples collected in 1865, 1881, and 1893— PHOSPHORIC ACID determinations.

	Dissol	lved by s	strong	hydroch eid.	lorie o	r nitric	Dissolved by 1 per cent solution of citric acid.						
	18	-65.	1	ss1.	1893.		1:	565.	1)		18	893.	
	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cont.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	
Plat 3. Plat 4. Plat 10a Plat 10b Plat 7. Plat 13 Plat 14. Plat 12. Plat 11. Plat 5.	0. 140 . 146 . 174 . 178 . 183 . 177	3,630 $3,785$ $4,511$ $4,615$ $4,744$ $4,589$	$\begin{array}{r} 0.131 \\ .126 \\ .130 \\ .199 \\ .189 \\ .200 \\ .184 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 3,396\\ 3,267\\ 3,370\\ \hline 5,159\\ 4,900\\ 5,185\\ 4,770\\ \end{array}$	0. 114 . 120 . 123 . 126 . 195 . 205 . 204 . 201 . 197 . 219	$\begin{array}{c} 2,956\\ 3,111\\ 3,189\\ 3,267\\ 5,056\\ 5,315\\ 5,289\\ 5,211\\ 5,107\\ 5,678\end{array}$	0,0094 .0106 .0261 .0257 .0257 .0268 .0259	244 275 677 666 695 672	0.0074 0068 00692 00692 00893 00893 00895 00895	192 176 239 993 944 1,001 853	$\begin{array}{c} 0.\ 0078\\ -0100\\ 0074\\ .\ 0074\\ .\ 0547\\ -0434\\ .\ 0442\\ .\ 0413\\ .\ 0405\\ .\ 0642\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 202\\ 259\\ 192\\ 192\\ 1,418\\ 1,125\\ 1,146\\ 1,071\\ 1,050\\ 1,665\end{array}$	
Plat2a_ Plat2b	. 189	4,685	. 194	4,648	. 165	$4.142 \\ 5,018$	. 0355	880	.0372	891	. 0321	1,307	

FIRST 9 INCHES OF SOIL.

SECOND 9 INCHES OF SOIL.

Plat 3	0.116	3,099	0.093	2,484	0.113	3,019	0.0029	78	0.0020	- 53	0.0041	110
Plat 4					. 10s	2,832					. 00:24	64
Plat 10a	. 128	3,419	. 101	2,698	. 111	2,965	. (103]	83	.0018	48	.0031	
Plat 10b			. 113	3.019	. 123	3.286			_0028	75	.0043	115
Plat 7				-	(186)	2.297					. 0038	102
Plat 13	.111	2.965	. 108	2.885	-105	2.805	00.00	59	0019	51	.0027	72
Plat 14	.118	3,152	.105	2.805	111	2.965	.0024	64	0016	43	.0023	61
Plat 12	112	2,992	112	2,992	.098	2.618	.0019	51	0020	53	.0035	94
Plat 11	106	2.832	107	2.858	108	2.885	()()***	59	0017	45	.0028	75
Plat 5					107	2.858					.0052	139
Plat ?a					(195	2 528					.0052	139
Plat 2h	126	3 2445	111	2 005	111	2 965	110111	118	0031	83	0094	251
	1 1/0-1	0,000		10,000		~,				cu		

THIRD 9 INCHES OF SOIL.

										1-1		
Plat 3	0.092	2.568	0.090	2.512	0.097	2.708	0.0012	34	0.0012	34	0.0021	59
Plat 4					. 097	2.708					.0017	48
Plat 10a	. 111	3,099	. 090	2,512	. 105	2,931	. 0014	39	.0013	36	.0018	50
Plat 10b.			. 104	2,903	. 111	3,099			. 0012	34	. 0021	59
Plat 7					.074	2.066					. 0030	84
Plat 13	. 093	2,596	. 087	2,429	.081	2,261	.0012	34	. 0010	28	. 0016	45
Plat 14 .	. 121	3,378	. 104	2,903	. 113	3,154	.0017	48	. 0011	31	. 0023	64
Plat 12	. 103	2,875	. 087	2,429	. 082	2,289	. 0014	-39	. 0012	34	. 0020	56
Plat 11	. 098	2,736	, 096	2,680	. 091	2,540	.0017	48	. 0012	34	. 0017	48
Plat 5					. 112	3,126					. 0036	101
Plat 2a.					. 084	2.345					. 0028	78
Plat2b.	. 103	2,875	. 082	2,289	. 083	2,317	.0015	42	.0017	48	. 0034	95

Seeing that these results are fully discussed in the recent paper presented to the Royal Society, referred to on p. 111, we may here confine ourselves to a brief examination of the principal facts brought out by the comparative figures. As far as the total phosphoric acid is concerned, it is sufficient to compare the first 9 inches of soil, the irregularities in the second and third depths being such as in many cases to overwhelm altogether such differences as would be due to the effects of manuring and cropping. In the case of the citric-acid results, the second and third depths in some instances afford an interesting subject for comparison.

Beginning with plat 3, which, it will be remembered, is continuously unmanured, we see from period to period, as indicated by the analyses of the 1865, 1881, and 1893 samples, a steady decrease in the total phosphoric acid. The same thing is seen in plat 10a, which receives only ammonium salts without minerals.

Plats 11, 12, 13, and 14 all show the progressive increase in total phosphoric acid due to the accumulation of residues of unused phosphatic manure, and the dunged plat, 2b, also shows a steady increase in total phosphoric acid from period to period.

When we regard the citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid, we must bear in mind that the samples of 1865 and 1881 were not examined immediately after collection, but only in 1893, when they were, respectively, twenty-eight and twelve years old; and it is not certain whether the citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid may not have undergone some modification during that time notwithstanding the fact that the samples were stored in an approximately dry state. Nevertheless they afford features of considerable interest and on the whole agree excellently with the history of the various plats represented.

In the case of the unmanured plat the citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid decreased apprecia bly between 1865 and 1881, but does not appear to have decreased since. The same thing is to be noticed in the case of plat 10a, which receives only ammonium salts. In fact, in both these instances there appears, if anything, to be a slight increase between 1881 and 1893, and it would appear as though the quantity of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid in the surface soils of these plats had become reduced to a sort of natural level, at which the decomposition of crop residue and other influences producing readily available phosphoric acid from the natural resources of the soil approximately balance the annual quantity removed in crops.

In the case of plats 10a and 10b, the effect of the early mineral dressings on plat 10b seems to be clearly apparent in the 1881 samples.

The gradual accumulation of manurial phosphoric acid during the three periods on plats 11–14 is very strikingly seen in the eitric-acid figures for these various plats, and this is also the case with the dunged plat, 2b.

When we come to the upper subsoil or second 9 inches we find in the unmanured plat (3) and the ammonium-salts plat (10a) a diminution in citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid between 1865 and 1881, and then what appears to be a distinct reenforcement between 1881 and 1893, suggesting that possibly as the surface soil has grown more exhausted the roots of the wheat have taken to deeper growth to seek mineral food, and have thus left more root residue in the subsoil in the later years, the decay of which would show an increased quantity of phosphoric acid in an easily soluble form.

The same thing is to be noticed in the third 9 inches.

In connection with the 1893 results, the solvent action of alkaline salts on the phosphates of the subsoil was pointed out. This was most strikingly brought out on plats 5 and 7. Unfortunately, we have no analyses representing these plats in the earlier years, but we have the series of plats, 11, 12, 13, and 14, all receiving ammonium salts and phosphates, plat 11 without any alkaline salts, and plats 12, 13, and 14 with sodium, potassium, and magnesium salts, respectively. In most cases we find that in the second and third depths there is not very much difference between the samples of 1865 and those of 1881, but there appears to be distinct evidence of accumulation in both the second and third depths between 1881 and 1893, owing to descent of mineral phosphates.

To show how the results for the three periods compare quantitatively with the estimated additions and removals to and from the soil, I may here give a table taken from the Royal Society paper on the subject, showing how the excess or deficiency both of total and of citric-acid-soluble phosphoric acid, as against the unmanured plat (plat 3), compares with the expected excess per acre on each plat calculated from the known additions and removals of phosphoric acid to and from the soil. These data are given for the three periods of twenty-two years, thirty-eight years, and fifty years, respectively.

TABLE 73.—Broadbalk wheat soils—Samples collected in 1865, 1881, and 1893.

	Estimated excess of phosphoric	Excess of total phos- phoric acid	Excess (+) or deficiency (-) of phosphori acid soluble in 1 per cent citric-acid solu- tion, as compared with plat 3.							
	plat 3, calcu- lated from known addi- tions and removals.	over plat 3, found by analysis in first 9 inches of soil.	First 9 inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.	Whole 27 inches.				
After 22 years (1844- 1865): Plat 13 Plat 14 Plat 14 Plat 12 Plat 12 Plat 11 After 3% years (1844- 1881): Plat 13 Plat 14 Plat 12 Plat 14 Plat 12 Plat 11 After 50 years (1844- 1893): Plat 7 Plat 13 Plat 14 Plat 14 Plat 12 Plat 14 Plat 5 Plat 5	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs. \ per\\ acre.\\ 1, 161\\ 1, 198\\ 1, 161\\ 1, 175\\ 2, 045\\ 2, 045\\ 2, 045\\ 2, 045\\ 2, 045\\ 2, 081\\ 2, 081\\ 2, 452\\ 2, 587\\ 2, 667\\ 2, 657\\ 2, 657\\ 2, 759\\ 3, 049\\ \end{array}$	Lbs. per acre. 881 985 1,114 959 1,763 1,504 1,769 1,374 2,100 2,359 2,353 2,355 2,151 2,722	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs. \ per\\ acre.\\ + \ 423\\ + \ 423\\ + \ 451\\ + \ 428\\ + \ 801\\ + \ 752\\ + \ 809\\ + \ 661\\ + \ 923\\ + \ 944\\ + \ 809\\ + \ 848\\ + \ 1, 462\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs. per\\ acre.\\ -19\\ -13\\ -27\\ -19\\ -3\\ -11\\ 0\\ -8\\ -8\\ -8\\ -37\\ -48\\ -16\\ -35\\ +29\\ \end{array}$		$\begin{array}{c} Lbs. \ per\\ acre.\\ + \ 414\\ + \ 424\\ + \ 430\\ + \ 423\\ + \ 792\\ + \ 738\\ + \ 653\\ + \ 852\\ + \ 902\\ + \ 850\\ + \ 852\\ + \ 902\\ + \ 1,533\end{array}$				

[Plats 7, 13, 14, 12, 11, and 5.]

The descent in the continuously dunged plat, 2b, is strongly brought out in both the second and third depths when either the 1865 or the

1881 results are compared with those of 1893, though in the second depth the difference between the figures for 1865 and 1881 is not in the direction that would be expected.

POTASH (1865, 1881, AND 1893 RESULTS COMPARED).

We may now in the same way briefly examine the potash results for the samples of the three periods. These are recorded in the following table:

TABLE 74.—Soils from Broadbalk wheat field, Rothamsted—Samples collected in 1865, 1881, and 1893-POTASH determinations.

	Diss	olved by	stron	g hydro	chloric	acid.	Dissolved by 1 per cent solution of citri acid.					citric
	18	65.	18	881.	18	393.	18	865.	18	81.	18	393.
	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.
Plat 3 Plat 4 Plat 10a. Plat 10b. Plat 11 Plat 12 Plat 13 Plat 5 Plat 2b Plat 2a	0.191 .226 .228 .232 .244 .269 	$\begin{array}{c} 4,952\\ \hline 5,859\\ \hline 5,911\\ 6,015\\ 6,326\\ 6,974\\ \hline 6,767\\ \hline 6,767\\ \hline \end{array}$	0. 226 . 224 . 244 . 243 . 234 . 251 . 290 . 259	5,859 5,807 6,326 6,300 6,067 6,507 7,519  6,206	$\begin{array}{c} 0.\ 220\\ .\ 219\\ .\ 240\\ .\ 234\\ .\ 197\\ .\ 223\\ .\ 240\\ .\ 273\\ .\ 262\\ .\ 279\\ .\ 285\\ .\ 277\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 5,704\\ 5,678\\ 6,067\\ 5,782\\ 6,067\\ 5,782\\ 6,067\\ 5,782\\ 6,073\\ 7,233\\ 6,652\\ 6,953\\ 6,953\\ \end{array}$	0.0040 .0040 .0036 .0060 .0036 .0200	104 104 93 156 93 519  744	0.0032 .0020 .0032 .0020 .0020 .0060 .0044 .0228	83 52 83 52 156 114 591 	$\begin{array}{c} 0.\ 0032\\ .\ 0052\\ .\ 0032\\ .\ 0040\\ .\ 0022\\ .\ 0040\\ .\ 0024\\ .\ 0188\\ .\ 0232\\ .\ 0308\\ .\ 0384\\ .\ 0330 \end{array}$	83 135 83 104 83 104 83 104 62 487 602 799 896 828
				SECO	ND 9 3	INCHES	SOFS	OIL.				
Plat 3 Plat 4 Plat 10a. Plat 10b. Plat 11. Plat 12 Plat 13. Plat 7 Plat 25 Plat 26.	0.336 .360 .472 .384 .491 .382 .334	8,976 9,617 12,609 10,258 13,116 10,204 8,922	$\begin{array}{c} 0.\ 407\\ .\ 336\\ .\ 374\\ .\ 409\\ .\ 390\\ .\ 403\\ .\ 446\\ .\ 366\end{array}$	10, 872 8, 976 9, 991 10, 926 10, 418 10, 765 11, 914 	$\begin{array}{c} 0.335\\ .414\\ .394\\ .359\\ .357\\ .371\\ .404\\ .379\\ .361\\ .410\\ .318\\ .392\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 8,949\\ 11,059\\ 10,525\\ 9,590\\ 9,537\\ 9,911\\ 10,792\\ 10,124\\ 9,643\\ 10,952\\ 8,495\\ 10,632\\ \end{array}$	0.0028 .0048 .0052 .0040 .0052 .0120 .0140	75 128 139 107 139 321 374	0.0044 .0024 .0028 .0024 .0028 .0040 .0128 .0176	118 64 75 64 75 107 342 470	$\begin{array}{c} 0,0060\\ .0060\\ .0032\\ .0052\\ .0028\\ .0040\\ .0048\\ .0136\\ .0140\\ .0224\\ .0276\\ .0169\end{array}$	160 160 86 139 755 107 128 363 374 598 737 449

FIRST 9 INCHES OF SOIL.

THIRD 9 INCHES OF SOIL.

												the second se
Plat 3 Plat 4	0.459	12, 813	0.466	13,008	$0.495 \\ .507$	$13,818 \\ 14,153$	0.0032	89	0.0040	112	0.0072	201 123
Plat 10a.	.511	14.265	.475	13,260	. 533	14,879	.0044	123	. 00:28	78	.0048	134
Plat 10b.			. 469	13,092	. 507	14,153			. 0028	78	.0036	101
Plat 11	. 489	13,650	.452	12,618	. 459	12,813	, 0036	101	. 0028	78	. 0036	101
Plat 12	. 456	12,729	. 505	14,097	. 488	13,623	. 0048	134	. 0028	78	. 0036	101
Plat 14	. 540	15,074	. 546	15,242	.408	11,389	.0040	112	. 0056	156	. 0052	145
Plat 13	. 458	12.785	. 493	13,762	. 433	12,087	.0044	123	. 0032	89	.0084	235
Plat 7.					.459	12,813					.0064	179
Plat 5					.472	13, 176					.0092	257
Plat 2b.	. 410	11.445	.532	14.851	.415	11,585	.0040	112	.0052	145	.0128	357
Plat 2a					.499	13,930					. 0096	268
						10,000						

With regard to the hydrochloric-acid-soluble potash little need be added to what has already been said in discussing the 1893 results. Such a method of analysis does not serve to give consistent comparative results. I therefore now direct attention simply to the citric-acid figures.

In the case of the unmanured plat it would appear that in 1865, after over twenty years of unmanured cropping, the available potash had already been reduced to a low ebb, and that in the surface soil it has since fallen still lower, though in the second and third depths it would seem to have increased.

This decrease to a practically stationary point in the surface soil, accompanied by an increase in the lower depths, was also noticed in the case of the phosphoric acid, but the increase, especially in the third depth, is more marked in the case of the potash. It has already been suggested that this may to some extent be attributable to the deeper extension of root growth as the surface soil has become poorer and to the accumulation of root remains thus formed.

In the case of plats 10a and 10b, receiving ammonium salts only, we find that the very early dressings of minerals (which included 300 pounds of potash per acre), applied in 1848 and 1850 to plat 10b, seemed to show in 1881, as in 1893, an appreciable effect on the eitricacid-soluble potash, both in the first and second depths. Plat 10a seems to have reached in 1893 the same level of available potash as the unmanured plat after a diminution between 1865 and 1881. As a matter of fact, in 1865 plat 10a was showing little indication of potash exhaustion, for in 1866 its crop yielded 29 pounds of potash per acre, while that of plat 3 contained but 16 pounds of potash per acre. It is possible that the ammonium salts acted as solvents on the soil potash. By 1881, however, plat 10a seems to have become appreciably poorer in potash than plat 3 in all three depths. But by 1893 there is a recovery throughout in plat 10a, possibly owing to the greatly diminished output of erop on account of the failure of phosphatic food and to the continued solvent action of the ammonium salts, and possibly (for the increase is mainly in the subsoil) partly owing to the effects of deeper root development.

On plats 11, 12, and 14, which receive ammonium salts and phosphates without potash, there is in the surface soils a uniform diminution between 1865 and 1893, and in two of the three cases between 1881 and 1893. If we compare the 1865 and 1893 figures for the second depths of the same plats we also see, on the whole, a diminution.

When the results for the potash-manured plat (13) are examined the effect of the potash salts is strikingly seen in all three sets of samples not only in the first depth of the soil but also in the second 9 inches. In the third 9 inches the difference is clearly apparent only in the 1893 samples.

The comparative significance of the results obtained in the samples drawn at the end of each of the three periods may be studied in the following table, which I also quote from the paper presented to the Royal Society.

As in the corresponding phosphoric-acid table, the estimated excess or deficiency of potash on each plat is obtained by taking into account the known additions of manurial potash to the soil and the quantity of potash, as ascertained by analysis, in the crops removed from each plat.

TABLE 75.—Broadbalk wheat soils—Samples collected in 1865, 1881, and 1893.

[Plats 11, 12, 13, 14, 7, and 5. POTASH per acre dissolved by 1 per cent citric-acid solution.] AFTER TWENTY-TWO YEARS (1844-1865).

		Found.					re (+) than	ss (-) 1.	Estimated excess (+)	
Plat.	Treatment since 1851.	First 9 inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.	27 inches.	First 9 inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.	27 inches.	or defi- ciency (-) compared with plat 11.
11	Nitrogen and phosphates	Lbs. 93	<i>Lbs.</i> 139	<i>Lbs.</i> 101	Lbs. 333	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Lbs.	Pounds.
12 14	Nitrogen and phosphates and sodium salts (some potash in earlier years) Nitrogen and phosphates and magnesium salts	156	107	134	397	+ 63	- 32	+ 33	+ 64	+ 309
13	(some potash in earlier years)	93	139	112	344	0	0	+ 11	+ 10	+ 219
10	and potassium salts	519	321	123	963	+426	+182	+ 22	+ 630	+2,021

AFTER THIRTY-EIGHT YEARS (1844-1881).

$\frac{11}{12}$	Nitrogen and phosphates Nitrogen and phosphates	52	64	78	194					
14	and sodium salts (some potash in earlier years) Nitrogen and phosphates	156	75	78	309	+104	+ 11	0	+ 115	+ 159
	and magnesium salts (some potash in earlier years)	114	107	156	377	+ 62	+ 43	+ 78	+ 183	+ 54
13	Nitrogen and phosphates and potassium salts	591	342	89	1,022	+539	+278	+ 11	+ 828	+3, 222

#### AFTER FIFTY YEARS (1844-1893).

				1		Y	V		V	1
11 12	Nitrogen and phosphates	83	75	101	259					
114	and sodium salts (some potash in earlier years)	104	* 107	101	312	+ 21	+ 32	0	+ 53	+ 20
14	Nitrogen and phosphatec and magnesium salts									
	(some potash in earlier years)	62	128	145	335	- 21	+ 53	+ 44	+ 76	- 92
13	Nitrogen and phosphates	40*	0,00	007	1 00*	1.404	1.000	1 194	1 000	14.059
ĩ	Nitrogen phosphates, po-	484	000	600	1,007	+404	+.200	+104	+ 0,20	+4,00%
	tassium, sodium, and magnesium salts	602	374	179	1,155	+519	+299	+ 78	+ 896	+3,662
5	Potassium, sodium, and									
	nitrogen	799	598	257	1,654	+716	+523	+156	+1,395	+5,242

In the case of the continuously dunged plat 2b, the accumulation of potash from period to period is not at all indicated by the hydrochloric-acid results, but is qualitatively brought out very clearly in a comparison either of the 1865 and 1893 citric-acid results or of those of 1881 and 1893, particularly if the second and third depths be taken into account, though the increase between 1865 and 1881 is not what would have been expected. Nevertheless the gradual accumulation of potash in the two successive depths of subsoil by downward percolation is clearly seen in the analyses of the samples **representing** these two depths in the various years.

## SECTION IV.

### THE HOOS FIELD BARLEY SOILS.

#### BRIEF HISTORY.

The Hoos field experiments on the continuous growth of barley were very fully discussed in Sir Henry Gilbert's lectures in relation both to the yield of crops under the various manurial conditions observed and to the composition of the crops.

Fewer and less complete examinations have been made of the soils of the barley field than of those of the wheat field, but it is desirable that the results should be chronicled and briefly discussed, if only for comparison with those of the wheat soils.

The scheme of manuring and the crop results up to the time of the last analyses of the soils for nitrogen contents (1882) may first be recalled to you by the following table, condensed from the Rothamsted Memoranda:

Series.	Plat.	Treatment.	Average produc acre (t years, 18	annual e per hirty 52-1881.)
			Grain.	Straw.
O, No nitrogen		No phosphates or potash, etc	Bushels. 17‡ 23 19‡	Cwt. 104 115 105
	4	3 <sup>1</sup> hundredweight superphosphate, together with potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts, as on plat 3.	241	128
	( 1	No phosphates or petash, etc	301	164
A. 200 pounds am-	010	Superphosphate as on plat 2.	447	251
taining 43 pounds nitrogen.	4	superphosphate and potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts, as on plat 4.		264
AA 275 pounds so	( 1	No phosphates or potash, etc	344	193
dium nitrate. con-	20	Superphosphate	467	28
taining 43 pounds nitrogen.	1	Superphosphate and potassium, sodium, and magnesium saits	044 474	21 <u>4</u> 29‡
AAN OPE nounde se	( 1	No phosphates or potash, etc.		201
dium nitrate and	2	Superphosphate	451	261
400 pounds sodium silicate.	$\begin{bmatrix} 3\\4 \end{bmatrix}$	Potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts Superphosphate and potassium, sodium, and mag- nesium salts.	475	224 29§
	[ 1	No phosphates or potash, etc., except contained	431	243
C, 1,000 pounds rape	2	Superphosphate	45	26§
cake.	$\begin{vmatrix} 3\\4 \end{vmatrix}$	Potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts Superphosphate and potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts.	$52 \atop{52 \atop{52 \atop{4}}}$	25 27§
7	[ ]	Farmyard manure for twenty years, but un-	434	25
7	1 2	manured since 1871. Farmyard manure continuously	49	283

TABLE 76.—Hoos field continuous barley plats.

Samples were drawn for analysis in March, 1868, and in March, 1882, to three successive depths of 9 inches, or 27 inches in all.

#### TOTAL NITROGEN.

The following table (Table 77) shows the total nitrogen found in all the samples that were examined in 1868, and in all of the soils and most of the subsoils sampled in 1882. The results are shown both as percentages and as pounds per acre, and it should here be stated that the weights of soil per acre taken for all computations of acreage weights in the Hoos field barley plats were as follows:

 TABLE 77.—Hoos field continuous barley plats—Adopted weights of fine dry soil per acre.

	First 9	Second 9	Third 9
	inches.	inches.	inches.
Used for series O, A, AA, and AAS. Used for series C Used for plat 7 (1). Used for plat 7 (2).	Pounds 2,527,879 2,361,461 2,486,870 2,084,567	Pounds. 2, 593, 853	Pounds. 2,661,134

Notice should be taken of the fact that the nitrogen results are all those of determinations by the soda-lime method and not by the modern Kjeldahl method. (See discussion of the results of the two processes in connection with the wheat-soil results).

TABLE 78.—Hoos field continuous barley plats—Total NITROGEN (by soda-lime method), stated as percentages of fine dry soil and as pounds per acre, in samples collected March, 1868, and February-March, 1882.

			First 9	inches			Second	9 inche	es.		Third 9	inches.	
		Coll Marci	ected h, 1868.	Coll Febr March	ected uary- h, 1882.	Coll Marc	ected h. 1868.	Coll Febr Marc	ected ruary- ch, 1882.	Coll Marc	ected h, 1868.	Colle Febr March	ected uary- 1, 1882.
Series.	Plat.	Pe <del>.</del> cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Pounds per acre.	Per cent.	Lbs. per acre.
0	$\begin{cases} 1\\ 2\\ 3 \end{cases}$			0, 0930 . 0897 . 0970	2,351 2,268 2,452			0.0652 .0538	$1,691 \\ 1,395$			0.0490 .0409	$1,304 \\ 1,088$
	4	0.1202	3,039	. 1124	2.841	0.0752	1,951	. 0837	2,171	0.0708	1,884	. 0730	1,943
Α	$\int_{12}^{1}$			.0900 .1020 .1040	2,275 2,578 2,629			. 0660 . 0649	$1,712 \\ 1,683$			. 0553 . 0647	$1,472 \\ 1,722$
	4	. 1124	2,841	. 1096	2.771	. 0802	2,080	.0772	2,002	. 0763	2,030	. 0620	1,650
АЛ	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \end{pmatrix}$		3.069	.1080 .1078 .1112 .1057	2,730 2,725 2,811 2,672	.0760	1.971	.0759	1,969 1,772		1.671	. 0639	1,700
AAS				. 1042 . 1135 . 1133 . 1133 . 1023	2,634 2,869 2,864 2,586			.0793	2,057 1,650			. 0646	1,719
С		1366	3.993	. 1234 . 1207 . 1330 1306	2,914 2,850 3,141	()~°0()	1 017	. 0633 . 0684 . 0613	$     1,642 \\     1,774 \\     1,590 \\     1,001 $	0592	1 200	0.0537 0.0632 0.0543 0.0543	$     \begin{array}{r}       1, 429 \\       1, 682 \\       1 445 \\       1 679     \end{array} $
ĩ	{1 {2			. 1500 . 1798 . 2131	4,471 4,442			. 0811 . 0836	2, 104 2, 168			.0605 0523	1,610 1,392
The plats composing the series O1 to O4 have been continuously deprived of nitrogenous manure. Plat O1 has received no mineral manure either, and is comparable with plat 3 in the wheat field. Plats O2 and O3 have received, respectively, phosphates without alkalies and alkalies (potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts) withont phosphates. They have no exact counterpart in the case of the wheat soils. Plat O4 receives both phosphates and alkalies, and corresponds with plat 5 of the wheat field—manured with "full minerals" without nitrogen.

The completely unmanured plat shows 0.0930 per cent of nitrogen, as against 0.1009 per cent on the unmanured wheat plat (No. 3) at about the same date (1881), and is therefore rather poorer. Plat O4 shows much more than the similar wheat plat (No. 5), namely, 0.1124 per cent, as against 0.0981.

This latter result is at first sight very puzzling. We should have expected the soil of plat O4 to be poorer than that of either of the plats 1, 2, or 3 of its own section, as was the case with the corresponding plats on the wheat field; or even if the accumulation of roots and stubble from its larger crops had caused any slight rescue of nitrogen, the difference from such a canse would hardly be very appreciable under the circumstances. But we see that it is actually richer than its neighbors by nearly 400 pounds of nitrogen per acre. We also may notice that, in the second depth, this plat also seems to be the richest of all the plats of all the sections, except the continuously dunged plat; and in the third depth it is richer even than the dunged plat. It may be seen that this curious plat (O4) was also very rich in nitrogen in 1868; and in 1882-anticipating other results to be subsequently discussed-it may be also observed that it accorded with the general rule, viz, that the more the total nitrogen (in a drained soil) the greater the quantity of nitrates, for we find, even in February or March, after the winter rains, that this plat is distinctly richer in nitric nitrogen than either 1, 2, or 3 of the same series. Sir Henry Gilbert has furnished me with a key to the mystery of this apparently anomalous and unexpected richness in nitrogen, and I think you will agree with me that the explanation is one of remarkable interest.

You are well aware how profoundly continuous manurial treatment in one direction or another alters the botanical composition of the herbage on grass land. This is exemplified in a most striking degree in the Rothamsted grass plats. There we find that an abundant supply of phosphates and potash salts tends to increase the nongramineous, and more especially leguminous, vegetation—notably clover and trefoils—while on this soil nitrogenous manuring without minerals tends to their extermination, because the true grasses can live longer and better under such conditions than the clovers, etc., and so crowd them out; and the more the mixture of manures tends toward the extreme of purely mineral fertilizers in the one direction or of purely nitrogenous fertilizers in the other, the more is the herbage modified in one direction or another, the proportion of true gramineous growth falling or rising. The character of both gramineous and nongramineous herbage—that is to say, the prevalence or scarcity, or even disappearance, of various species of either the gramineous or the miscellaneous nongramineous herbage—is further influenced and modified, according to the nature of the nitrogenous manure used or the constituents of the "mineral" fertilizers apart from and in presence of each other. The use of full dressings of phosphates and alkaline salts—including especially potassium salts without nitrogen is, on the grass land, found to be particularly favorable to the increase and domination of the Leguminosæ, presumably because these are, in virtue of the symbiotic functions of the microorganisms in their root nodules, able to gather and accumulate free nitrogen.

It is not singular that what applies to the pasture of a grass park should also apply to the natural wild vegetation to which, speaking as farmers or gardeners, we apply the generic name of "weeds." Now even the careful weeding that is carried out on the Rothamsted experimental cereal plats has no magic power to prevent the growth of weeds during the actual growth of a grain crop after it is tall enough to prohibit the use of the hoe; and Hoos field, like other grain fields, grows its inevitable share of weeds. It happens that the selective action of manures on weeds is especially marked on plat 4 of section O. The most prevalent weeds on the other sections are Atriplex angustifolia (narrow-leaved orache) and Convolvulus arvensis (small bindweed). On section O, and very especially on plat 4 of this section, however, the prevalent weed is Medicago lupulina (yellow trefoil or "black medick"), a leguminous plant which, in presence of the full dressing of superphosphate with potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts, is in some seasons very luxuriant. Thus in 1889 it was noticed that half of the weight of the "offal" from the barley crop on this plat consisted of the mere seed of this plant. During the past season-1900-the soil of plat O4 was literally covered with this weed, while on plats 4A, 4AA, and 4AAS, with the same mineral manure, but with liberal nitrogen supply also, there were only a few individual plants of this or any other member of the same natural order, the weeds being mainly the two species of nonleguminous vegetation just referred to.

It was also noticed that in this season, which was particularly favorable to the growth of the *Medicago lupulina*, plat O1, quite unmanured, had only about one-tenth of the quantity of this plant found on plat O4, while plat O2, manured with superphosphate only, had about one-eighth, and plat O3 (potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts without phosphates), about one-fifth as much. This weed, then,

occurs to some extent on all the plats receiving no nitrogenous manure, but especially on plat O4, manured with full minerals.

Knowing what we do of the habits of the Leguminosæ, we can not doubt that the growth of this weed year after year must add nitrogen to the soil, and Sir Henry Gilbert is of opinion—and in the light of recent knowledge it would be difficult to dissent from his view—that the high nitrogen of the soil of plat O4 is to be accounted for by the nitrogen storage produced by the constant growth and plowing in of this leguminous weed. The other plats on section O—especially plat 3—would also be to some extent enriched in the same way, but not to anything approaching the same extent as plat 4. Plat O4 had, up to 1881, produced on an average 14 bushels of grain and threefourths hundredweight of straw more than plat O2, and  $4\frac{3}{5}$  bushels of grain and  $1\frac{3}{4}$  hundredweight of straw more than plat O3; but it produced as much as  $6\frac{5}{5}$  bushels of grain and  $2\frac{1}{4}$  hundredweight of straw per acre per amum more than plat O1.

We do not find the same conspicuous difference in produce between plats 3 and 5 on the wheat field as between plats O1 and O4, the corresponding plats of the barley field. In the former case, for the same thirty years, the fully minerally manured wheat plat without nitrogen only beat the wholly unmanured plat by an average of  $2\frac{1}{4}$  bushels of grain and  $1\frac{3}{4}$  hundredweight of straw, while on these barley plats, as we have just seen, the gain was  $6\frac{3}{6}$  bushels of grain and  $2\frac{1}{4}$  hundredweight of straw.

Plat O4 contained in 1881, in the first 9 inches, 490 pounds, 573 pounds, and 389 pounds, respectively, more nitrogen per acre than plats 1, 2, and 3 of its own section, in addition to a large quantity in the subsoil. The conservation of nitrogen in increased crop residue would, it need scarcely be said, account for no such excess as we find in plat O4, which we must attribute to the leguminous influence aforesaid.

In the A section, in which ammonium salts are used throughout, the crop on plat 1 (ammonium salts alone) has been greater than on any of the O plats, and its proportion of nitrogen is even lower. The nitrogen is considerably higher, however, on plats 2, 3, and 4, which receive minerals also, being highest on the most fully manured and most abundantly yielding plat, No. 4. in the surface soil of which we find 0.1096 per cent of nitrogen.

The next two sections. AA and AAS, receive annually the same quantity of nitrogen as section A, but differ from it inasmuch as the nitrogen is supplied in the form of sodium nitrate instead of in the form of ammonium salts. Section AAS is also supplied with sodium silicate. Both of these nitrate sections have given on the average considerably larger crops than the ammonium-salts section. Even on plat 1, receiving no phosphates or potassium salts, etc., there has been

9385-No. 106-02-10

a much more abundant yield, possibly owing to some extent to the solvent action of the sodium salt on the mineral constituents of the soil. In three out of the four plats of the nitrate sections we find more total nitrogen in the surface soil than in the corresponding plats of the ammonium-salts section. In the case of plat 4 of both AA and AAS (fully manured) the nitrogen is rather less than on plat A4, the soil having probably reached the stage in which nitrification had become more active than in the case of plat A4.

Plat AA4 seems to have been richer than the corresponding ammonium-salts plat in 1868, but its nitrogen has since diminished, as in the case of the other section.

The rape-cake plats (section C) are, as we should expect, all rich in nitrogen. Plats 3 and 4, which have given the best crops, are the richest. Much of the accumulation of nitrogen in this section must be attributed to actual accumulation of added nitrogenous matter and not to mere crop residue. Plat 4 gave lower results in 1882 than in 1868, a possible inference from which is that nitrification had become more active as the soil became richer.

The farmyard-manure plats show a much larger accumulation of total nitrogen, the quantity, as we should expect, being considerably greater in the case of the continuously dunged plat than in the case of the plat on which the application of dung was stopped eleven years before, though this latter plat is still far richer in nitrogen than even the rape-cake plats. On the dunged plats the richness in nitrogen seems to appear also in the second depth; but the subsoils, like those of the Broadbalk field, are irregular.

A table is here added showing the difference in nitrogen between the surface soils of the plats of the sections A, AA, AAS, and C, all nitrogenously manured, and those of the corresponding plats of section O, without nitrogenous manure. Plats 1, 2, 3, and 4 in every section receive, it will be remembered, the same minerals. The difference between plats 1, or 2, or 3, or 4 of section O, and the correspondingly treated plat of any other section, is, therefore, to be referred solely to the direct or indirect treatment of the latter with nitrogenous fertilizers.

		Nitre	ogen.	Nitrogen	per acre.
Section.	Plat.	Per cent.	+ or – section O.	Actual.	+ or – section O.
O (no nitrogen)	$\left\{\begin{array}{c}1\\2\\3\\4\end{array}\right.$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0930\\ .0897\\ .0970\\ .1124\end{array}$		Pounds. 2,351 2,268 2,452 2,841	Pounds.
A (ammonium salts).	$ \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ 2\\ 3\\ 4 \end{bmatrix} $	. 0900 . 1020 . 1040 . 1096	$\begin{array}{r} -0.0030 \\ + .0123 \\ + .0070 \\0028 \end{array}$	2,275 2,578 2,629 2,771	
AA (sodium nitrate)	$\left\{\begin{array}{c}1\\-\frac{2}{3}\\-\frac{3}{4}\\4\end{array}\right.$	$     \begin{array}{r}       1080 \\       1078 \\       1112 \\       1057     \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{r} + \ .0150 \\ + \ .0181 \\ + \ .0142 \\ .0067 \end{array}$	2,730 2,725 2,811 2,672	+379 +457 +359 -169
AAS (sodium nitrate and sodium silicate)	$\left\{\begin{array}{c}1\\2\\3\\4\end{array}\right.$	.1042     .1135     .1133     .1023	$\begin{array}{r} + & .0112 \\ + & .0238 \\ + & .0163 \\ - & .0101 \end{array}$	2,634 2,869 2,864 2,586	+283 +601 +412 -255
C (rape cako)	$\left\{\begin{array}{c}1\\2\\3\\4\end{array}\right.$	$\begin{array}{r} 1234 \\ 1207 \\ 1330 \\ 1306 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} + .0304 \\ + .0310 \\ + .0360 \\ + .0182 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 2,914\\ 2,850\\ 3,141\\ 3,084 \end{array}$	+563 +582 +689 +243

TABLE 79.—Hoos field barley soils, samples collected February-March, 1882— NITROGEN in first 9 inches of soil, stated as percentages of fine dry soil and as pounds per acre; also differences between plats of section O, and those of other sections.

It will be seen that in every section plat 4 (with full minerals and nitrogen) seems to contradict all the teaching of the other plats by its lowness in comparison with plat O4, also receiving full minerals, but without nitrogen. This apparent anomaly is due to the leguminous weed vegetation on the last-named plat, already fully discussed. Excluding plats 4, we find, as in the case of the wheat soils, that the accumulations of crop residue under manuring and higher cropping have produced or maintained in the surface soil of the various sections a greater quantity of nitrogen than we find on section O, without nitrogenous manures, except in one case, viz, that of the continuous application of ammonium salts without minerals. This has left the soil slightly poorer in nitrogen, if anything, than has the absolute unmanuring on plat O1, showing once more that even if largely unutilized through lack of phosphates and other mineral constituents, ammonium salts do not accumulate, even in clay soil, in such a degree as to appreciably affect the permanent proportion of total fixed nitrogen.

On the corresponding sodium nitrate plats, on the other hand, we find an accumulation or increase of nitrogen; but this again is not accumulation of manure but of crop residue, due to the persistently larger yield of both grain and straw under the influence of the nitrate when minerals are not applied.

#### CARBON, AND RATIO OF CARBON TO NITROGEN.

The carbon was not determined in the earlier samples, but only in those collected in 1882. The following table shows the percentages of carbon side by side with the percentages of total nitrogen, and the ratios of carbon to 1 nitrogen, and of nitrogen to 100 carbon:

**T**ABLE 80.—Hoos field barley soils, samples collected February-March, 1882—NITRO-GEN and CARBON in first, second, and third depths of 9 inches each, stated as percentages of fine, dry soil; also ratios of carbon to 1 nitrogen, and nitrogen to 100 carbon.

			First 9	) inches.		s	econd §	) inches	3.	Third 9 inches.				
Sec- tion.	Plat.	Nitro- gen.	Car- bon.	Carbon to 1 nitro- gen.	Nitro- gen to 100 car- bon.	Nitro- gen.	Car- bon.	Car- bon to 1 ni- tro- gen.	Nitro- gen to 100 car- bon.	Nitro- gen.	Car- bon.	Car- bon to 1 ni- tro- gen.	Nitro- gen to 100 car- bon.	
0	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\ 2\\ 3\\ 4 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{array}{c} Per\\ cent,\\ 0,0930\\ .0897\\ .0970\\ .1124 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Per\\ cent.\\ 1.021\\ .957\\ 1.007\\ 1.154 \end{array}$	$11.0 \\ 10.7 \\ 10.4 \\ 10.3$	9.11 9.37 9.63 9.74	Per cent. 0.0652 .0538	Per cent. 0.488	9.1	11.02	Per cent. 0.0490 .0409 .0730	Per cent. 0. 114	10.1	9.88	
A	$ \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \end{bmatrix} $	$\begin{array}{r} \hline .0900 \\ .1020 \\ .1040 \\ .1096 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 1.026 \\ 1.060 \\ 1.007 \\ 1.082 \end{array}$	$     \begin{array}{r}         11.4 \\         10.4 \\         9.7 \\         9.9     \end{array} $	$     \begin{array}{r}                                     $	.0660 .0649 .0772	. 555	8.6	11.69	.0553 .0647 .0620	.519	8.0	12.47	
AA	$ \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \end{bmatrix} $	$\begin{array}{r} .1080\\ .1078\\ .1112\\ .1057\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.110\\ 1.171\\ 1.171\\ 1.117\\ 1.119\end{array}$	$     \begin{array}{r}       10.3 \\       10.9 \\       10.0 \\       10.6     \end{array} $	$9.73 \\ 9.21 \\ 9.96 \\ 9.45$	. 0759	. 683	9.0	11.11	.0639	.521	8.2	12.26	
AAS .	$ \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \end{bmatrix} $	$.1042 \\ .1135 \\ .1133 \\ .1023$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.071\\ 1.198\\ 1.174\\ 1.098 \end{array}$	$     \begin{array}{r}       10.3 \\       10.6 \\       10.4 \\       10.7     \end{array} $	$9.73 \\ 9.47 \\ 9.65 \\ 9.32$	.0793 .0636 .0685				.0646				
с	$ \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \end{bmatrix} $	$\begin{array}{r} .1234\\ .1207\\ .1330\\ .1306\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.327 \\ 1.313 \\ 1.375 \\ 1.355 \end{array}$	$     \begin{array}{r}       10.8 \\       10.9 \\       10.3 \\       10.4     \end{array} $	$9.30 \\ 9.19 \\ 9.67 \\ 9.64$	.0633 .0684 .0613 .0733	. 642	9.4	10.65	$\begin{array}{r} .\ 0537\\ .\ 0632\\ .\ 0543\\ .\ 0631\end{array}$	. 507	8.0	12.47	
7	${1 \\ 2}$	$.1798 \\ .2131$	$2.032 \\ 2.486$	$     \begin{array}{c}       11.3 \\       11.7     \end{array} $		.0811 +0836	. 638 . 727	$7.9 \\ 8.7$	$12.71 \\ 11.49$	. 0605 . 0523	$.542 \\ .506$	9.0 9.7	$   \begin{array}{r}     11.16 \\     10.34   \end{array} $	

The first point that we naturally look to in the carbon results is to see how far the quantity of carbon on plat 4 of section O (the plat which grows the large quantity of the yellow trefoil as a weed) accords with the high proportion of nitrogen contained in that plat. We see at once that there is a close correspondence.

The other plats do not differ much in carbon from those of section A (ammonium salts), but the plats of the two sodium nitrate sections give uniformly a higher percentage of carbon than the ammonium salts plats, showing generally pretty clearly the influence of greater crop residue accumulation following greater crops.

On the rape-cake plats the actual accumulation of added organic matter is distinctly indicated by a decidedly larger carbon accumulation; and, as we should expect, we notice the same thing, but to a much larger extent, in the case of the two farmyard-manure plats,

the one on which dung was discontinued in 1871 showing (also as we should expect) a smaller accumulation of organic carbon than the plat dunged continuously.

On the whole, the proportions of nitrogen in the various plats of the barley field that have been persistently manured with chemical fertilizers resemble very closely the proportions found in the wheat plats more or less similarly manured, and the proportions of carbon are, on the whole, also very similar.

On the rape-cake plats of the barley field the proportion of total nitrogen varies from about 0.12 to about 0.13. On the rape-cake wheat plat the quantity at about the same time (1881) was 0.123 per cent, or about the same.

The quantity of carbon in the rape-cake barley plats is from about 1.31 to about 1.37 per cent. On the wheat plat, at about the same period, it was about 1.37 per cent.

On the continuously dunged barley plat the proportion of total nitrogen is 0.2131 per cent. On the wheat plat the proportion of total nitrogen at about the same period was 0.1836 per cent, or rather less.

The carbon in the case of the continuously dunged barley plat is 2.486 per cent. On the wheat plat it was 2.132 per cent.

The general ratio of carbon to nitrogen does not differ very much from that found in the wheat plats. Excluding the dunged plats, the ratio of carbon to nitrogen on the barley plats averages 10.5 of carbon to 1 of nitrogen. On the wheat plats, at about the same period, it averaged 10.6 to 1.

The continuously dunged plat on the barley field shows, in 1882, a ratio of 11.7 of carbon to 1 of nitrogen, while the continuously dunged plat on the wheat field, in 1881, showed a ratio of 11.7 of carbon to 1 of nitrogen.

In the second 9 inches of the barley soils the ratio of carbon to 1 of nitrogen varies from 8.7 to 9.4. In the second depth of the wheat soils, at about the same period, it averaged 9.1.

In the third 9 inches the ratio of carbon to 1 of nitrogen varies, in the barley soils, from 8 to 10.1. On the wheat soils it averaged 8.7.

On the whole, then, there is very little difference between either the proportions of carbon or the proportions of nitrogen in the various depths of the two fields, as far as we are able to compare them.

It should be mentioned that all these comparisons are based upon the percentages of nitrogen as determined in both sets of samples by the soda-lime method and not by the Kjeldahl process.

#### NITROGEN AS NITRATES ("NITRIC" NITROGEN).

The nitrogen existing as nitrates was determined by Professor Warington in all of the 1882 samples except those of the sodium-silicate section, AAS. In regarding these results it must be borne in mind INVESTIGATIONS ON ROTHAMSTED SOILS.

that the samples were collected in February and March, nearly a year having elapsed, therefore, since the application of the annual dressings of manure on each plat. Most of the nitric nitrogen present in the surface soil, therefore, would be mainly nitric nitrogen of the year before, which had not been washed out by the winter drainage, or which, by upward diffusion under the influence of evaporation, had regained the surface, though there would, perhaps, be some small quantity formed by early spring nitrification. The winter had been more than ordinarily wet.

The nitric nitrogen for all the plats sampled in 1882 is given in the following table.

Professor Warington also determined the chlorin in the plats of two sections, and the results are given in the same table.

 

 TABLE 81.—Hoos field barley soils, samples collected February-March, 1882—NITRO-GEN as NITRATES (''nitric'' nitrogen), and chlorin stated as parts per million of fine dry soil and as pounds per acre in first, second, and third depths of 9 inches each.

0.1	Dist	Parts pe	er million dry soil.	n of fine	Pounds per acre.					
Series.	Plat.	First 9 inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.	First 9 inches.	Second 9 inches.	Third 9 inches.	Total (27 inches).		
0	$\left\{\begin{array}{c}1\\2\\3\\4\end{array}\right.$	$2.34 \\ 2.52 \\ 2.41 \\ 2.95$	$1.81 \\ 2.18 \\ 2.19 \\ 3.75$	$1.90 \\ 2.36 \\ 2.43 \\ 2.36 \\ 2.36 \\$	5.926.376.097.46	$\begin{array}{r} 4.69 \\ 5.65 \\ 5.68 \\ 9.73 \end{array}$	$5.06 \\ 6.28 \\ 6.47 \\ 6.28$	$15.67 \\ 18.30 \\ 18.24 \\ 23.47$		
A	$\left\{\begin{array}{c}1\\2\\-3\\-4\end{array}\right.$	$\begin{array}{r} 2.42 \\ 2.93 \\ 2.97 \\ 3.20 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 3.20 \\ 4.43 \\ 2.38 \\ 2.22 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 2.\ 61\\ 3.\ 07\\ 2.\ 11\\ 3.\ 34 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 6.12 \\ 7.41 \\ 7.51 \\ 8.09 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 8.30 \\ 11.49 \\ 6.17 \\ 5.76 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.95 \\ 8.17 \\ 5.61 \\ 8.89 \end{array}$	21.3727.0719.2922.74		
AA	$\left\{\begin{array}{c}1\\2\\2\\4\end{array}\right.$	$\begin{array}{r} 3.84 \\ 3.09 \\ 3.07 \\ 3.72 \end{array}$	$2.63 \\ 4.02 \\ 2.39 \\ 2.19$	$\begin{array}{r} 3.38 \\ 3.10 \\ 3.04 \\ 2.34 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 9.71 \\ 7.81 \\ 7.76 \\ 9.40 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 6.82 \\ 10.43 \\ 6.20 \\ 5.68 \end{array}$	8.99 8.25 8.09 6.23	$\begin{array}{r} 25.52 \\ 26.49 \\ 22.05 \\ 21.31 \end{array}$		
с	$ \left\{\begin{array}{c}1\\2\\3\\4\end{array}\right\} $	$\begin{array}{r} 4.50 \\ 3.16 \\ 4.48 \\ 3.48 \end{array}$	$5.28 \\ 5.03 \\ 4.31 \\ 4.44$	$2.98 \\ 2.94 \\ 3.56 \\ 3.27$	$     \begin{array}{r}       10.63 \\       7.46 \\       10.58 \\       8.22     \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{r} 13.70 \\ 13.05 \\ 11.18 \\ 11.52 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 7.93 \\ 7.82 \\ 9.47 \\ 8.70 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 32.26 \\ 28.33 \\ 31.23 \\ 28.44 \end{array}$		
7	$\left\{\begin{array}{c}1\\2\end{array}\right.$	5.96 8.92	$4.54 \\ 5.62$	4.09 4.10	$     14.82 \\     18.59     $	$     11.78 \\     14.58     $	10. 88 10. 91	$37.48 \\ 44.08$		
			CHLO	RIN.						
0	$\left\{\begin{array}{c}1\\2\\3\\4\end{array}\right.$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.31 \\ 3.30 \\ 3.27 \\ 2.81 \end{array}$	$6.98 \\ 7.17 \\ 7.40 \\ 10.65$	$\begin{array}{r} 6.77\\ 12.73\\ 7.00\\ 14.37\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 8.37 \\ 8.34 \\ 8.27 \\ 7.10 \end{array}$	$     18.11 \\     18.60 \\     19.19 \\     27.62     $	$18.02 \\ 33.88 \\ 18.63 \\ 38.24$	44, 50 60, 82 46, 09 72, 96		
Α	$\left.\begin{array}{c}1\\2\\3\\4\end{array}\right.$		$7.64 \\ 15.28 \\ 6.56 \\ 6.89$	$     \begin{array}{r}       9.56 \\       13.59 \\       6.88 \\       12.71     \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 7.94 \\ 9.76 \\ 13.37 \\ 9.30 \end{array}$	$     \begin{array}{r}       19.82 \\       39.63 \\       17.02 \\       17.87     \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 25.44\\ 36.16\\ 18.31\\ 33.82 \end{array}$	53, 20 85, 55 48, 70 60, 99		

NITRIC NITROGEN.

It will be seen that on the O section, to which no nitrogen is applied, the largest quantity of nitric nitrogen, in the first and second depths, is found in the plat that contains the largest quantity of total nitrogen,

namely, plat O4, which is so fertile in the growth of the leguminous weed to which attention has been directed.

If we take the three depths (27 inches in all), we find that this plat shows over 23 pounds of nitric nitrogen per acre.

The poorest plat in nitrie nitrogen is the plat which produces the smallest crops (O1). This contains less than 16 pounds of nitric nitrogen per acre in the three depths; plats O3 and O4 being intermediate.

If plat O4 (the leguminous-weed plat) be left out of account, we see that the plats manured with ammonium salts and with sodium nitrate (sections A and AA) are uniformly richer in nitric nitrogen than those of section O. But much richer in nitrates are the surface soils and higher subsoils of the rape-cake section, owing to abundant nitrification of accumulated nitrogenous organic matter. Richer still are the dunged plats. Plat 7 (1) contains nearly 15 pounds per acre of nitric nitrogen per acre in the surface soil (nearly 44 pounds more than any of the undunged plats), and is as rich as even the rape-cake plats in the second depth, and decidedly richer than even these in the third depth. The continuously dunged plat is much richer in the surface depth, and also in the second depth, and  $6\frac{1}{2}$  pounds per acre richer in the 27 inches. It would scarcely have been expected, even in the case of the continuously dunged plat, that so much nitrie nitrogen would be found in February and March.

On the wheat plat similarly treated, only 56 pounds of nitrie nitrogen per acre were found in October in the first 18 inches of soil. Here, in February and March, we have 33 pounds, or half the quantity, notwithstanding a wet winter. This would seem to indicate that nitrification must have begun early. On the other hand, the accumulated organic matter in the dunged soil must, by its absorptive power, render the dunged land less susceptible, pro rata, to loss by drainage, than the undunged plats, more of the rainfall being retained and dispersed by surface evaporation. On the Broadbalk plats, which are, as we know, pipe drained, the drainpipes often run freely on the undunged plats, while those on the dunged plats are giving no drainage water.

#### CHLORIN.

In the O series, without nitrogenous manure, the chlorin is greater in the superphosphated plats, Nos. 2 and 4, than in the others, the difference being especially marked in the third depth. The same thing is seen in the A series (ammonium salts). The explanation of this is not obvious. It can not be found in the introduction of chlorids to the soil, for the difference between the two sets of plats in chlorin contents is not great, although the O plats receive no direct addition of chlorids, except as slight impurities in the mineral fertilizers, beyond those derived from rain; while the plats of the A series usually receive annually about 56 pounds of chlorin per acre in their dressing of ammonium salts. It may be that the effect of the calcium in the superphosphate is to produce some physical difference in the soil which makes it more retentive of chlorids.

The quantity of chlorin present in the three aggregate depths, except on plat O4 and plat A2, does not differ much from that found in the most nearly corresponding plats in the Broadbalk wheat field.

#### PHOSPHORIC ACID AND POTASH.

A set of samples of the Hoos field barley plats was kindly drawn for me in the autumn of 1889 by Sir Henry Gilbert, for the purpose of investigations as far as regards their phosphoric acid and potash contents, as determined by the citric-acid process, on which I was then working. The samples represented the surface soil only, and were taken from only one place in each plat, as the immediate object was rather one of qualitative than of quantitative investigation. The results of the analyses have been fully discussed in an earlier paper, referred to on p. 96; but it may be convenient, for future reference, that the figures should find a place here.

#### PHOSPHORIC ACID.

The phosphoric acid results may be conveniently stated in the following table (Table 82), in which the plats are grouped with special reference to their phosphatic manuring, the corresponding plats of each section being brought together. The table shows the percentage of total phosphoric acid in the fine dry soil, and also the percentage dissolved by a 1 per cent solution of citric acid; and also the yield of barley (both grain and straw) in the year following the sampling.

-			Phospho fine d	ric acid in Iry soil.	Yield per acre in 1890.		
Series.	Plat.	Annnal manuring since 1852.	Total.	Dissolved by 1 per cent solu- tion of citric acid.	Barley.	Straw.	
0 A AA AAS	1 1 1 1	No manure Ammonia salts only Nitrate of soda only Nitrate of soda and silicate of soda	Per cent. 0.099 .097 .104 .106	Per cent. 0.0055 .0060 .0067 .0071	Bushels. 13 24 29 31 1 29 1 31 1 24 29 1 31 1 24 29 1 31 24 29 1 31 24 29 1 31 24 24 29 1 31 24 24 24 29 1 31 24 24 24 24 24 29 1 31 31 24 24 24 24 29 1 31 31 31 24 24 29 1 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31	Cuet. 61 12§ 141 15§	
0 A	3	Average of above four plats Potash.etc. (no phosphates) Ammonia salts, potash, etc. (no phos-	$\frac{.102}{.121}$	. 0063	248 98 238	125 	
AA AAS	3	phates). Nitrate of soda, potash, etc. (no phos- phates). Nitrate of soda, silicate of soda, potash, etc. (no phosphates).	. 104 . 105	. 0082 . 0112	28 36 <del>1</del>	154 194	
		Average of above four plats	. 108	. 0094	248	131	

 

 TABLE 82.—Hoos field barley soils, samples collected in the autumn of 1889— PHOSPHORIC ACID determinations.

#### THE HOOS FIELD BARLEY SOILS.

Series. 1			Phospho fine c	ric acid in lry soil.	Yield per acre in 1890,		
Series.	Plat.	Annual manuring since 1852.	Total.	Dissolved by 1 per cent solu- tion of citric acid.	Barley.	Straw.	
0 A AA AAS	22 22 22 22	Superphosphate only Ammonia salts and superphosphate Nitrate of soda and superphosphate Nitrate of soda, silicate of soda, and super- phosphate.	Per cent. .182 .173 .165 .180	Per cent. .0463 .0425 .0350 .0475	Bushels. 16‡ 33‡ 47‡ 46‡	Cwt. 71 165 225 225	
		Average of above four plats	. 175	.0428	36	17#	
0 A	4	Superphosphate, potash, etc. Ammonia salts, superphosphate, potash,	$.189 \\ .182$	. 0538	173 468	- 235	
AA	4	Nitrate of soda, superphosphate, potash,	. 179	. 0475	434	233	
AAS	4	Nitrate of soda, silicate of soda, superphos- phate, potash, etc.	. 169	. 0479	46§	222 J	
		Average of above four plats	. 180	. 0498	384	19‡	
C C C	1 3 2 4	Rape cake only Rape cake, potash, etc. (no phosphates). Rape cake, and superphosphate Rape cake, superphosphate, potash, etc	. 158 . 152 . 229 . 203	0.0187 0.0214 0.0636 0.0563	$     \begin{array}{r}       36 \\       31_{\frac{1}{2}} \\       37_{\frac{1}{2}} \\       33_{\frac{1}{2}}     \end{array} $	184 16 174 154	
7 7	1	Farmyard manure for twenty years, un- manured for last eighteen years. Farmyard manure for thirty-eight years	. 134 . 176	. 0206 . 0447	2235 53	111 294	

### TABLE 82.-Hoos field barley soils, etc.-Continued.

#### POTASH.

In the next table are shown the percentages of potash dissolved from the various soils by strong hydrochloric acid and also by a 1 per cent solution of citric acid, the plats in this case being grouped with special reference to their potash manuring.

 TABLE 83.—Hoos field barley soils, samples collected in the antum of 1889—POTASH

 determinations.

			Potash i s	in fine dry oil.	Yield pe in 18	91° acro 890.
Series.	Plat.	Annual manuring since 1852.	Dis- solved by strong hydro chloric acid.	Dissolved by 1 per cent solu- tion of citric acid.	Barley.	Straw.
0 A AA AAS	1 1 1 1	No manure. Ammonia salts only Nitrate of soda only Nitrate of soda and silicate of soda	Per cent 0 183 .267 .136 .193	Per cent. 0.0036 .0020 .0050 .0042	$\begin{array}{c} Bushels. \\ 13 \\ 24_{\frac{1}{2}} \\ 29_{\frac{1}{2}} \\ 31_{\frac{5}{4}} \end{array}$	Cwt. 61 125 141 155
		Average of above four plats	. 195	. 0037	244	121
0 A AA AAS	22 22 22 22	Superphosphate only Ammonia salts and superphosphate Nitrate of soda and superphosphate Nitrate of soda, silicate of soda, and super- phosphate.	.204 .248 .142 .188	. 0065 . 0023 . 0038 . 0035	$\begin{array}{c} 16 \\ 33 \\ 47 \\ 47 \\ 46 \\ 1 \end{array}$	7 16 22 22 22 22
		Average of above four plats	. 196	.0040	36	17#

			Potash i s	n fine dry oil.	Yield per acre in 1890.		
Series.	Plat.	Annual manuring since 1852.	Dis- solved by strong hydro- chloric acid.	Dissolved by 1 per cent solu- tion of citric acid.	Barley.	Straw.	
O A A A A A S	3333	Potash, etc. (no phosphates) Ammonia salts, potash, etc. (no phosphates) Nitrate of soda, potash, etc. (no phosphates) Nitrate of soda, silicate of soda, potash, etc. (no phosphates).	Per cent. .318 .257 .239 .230	Per cent. .0366 .0407 .0350 .0454	Bushels. 9§ 23 28 28 36 5	Cwt. 41 131 151 151 194	
		Average of above four plats	. 261	. 0394	248	131	
О А	$\frac{4}{4}$	Superphosphate, potash, etc	. 300 . 326	. 0340 . 0298	17 <u>%</u> 46 <del>§</del>	7 231	
AA	4	Nitrate of soda, superphosphate, potash,	. 210	. 0305	43§	234	
AAS	4	Nitrate of soda, silicate of soda, superphos- phate, potash, etc.	. 250	. 0270	46§	22 <del>1</del>	
		Averages of above four plats	. 272	. 0303	38§	19‡	
C	$\begin{array}{c}1\\2\\3\\4\end{array}$	Rape cake only Rape cake and superphosphate Rape cake, potash, etc. (no phosphate) Rape cake, superphosphate, potash, etc	.170 .194 .219 .238	. 0079 . 0079 . 0351 . 0304	$\begin{array}{c} 36 \\ 37 \\ 31 \\ 33 \\ 33 \\ 1 \end{array}$	181 175 161 157	
7	1	Farmyard manure for 20 years, unma-	. 159	. 0135	228	11;	
7	2	Farmyard manure for 38 years	. 167	. 0321	53	29‡	

# TABLE 83.—Hoos field barley soils, etc.—Continued.

## SECTION V.

### HOOS FIELD LEGUMINOUS AND WHEAT-FALLOW SOILS.

#### INVESTIGATIONS SHOWING THE EFFECT OF VARIOUS LEGU-MINOUS CROPS ON THE NITROGEN CONTENTS OF THE SOIL.

When referring to the Hoos field barley soils I drew your attention to a striking effect produced on the soil of a certain plat on which barley had been continuously grown for a very long period with full mineral fertilizers but without nitrogen. The nitrogen in the soil of this plat was found to be very appreciably greater than in the case of plats liberally treated with nitrogenous fertilizers, and the difference was shown to be due to the comparative encouragement given by the mineral fertilizers, in the absence of nitrogen supply, to a certain leguminous weed (*Medicago lupulina*) which is noticed to be extraordinarily prevalent among the barley on this plat.

In the same field there has been carried out over many years a most interesting set of experiments on leguminous crops, and also a continuous experiment on the growth of wheat on unmanured land, both year after year and in alternate years with intervening fallows. The examination of the soils from the various leguminous plats and from the wheat land has yielded results of great comparative interest.

The leguminous experiments were brought before you by Sir Henry Gilbert in 1893, and I should be apologetic for again discussing them but for the fact that the object of my own lectures would be conspicuously unfulfilled if they did not include the interesting analyses made from time to time of these particular soils from Hoos field; and I would add that the legnminous experiments have been, since Sir Henry Gilbert addressed you, followed by the growth of wheat on the same plats, with results to which we shall have to allude later. Abbreviating Sir Henry's account of the leguminous experiments, it may be stated that their object was to ascertain whether certain leguminous crops of different habits of growth, especially as to root range, could be successfully grown for a longer time and with a larger annual produce than others, all being similarly treated as regards fertilizers; and also to ascertain whether the success or failure of individual species would afford new evidence as to the source of the nitrogen of the Leguminosæ generally, and as to the causes of what is familiarly known as "clover sickness." The experiments were started in 1878, on land on which red clover had been grown, though with precarious

success, for nearly thirty years. Of the plants originally chosen to succeed the clover several failed, and were discontinued, but others were successfully continued, notably *Trifolium repens* (white clover), *Vicia sativa* (vetches), *Melilotus leucantha* (Bokhara clover), and *Medicago sativa* (lucern). These crops were grown from 1878 down to 1898 in various series of plats, one series getting various mineral fertilizers only, while a second, third, and fourth series received respectively (in addition to various minerals as in the case of the first series) sodium nitrate, ammonium salts, and rape cake. In 1898 all but the plats of series 1 were plowed up, and wheat grown on them during 1899 and 1900. Series 1, however, is continued under leguminous cultivation.

This will probably be sufficient preface to the analytical soil results, to which attention is now to be drawn.

The samples analyzed were collected in 1881, 1882, and 1883 from the wheat-fallow land and from various leguminous plats of the series receiving annually only mineral fertilizers without any manurial supply of nitrogen.<sup>1</sup> It will be seen that in many cases samples have been taken down to twelve successive depths of 9 inches, i. e., to a depth in all of 9 feet. In these various samples both the organic nitrogen and the nitric nitrogen were determined. The full details of these analyses are given in the following table, the quantities being stated as percentages (parts per million in the case of the nitric nitrogen) and as pounds per acre.

We will first look at the organic-nitrogen results.

 

 TABLE 84.—Hoos field fallow wheat and leguminous land—Samples collected in 1881, 1882, 1883, and 1885—Organic NITROGEN results.

Depth.	Samples col- lected March, 1881.	Samples col- lected July 26–31, 1882.	Samples col- lected July 17-26, 1883.	Samples col- lected July 29-Aug. 14, 1885.
First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third 9 inches Fourth 9 inches Fifth 9 inches Sixth 9 inches Seventb 9 inches	Pounds. 2,650,000 2,700,000 2,900,000	Pounds. 2,650,000 2,700,000 2,900,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds.\\ 2,650,000\\ 2,700,000\\ 2,900,000\\ 3,000,000\\ 3,000,000\\ 3,000,000\\ 3,000,000\\ 3,000,000\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds. \\ 2,650,000 \\ 2,700,000 \\ 2,900,000 \\ 3,000,000 \\ 3,000,000 \\ 3,000,000 \\ 3,000,000 \\ 3,000,000 \\ 3,000,000 \end{array}$
Eighth 9 inches Ninth 9 inches Teuth 9 inches Eleventh 9 inches Twelfth 9 inches			3,000,000 2,900,000 2,750,000 2,750,000 2,750,000	3,000,000 2,900,000 2,750,00 2,750,00 2,750,00
First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third to twelfth 9 inches Total			$\begin{array}{r} 2,650,000\\ 2,700,000\\ 29,050,000\\ \hline \hline 34,400,000 \end{array}$	$\frac{2,650,09}{2,700,00}$ $\frac{29,050,000}{34,400,000}$

ADOPTED WEIGHTS OF FINE DRY SOIL PER ACRE.

<sup>1</sup> For full manurial details for the various plats, see the Rothamsted Memoranda.

## HOOS FIELD LEGUMINOUS AND WHEAT-FALLOW SOILS. 157

TABLE S4.—Hoos field fallow wheat, and leguminous land, etc.—Continued.

	Samples collected March,1881.		Samples col- lected July 26-31, 1882.			Samples collected July 17-26, 1883.				Samples collected July 29-Aug. 14, 1885.			
Depth.	Wheat fallow land.	Leguminous land (series 1, plats 2 to 6).	Trifolium re- pens (series l. plat 6).	Series I, plat 5.	Series 1, plat 6.	Wheat-fullow land.	Trifolium re- pens (series 1, plat 4).	Series I, sat start	Sories 1, vision plate.	Wheat-fallow land.	Trifolium re- pens (series 1, plat 5).	Melilotus leu- cantha (se- ries l.plat5).	Medicago sa- tiva (series 1, plat 5).
First 9 inches Second 9 inches Fourth 9 inches Fourth 9 inches Sixth 9 inches Seventh 9 inches Ninth 9 inches Ninth 9 inches Ninth 9 inches Twelfth 9 inches Twelfth 9 inches	P. ct. 0, 0869 , 0906 , 0552	P. ct. 0. 1058 1633 0579	P. ct. 0. 1140 .0652 .0439 .0373 .0405	P. ct. 0. 1068 . 0625 . 0578 . 0495 . 0545 . 0561	P. ct. 0. 1149 .0652 .0455 .0466 .0435 .0372	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 0.1035 \\ .0629 \\ .0533 \\ .0458 \\ .0472 \\ .0503 \\ .1497 \\ .0424 \\ .0424 \\ .0428 \\ .0491 \\ .0542 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P, ct. \\ 0, 1128\\ .0738\\ .0674\\ .06533\\ .0520\\ .0650\\ .0608\\ .0657\\ .0608\\ .0703\\ .06671\\ .0460\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 0.1241 \\ .0792 \\ .0637 \\ .0582 \\ .0543 \\ .0490 \\ .0490 \\ .0490 \\ .0490 \\ .0384 \\ .0431 \\ .0422 \\ .0453 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P_{-}ct,\\ 0,1140\\ -0616\\ -0448\\ 0337\\ -0286\\ 0325\\ -0304\\ -0350\\ -0344\\ -0350\\ -0344\\ -0487\\ -0447\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P, ct, \\ 0, 1021 \\ .0605 \\ .0486 \\ .0475 \\ .0465 \\ .0405 \\ .0406 \\ .0420 \\ .0400 \\ .0438 \\ .0461 \end{array}$	P. ct. 0, 1269 . 0816 . 0705 . 0406 . 0346 . 0347 . 0349 . 0336 . 0298 . 0474 . 0363	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct, \\ 0.1151 \\ .0690 \\ .0622 \\ .0300 \\ .0300 \\ .0510 \\ .0587 \\ .0349 \\ .0216 \\ .0189 \\ .0196 \\ .0205 \end{array}$	P. ct. 0, 1219 0710 0624 0505 0373 0556 0300 0347 0213 0200 0132 0068
First 9 inches Second 9 inches										. 1021 . 0605	$.1269 \\ .0816$	$.1151 \\ .0690$	. 1219 . 0710
Mixture third to twelfth9inches										. 0449	. 0439	. 0386	. 0350

#### NITROGEN IN FINE DRY SOIL.

#### NITROGEN PER ACRE.

First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third 9 inches	Lbs. 2,568 1,636 1,601	$Lbs. 2, 804 \\ 1, 709 \\ 1, 679$	Lbs. 3,021 1,760 1,273	Lbs. 2,830 1,688 1,676	<i>Lbs.</i> 3,045 1,760 1,320	Lbs. 2,743 1,698 1,546	<i>Lbs</i> , 2,989 1,993 1,955	Lbs. 3,289 2,138 1,847	Lbs. 3.021 1.063 1,299	Lbs. 2,706 1,634 1,409	Lbs. 3,363 2,203 2,045	Lbs. 3,050 1,865 1,804	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs, \\ 3, 230 \\ 3, 1, 917 \\ 1, 810 \end{array}$
Total first to third 9 inches	5,805	6, 192	6,054	6, 194	6, 125	5,987	6, 937	7,274	5, 983	5,749	7,611	6, 717	6,957
Fourth 9 inches Fifth 9 inches Sixth 9 inches			$     \begin{array}{r}       1,137 \\       1,119 \\       1,215     \end{array} $	${}^{1,485}_{1,635}_{1,683}$	1,338 1 305 1,116	$\frac{1.374}{1.416}\\ 1.509$	$     \begin{array}{r}       1,899\\       1,569\\       1,830     \end{array} $	$1,746 \\ 1,629 \\ 1,470$	$1,011 \\ 858 \\ 975$	$1,425 \\1,395 \\1,206$	$1,671 \\ 1,218 \\ 1,188$	$900 \\ 900 \\ 900 \\ 1,530$	$     \begin{array}{r}       1.515 \\       1.119 \\       1.668     \end{array} $
Total first to sixth 9 inches			9, 525	10, 997	9,884	10,286	12,235	12, 119	8,827	9,775	11,688	10,047	11,259
Seventh 9 inches Eighth 9 inches Ninth 9 inches Tenth 9 inches Eleventh 9 inches Twelfth 9 inches						$\begin{array}{c} 1.491\\ 1.272\\ 1.317\\ 1.177\\ 1.477\\ 1.350\\ 1.491 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 1,446\\ 1,971\\ 2,024\\ 1,933\\ 1,845\\ 1,265\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1,512\\ 1,320\\ 1,114\\ 1,185\\ 1,161\\ 1,246 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 912\\ 1,050\\ 998\\ 880\\ 1,339\\ 1,229\end{array}$	${}^{1,248}_{1,508}_{1,218}_{1,100}_{1,205}_{1,268}$	${ \begin{array}{c} 1,041\\ 1,047\\ 974\\ 820\\ 1,303\\ 943 \end{array} }$	${ \begin{smallmatrix} 1.761 \\ 1.047 \\ 626 \\ 520 \\ 539 \\ -564 \\ \end{smallmatrix} }$	$\begin{array}{r} 900\\ 1,041\\ 618\\ 550\\ 363\\ 187\end{array}$
Total seventh to twelfth .9 inches						8,098	10, 484	7,538	6,408	7,347	6,128	5,057	3, 659
Total first to twelfth 9 inches						18, 384	22, 719	19,657	15,235	17,122	17,816	15, 104	14,918
First 9 inches Second 9 inches Mixture third to twelfth 9 inches .										2,706 1,634 13,043	3,363 2,203 12,753	$3,050 \\ 1,863 \\ 11,213$	$3,230 \\ 1,917 \\ 10,168$
Total	•••••			• • • • • • •						17,383	18, 319	16, 126	15,315

It will be remembered that all the soils here are in the same field, and probably therefore originally more or less alike. We see that in the first 9 inches the leguminous soils are uniformly very markedly richer in nitrogen than the wheat-fallow soils. The same thing is in nearly every case shown in the second 9 inches, and for the most part also in the third 9 inches.

If we look at the line in the lower part of the table showing the nitrogen per acre for the aggregate first three depths (1 to 27 inches), the nitrogen accumulation in the leguminous land, as compared with the wheat land, assumes large and very striking dimensions, except on one plat (*Vicia sativa*, plat 6, 1883), where there appears to be throughout some irregularity of subsoil. Even here, however, the accumulation is well seen in the surface soil.

In some plats the influence of the vegetation appears to be recognizable lower still, but the natural irregularities of the lower subsoil render it impossible here to draw certain conclusions. But the general evidence of accumulation in the upper layers is most clear and convincing, and accords admirably with modern knowledge of the life history and functions of leguminous crops—knowledge which was but dimly toreseen, although its advancing shadow was felt when these experiments were started. It was not until 1886 that Hellriegel announced the results which gave definite shape and direction to the long-vexed problem relating to the sources of the nitrogenous food of this highly interesting natural order of plants.

In the first 27 inches of soil we find that the ten sets of samples representing the leguminous plats average 6,604 pounds of total nitrogen per acre, while the three sets of wheat soils average but 5,847 pounds, showing an average gain of 757 pounds of nitrogen per acre under the influence of leguminous vegetation. Sir Henry Gilbert, in his lectures, further pointed out that the annual output of nitrogen in the crops had been far greater on the leguminous land. During the twenty-seven years before the miscellaneous leguminous crops were first planted, and when the leguminous land was under red clover, it yielded in its clover crops a yearly average of 32 pounds of nitrogen per acre, as against 15 pounds per acre yielded in the crops of the wheat and fallow land, while during the following fourteen years of various leguminous herbage the average yearly output of nitrogen in crops was 14 pounds per acre for the red-clover plat, 24 pounds for the white clover, 75 pounds for the vetches, 58 pounds for the Bokhara clover, and no less than 137 pounds for the lucern. During the same time the wheat and fallow land yielded only 12 pounds of nitrogen per acre per annum in its crops. No nitrogen was manurially applied on any of these plats.

We have, therefore, not only soil accumulation in the root residues, but also a great output of organic nitrogen in the crops (varying with the species and habits of the individual Leguminosæ grown), a large part of which nitrogen must undoubtedly have been due to the fixation of atmospheric nitrogen.

Table 85 shows the corresponding figures for the nitrogen existing as nitric acid, or rather as nitrates; and here subsoil irregularities do not interfere with our grasp of the facts, for the nitrates, being soluble and migratory, are in a diffused form, and (unlike the organic nitrogen) are not much affected by the variations in the mineral composition (proportions of clay, stones, and chalk) of the subsoil.

TABLE 85.-Hoos field fallow wheat and leguminous land-Samples collected in 1881, 1882, 1883, and 1885-NITROGEN existing as nitrates.

Depth.	Samples col- lected March, 1881.	Samples col lected July 26-31,1882.	Samples col- lected July 17-26, 1883.	Samples col- lected July 29-Aug. 14, 1885.
First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third 9 inches Fourth 9 inches Fifth 9 inches Sixth 9 inches Seventh 9 inches Elghth 9 inches Tenth 9 inches Tenth 9 inches Tenth 9 inches Tenth 9 inches Tenth 9 inches Eleventh 9 inches	Pounds. 2, 650, 000 2, 700, 000 2, 900, 000	Pounds. 2, 650, 000 2, 700, 000 2, 900, 000 3, 000, 000 3, 000, 000 3, 000, 000	Pounds, 2,650,000 2,700,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000	$\begin{array}{c} Pounds,\\ 2,650,000\\ 2,700,000\\ 2,900,000\\ 3,000,000\\ 3,000,000\\ 3,000,000\\ 3,000,000\\ 3,000,000\\ 2,950,000\\ 2,750,000\\ 2,750,000\\ 2,750,000\\ \end{array}$
First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third to twelfth 9 inches Total			2,650,000 2,700,000 29,650,000 34,400,000	2, 650, 000 2, 700, 000 29, 050, 000 34, 400, 000

#### ADOPTED WEIGHTS OF FINE DRY SOIL PER ACRE.

NITROGEN AS NITRATES, PARTS PER MILLION OF FINE DRY SOIL.

	Sam colle March	ples ected h,1881.	Samples col- lected July 26-31, 1882.			Samples collected July 17-26, 1883.				Samples collected July 29-Aug. 14, 1885.			
Dep*h.	Wheat-fallow land.	Leguminous land (series 1. plats 2 6).	Trifolium re- pens (series 1, plat 6).	Series 1, plat 5, plat 5,	Series 1, plat 6.	Wheat-fallow land.	Trifolium re- pens (series l, plat 4).	Series 1, sat plat 4.	Series 1, plat 6.	Wheat-fallow land.	Trifolium re- pens (series 1, plat 5).	Melilotus leu- cantha (se- ries l, plat 5).	Medicago sa- tiva (series 1, plat 5).
First 9 inches Second 9 inches Fourth 9 inches Fourth 9 inches Sixth 9 inches Seventh 9 inches Ninth 9 inches Ninth 9 inches Tenth 9 inches Twelfth 9 inches First 9 inches Second 9 inches Second 9 inches Mixture third to	P. ct. 2. 66 1. 24 1. 08	P. ct. 4.51 3.07 6.33	P. ct. 3.24 1.10 .66 1.03 1.46 1.72	P. ct. 1.48 .67 .31 .266 .37 .70	P. ct. 1.28 .36 .21 .33 .28 .55	P. ct. 7.35 2.98 .85 .90 .54 1.19 1.28 .76 .51 .64 1.07 .67	P. ct. 11. 445 10. 27 2. 91 2. 545 2. 64 2. 78 3. 625 3. 625 3. 33 3. 445	P. ct. 4.505 1.52 .47 9.555 2.125 2.385 1.985 1.985 1.985 2.06 1.935 	P. ct. 3. 785 1. 01 .37 .505 1. 475 1. 505 1. 64 1. 66 1. 875 2. 325 2. 35	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 6.46 \\ 1.36 \\ .95 \\ .56 \\ .49 \\ .59 \\ .61 \\ .73 \\ .72 \\ .75 \\ \hline \hline \hline \hline \hline \\ 6.46 \\ 1.36 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 4.26\\ .51\\ .62\\ 2.36\\ 3.77\\ 4.38\\ 4.21\\ 3.869\\ 3.89\\ 4.03\\ 3.62\\ \hline \hline 4.26\\ .51\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 1. 61 \\ .52 \\ .73 \\ .98 \\ 1.74 \\ 2.07 \\ 2.65 \\ 3.36 \\ 3.33 \\ 3.21 \\ 3.68 \\ \hline \hline 1.61 \\ .52 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} P. ct. \\ 3.29 \\ .41 \\ .27 \\ .33 \\ .31 \\ .19 \\ .27 \\ .24 \\ .22 \\ .16 \\ .15 \\ \hline \hline 3.29 \\ .41 \end{array}$
twelfth 9 inches.		• • • • • • •	•••••							. 71	3.03	2.52	. 24

	Sam colle Marci	ples ected h,1881.	Sar lected	nples I July 1882,	col- 26–31,	Samp	Samples collected July Samples collected J 17-26, 1883. 29-Aug. 14, 1885.					l July 5.	
Depth.	c-fallow nd.	ninous (series ts 2-6).	ium re- i (series at 6).	Meli leuca	lotus ntha.	c-fallow nd.	ium re- (series at 4).	Vi sat	cia iva.	-fallow nd.	um re- (series at 5).	tus leu- ha (se- l,plat 5).	ago sa- (series at 5).
	Wheat	Legun land 1, plat	Trifol pens l, pla	Series plat 5	Series plat 6	Wheat	Trifoli pens 1, pla	Series plat4	Series plat 6	Wheat	Trifoli pens 1, pla	Melilo cant ries	Medica tiva 1, pla
First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third 9 inches	Lbs. 7.05 3.35 3.13	$Lbs. \\ 11.95 \\ 8.29 \\ 18.36$	Lbs. 8,59 2,97 1,91	<i>Lbs.</i> 3.92 1.81 .90	<i>Lbs.</i> 3.39 .97 .61	$Lbs. \\ 19.48 \\ 8.05 \\ 2.47$	$Lbs. \\ 30.33 \\ 27.73 \\ 8.44$	$Lbs, \\ 11.94 \\ 4.11 \\ 1.37$	$\begin{array}{c} Lbs. \\ 10.03 \\ 2.72 \\ 1.08 \end{array}$	$Lbs. \\ 17.12 \\ 3.67 \\ 2.76$	$Lbs, \\ 11.29 \\ 1.38 \\ .90$	$Lbs. \\ 4.27 \\ 1.40 \\ 2.12$	<i>Lbs.</i> 8.72 1.11 .78
Total first to third 9 inches	13.53	38.60	13.47	6. 63	4.97	30.00	66.50	17.42	13.83	23. 55	13.57	7. 79	10.6 <b>1</b>
Fourth 9 inches Fifth 9 inches Sixth 9 inches			$3.09 \\ 4.38 \\ 5.16$	$.78 \\ 1.11 \\ 2.10$	$.99 \\ .84 \\ 1.65$	$2.70 \\ 1.62 \\ 3.57$	$7.64 \\ 9.07 \\ 8.77$	$1.67 \\ 4.58 \\ 6.37$	$1.52 \\ 2.51 \\ 4.42$	$2.16 \\ 1.68 \\ 1.47$	$     \begin{array}{r}       1.86 \\       7.08 \\       11.31     \end{array} $	$2.94 \\ 5.22 \\ 6.21$	. 81 . 99 . 93
Total first to sixth 9 inches			26.10	10.62	8.45	37.89	91.98	30.04	22.28	28.86	33.82	22.16	13.34
Seventh 9 inches Eighth 9 inches Ninth 9 inches Tenth 9 inches Eleventh 9 inches . Twelfth 9 inches						$\begin{array}{r} 3.84 \\ 2.28 \\ 1.48 \\ 1.76 \\ 2.91 \\ 1.84 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 7.92 \\ 8.34 \\ 8.27 \\ 9.95 \\ 9.16 \\ 9.51 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 7.16 \\ 5.95 \\ 4.54 \\ 5.32 \\ 5.66 \\ 5.32 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 4.52 \\ 4.92 \\ 4.81 \\ 5.14 \\ 6.40 \\ 6.46 \end{array}$	$     \begin{array}{r}       1.77 \\       1.83 \\       2.29 \\       2.01 \\       1.98 \\       2.06 \\       \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{r} 13.14\\ 12.63\\ 11.19\\ 10.70\\ 11.08\\ 9.96 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 7.95 \\ 10.08 \\ 9.66 \\ 9.16 \\ 8.83 \\ 10.12 \end{array}$	.57 .81 .70 .61 .44 .41
${f Total seventh}\ to \ twelfth \ 9 \ inches \dots$						14.14	53.15	33.95	32.25	11.94	68.70	55.80	3. 54
Total first to twelfth 9 inches						52.03	145.13	63.99	54.53	40.80	102.52	77.96	16.88
First 9 inches Second 9 inches Mixture third to twelfth 9 inches						•••••				$17.12 \\ 3.67 \\ 20.63$	11.29 1.38	4.27 1.40 73.21	8.72 1.11 6.97
Total										41.42	$\frac{36.02}{100.69}$	78.88	16.80

 TABLE 85.—Hoos field fallow wheat and leguminous land, etc.—Continued.

 NITROGEN AS NITRATES, PER ACRE.

Exigencies of space will not allow of a thorough discussion of the results in all their detail, but the principal deductions from them can be made clear by examination of some selected plats. Primarily the most interesting are the wheat-fallow plats and the *Trifolium repens* (white clover) plats, sampled in 1883 and 1885. If we take the total twelve depths (9 feet) of soil and subsoil, we find that the wheat-fallow plats contained in the form of nitrates, in round numbers, 52 pounds and 41 pounds per acre, while the white-clover plats, the same depth, about 145 pounds and 102 pounds. On the average the clover plats showed not far short of three times as much nitric nitrogen as the wheat-fallow land.

Clearly this enormous difference is to be correlated with the much larger quantity of organic nitrogen found in the clover soil, owing to accumulated root residue, there being not only more nitrogen to become nitrified, but the excess of organic matter being more favorable (as it is within certain limits and in presence of lime) to the activity of the nitrifying process.

### HOOS FIELD LEGUMINOUS AND WHEAT-FALLOW SOILS. 161

It is, however, to be noted that this excess of nitrates on the clover plats does not by any means indicate the whole extent of this greater nitrification, for leguminous plants, like cereals, absorb and ntilize nitrates freely. But white clover, being but a shallow rooting plant, can not directly ntilize nitrates which have descended below the surface soil, and so we find a great accumulation in the subsoil. It is for this reason that the white-clover plats serve so well to show us evidence of the activity of nitrification going on in them.

When we examine the more heavily cropping and more deeply rooting plants—vetches and Bokhara clover—we find in the subsoils far less nitrates. Probably more nitrates have actually been produced, but a smaller quantity has been left mutilized. For instance, in 1883, the vetch plats show (in 9 feet) only about 34 pounds and 32 pounds of nitritic nitrogen per acre, as against 53 pounds in the white-clover plat; and in 1885 the Bokhara clover shows only about 56 pounds per acre, as against nearly 69 pounds on the white-clover plat.

But the most remarkably interesting plat is the lucern plat. Lucern, as you are aware, is a very deeply rooting plant, sending down stont roots for many feet into the subsoil. So thoroughly has this crop utilized the nitrates formed in the surface soil that we find scarcely a pound of nitrogen per acre in any depth below the second, the total quantity of nitric nitrogen found to a depth of 9 feet being less than 17 pounds per acre, as against 102 pounds in the neighboring white-clover plat.

It is now interesting to inquire how far the accumulation of nitrogen in these soils under the influence of the leguminons vegetation can be practically shown to influence their potential fertility for subsequent crops. It has long been accepted that a clover crop acts as a manurial dressing for the following wheat crop, and our modern methods of farming are being more and more attuned to the more definite recent teachings of science on the value of the Leguminosæ as reinforcers of soil nitrogen. It has been said that in 1898 three of the four series of these leguminous experimental plats were plowed np and put into wheat. Crops of wheat were taken in both 1899 and 1900. The following table shows the crops yielded on land that had been previously occupied by seven descriptions of leguminous crops in both years, and also the crops grown on the unmanured alternate wheat and fallow land of the same field, not only during the same seasons but in preceding years. The last-named results are stated in two ways, one giving the actual yield per acre of the bearing half of the land, the other the total yield per acre when the fallow half is also reckoned in the wheat area. The average yield of the unmanured wheat plat in Broadbalk field is also given for comparison, and a summary of all the foregoing data is appended at the foot of the table.

9385—No. 106—02—11

	Dresse	d grain.			Total
	Produce per acre.	Weight per bushel.	Total grain per acre.	Total straw per acre.	groduce (grain and straw) per acre.
Wheat after various leguminous plants, harvest 1800. Lucern Peas. Bokhara clover Sainfoin	$Bushels. 39_{\frac{1}{4}} 42_{\frac{1}{2}} 43_{\frac{3}{4}} 45_{\frac{1}{4}}$	Pounds. 63.6 63.9 64.1 64.3	Pounds. 2,609 2,808 2,916 3,028	Pounds. 5,499 5,622 5,592 5,611	Pounds. 8,108 8,430 8,508 8,639
White clover Red clover Vetches	43 43 40	$     \begin{array}{r}       64.1 \\       64.3 \\       64.4     \end{array}   $	2,904 2,925 2,715	5,404 5,580 5,051	8,308 8,508 7,766
Mean	421	64.1	2,843	5,480	8, 323
Wheat after various leguminous plants, second season, harvest 1900.					
Lucern Peas Bokhara clover Sainfoin White clover Red clover Red clover. Vetches	$\begin{array}{c} 26\frac{1}{2}\\ 14\frac{1}{4}\\ 16\frac{1}{2}\\ 19\\ 19\frac{1}{4}\\ 19\\ 14\frac{1}{4}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 61.7\\ 61.0\\ 61.4\\ 61.4\\ 61.5\\ 61.5\\ 61.9\end{array}$	$1,677 \\ 890 \\ 1,033 \\ 1,198 \\ 1,220 \\ 1,205 \\ 902$	$\begin{array}{c} 2,614\\ 1,312\\ 1,549\\ 1,788\\ 1,707\\ 1,787\\ 1,360\end{array}$	4, 291 2, 202 2, 582 2, 986 2, 927 2, 992 2, 262
Mean	188	61.5	1,161	1,731	2,892
Wheat alternated with fallow (produce reckoned at the yield per acre of the half in crop each year).	178	50 *	1.072	1.505	9.660
1896	14 §	60.7	1,073	1,393 1,312	2,008
1897. 1898. 1899. 1890.	$     \begin{array}{c}             7 \\             20_{4} \\             15_{4} \\             11_{4}^{4}         \end{array}     $	$59.5 \\ 61.3 \\ 62.2 \\ 60.7$	$\begin{array}{r} 460 \\ 1,314 \\ 1.004 \\ 751 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 710 \\ 2,650 \\ 1,616 \\ 1,050 \end{array}$	$1,170 \\ 3,964 \\ 2,620 \\ 1,801$
Mean, 5 years, 1896-1900	141	60.9	910	1,467	2,377
Wheat alternated with fallow (yield per acre of the whole area, half in crop and half fallow). Average 40 years, 1856-1895	8§	58.7	536	798	1,334
1896	$\frac{8}{10\frac{1}{5}}$	$\begin{array}{c} 60.7\\ 59.5\\ 61.3\\ 62.2\\ 60.7\end{array}$	510 230 657 502 376	$\begin{array}{r} 656\\ 355\\ 1,325\\ 808\\ 525\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} 1,166\\585\\1,982\\1,310\\901\end{array} $
Mean, 5 years, 1896-1900	ĩ	60, 9	455	734	1,189
Wheat grown continuously without manure (Broadbalk field).					
Average 40 years, 1856–1895	124	58.8	795	1,127	1,921
1896. 1897. 1898. 1898. 1899.	$     \begin{array}{r}       16 \\       8 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\      12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\       12 \\  $	$\begin{array}{c} 61.4\\ 60.3\\ 61.4\\ 61.7\\ 60.2\end{array}$	1,087 592 823 769 769	$1,309 \\ 867 \\ 1,363 \\ 1,056 \\ 1,008$	2,396 1,459 2,186 1,825 1,777
Mean, 5 years, 1896-1900	12§	61.0	808	1,121	1, 929
SUMM	ARY.				

# TABLE 86. -Produce of wheat at Rothamsted under various conditions of soil.

Wheat after various leguminous plants: First season, harvest 1899. Second season, harvest 1900. Wheat alternated with fallow, average 40 years, 1856-1895:	421 18§	$\begin{array}{c} 64.1\\ 61.5\end{array}$	$2,843 \\ 1.161$	$5,480 \\ 1,731$	8, <b>323</b> 2, 892
Produce per acre of the half in crop each year.	17g	58.7	1,073	1,595	2,668
crop and half fallow	89	58.7	536	798	1,334
Wheat grown continuously without manure, Broadbalk field, average 40 years, 1856-1895	124	58.8	795	1,127	1,921

#### HOOS FIELD LEGUMINOUS AND WHEAT-FALLOW SOILS. 163

The fertility of the recently broken up leguminous land is very strongly brought out in the 1899 crop. The yield in 1900 was much smaller than might have been expected from land which in 1899 was in such a high state of fertility; but the winter of 1899–1900 was exceedingly wet, and resulted in the washing away from the surface soil of a very large proportion of the nitrates formed during the antumn. In the Broadbalk field, where the subsoil is tapped by drainpipes which enable the drainage water to be systematically collected and analyzed, this heavy loss of nitrates through autumn and winter drainage was very clearly noted by the examination of the various samples of drainage water collected. This loss no doubt accounts for the comparative poverty of the crop of 1900 as compared with that of 1899, though even then the richness of the soil as compared with that of the unmanured wheat plats is very evident.

## SECTION VI.

#### BARN FIELD ROOT-CROP SOILS.

The experiments on the continuous growth of root crops in Barn field have been also fully laid before you by Sir Henry Gilbert,<sup>1</sup> and I have only to add the results obtained by the chemical examination of a series of soil samples drawn from this field in the year 1870, after fourteen years' continuous growth of Swedish turnips under various conditions of fertilization. The system of the experiments, however, should be briefly described.

The plats I have to refer to constitute four series or sets of 7 plats each. Plat 1 in each series has received annually a dressing of farmyard manure, plat 2 in each series has also received farmyard manure but with superphosphate in addition. Plat 3 in each series has received no mineral or general manure. Plats 4, 5, and 6 in each series have received each year superphosphate with or without dressings of potassium salts and other alkaline salts during part of the period (see table); while plat 7 of each series has received throughout superphosphate with, during a portion of the period, ammonium sulphate and alkaline salts.

The plats in series 1 receive only the fertilizers aforesaid; but in series 2 all received in addition, for five years, a mixture of sawdust and nitric acid, and for the remaining nine years an annual dressing of sodium nitrate.

In series 3 all the plats, in addition to the general manures, received ammonium salts.

In series 4 all in earlier years received ammonium salts, supplemented by sawdust, and in later years a heavy dressing of both ammonium salts and rape cake. While the plats of series 5 having in earlier years received sawdust, in later years received a heavy dressing of rape cake, but without ammonium salts.

All the crops, both roots and leaves, were annually removed from the land.

The following table, abbreviated from the Rothamsted Memoranda, gives the average annual produce of roots (neglecting the leaves or tops) for fifteen years, including the year after the soil samples were taken:

<sup>1</sup>U. S. Dept. Agr., Office of Experiment Stations Bul. No. 22.

			-	Star	ndard	manu	res ar	d cros	s dre	sed w	rith-
Plat.	Standard manures.	Series 1, standard manures only		Series 2, 5 years, 1856-1840, 3,040 ponnd 8 sawd ust and 228 ponnds nitric acid: 10 years, 1861-1870, 550 ponnds sodium nitrate.		Sories 3, 5 years, 1864-1860, 200 pounds ammonium safts; 10 years, 1861-1870, 400 pounds ammonium safts.		Series 4, 5 years, 1856-1860, 200 pounds aumonimm suits and 3,000poundssawdnst; 10 years, 1851–1870, 400 pounds ammo- rupa saits and 2,000 pounds rupa cake.		Series 5, 5 years, 1856-1860, 3,000 pounds suyclast, 10 year's, 1861-1870, 2,000 pounds rupe cake.	
1	Farmyard manure	Tons.	Cwt.	Tons.	Cut.	Tons.	Curt.	Tons.	Curt. 16	Tons.	Curt
2	Farmyard manure and super-	6	7	-	13	8	3	8	14	ĩ	16
3	No mineral manure	0	11	Ū.	19	1 0	13	3	6	3	8
4	Superphosphate each year; mixed alkaline salts, 1856-60. Superphosphate each year	10 20	16 12	5	213	4	12 16	6	12 16	5	8
6	Superphosphate each year: potassium sulphate, 1856-60	2	7	4	11	4	5	6	6	5	3
ĩ	Superphosphate each year: potassium sulphate and am- monium salts, 1856-60	22	12	4	13	4	12	6	15	5	9
	Mean of plats 4, 5, and 6	22	12	4	15	4	4	6	4	5	

 TABLE 87.—Swedish turnips in Barn field. Rothamsted—Average annual crop per acre (bulbs only) for fifteen seasons, 1850–1870.

Samples of the soils taken toward the close of the period above included, and representing the first three depths of 9 inches each, were examined as regards their contents of total nitrogen, with the following results:

			Stand	ard ma dresse	nures and o d with—	ross
Plat:	Standard manures.	Series 1, standard manures only	Series 2, 5 years, 1836-1860, 3,000 pounds sawdust and 328 pounds nitric acid; 10 years, 1861-1870, 550 pounds sodium nitrate.	Series 3, 5 years, 1856-1860, 200 pounds ammonium salts, 10 years, 1861-1870, 400 pounds ammonium salts,	Series 4, 5 years, 1856-1860, 200 pounds aumonium salts and 3,000 pounds sawdust; 10 years 1861-1870, 400 pounds ammo- nium salts and 2,000 pounds rape cake.	Series 5, 5 years, 1856-1860, 3,000 pounds sawdust; 10 years, 1801-1870, 2,000 pounds rape cake.
	First 9 inches					
$\frac{1}{2}$	Farmyard manure Farmyard manure and superphosphate No mineral manure	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ ct. \\ 0.1449 \\ .1438 \\ .0880 \end{array}$	Per cent. 0.1501 .1398 .0964	Per ct. 0.1512 .1511 .0920	Per cent. 0.1693 .1470 .1010	$\begin{array}{c} Per \ ct. \\ 0.1592 \\ .1474 \\ .1083 \end{array}$
4	Superphosphate each year; mixed alkaline					
5	salts, 1856–1860 Superphosphate each year	. 0934 . 0888	. 0998 . 0960	. 0949	.1061 .1056	.1036 .1041
6	Superphosphate each year; potassium sul- phate, 1856-1860	, 0867	. 0900	. 0942	. 1029	. 0972
7	Superphosphate each year; potassium sul- phate and ammonium salts, 1856-1860	. 0974	. 0924	. 0954	. 1035	. 0997
	Second 9 inches.					
$\begin{array}{c}1\\2\\3\end{array}$	Farmyard manure Farmyard manure and superphosphate No mineral manure	.0660 .0727 .0629	.0701 .0736 .0727	0.0729 0.0796 0.0698	.0715 .0592 .0593	. 0699 . 0670 . 0670
4	Superphosphate each year; mixed alkaline salts, 1856–1860	. 0782	. 0707	. 0629	.0671	. 0661
6	Superphosphate each year; potassium sul- phate. 1856-1860	. 0622	. 0643	.0728	. 0660	. 0637
7	Superphosphate each year; potassium sul- phate and ammonium salts, 1856-1860	. 0837	. 6600	. 0693	. 0612	. 0668
	Third 9 inches.					
$\frac{1}{2}$	Farmyard manure Farmyard manure and superphosphate No mineral manure	$0584 \\ 0582 \\ 0573$	.0640 .0618 .0546	.0582 .0609 .0592	$.0570 \\ .0458 \\ .0480$	$.0585 \\ .0544 \\ .0577$
4	Superphosphate each year; mixed alkaline					
5	salts, 1856–1860 Superphosphate each year	. 0630 . 0694	. 0549 . 0646	.0473 .0481	. 0539 . 0551	.0538 .0483
6	Superphosphate each year; potassium sul- phate, 1856-1860	.0674	. 0456	. 0652	. 0567	. 0541
7	Superphosphate each year; potassium sulphate and ammonium salts, 1856-1860	. 0836	. 0484	. 0590	. 0526	. 0630

### TABLE 88.—Barn field root-crop land, samples collected in April, 1870, after fourteen years of Swedish turnips, 1856–1869 (a)—NITROGEN in fine, dry soil.

#### SUMMARY.

Means of plats 4, 5, and 6: First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third 9 inches	0.0896 .0696 .0666	0, 0953 , 0680 , 0550	0.0942 .0661 .0535	$0.1049 \\ .0674 \\ .0552$	0.1016 .0644 .0521
Mean	. 0753	. 07:28	.0713	. 0758	. 0727

a The crops of 1859 and 1860 failed and were plowed in.

It will suffice to direct your attention specifically to the results for the first 9 inches or surface soils, and the figures may be simplified by averaging the three plats—4, 5, and 6—the treatment of which has been somewhat similar.

It is now well recognized that root crops grown with mineral manures alone perhaps exhaust the available nitrogen of the surface soil more than any other crops, and if we look at the results for plats 4, 5, and 6 we find that in the surface samples of the first series, where nothing but mineral manure is used, there is on the average (see summary at foot of Table 88) 0.0896 per cent of nitrogen. Compared with those soils of the wheat or barley land on which mineral manures only are used, this percentage of nitrogen is decidedly low, while at the same time the annual yield of nitrogen in the root crops under the influence of mineral manure alone is decidedly greater than that in the cereal crops.

When the same three plats have been annually supplied with sodium nitrate, as in series 2, we at once see a very tangible increase in the proportion of nitrogen, there being found (see summary) on the average 0.0953 per cent of nitrogen on these plats, as against 0.0896 per cent in series 1.

In series 3, where a like quantity of nitrogen has been regularly supplied in the form of ammonium salts, we get almost the same average result as with the sodium nitrate, namely, 0.0942 per cent.

In sories 4 and series 5, on which rape cake has been abundantly applied, there is throughout a further increase in nitrogen, the average percentages in the three plats being 0.1049 in series 4 and 0.1016 in series 5.

We know that neither ammonium salts nor nitrates accumulate in the soil, and no doubt, therefore, the increased quantity of nitrogen in series 1 and series 2 is due to accumulated crop residues, corresponding to the increased growth shown in the preceding table.

On series 4 and series 5 there has also been greater growth and more root residue, but the increased proportion of nitrogen may be due not merely to this, but also to some extent to accumulation of manurial nitrogen derived from the rape cake.

It will be further noticed that on the three plats—4, 5, and 6—the proportion of nitrogen is greater in series 4, where the rape cake has been supplemented by ammonium salts, than in series 5, where the rape cake has not been so supplemented, and if we refer to the previous table, showing the average crop results, it will be seen that plats 4, 5, and 6 in series 4 show throughout very considerably larger average erops than in series 5.

In the case of the plat which has received no mineral manure the effect of the varied treatment in the different series is also shown in the results of the soil analyses. 168

Although there have not been large crop residues in series 2 and series 3 to reenforce the natural nitrogen, there have been, as will be seen on reference to Table 87, throughout but small crops, and therefore small demands upon the soil nitrogen, whether natural or manurially supplied.

On the plats receiving farmyard manure (plats 1 and 2) the nitrogen is throughout, as we should expect, far greater in proportion in every series than on the other plats, the largest quantities of nitrogen being found in series 4 and series 5, in which the dressings of farmyard manure have been supplemented by dressings of rape cake.

## SECTION VII.

### AGDELL FIELD EXPERIMENTAL ROTATION SOILS.

It will be appropriate next to consider the results of the analyses which have been made of soils collected from the Agdell rotation field; but first the nature of the experiments must be briefly recalled to you.

The experiments began in 1848. One-third of the land has been continuously unmanured; one-third, during the time with which we are here concerned, was manured with superphosphate once every four years (namely, for the turnip erop commencing each rotation), while one-third has been (also once in each rotation, namely, for the turnip crop) treated with a complex mixture of mineral and nitrogenous fertilizers, including phosphates, potassium, sodium, and magnesium salts, ammonium salts, and rape cake—hereafter referred to as "mixed mahure." On one-half of each of the three differently manured plats the turnip crop, both roots and leaves, has been annually carted or removed from the field, while on the other half the turnips have been either consumed on the plats by sheep or spread and plowed in. The rotation followed has been turnips, barley, clover (or beans), and wheat; but on one-half of each rotation plat only has clover or beans been sown, the other half forming a bare fallow.

We have therefore really, for each system of manuring, four rotations, namely, as follows:

Turnips (carted), barley, clover, wheat.

Turnips (fed on the land) barley, clover, wheat.

Turnips (carted), barley, fallow, wheat.

Turnips (fed on the land), barley, fallow, wheat.

It is obviously a matter of interest to consider how far, over a number of years, the carting or consumption of the turnips on the one hand or the growth of leguninous vegetation on the other, as compared with fallow, affected the nitrogen contents of the soil.

The samples of the soil were collected in 1867, at the end of twenty years, or five complete rotations; again in 1874, after twenty-seven years, or not quite seven rotations; and again in 1883 and 1884, after thirty-six years, or nine complete rotations.

Two tables are here given, showing the nitrogen contents found at these various periods in the surface soils of the various plats. One table gives the quantities of nitrogen stated as percentages in the surface soil, the other in pounds per acre for the first 9 inches.

It will be seen that each table gives the results in two forms. On the left-hand side of the tables the analytical results are so arranged as to afford for each set of rotations (unmanured, superphosphate, and mixed manure) an easy comparison between the nitrogen found in the plats from which the turnips, both roots and tops, have been annually removed or carted, and that found in the plats on which the roots have been consumed by sheep or, in some cases, chopped up and returned to the land. The right-hand side of the tables rearranges the same results in such a way as to allow us easily to compare in each series of rotation those portions of the plats on which leguminous crops (beans or clover) have been grown in the intervals between the barley and wheat, and the corresponding portions which have been allowed to remain fallow during this stage of the rotation.

 

 TABLE 89.—Agdell field experimental rotation land—Soil samples collected in 1867 (after wheat), 1874 (after clover), and 1883-84 (after wheat)—Percentages of NITROGEN in fine, dry soil of first 9 inches.

		Samj	ples collecte	ed in-		
	Plat.	Nov., 1867 (after wheat).	Oct., 1874 (after clover).	Nov., 1883, to Jan., 1884 (after wheat).	Mean.	
Fallow: Roots carted Roots fed	21–22 17–18	Per cent. 0, 1303 , 1233	Per cent. 0. 1297 . 1165	Per cent. 0.1230 .1135	Per cent. 0. 1277 . 1178	
Mean		. 1268	. 1230	. 1183	. 1228	
Beans or clover: Roots carted Roots fed	23–24 19–20	. 1303 . 1297	. 1378 . 1187	. 1308 . 1205	. 1330 . 1230	
Mean		. 1300	. 1283	. 1257	. 1280	
Mean of all		. 1284	. 1257	. 1220	. 1254	
Carted: Fallow Beans or clover	21-22 23-24	. 1303 . 1303	. 1297 . 1378	. 1230 . 1308	. 1277 . 1330	
Fed: Fallow Beans or clover	17-18 19-20	. 1233 . 1297	. 1165 . 1187	. 1135	.1178	
Mean		. 1265	. 1176	. 1170	. 1204	
Mean of all		. 1:284	. 1257	. 1220	. 1254	
SUI	PERPHOS	PHATE.				
Fallow: Roots carted Roots fed	13-14 9-10	$0.1224 \\ .1240$	$0.1147 \\ .1126$	0. 1161 . 1228	$\begin{array}{c} 0.\ 1177\\ 1198 \end{array}$	
Mean		. 1232	. 1137	. 1195	. 1188	
Beans or clover: Roots carted Roots fed	$15-16 \\ 11-12$	. 1327 . 1380	. 1241 , 1321	. 1207 . 1296	. 1258 . 1322	
Mean		. 1354	. 1281	. 1252	. 1295	
Mean of all		1293	. 1209	. 1223.	. 1242	

#### UNMANURED.

## AGDELL FIELD EXPERIMENTAL ROTATION SOILS.

## TABLE 89.—Agdell field experimental rotation land, etc.—Continued.

### SUPERPHOSPHATE-Continued.

		Samp	d in-		
	Plat.	Nov., 1867 (after wheat).	Oct., 1874 (after clover).	Nov., 1883, to Jan., 1884 (after wheat).	Mean.
Carted: Fallow Beans or clover	$     \begin{array}{r}       13-14 \\       15-16     \end{array} $	Per cent. 0.1224 .1327	Per cent. 0. 1147 . 1241	Per cent. 0.1161 .1207	Per cent. 0, 1177 , 1258
Mean		. 1276	. 1194	. 1184	. 1218
Fed: Fallow Beans or clover	9–10	. 1240 . 1380	.1126 .1321	. 1228 . 1296	. 1198 . 1332
Mean		. 1310	. 1224	. 1262	. 1265
Mean of all		. 1293	. 1209	. 12-23	. 1242

#### MIXED MANURE.

5-6 1-2	0.1254 .1232	0. 1203 . 1225	0. 1216 . 1244 . 1230	$(). \frac{1224}{1267}$ $-\frac{1246}{1246}$
7-8 3-4	. 1266 . 1331	. 1290 . 1372	$.1255 \\ .1420$	. 1270 . 1374
•••••	. 1298	. 1331	. 1338 . 1284	. 1322
5 6 7 8 -	. 1254 . 1266	. 1203 . 1290	$.1216 \\ .1255$	. 1224 . 1270
1-2	. 1332	. 1247	. 1236	. 1248
3-4	. 1331	. 1372	. 1420	. 1374
	5-6 1-2 7-8 3-4 5-6 7-8 1-2 3-4	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

#### SUMMARY.

Unmanured Superphosphate Mixed manure	 $\begin{array}{c} 0.\ 1284 \\ .\ 1293 \\ .\ 1296 \end{array}$	${\begin{array}{c} 0.1257\\.1209\\.1273\end{array}}$	$     \begin{array}{r}       0.1220 \\       .1223 \\       .1284     \end{array}   $	$\begin{array}{c} 0.1254 \\ .1242 \\ .1284 \end{array}$

Ŧ

TABLE 90.—Agdell field	experimental rota	tion land—Soil sat	mples collected	in 1867
(after wheat), 1874 (a	fter clover), and 18	383–84 (after wheat	)–Nitrogen $p$	er acre
in fine dry soil of firs	9 inches.		, t	

		Samp	les collecte	d in-	
	Plats.	Novem- ber, 1867 (after wheat).	October, 1874 (after clover).	Novem- ber, 1883, to January, 1884 (after wheat).	Mean.
Fallow: Roots carted Roots fed	21 and 22 17 and 18	Pounds per acre. 3, 127 2, 959	Pounds per acre. 3, 113 2, 976	Pounds per acre. 2,952 2,724	Pounds per acre. 3, 064 2, 826
Mean		3,043	2,955	2,838	2,945
Beans or clover: Roots carted Roots fed	23 and 24 19 and 20	$3,127 \\ 3,113$	$3,307 \\ 2,849$	3, 139 2, 892	$3,191 \\ 2,951$
Mean		3,120	3,078	3,016	3,071
Mean of all		3,082	3,016	2,927	3,008
Carted: Fallow - Beans or clover	21 and 22 23 and 24	$3, 127 \\ 3, 127$	$3,113 \\ 3,307$	2,952 3,139	3,064 3,191
Mean		3,127	3,210	3,046	3,128
Fed: Fallow Beans or clover	17 and 18 19 and 20	$2,959 \\ 3,113$	2, 796 2, 849	2, 724 2, 892	$2,826 \\ 2,951$
Mean		3,036	2,823	2,808	2,889
Mean of all		3,082	3,016	2,927	3,008

#### UNMANURED.

46

1

1

### SUPERPHOSPHATE.

	1	1	1	1	
Fallow:					
Roots carted	13 and 14	2,938	2,753	2,786	2,826
noots leu	9anu 10	4, 510	2,102	4, J±1	2,010
Mean		2,957	2,728	2,867	2,851
Beans or clover:					
Roots carted	$15  \mathrm{and}  16$	3,185	2,978	2,897	3,020
Roots fed	11 and 12	3, 312	3,170	3,110	3,197
Mean		3,249	3,074	3,004	3,109
Mean of all		3,103	2,901	2,935	2,980
Carted:					
Fallow	13 and 14	2,938	2,753	2,786	2,826
Beans or clover	15and 16	3, 185	2,978	2,897	3,020
Mean		3,062	2,866	2,842	2, 923
Fed:					
Fallow	9 and 10	2,976	2,702	2,947	2,875
Beans or clover	11 and 12	3,312	3,170	3,110	3, 197
Mean		3,144	2,936	3,028	3,036
Mean of all		3,103	2,901	2,935	2,980

.

### TABLE 90.-Agdell field experimental rotation land. etc.-Continued.

MIXI	ED N	IAN	URE.

	Plats.	Novem- ber, 1867 (after wheat).	October, 1874 (after clover).	Novem- ber, 1883, to January, 1884 (after wheat).	Mean.
Fallow: Roots carted Roots fed	5 and 6 1 and 2	Pounds per acre. 3,010 3,197	Pounds per acre 2,887 2,940	Pounds per acre, 2,918 2,986	Pounds per acre. 2,938 3,041
Mean		3.104	2.914	2,952	= 2,990
Beans or clover: Roots carted Roots fed	7 and 8 3 and 4	3, 038 3, 194	3,096 3,293	$3,012 \\ 3,408$	3,049 3,298
Mean		3,116	3, 195	3,210	3,174
Mean of all		3,110	3.054	3,081	3,082
Carted: Fallow Beans or clover	5 and 5 7 and 8	3, 010 3, 038	2, 887 3, 096	2,918 3,012	2, 938 3, 049
Mean		3,024	2,902	2,965	2,994
Fed: Fallow Beans or clover	l and 2 3and 4	$3, 197 \\ 3, 194$	2,940 3,293	2, 986 3, 408	$3,041 \\ 3,298$
Mean		3, 196	3.117	3, 197	3,170
Mean of all		3,110	3, 054	3,081	3,082
	SUMMA	RY.			
Unmanured Superphosphate Mixed manure		$3,082 \\ 3,103 \\ 3,110$	3,016 2,901 3,054	2,927 2,935 3,081	3,008 2,980 3,082

As far as the unmanured plats are concerned, the growth of roots was for the greater part of the time so small that it may be said that, practically speaking, there was no crop of roots either to cart or to feed.

When we come to the superphosphate plats, however, the consumption of the roots on the land has greatly affected the fertility of the soil. There being no supply of manurial nitrogen, the strain on the nitrogen contents of the soil in this rotation has been great, and the exhaustion of the soil nitrogen has necessarily been much greater on the "carted" portions of the plats than on those on which the roots have been consumed. On the whole, it will be seen that in the fallow rotation plats of the superphosphate series analysis indicates a larger proportion of nitrogen in the "fed" plats than in the "carted" plats, this being especially marked in the samples taken in 1883-84, at the end of thirty-six years, or nine rotations. This superiority in nitrogen contents accords with the greater fertility of the soil, as evidenced in its erops.

On the leguminous portions of the plats (beans or clover instead of fallow), where, as we shall see presently, there is more nitrogen to conserve, the "fed" plats show throughout a very decided superiority in nitrogen to the "carted" plats. This also accords with the relative fertility of the plats as evidenced by their crops.

In the case of the very liberally manured series ("mixed manure"), the plats on which the roots have been fed show in every case more nitrogen than those from which the roots have been carted, this being more especially the case again in the plats on which leguminous vegetation takes part in the rotation.

The data, however, to which I am more especially desirous of directing your attention are those relating to the comparison (whether on the "carted" or on the "fed" plats) of the fallow portions with those portions on which leguminous plants have taken a place in the rotation. These are best studied by the arrangement of figures to be found in the right-hand half of each of the Tables 89 and 90.

Taking first the unmanured land, it will be seen that both in 1874, in the seventh rotation, and in 1883–84, after the ninth rotation, the leguminous land was found to be decidedly richer in nitrogen than the fallow land. In five out of the six cases in which the soils were comparatively analyzed there was found on the average, in the surface soils of these unmanured leguminous plats, about 126 pounds more of nitrogen per acre than on the plats on which neither beans nor clover were grown.

On the superphosphate series there is also throughout a great advantage in favor of the leguminous plats. On the plats from which the turnips are annually carted we find that the portions on which beans or clover have been grown show on the average 194 pounds more of organic nitrogen per acre in the surface soil than do the fallow portions, while if we regard the plats which have been kept in higher condition by the consumption of the roots on the land, the superiority in the soils under the leguminous rotations, as compared with those under rotations which included a bare fallow, is represented by an average of no less than 322 pounds of nitrogen per acre.

So in the mixed manure series the advantage on the whole lies distinctly with the bean or clover land, the average excess of nitrogen found in it as compared with the fallowed portions of the plats being 111 pounds per acre where the roots are carted, and as much as 257 pounds per acre where the roots are fed.

Thus we have from these plats further interesting analytical testimony, if such were needed, to the effect of leguminous crops in increasing or maintaining the nitrogenous contents of the soil, and also analytical evidence of the effect on the soil of the alternative methods of carting or consuming the root crop.

So far we have been referring only to the organic or total nitrogen found in the soils. The soils of some of the plats, however, have been subjected to a much more complete examination as regards their contents of nitric nitrogen, which on four of the plats has been deter-

mined in twelve successive depths of 9 inches each, or to a total depth of 9 feet. In some other cases the nitric nitrogen was determined either in the surface soil or in some of the subsoils. The determinations were made in the samples taken in the winter of 1883–84, after wheat, and the results are given in the following table:

 
 TABLE 91.—Agdell field experimental rotation land—Soil samples collected 1883-84, after wheat—NITROGEN as NITRATES ("nitric" nitrogen) in fine dry soil.

		Unma	nurod			mern	hospha	ite	1	lixed m	annri	
	Fed.		Carted.		Fed.		Carted.		Fed.		Carted.	
Depth.	Fallow: plats 17 and 18.	CIOVEROT beans: plats 19 and 20.	Fullow: plats 21 and 22.	Cloveror beans: plats 23 and 24.	Fallow: plats 9 and 10.	Cloveror beans: plats 11 and 12.	Fullow: pluts 13 and 14.	Cloveror beans: plats 15 and 16.	Fullow: plats 1 and 2.	Cloveror beans: plats 3 and 4.	manure. Carte state in a number of the state in a number of the state in a number of the state in a number of the state in a number of the state in a number of the state in a number of the state i	Cloveror beans: plats 7 and 8.
First 9 inches Second 9 inches Third 9 inches Fourth 9 inches Sixth 9 inches Sixth 9 inches Seventh 9 inches Eighth 9 inches Ninth 9 inches Teath 9 inches Eleventh 9 inches Twelfth 9 inches	0, 93	0, 29	1.85 .66		1. 59	0,99	$\begin{array}{c} 1,32\\ 1,14\\ ,42\\ 40\\ 19\\ -21\\ 46\\ 57\\ 1,19\\ 1,07\\ 1,85\\ 1,11\end{array}$	$1.44 \\ 1.50 \\ .67 \\ .43 \\ .50 \\ .61 \\ .32 \\ .60 \\ .67 \\ .77 \\ .91 \\ .32$	$1.35 \\ 1.34 \\ .35 \\ .45 \\ .34 \\ .29 \\ .34 \\ .29 \\ .34 \\ .59 \\ 1.34$	$2.41 \\ 1.90 \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ $	1.31	0.73

NITRIC NITROGEN, PARTS PER MILLION.

#### NITRIC NITROGEN, POUNDS PER ACRE.

	-											
First 9 inches			4.71				3.36	3.66	3.44	6.13		
Second 9 inches			1.53				2.64	3.48	3.11	4.41		
Third 9 inches							. 95	1.51	. 79	1.63		
Fourth 9 inches							. 90	. 96	1.01	1.30		
Fifth 9 inches							. 45	1.18	. 81	1.52		
Sixth 9 inches							. 53	1.55	. 61	. 81		
Seventh 9 inches							1.00	. 85	. 77	2.23		
Eighth 9 inches							1.49	1.57	. 89	1.68		
Ninth 9 nches							2.97	1.67	. 65	2.44		
Tenth 9 inches							2.78	2.00	2.03	2.08		
Eleventh 9 inches							4.81	2.36	1.53	2.13		
Twelfth 9 inches	2.60	0.81	3.50	1.82	4.45	2. 11	3.11	. 90	3.75	2.83	3.67	2.04

SUMMARY-NITRIC NITROGEN, POUNDS PER ACRE.

First to third 9							
inches	• • • • • • • • • • • • • •		 6.95	8.65	7.34	12.17	 · · · · · •
inches			 1.88	3, 69	2.43	3.62	 
Seventh to ninth 9			5.68	4.00	9.31	6 35	
Tenth to twelfth 9			 0.00	1. 000	A. 01	0.00	 
inches			 10.70	5.26	7.31	7.04	 
First to sixth 9							
inches			 8.83	12.34	9.77	15.80	 
Seventh to twelfth 9		8 1 1	10.90	0.25	0.62	13 30	
meneo			 10.00	0.00	57. ON	10.00	 
First and second 9						10 11	
Third to twelfth 9		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	 6.00	7.14	6.55	10, 54	 • • •
inches			 19.21	14.55	12.84	18.65	 
First to twelfth 9			 				 
inches			 25. 21	21.69	19, 39	29.19	 
		1 1 1					

In the superphosphate series it will be seen that the plats selected for examination were respectively the fallow and leguminous portions of the plats from which the roots are annually carted, while in the mixed-manure series the plats selected were the two corresponding portions of the plat on which the roots are fed on the land.

Whether we take the first three depths (1 to 27 inches), the fourth to the sixth depths (28 to 54 inches), or the first six depths together (1 to 54 inches), we find in each pair of plats that the leguminous portions contain more nitric nitrogen than the fallow portions. This is especially the case on the more fertile plat of the mixed-manure series.

In the succeeding six depths the results are less regular, but the leguminous portion of the plat belonging to the more fertile series shows a greater quantity of nitric nitrogen than does the fallow portion.

The nitric nitrogen, it will be seen, has been determined, throughout all the plats mentioned in the table, in the twelfth depth of 9 inches, or at a depth of nearly 9 feet from the surface. At this depth the nitric nitrogen is uniformly greater on the fallow portions than on the leguminous portions of the plats, and the consistency of these figures throughout suggests that the difference is an indication of a greater loss of nitrates from the fallow portions, owing to the fact that the land has been kept one year in four without vegetation. In our discussion of the results obtained by examining the soils of Hoos field, we have seen how largely leguminous crops remove and assimilate the nitrates of the soil, as well as indirectly, by accumulation of nitrogenous root residue, augmenting their production.

As the practical agricultural bearing of these famous rotation experiments in Agdell field was very fully brought before you by Sir Henry Gilbert,<sup>1</sup> I need not now direct further attention to them, my present object having been merely to place before you the aforesaid soil investigations, which have so interesting a bearing in relation to the field results.

<sup>1</sup>U. S. Dept. Agr., Office of Experiment Stations Bul. 22.

## SECTION VIII.

### HUMUS AND ITS NITROGEN CONTENTS.

M. Grandeau, of Paris, some time since suggested the use of dilute alkali as a solvent for humus in soil analysis, and the process, in an extended form, has been applied to the investigation of a large number of soils in the United States by Professor Hilgard and Professor Jaffa, both for the extraction of humus and for the determination of soluble nitrogen. Papers on the subject have been published by both authors.<sup>1</sup>

The feature on which Professor Hilgard lays especial stress is not the actual percentage of humus or of nitrogen in the soil, but the ratio of "soluble" nitrogen to "soluble" humus. His investigation, up to the time of publishing the papers referred to, led him to the conclusion that if the "soluble" nitrogen was less than 2.5 parts per 100 parts of "soluble" humus, the conditions were probably so unfavorable to nitrification that the soil might be regarded as suffering practically from "nitrogen hungriness."

The process used is described by Professor Jaffa on page 35 of the report referred to, and is briefly as follows:

*Hilgard's method.*—The soil (5 grams or 10 grams) is extracted in a funnel, first with dilute hydrochloric acid, then with water to remove the acid, and lastly with dilute caustie soda in the experiment for determining soluble nitrogen or with dilute ammonia for the determination of soluble organic matter. Professor Hilgard uses a 4 per cent solution of caustic soda and a 6 to 7 per cent solution of ammonia. The soil is extracted as long as the filtrate remains colored.

The process was subsequently slightly modified at an annual convention of the Association of Official Agricultural Chemists of the United States.<sup>2</sup>

The process as used earlier by Professor Hilgard, without the justmentioned modifications as to the strength of alkali, has been applied in the Rothamsted laboratory by Dr. N. H. J. Miller to the investigation of a large number of the Rothamsted soils, and also of a sample

9385—No. 106—02—12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>California Station Rpt. 1894-95, pp. 23. 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The process as thus modified is described in U.S. Dept. Agr., Division of Chemistry Bul. 46, revised, p. 76.

#### INVESTIGATIONS ON ROTHAMSTED SOILS.

of Manitoba soil very rich in nitrogen. The results are given in the following table:

TABLE	92.—Percentages	of	soluble organic r	matter a	and	soluble nitrogen	in	surface
			soils.					

		In	partiall	y dried :	soil.	Nitro-	Iı	Ni-		
Plat.	Date of sam- ple.	Solubl	e in dilu monia. Organ-	nte am-	Soluble in di- lute soda,	gen per cent in soluble organ- ic mat-	Soluble organ- ic mat- ter	Soluble nitro- gen.	Total nitro- gen.	gen per cent of total
		matter.	ter.	matter.	gen.	ter.				gen.
Manitoba (Selkirk) Rothamsted garden		5.900	5.385	0.515	0.209	3.88	5.932	0.2302	0. <b>61</b> 8	37.25
soil (clover) 1 (S2)	$     1857 \\     1879   $	4.705	3.800	. 905		) ~ ~	·····	. 2423	.5876 .4374	41.24
1 2 3 3	$     1879 \\     1879 \\     1879 \\     1879   $					} 0.0	1	$.2185 \\ .2202 \\ .2075$	.4298 .4152 .4102	50, 83 53, 03 50, 85
1 2 3	$1896 \\ 1896 \\ 1896$							$.1686 \\ .1785 \\ .1748$	$.3785 \\ .3772 \\ .3847$	$\begin{array}{c} 44.54 \\ 47.32 \\ 45.44 \end{array}$
Rothamsted park: 3 7 7 (chalk and lime)	$\frac{1886}{1886}$					$\begin{array}{c} 6.373 \\ 5.979 \\ 5.801 \end{array}$	$2.710 \\ 2.499 \\ 2.536$	$.1727 \\ .1494 \\ .1469$	$.2604 \\ .2298 \\ .2359$	$\begin{array}{c} 66.32 \\ 65.01 \\ 62.27 \end{array}$
Broad balk field	1879 1888					$\begin{array}{c} 6.242 \\ 6.642 \end{array}$	2. 201 2. 293	. 1374 . 1523	.2057 .2405	66.80 66.33
(wheat): 2a	1893	1.507	1.247	. 260	. 081	6.49	1.282	. 083	.1574	52.73
2b 2b	$     \begin{array}{r}       1865 \\       1893     \end{array}   $	$1.410 \\ 2.147$	$.940 \\ 1.740$	$.470 \\ .407$		6.38	. 96 1. 793	. 114	$.1882 \\ .2170$	52.53
3 3 3 	$     \begin{array}{r}       1865 \\       1881 \\       1893     \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 1.180 \\ 1.135 \\ 1.007 \end{array}$	. 870 . 900 . 800	.310 .235 .207	. 049	6.13	. 89 . 82 . 82	.050	.1090 .1009 .0966	51.76
5 8 9a 10a	1893 1893 1893 1893 1893	$1.300 \\ .970 \\ .985 \\ 1.080 \\ 1.060$	.887 .850 .815 .887	.413 .120 .170 .193 260	.057 .062 .060 .051 052		.91 .871 .835 .913 .929	.058 .064 .062 .052 .053	.0992 .1178 .1153 .1036 .1125	58.4754.3353.7750.1947.11
$ \begin{array}{c} 11 \\ 12 \\ 13 \\ 14 \\ 19 \\ 14 \\ 19 \\ 14 \\ 19 \\ 14 \\ 19 \\ 14 \\ 19 \\ 14 \\ 19 \\ 14 \\ 19 \\ 14 \\ 19 \\ 14 \\ 14 \\ 14 \\ 14 \\ 14 \\ 14 \\ 14 \\ 14$	$     1893 \\     1893 \\     1893 \\     1893 \\     1893 $	$\begin{array}{c} 1.030\\ .950\\ .930\\ .930\\ 1.253\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} .300\\.739\\.770\\.740\\1.013\end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c c} .200\\ .220\\ .160\\ .190\\ .240 \end{array} $	.052 .062 .058 .060 .073	$\begin{array}{c} 8.48 \\ 7.50 \\ 8.08 \\ 7.21 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} .822\\.751\\.793\\.764\\1.040\end{array} $	.050 .064 .060 .062 .075	$.1129 \\ .1152 \\ .1125 \\ .1227 \\ .1329$	$\begin{array}{c} 55.56 \\ 53.33 \\ 50.53 \\ 56.43 \end{array}$
Hoos field (barley): $7^{1}$ $7^{2}$	1889 1889	$1.300 \\ 2.340$	$1.145 \\ 1.840$	$.155 \\ .500$			$\begin{array}{c}1.19\\1.90\end{array}$		$.2048 \\ .2449$	
O <sup>1</sup>	1889	1.320	. 840	. 480			. 85		. 1282	

The data on which Professor Hilgard lays especial stress are those comprised under the heading "nitrogen per cent in soluble organic matter," which for the moment we may call the "Hilgard ratio." In the rich Manitoba soil this percentage is 3.88 only, or less than in any of the Rothamsted soils. The actual quantity of soluble nitrogen is high, the low ratio being caused by the very large proportion of humus extracted from this soil.

The Rothamsted soils examined include garden soil, the park land, Sir Henry Gilbert's meadow, and the permanent wheat and barley fields. The "Hilgard ratio" is (in round numbers) 5.5 for the rich garden soil, from 5.8 to 6.3 in the park soil, from 6.2 to 6.6 in the meadow soil, and from 5.75 to 8.48 in the wheat soils. The least fertile of the wheat soils, namely, plat 3, unmanured for fifty years,
gives a "Hilgard ratio" of 6.13, and plat 5 (minerals without nitrogen for fifty years) gives 6.43, while the richest and most fertile plat, namely, plat 2b (dunged for fifty years) gives almost the same ratio, namely, 6.38.

It would seem, therefore, that although the ratio on which Professor Hilgard lays stress may serve as an index to initial nitrogenous fertility in soils comparatively newly brought under cultivation, it does not afford a means of differentiating between a starved and a fertile soil in the case of long-cultivated land such as we have at Rothamsted.

As regards the wheat soils, the quantity of soluble organic matter is greatest, as we should expect, on the continuously dunged plat, 2b, in which the proportion appears to have increased from 0.96 per cent to 1.793 per cent between 1865 and 1893; but it must be remembered that the 1865 sample was thirty years old when examined, and may possibly have undergone some decomposition or alteration. Next to the dunged plat comes the rape-cake plat, 19, with 1.04 per cent of soluble organic matter. In the other plats the variations lie between 0.751 per cent and 0.91 per cent.

The last column of the table expresses the soluble nitrogen as percentage of the total nitrogen of the soil, and it will be seen that the variations all lie within the range 47.11 per cent to 58.47 per cent. In fact, it may be broadly said that the soluble nitrogen all through follows pretty closely the total nitrogen, and in the case of the arable land is about one-half of it. If we take the plats that differ most widely in their treatment, we find 51.76 per cent of the total nitrogen te be soluble in dilute soda in the case of the permanently unmanured plat, No. 3, and 52.53 per cent, or almost the same proportion, in the case of the continuously dunged and richest plat, 2b. Of the chemically manured plats, plat 10a, continuously dressed with ammonium salts without minerals, shows 50.19 per cent, and plat 13, dressed with phosphates and potassium salts as well as ammonium salts, gives 53.33 per cent.

It would seem, therefore, that as far as the Broadbalk wheat field is concerned the determination of soluble nitrogen in the manner described does not give us any more information as to potential fertility than would be derived merely from the determination of the total nitrogen.

In the Rothamsted garden soil (clover plats) the proportion is also nearly 50 per cent, ranging from 41.24 per cent to 53.03 per cent, but in the park and meadow land it ranges from 62.27 per cent to 66.80 per cent, there being, therefore, a distinctly higher proportion of soda-soluble nitrogen than occurs in the arable land.

It is worth noting that in the garden clover soil as the percentage of total nitrogen diminishes the percentage of soluble nitrogen in that total also diminishes.

In the very rich Manitoba soil the proportion of soluble nitrogen is only 37 per cent of the total nitrogen.

## CONCLUSION.

This concludes the records of the results of the Rothamsted soil investigations, which have been intrusted to me for presentation to That the duty has been but imperfectly fulfilled I am very vou. sensible, and I have already pleaded in apology the great difficulty of dealing adequately with such abundant and suggestive material. With that apology I coupled an acknowledgment of the infinite pains spent by Sir Henry Gilbert in aiding and advising me in the preparation of these lectures, and now, in closing them, I wish once more to express my sense of his most valuable help; also I wish to tender to the many American friends and colleagues whom I have met at this gathering for the first time my cordial thanks for the most kind reception and the very patient hearing accorded to me as the representative, for the time being, of the Lawes Agricultural Trust Committee, and also to express the hope that many of the friendships begun during this my first visit to America may happily last for many years to come, and may be refreshed from time to time hereafter by personal meetings on both sides of the Atlantic.

## POSTSCRIPT.

In my opening lecture it was my painful task to refer to the then recent loss which scientific agriculture had sustained by the death of Sir John Lawes. I have now the sorrow-little more than a year afterwards-to refer to the death of his life-long colleague, the news of which will have been received with heartfelt grief by his many friends in the American world of science. Sir Henry Gilbert died at Rothamsted on December 23, 1901, at the age of nearly 85 years. His association with Sir John Lawes dated from 1843, and had therefore lasted for nearly sixty years. It is unnecessary to add more in the way of memoir. His own record of his work to a recent period, presented to America by himself, and the further record embodied in the foregoing pages, will be a sufficient memorial of him to those conversant with the nature of the problems to which, in association with Sir John Lawes, he devoted his life and his boundless energy. It is pleasant to be able to add that, although his health had gradually failed during the year succeeding the loss of his old friend, he continued to the last to take a keen interest in his work, and transacted business connected with it to within thirty-six hours of the end. His death leaves a conspicuous gap in the ranks of English chemists.

180

Ū



